/?A»d/f:g 7= =
AR A C A EA T

nts 2018

e W e e
FE e ey B
R
AR

British Land Annual Report

LAy s 7’2’:&‘\3

Tl by sy

810¢ SN0y pue yioday enuu

dfo.4J a)doa g mmo&%
PO I

RV



There are four 1

j The scale, balance

¢ p elllng | and quality of our

reasons to ’infoest portfolio underpinned
. o, e by our resilient

in British Land

balance sheet and
Jinancial strength
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Our ability to generate
robust and predictable
income to support
sustainable shareholder
returns and fund
investment

3

4

Our operational expertise ' A development pipeline

and customer insight
helping us understand
evolving needs and
driving enduring
demand for our space

which positions us to
capitalise on market
opportunities and
generate future income



At British Land we create Places People Prefer.

By understanding the evolving needs of the
businesses, people and communities who use

our places, we help them to thrive. Sustainability
and long term thinking are central to our purpose
— to deliver outstanding places and positive
outcomes for all of our stakeholders, through

our placemaking expertise.

£18.2bn 80% 10m sq ft

assets owned or under of our assets, including our development pipeline, focused
management (our share three London campuses and on London including Sm sq ft
of which is £13.7bn) with our multi-let retail portfolio, at Canada Water

exposure to a broad are jn environments where

mix of uses we ean put our placemaking

skills to work



Highlights for the year
Financial

Underlying Profit m

£380m

2017 £390m

Underlying EPS m

374y

2017 378p

Diwvidend per share

3008y

2017 29 2p

EPRA NAV per share m

967

2017 915p

Senior unsecured
credit rating

A

upgraded by Fitch during the year

Non-financial

Carbon intensity
reduction versus 2009

549%

2017 44%

Bright Lights skitls and
employment programme

228

people supported intc work
2017 275

Presentation of financial information

The Group financial statements are prepared under
IFRS where the Group s interests in joint ventures and
funds are shown as a single line iterm on the sncome
staternent and balance sheet and all subsidiaries are
consolbdated at 100%

Management cansiders the busmess principally

on a proportionally consolidaled basis when setung
the strategy, determining annual prionities, making
investment and hnancing decisions and reviewing
performance Thisincludes the Group 5 share of

IFRS profit befare tax

£¢501m

2017 £195m

IFRS EPS

484y

2017 18 8p

Total accounting returnm

89

2007 27%

{FRS net assets

£9,506m

2017 £9.476m

Customer
satisfaction

81/10

2017 81/10

Joint ventures and lunds on a line-by-line basis and
excludes non-contrelling nterests inthe Graup s
subsidaries The financial key performance indicators
are also presented on this basis Refer to the Financial
review for a discussion of the IFRS results

We supplement our {IFRS frgures with nan-GAAP
measures, which management uses internally

Ses our Supplementary Disclosures which start on
page 159 for reconciliations and the glossary found
at www.britishland.com/glossary These measures
are highlighted by the following symbol =
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Integrated reporting

We integrate social and eavironmental infarmation
throughout this Repart i line with the International
Integrated Reporting Framework This reflects

how sustainability 15 integrated inta our placemaking
strategy, governance and business operatians

Our industry-leading sustainabslity strategy

153 powerful tool to deliver lasting value for alt

our slakehelders
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BRITISH LAND AT A GLANCE

We are focused on creating
Places People Prefer, curating
the environment inside and out

Total portfolio in 2018

80% of our assets are within our campuses or )
multi-let environments, where we can curate anaged envirenmen g 809,
the buildings and the spaces between them

£18.2bn

assets under management

24.8m sq ft

of floor space

9749

octupancy rate British Land owned

rivi years

weighted average unexpired lease term

Single-use assets 207
: ] Percentages exclude

Canada Water and Residential

We have proactively repositioned our portfolio

Retail: more multi-let assets Office: more West End exposure

2018 £4.8bn 2018 6% £6.7bn
N Y ——m amn

B Muiu-let M West End
B Otherretal B Ciy
B Non London
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London Offices

All of cur offices are in London, of which
78% are located on our three central London
campuses These provide a diverse mix of
space, with a broadening range of uses This
makes thern attractive and engaging places
to work and spend time, designed ta help
our custamers attract the best talent

£9.0bn

assals under management

54000 |

people work across our Offices portiolio

Regent’s Place

Our 310,000 sq ft pre-let
to Dentsu Aegis Network
at 1 Triton Square is the
largest West End pre-let
in over 20 years.

To read more information about our

Office partfolio, goto page 35

1,200 different customers
occupy our space, generating
£588m of rental income

Retail

Multi-let retail centres account for 81%

of our Retail portfolio Our space reflects
cansumers’ demands for experience

and convenience-led shopping as well

as the changing way retailers use physical
stores tc engage with customers

£8.7bn

assets under managerment

60%

of the populatian falls within
the catchment of our portfclio

Ealing

A convenient, local retail
destination benefitting
from access to Crossran
in 2019

To read more informatbian about our
Retail porifolio, go to page 38

Canada Water

A unigue 53 acre mixed use opportunity
in central London, one stop on the Jubilee
line from Canary Wharf Our masterplan
envisages a genuine mix of uses including
offices, retall, leisure, residentiat and
community space

53 acre

regeneration opportunity

3.500

new homes, including affordable housing

Canada Water

In May 2018 we signed
a Master Development
Agreement with
Southwark Counci and
subrmutted an cutline
planning application
for our masterplan.

faCanadaWaterMasterplan

www._canadawatermasterplan com

British Land Annual Report and Accounts 2018 3



CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

Another year of progress
for British Land

This has been another year of pragress for British Land, despite
the ongoing pelitical and economic volatitity we have seen since the
EU referendum Business and consumer uncertamnty was further
compeunded by the snap General Election in June 2017, which
delivered a hung Parliament Also of note was the decisian by the
Bank of England to increase interest rates for the iirst ime in over
a decade, with the prospect of more rises to come Encouragingly,
UK economic growth has remained relatively resilient, atlbet at
levels lower than other major economies, and one thing that remains
unchanged i1s London s status as a global city in which the world's
leading organisations want to do business

In this context British Land has performed well The value of our
portfelio was up 2 2% with EPRANAY up 5 7% to 967 pence as
occupier and investor demand continued through the year,
particularly in the London office market Underlying earnings per
share was however down 11% to 37 4 pence, driven primarily by
reductions due to the significant asset disposals we have undertaken
over the last couple of years and lease expiries on properties that we
have freed up for development The Board has recommended a

! fourth interim dwidend of 7 52 pence per share, making s 1otal of
30 08 pence for the year which, together with the movement in NAY,
brings total accounting return to 8 9% for 2018

In Londen Offices, we are increasingty seeing our campus strategy
confirmed as a clear and differentiated attraction to potential
occuplers Sophisticated businesses today understand that the way
their people want to live their Lves 1s changing and that the worlds

of work and leisure are blurring They also understand thatin order
to attract the best talent they need to provide high quality, well
connected offices in places people want to spend time before, during
and after the working day This is exactly what our mixed use London
campuses deliver

We are increasmgly Evidence of the success of this strategy this year included the largest

2 re-let in the traditional West End for over 20 years at 1 Triton Square
seemg our campus |pn Regent’s Place, to the media company Dentsu Aegis Elsewhere,
strategy conﬁrmed asa Sumitomo Mitsul Banking Carporation, Europe [SMBCE] signed a

. . re-let for the lower three floors of 100 Liverpool Street, where we

clear aw.zd d@fferent’zated gre developing what we believe to be one of the best connected and
attraction.” smartest new buildings in London, night next door to a new Crossrail
station This development is part of sur broader transformation at
Broadgate where progress this year has been significant - you can
read more about this on page 18 Overall, this has been an excellent
year for {easing, our London Office pertfolio1s 97% occupied and
valuations improved 4 5% - evidence that we continue to pravide
our customers with the space they need

4 BritishLand Annual Report and Accounts 2018



Dividends
Full year dividends [pence per share]

2018 30.08
2017 ' 29.20 ,
2016 - . : 28.34

K‘ﬁ.é‘
|53
'z"lfﬁ
G R E S B

Global Real Estate Sustainability Benchmark
55tar for the second cohsecutive year

There is no doubt the retall sector continues to go through a period
of challenge and rapid change The structural reasons for this are
comptex and well documented, not least the rapid growth of online
shopping This year though, these challenges have come into sharper
focus as a number of operators have entered into company voluntary
arrangemeants In many cases, retaiters have seen the challenges
caused by lang term structural changes compounded by shorter
term operational 1ssues such as costinflation, business rates
Increases and more fragile consumer confidence As an owner

of physical retail space, British Land has been focused an
understanding these long term changes for several years We help
our customers to respond to changes and seek to provide the space
that helps them succeed, and this year we continued to be proactive
For example, we completed the substantial refurbishment of
Meadowhalt, enhanting its status as a regional retail destination
centre which s fit for the future, and disposed of £419 mitlion of retail
properties that we did not feel could play a role in the future shape

of cur portfolio The overall shape and size of the Retail portfolio

Is something we remain focused on going forward as this market
continues to evolve

Desprte these challenges, leasing activity in our Retail business this
year has been good, with 1 2 mullion sq ft of space let or renewed,

at rates well ahead of estimated rental value [ERY] Inaddition, our
Retail portfolio remains virtually full with 98% occupancy These
impressive rental and occupancy levels are testament to the quality
of our offer and our belief that the best physical retail space continues
to play an important role in enabling retarlers to succeed We are not
complacent however, and remain focused on how we cantinue to
respond to the ongoing evolution of the retail market

We continually assess how best to deploy our capital based on
the conditions prevailing at the ime We do this in the context of
shareholder value and the need to fund our development pipeline,
rmanage leverage and undertake appropnate acquisttion and
dispasal activity

The NAY discount that emerged in our share price in the period after
the EU referendum has persisted This was a key factor influencing
ourdecision to undartake a £300 million share buyback following
the sale of The Leadenhall Bullding The buyback was completed in
February This disciplined approach to shareholder returns and the
use of capital will remain a focus for the Board going forward

In these more volatile times, this level of thoughtful activity, the
restience of our strategy and our diverse, high guality portfolio set
Briush Land apart We are mindful of our short term aperating
environment, but our strategy 1s aligned to long term trends Our
experienced management team, the expertise of our people and the

- increasingly complex insights we collect about how peaple use our

places allow us to continually evolve our approach to meet customer

. needs and work ta position British Land to thrive in the future

As aresult of our confidence in our strategic direction and osutlook
we have preposed a first quarter dividend of 775 pence per share
and 31 00 pence for the year ending 31 March 2019, representing a
further 3% increase on our 2018 dividend

We continue to be recognised for our leading stance on sustanability,
awarded five stars in the Global Real Estate Sustainability Benchmark
for the secand year and ranked in the MSCI ESG Leaders Index for
the 11th year We have a 2020 sustainability strategy which s aligned
to our corporate strategy, outlined both in this Report [on page 24)
and in our separately published Sustainability Accounts As part

of our core purpose, we proactively design and enhance buildings
and spaces for the health, wellbeing and productivity of everyone
who uses them, including our employees, customers and

local communities

We supportthe recommendations of the Task Force on Climate-
related Financial Disclesures and manage our portfolio for cimate
resilience Carbon intensity across our portfolio has reduced by 54%
versus our 2009 baseline, through the National Grid s decarbonisation
and our own efficiency improvernents With this 2020 target almost
achieved, we have also gone further, committing to source all our
electricity from renewable sources and partnering with RE100

Throughout the year Board members visited a number of key assets
and held a strategy offsite with key members of the executive team
focused on opportunities which will drive our business in the future
We welcomed three new Non-Executive Directers whe bring a
wealth of varied experience to our Board, they are profiled on pages
58 to 91 along with more detall about the structure and activity of our
Board and Committees During the year, Lucinda Bell stepped down

, fromthe Board and from her role as Chief Financial Officer Lucinda
' had beenwith British Land for over 25 years, and her achievements

and contributicn to our business over that time are significant She
will be rmissed and | and the Board wish her well in the future We are
delighted to welcome Simon Carter back to British Land as cur Chief
Financial Otficer Simon has a wealth of expernience in property and
will make a real contribution to our business

Fimally, | would ke to extend my thanks to the people at British Land,
our partners and everyone who contributes to the success of our

business They have all played a role in our pregress this year, much
of which 1s covered in this Report - | hope you find 1t useful

John Gildersleeve
Non-Executive Chairman

For the Chairman s governance review, see page 62
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Sirategic Report

CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S REVIEW

Our good results demonstrate the
consistent strategic progress we
have made across the business

This has been another good year across our business We let four

times as much Londen office space as last year - a clear demonstration

of the attractiveness of our unique carmpuses In Retail, we let or
renewed over 1 million sq ft of space, well ahead of ERV and at 98%
occupancy our portfolio 1s effectively full All of this helped drive
NAV up 5 7% with values up 2 2%

Our financial performance was robust with profits down 2 6%
following £1 5 billion net sales of income producing assets over the
last two years, of which £0 8 billion completed this year We have
maintained our capital discipline, completing a £300 million share
buyback and increasing our dividend again by 3% while reducing
LTV to 28%. further strengthening our financial position At the
same time, we have completed our super-prime Clarges Mayfair
residentiat development and the £60 million refurbishment of
Meadowhall, while doubling our committed development pipeline
All of this was done on a carefully risk managed basis, with 55%
of commutted developments already pre-let or under offer This s
a great achievemant at an early stage and gives us confidence in
both our strategy and in the quality of the space we are delivering

Future British Land: continuing to evolve our business
The current strength of British Land 1s underpinned by the consistent
strategic actions we have pursued over several years We identify
and invest behind the attractive long term trends which are driving
our core business Inrecentyears this has included the development
of aur campus strategy, mvestments into locations which benefit
from Crossrail, and most recently the launch of Storey, cur flexible
workspace offering

Going forward, we are focused on building an increasingly mixed use
business and continuing to evolve our model and respond to changing
customer needs Indicatively, future British Land will comprise

~ A campus-focused London Office business with a blend of core
and flexible space. including the further build out of Storey,
integrated alongside a strong retail and leisure offering at
our campuses,

- Afurther refined Retail business including tugh quality, well
located Regional and Local assets but focused on a smaller
number of larger, multi-let places with mixed use potenteal,

- Residential, primarily Build te Rent will play an increasingly
irmportant role in our mixed use business [tis a structural
growth market which 1s complementary to cur core modet
We will progress existing opportunities within our portfolio
such as Canada Water and explare ways to build further
meaningful exposure

As we do this, we will remain disciplined regarding our use of capital,
Investing In our business and progressing development, while
remaining mindful of the iImportance of shareholder returns

] British Land Annual Report and Accounts 2018

Outlook

Businesses remain cautious but continue to commit to London and
the supply of high quality new office space Is relatively constraned,
so we expect demand for our space to rernain firm In Retall, the
market 1s more challenging with many occupiers facing short term
headwinds Polarisation i1s accelerating but we are confident that the
quality and range of our space meets retailers’ evolving needs 1n the
omni-channel retail world

We are mundful of the current market environment, but the strengths
of our business, Including the scale, balance and quality of our

. portfolio, the opportunities we have created and our strang balance
i sheet mean we look to the future with confidence

London Offices

Our Offices business had a strong year with values up 4 5% Leasing
activity covered more than 12 million sq ft, delivering £40 rillion of
future rent - a strong endorsement of our campus strategy



Our prioritics in building the future
of British Land

Further refine the shape of our poertfolio and relative mix
of exposures including expansion of Storey and our flex
office offering, further refining our Retall assets and
explore options in attractive market segments which are
complementary to our existing model, such as residential,
principally build to rent

Continue to mvest in technolagy innovations and insights
and build our operationai expertise to understand and
respond to changing customer needs and identify the key
trends 1n our industry

Further enhance the restience of cur Retail business,
ensuring the future shape of our portfolio 1s optimised and
focused on assets which we believe will be successfulin
an omni-channel retail world and meet the changing
needs of our customers

Continue ta progress our development projects, focusing
onour London campuses, and further increase the mix

of uses and occuplers across gur assets, reflecting the
evaolving demands of customers to drive enduring demand
for our space

Continue to enhance the diversity within our business,
promoting inclusion across our operations and our assets,
and embed our new corporate values

We secured several major lettings at Broadgate, including SMBCE
at 100 Liverpool Street, demonstrating the continued appeal of
London to global financizlinstitutions Mimecast, the technology
business, tock space at 1 Finsbury Avenue (1FA), and Eataly, the
italian marketplace, will open their first UK site at 135 Bishopsgate
This broad range of activity demonstrates our focus on enhancing
the mix of uses and cccuplers on the campus to create a seven-day-
a-week destination for London Elsewhere, we signed the largest
West End pre-letin 22 years at Regent's Place and our development
at Paddington, 4 Kingdom Street was nearly 90% let ahead of launch
in June 2017 significantly ahead of ERY

We are also pleased with the progress of Storey, our flexible
workspace offer launched in June 2017 It now covers 114,000 sq ft,
with space at each of our three campuses and 1s now 77% let We
have allocated additional space at 1FA, 4 Kingdom Street and Wells
Street, so total space will reach more than 230,000 sq ft in the short
termwith further long term plans for expansion

Retail

In Retail, values were up 0 3%, with positive ERV growth offsetting
yield expansion Our leasing activity covered 12 million sq ft
generating £7 million in additional rent, with incentives unchanged
At 98% occupancy, our portfolio 1s effectively full and I1s
outperforming benchrmarks on both footfall and sales

We delivered this strang operating performance in the context of
ongoing, long term structural changes in the market As online
retail grows, many operators are evolving thewr models to focus on
the optimal size, shape and nature of their physical store network
This year, these challenges were compounded by short term trading
headwinds, and several highly leveraged aperators with challenged
models applied for company voluntary arrangements [CVAs)

We recognise these trends, and so for a number of years we have
been actively repositiocring our portfolio to focus on well located,
high quality space that reflects people s changing lifestyles and
drives enduring demand for aur assets We have sold £2 3 billicn of
retail assets over the last four years, including £419 million this year,
primarily single use assets but also multi-let space that does not fit

This year, we updated our values to reflect the way our
business is changing

Bring your Listen and

whole self understand

Be smarter Build for
together the futurc

Read more at www.britishland.com/values

our strategy However, Retail remains a core part of cur business
This year we made acquisitions in Woalwich, south east London

and in Ealing, adjacent to our existing Ealing Broadway shopping
centre, both are well-connected mixed use assets with development
potential In addiion, we completed the £60 million refurbishment
of Meadowhall to ensure it 1s well positioned to meet the changing
demands of consumers into the future

Development activity

Development 1s an important part of how we deliver value This year we
made strong progress on our pipetine of opportunities, with commuitted
developrnents mare than doubling to 1 & rmillion sq ft, and risks carefully
managed 55% of the future rent from these developments. estimated
at £63 million, 15 pre-let or under offer and our speculative exposure
remains low at 4 5% of the portfolio value Committed construction
costs of £427 million are substantially covered by £373 million of
Clarges Mayfair residential receipts to come post year end

Looking further ahead, we have created a range of opportunities in

. our near and medium term pipelines, which we have the flexibility

to progress when the time 1s nght This includes Canada Water,
where our masterplan will create a new urban centre for London
We signed the Master Development Agreement with Southwark
Council and subrmitted our outline planning application for the
masterplan in May 2018

Sustainability

This was our secand year holding the Queen s Award for Enterprise,
the UK s highest business accolade recognising our ecanomic,
saclal and environmental achievermnents Our activity this year has
supported 228 people into work, through Bright Lights, our skills
and employment programme 35 of our retail and leisure occupiers
participated in Starting out In Retail, helping 100 young people find
employment, and building on this, we witl be introducing Starting Qut
in Construction in 2019 In support of the Living Wage Foundation,
we pay all Group employees at least the voluntary tiving wage rate
and encourage our suppliers to do the same This year, our three
London campuses became Living Wage Accredited Emplayers,
with averyone we employ to manage and maintan the campuses,
including contractors, paid at least the London Living Wage

Chiris Grigg

i Chief Executive

To read mare visit www britishland.com/CEObleg
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Strategic Report

OUR BUSINESS MODEL

We apply our placemaking expertise
to create Places People Prefer

Inputs: what makes our model work

Qur relationships Our operational expertise Our finances

- Qur customners and partners -

- The local communities in and around -
our places

- The suppliers and contractors who build, -

manage and maintam our assets

Qur expert people -
Our broad range of insights and
information

The people, systems and insights to
interpret infermation and inform actions -

Leverage managed for cur current
needs and future plans

Dwverse and flexible finances with a mix
of maturities

Partnerships to mitigate risks, bring
expertise and help finance projects

Invest and
develop

- Sourcing new apportunities

- Creating opportunities
within our portfolio

~ Allocating our capital to
deliver growth and returns

Places
People
Prefer

Aving our
making
reise
1ing our
1y and

custormers
Understanding and

p mperiy managemen

through Broadgate

Outputs:

Shareholders
Sustainable long term

income and value creation

To read mare about how we engage

10

Communities

Inclusive places which foster
opportunibies and contripute
pasitively to therr neighbourhood

with stakeholders, go to page 68

British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2018

Customers

High quality envircnments
which help our customers
succeed today and in the future

Partners

Access to high quality projects
and British Land expertise,
while managing nsk



Applying our placemaking expertise

- Relationships acress the business we
can leverage to support our mixed use
plans, which this year helped us sign
global retail brand Eataly at our
Broadgate offices campus

- Entivenment activities which drive footfall,
including Villa Walala at Broadgate, and the
Craig David concert at Meadowhall

- Forging Uinks with local communities,
working with suppliers and other partners
through Bright Lights, to support 95
apprenticeships at our places and in our
local communities

Our placemaking framework

Our practical approach to creating
Places People Prefer

= We — — We =
Connect Enhance

— we = = We ——
Design Enliven

What sets
us apart

Invest and develop

- Ourunique office-led campuses,
each benefitting from excellent
transport connections

- Our 10 million sq ft development pipetine,
focused on London, including 5 million
sq ft at Canada Water

- The options we have created within our
portfolio for future development,
facusing on mixed use space

- Qurstrong and flexible balance sheet,
enabling us to fund developments when
the time 15 right on a sk managed basis

Managing our environments

- Abroader mix of uses at our campuses
with 15% of the space being developed
at Broadgate to be retail and leisure

- Storey, our flexible workspace business
launched last year, providing additional
flexibility to our customers

- Abroader mix of uses at our Retall assels
with 778,000 sq ft leisure extensions in our
development pipeline

British Land Annual Report and Accounts 2018
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Strategic Report

MARKET TRENDS AND HOW WE ARE RESPONDING

We recognise the short term
backdrop while our strategy

is focused on long term

UK market backdrop

Continued political uncertainty

The June 2017 general election delivered a hung Parlament
As aresult, an already volatile political backdrop was further
destabilised, heightening uncertamty particularly with respect
to Brexit

Resilience of London

The most recent estimates for Brexit-related job losses in the
financial sector are lower than initially feared Technology and
media sectors have been particularly resilient, with Google and
Facebook committing to Londan, while overseas investment
has remained strong

Consumer and business confidence

Consumer confidence remains fragile with real wages squeezed
by inflation, althcough there are tentative signs that the outlock I1s
impreving GOP forecasts reduced over the year, and are below
leading global economies reflecting Brexit-related uncertanty

Retailer and restaurant operator challenges

This year has seen a number of operators apply for company
voluntary arrangement (CVAs) as a result of challenges in their
markets These include the impact of online and cost pressure
as a result of higher input prices as well as lower consumer
confidence Casual dining cperations have been similarly affected

Interest rate expectations

The Bank of England increased base rates for the first time

in 10 years in November 2017, from all-time record low levels,
and has indicated that the pace of interest rate increases could
accelerate if high rates of inflation persist

12 British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2018

trends

Long term trends driving our strategy

London’s changing role in global markets

The ease of doing business and access to a diverse mix of talent and
culture have established London as a (eading global city Its proven
ability to adapt and prosper means it is well-placed to withstand

. today’s Brexit-related headwinds, and continue to attract inward
business investment

Population change and urbanisation

London’s papulation continues to change, for example more than
20% of Londoners are expected to be over 60 by 2040, changing the
type of space reguired There s more demand for higher density
development with excellent connections as well as a focus on
prometing wellbeing with green and open spaces and a mix of uses

Accelerating technology-driven change

¢ Technology 1s disrupting conventional ways of doing business,
changing how people and organisations interact with physical
space, but providing opportunities for those quick to leverage new
capabilities In certain sectors such as retail change is fundamental
and businesses are having to respond to remain successful

Evolving worker and consumer expectations
People expect more from the places where they spend time
They want to move seamlessly between work and leisure, they
want more flexibility and value added services and they want
space to be well connected

' Wellbeing and sustainability

There 1s a broad consensus that growth and development should
be sustainable, with the benefits shared more equally across
soclety, promoting a more inclusive culture with the surrounding
communities There is a growing recognition of the role that places
can play in promoting mental and physical wellbeing




We have four
strategic priorities

Customer Orientation

Responding to changing lifestyles

~ Customer insight based on a range of
inforrmation helps us to deliver Places
People Prefer

- Expand the use of technology to reflect
its role in the way people work and shop

Wellbeing

- Create places that promote health,
productivity and enjoyment, enabling
our customers to be more successful

Right Places

Creating great environments

- Investin well-connected places, where there
Is potential for growth and regeneration

- Broaden the mix of uses to appeal to a wider
range of occupiers and local communities

- Enhance and enliven cur spaces through
placemaking

- Understand and respond to the changing needs
of the people who use our spaces

Community Capital Efﬁciency
- Make a positive contribution locally and behave
s0 our places are considered part of therr Disciplined use of capital
local community - Actively recycle capital to maximise
- Promote socizl inclusion, interactien and risk-adjusted returns
accessibility, embedding our places in their - Maintain an appropriate balance of risk mn both
neighbourheods and local community netwarks developrment exposure and financial leverage
Futurcproofing

- Pratect and enhance asset value through
environmental stewardship, including energy
generation and efficiency, materials innovation
and flood risk reduction

Expert People
The knowledge and skills to deliver

- Enhance key skill sets, including i more
operational areas

- Share expertise through collaborative working
Promote a diverse and inclusive culture

Skills and opportunity

- Help local people and businesses to grow

— Further develop training and development
schemes for people at all levels of our organisation

British Land Annual Report and Accounts 20718 13



Strategic Report

OUR STRATEGY

Customer Orientation —

responding to changing lifestyles

—_—

Our custormers are the orgamsations
located at our assets To make our places
successful and sustainable however, we
also focus on the needs of a broader range
of people, including the people who shop or
work i them and the communities who
live In and around them We are focused

on understanding and responding to their

changing needs To do this we have developed |

a deep understanding of how people use our
space, based on what our customers tell us
This informs our appreach to managing our
assets and guides our investment activity, to
ensure we are always focused on the customer

How we work

Technology s changing the way businesses
and their pecple use office space, enabling
people to work more flexibly or remotely and
providing the infrastructure for smaller
cormpanies to compete with larger, well
established businesses

There 15 a growing focus on places that
foster collaboration and networking and
reflect the overlap between work and leisure
time, with a diverse retail, leisure and food
and beverage offering close by, and regular
social events and activities

- Delivering space which reflects the way

people want to work also helps employers
attract and retain talent and promote
productivity The types of businesses
demanding space are also changing

We are meeting the need for greater
flexibility, particularly from the grewing

small and mediim sized bhusiness segment,

by providing space on more flexible terms,
through Storey, our flexible workspace
offer Launched this year, Storey 1s an
Important and growing part of our campus
proposition Itis complementary to our core

i offering, providing our customers with

flexible space for short term requirements
After a positive start, we have plans to grow
this business further

Wellbeing

How we shop

The retail sector continues to see significant
structural change, with the impact of online
fundamentally changing the way people
shop Despite this, our insights demonstrate
that physical retail remains core to the retail
proposition, with physical stores playing a
role in 87% of retail sales This may be at the
discovery’ phase of the consumer journey,
where stores act as a showroom, the
‘transaction’ phase, when the goods are
actually purchased, or the ‘fulfilment’
phase, when they change hands

The role of the physical store is changing,

to support and enhance these phases of the
customer experience We are responding by
evolving the nature of our spaces to perform
the showrooming role as effectively as

" possible By improving the food, beverage

and leisure offer at our centres, shoppers
are encouraged to stay longer and spend
more Our surveys show that when customers
engage with our catering offer, retail spend

i ncreases by an average of 27% Our Retall

centres also play an important role in the
fulfilment of online purchases, with 27%
of shoppers having used click and collect,
up from 19% three years ago

To make our places more dementia
friendly we are rolling out training,
improving signage and exploring new
opportunites Thisyear, 130 local
people affected by dementia also
recorded memories for loved ones
thraugh our Down Mermory Lane
project at eight assets, supporting

their wellbeing and fostering

comrmunity links
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52%

averagencrease in traffic at
retaller s website ahead of new
store openings

46,000

customer surveys conducted by
British Land throughout the year



Right Places - creating great
environments inside and out

Regional

12 Retail centres attracting wisitors from
awide catchment for a planned trip

Local

32 Retait centres hitting inta the daily
life of communities

Right Places I1s about identifying places with
the potential to evolve 1n Line with changing
Iifestyles Increasingly we are focused on
places with a broad mix of uses, allowing
people to integrate their work and leisure
time within attractive and engaging
environments We use our placermaking
framework to achieve this, and it supports
growth and returns across our business

" adjacent to the campuses and Regent's

Focusing on London

Our entire Office portfolio and nearly 0%

of our development pipeline 1s focused on
Lendon, including our three office-led w
campuses and Canada Water, our 53 acre
mixed use regeneration project London
consistently ranks amangst the world's
leading cities as a place to live, work and
do business, reflecting its diverse pool

of international talent, culture and
entertainment as well as 1ts legal and
financialinfrastructure Despite the

£4.6bn

assets tocaled close to
Crossrail stations

60%

of the portfolio in London
including alt Offices

Brexit-related uncertainties, Londen s
proven ability to adapt and prosper has
ensured its continued attraction to
international business and capital

Our London campuses each benefit from
excellent transport infrastructure,
Broadgate and Paddington Central will
have Crossrall stations immediately

Place has canvenient access to six London
underground lines as well as King s Cross
and Euston mainline stations

Places which are curated te respond to
changing Ufestyles have the potential to
deliver growth and returns long term
This underpins cur growing focus on
mixed use development which prioritises
placemaking frem the start

British Land

Comnuunity

As part ol our Local Charter activity

to promaote a sense of community at
our places and make a positive local
difference, we run several successful
arts pragrammes for young people
Through Creative Curriculum, 199 local
schoolchildren visited our campuses
this year and created anginal artworks,
inspired by what they had seen and
supporied by professionalartists

Canada Water 1s the strongest example of
this, but our plans at Eden Walk, Ealing and
The Woolw:ch Estate will also regenerate
significant areas of Londen

Focusing on omni-channel retail
Our Retail portfolio 1s focused on centres
which support retailers’ omni-channel
approach Our Regicnal assets are
destinations, which attract visitors from
a wide catchment who come to shop,
relax and be entertained, and our Local
assets provide convenience shapping

for local communities

Our placemaking framewark provides

a structure to deliver these different
experiences Curinvestrment in our Regional
assets has focused on attractive, well-
designed leisure extensions, enabling us

to expand our leisure and catering offer,
providing people with more reasons to visit
and to stay longer We are enhancing this
spacewith events and activities and

¢ improved custormer service

Atour Local assets, our activity has focused
on connecting mare with loecal communities,
forging strong links which encourage repeat
visits, for example through cur work with
the National Literacy Programme, helping
young children to read, and our Bright
Lights Starting Out in Retail course,
suppoerting local skills and employrment

| Annual Report and Accounts 2018



Strategic Report

OUR STRATEGY

Capital Efficiency —
disciplined use of capital

£8.5bn

capital activity in the last
five years, including
acquisitions, disposals
and capital expenditure

Capital allocation

We have a disciplined approach to caprtal
allocation Our activity cavers a range of
options including funding acguisitions,
investing in our develapment pipeline to

drive future growth and shareholder returns

We rigorously evaluate the relative merits of
each based on their risk-adjusted returns
and prevailing market conditions

The starting point1s our annual IRR process,

which forecasts the prospective returns of
each of our assets We sell assets with the
lowest prospective returns, reallocating
capital to higher growth epportuntties In
recent years, disposal achivity has focused
on mature and off strategy assets, including
supermarkets and solus retail, or offices
which are fully let with lower prospective
returns Acquisitions have focused on
properties with significant growth or
placemaking potential which, in many
cases, are adjacent to existing assets,
generating washover henefits across the
cormbined space

Developments have delivered some of
our strangest returns, but are inherently
Figher risk, particularly when pursued on
a speculative basis We seek to imit our
development exposure to 15% of the total
investment portfolio by value, with a
maximum of 8% to be developed
speculatively [l e without a pre-let or
agreed sale] at any time The current
level 1s 4 5%, well within this lirmit

Through this approach we have created
attractive development oppaortumties within

our portfolio, and our balance sheet provides
the flexibility to progress these, with costs on
our committed pipeline substantiaily covered

by residential receipts This 1s an important
advantage, which we batance against the

benefits to shareholders of a more immedate

capitalreturn This year we have completed

16

a £300 million share buyback whilst doubling
the size of our development pipeline and
further reducing leverage

Debt and equity
We manage our debt and equity financing

" to balance the benefits of leverage,

including tigher returns to shareholiders,
against the risks of a more highly geared
portfolio Cur primary measure of
leverage 15 loan tovalue [LTV] on a
proportionally consolidated basis which
we aim to manage through the property
cycle such that cur financial position would
remain rabust in the event of a significant
fall in property values The scale of our
business, quality of our assets and
security of our rental streams enable

us to access a broad range of debt finance
on attractive terms At a Group level, our
approach 1s to raise funds predominantly
on an unsecured hbasis, with a diversified
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Futureproofing

Through our energy efficiency and
emissions programme, we have
delivered around C14 million gross
savings for us and our customers
[C& rmillion net} since 2012, whilst
optimising lighting, temperature and
air quality to enhance the wellbeing
of the people who use our buildings
This also helps us protect asset
value for Investors

mix of funding, phased maturity, adequate
flexibility and Liguidity and strong balance
sheet metrics

Strategic partnerships

We have a strong track record of working
with partners to achieve benefits of scale
while managing risk 36% of our owned
assets are held in joint ventures and funds,
including Broadgate and Meadowhall Within
these structures we typically earn fees by
providing asset management, development,
corporate and finance services These
expenences, and the relationships we have
developed, position us well to praogress
some of our larger opportunities, including
Canada Water

For more information on debt and {everage
go to our Financial review on page 41 and
Financial policies and principles on page 45



Expert People — the
knowledge and skills to deliver

Investing in our people

Our people strategy focuses on creating a
team which can deliver Places People Prefer
To do this we will continue to enhance the
diversity of our business, further benefitting
from a broad range of skills, backgrounds ‘
and experience

We support all employees with career
pragression through personal development
plans and by providing opportunities for
everyone to develop and excel Thisyear,

we invested more than £550,000 in staff
development and protessional qualifications,
including a range of online resources avallable
to all employees, customer focused sales
training which has been rolled out across
British Land, and our residential Leadership in
Real Estate programme which has benefitted
57 of our team since launch in 2014

In view of our increasing focus on mixed

use property and development, we encourage
cross-team collaboration so that expertrse

in one part of the business benefits other
areas We are also building cur marketing
capabilities to help ensure customer
orientation 1s at the core of what we do and
investing in technolegy, upgrading our core
operational systems and processes, whilst
enhancing our cyber and data \
security processes

Supporting wellbeing and inclusion
To suppert the wellbeing of our team and

as part of our commitment to building an
inclusive culture, this year we established

our Ethme Diversity Network and our
Parents and Carers Network, alongside

' our successful Wormen's Network, BL Pride,

our LGBT and Allies Network and our
Wellbeing Commuttee To help people
balance their working lives with the interests
and responsibilities they have outside work,
we provide everyone with the technology
they need to work flexibly, with circa 20%
doing so on a formal basis

We encourage all of cur people to support
locat communities through volunteering and
are pleased that 16% of the Bnitish Land team
was Involved in skills-based volunteering this
year, including roles as charity trustees and
school gavernors Since autumn 2017,

20 employees have signed up to the Step

on Board programme, an external service
that supports employees to volunteer as
non-executive directers and trustees of
charties and voluntary organisations

I his year British Land was awarded our first
Two Star accreditation in the ‘Best Cormpanies’
survey published by The Sunday Times, with
particular progress in flexible working and
personal growth Broadgate Estates lour
property management subsidiary) also
achieved its second One Star accreditation
Management engages regularly with
empiloyees, including through twice monthly
staff meetings and specific results and
strategy updates Colleagues at all levels
can participate in our all-emptoyee share
schemes, aligning their interests with those
of shareholders with 95% of employees
participating in aur Share Incentive Plan

Tomorrow’s team

We recognise the importance of investing
In tomorrow's workforce, both for British
Land and cur custoemers and partners
Alongside cur leng-standing internship
scheme, our graduate scheme i1s now In its
second year with six graduates recruited
Three are joiing this year, of whom one
carne through Pathways to Property, an
initiative led by the University of Reading
to promote property in UK state schools,
which we have supported for five years
Another three are joining next year
Across our portfolio, 20,114 people
benefitted from our skills, employment

and educationalinitiatives in the year

11

Chris Grigg rankad
1th of Ally Executives
by OUTstanding and
the Financial Times

Skills and opportunity

Through our Bright Lights Starting
Out in Retail training programme
we engaged 35 relail and leisure
occupers this year and supparted
100 unemgloyed young people nto
Jabs, growing local skills and
empioyment Thisis helping our
customers secure their skited
workforce of the future and
promoting social mobility

British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2018
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CASE STUDY - BROADGATE

Broadgate —
where innovation
and finance play

within the British Land portfolio. Itis a
mixed use campus comprising offices,
restaurants, retail and leisure set across
four landscaped squares.

Broadgate is the largest asset by value

Covering 32 acres, it1s central London’s
largest pedestrianised area Broadgate

1s adjacent to Liverpool Street Station, a
Crossrail station from 2019, and connects
the creative, tech-focused communities
of Spitalfhields, Shareditch and Old Street

with the City
people visit Broadgate increasen footfall to
eachyear Liverpool Street with

the launch of Cressrail

Investing in our places

75% 64% We have more than 1 million sq ft of space

under development at Broadgate, across

of campus workers of campus workers have

engage with foad and attended a campus event 100 Liverpool Street, 1 Finsbury Avenue
beverage offer weekly based on our surveys and 135 Bishopsgate, of which 32% 1s
based on our surveys let or under offer, significantly reducing

aur development risk

Our plans enhance our burlldings and

the shared spaces between them to appeal
to a broader range of customers and better
connect Breadgate to ts surrounding
neighbourhoods

www_broadgate co.uk

Sustainability
in action

£3.4m

social value added by getting
286 East Londoners into jobs
and apprenticeships with our
suppliers and customers at
Broadgate, growing local skills
and employment See page 25
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A lifestyle neighbourhood

15%

of space currently under development will be retail or focd
and beverage with 42,000 sq ft let to global retail brand Eataly

A place for innovation

230,000 sq ft

Space taken by TMT and creative businesses including Starling Bank
and Innovate Finance at 2FA and 79,000 sq ft let to Mimecast at 1FA

Enhanced connectivity

Crossrail launches in 2019, transforming London s
connectivity, and bringing our custemers to within
10 minutes of the West End and 30 minutes of Beathrow

Our partners

Qur joint venture partners GIC
are fully committed to our vision
for Broadgate, enabling us to

progress our development pipeline

tn addition to the buildings we are
already delivering, our medium
term pipeline covers a further

1 million sq ft

Sharing experience

Construction workers who
hetped build some of the first
Broadgate buildings worked
alongside new recruits to the
industry on the construction
of 100 Liverpoot Streat

Introducing Storey

During the year we introduced our flexible
workspace brand, Storey, to Broadgate
at Appold Studios and 2 Finsbury Avenue

Storey has attracted a new, different type

of occupier to the campus, Including smaller,
innovative businesses and divisions of larger,
established cccupiers This 1s additive to the overall
campus offer and environment, benefits targer
sccupiers and further diversifies our customer mix

Storey provides over

60.000 sq ft

of flexibte workspace at Broadgale,
of which nearly 95% 15 let or under olfer

www storey.co.uk

British Land have delivered a
Sforward thinking, creative and
Hexible product with digital
connectivity that aligns well
with our business needs.”

William Newton
President & EMEA MD WiredScore
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CASE STUDY - MEADOWHALL

Meadowhall -

a vitbrant destination
for today and tomorrow

Meadowhall, located on the outskirts of
Sheffield, is Yorkshire's premier shopping
destination and one of only six out-of-town
super-regional shopping centres in the UK.

It provides 1 5 rmillion sq ft of high quality
retail and leisure space to around 280
occupters Qur planned leisure extension will
transform the leisure offer, which currently
comprises an 11-screen Vue cinema and
mere than 50 restaurants and cafes

3m 24m

people in Meadowhall s inannual footfall
calchment

This year our surveys showed:

4% 12%

ingrease In dwell time increase In
frequency of visit

1% 5%

increase in how the increase in averall
quality of the architecture  centre rating
Is percelved

www.meadowhall.co.uk

Improving the experience

£O60m

refurbishment carnpleted with a further £46 milbion
invested in store upgrades by nearly 80 brands,
strengthening appeal to new customers, with 28 new
retailers signed, driving improved performance across
the centre

The work was carried out overnight without any loss
in trading hours Qur customers were incredibly
cooperative and traded as normal, ensuring shoppers
continued to enjoy their visits

20
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Attracting new occupiers

82.000 sq ft

ettings to new retailers since we started our refurbishment




Richard Hodgson
CEQ Yo! Sushi

Supporting fulfilment as retail evolves

QOur most recent survey found that 7% of visitors had used
click and collect facilities on the day of their visit, more than
double the proportion from the same period in 2014

Broadening our target market

Following the successful completion of the redevelopment,
and having attracted a broader range of aspirational brands,
the shopper profile has become more affluent, with 15 3%
now from the three most wealthy consumer groups las per
the Acorn classification}, compared to 13 3% a year ago

Strengthening community links

7% tncrease In routine top up shepping missions demonstrating
Meadowhall's role as a tewn and community centre

Sustainability
in action

£36m

boost for the regional economy
through the Meadowhall
refurbishment with 69% of
construction spend awarded to
firms within 25 miles of the centre,
including small businesses

See page 25

The area is lighter. brighter and
more aspirational. Sales at Yo! Sushi
have jumped, we're up 20% since

the refurbishment and it'’s growing.”

British Land

Supporting local
emplovment

24

apprenticeships supported and
more than 1,200 jobs created to
delwer the refurbishrment

Experiential shopping

60%

of people vist Meadowhall on a destination shapping
trip with our planned leisure extension expected ta
strengthen its role in attracting wisitors for a big day out

Enlivening our space

¢15.000

raised for charity by Christmas concert featuring
Craig Dawvid

Annual Report and Accounts 2018
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DEVELOPMENT PIPELINE

Our significant development pipeline
positions us well to capitalise on
future market opportunities in a risk

managed way

Committed W

Five developments covering 1 6 million sq ft
with a current value of £572 rmullion and an
ERY of £63 mitlion 55% of this space s let
or under offer, significantly reducing our
speculative risk which stands at 4 5% of the
portfolio value Costs assoctated with our
committed developments total £427 million,
which are substantially covered by residential
receipts to come at our recently completed
Clarges development of £373 mullion

Near term l

Four develapments which we expect to start
in the coming year covering 578.000 sq ft of
space with an ERV of £30 rmillion

Calendar year*

12019

Medium term B

10 developments, totalling nearly 3 milttion
sq ft in addition to our plans at Canada Water,
a 5 milbion sq ft London regeneration project

135 Bishopsgate

Office-led development on our
Broadgate campus, at Bishopsgate,
where footfall1s amongst the highest
in London Itabian marketplace Eataly
are taking 42,000 sq ft for their first
ever UK store, and we are under
offer or in negotiatiens on a further
269,000 sq ft

328000 sy ft

T an laz

I

1 Finsbury Avenue

Office-led refurbishment, at our
Broadgate campus, with significant
retarl and leisure element on lower
floors and flexible workspace on
upper floors 32% let to technology
company Mimecast

291000 sq ft

" Timeline based an practical completion

For mere information on developments, see
www.britishland.com/development

Q3
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Q4

Plymouth Leisure

Leisure extension at Drake Circus
including a 12-screen Cineworld,
15 restaurants and a 412-space
car park

107000 sq ft



Meadowhall Leisure

Leisure extension which will add
a new cinema, café court, gym,
open-air terrace and space for
leisure, event and community
use at our Meadowhall centre
We have recewved a resolution

to grant planning

330.000 sq ft

2020

5 Kingdom Street

Office ted develecpment, at the
western end of Paddington Central,
with potential for a broader mix of
uses, including retail and restaurants

332.000 sq ft

1 Triton Square

Office-led development at Regent s
Place which is fully pre-tet to
Oentsu Aegis Network, an existing
occupier on the campus, on g 20
year lease At310,000sqft, thisis
the largest pre-let in the West End
for 20 years and 15 a strong
endorsement of the campus

366.000 sq it

Q2

100 Liverpool Street

Qffice-led development, with
90,000 sq ft of retail and leisure space

Ad)jacent to Liverpool Street Station,

at the gateway to our Broadgate
campus 37% of office space let to
SMBCE, who are taking the lower
three floors of the bullding on a
20 year lease

52200054t

Q3 Q4

2021 & bevond...

Canada Water

Phase 1 of our mixed use regeneration schermne
at Canada Water covers 1 8 million sq ft, of a
total of 5 million sa ft This phase envisages

1 million sq ft of commercial space, 256,000

sq ft of leisure and retail space and 650 new
hcmes, with 35% affordable housing provision
Qur cutline planning application for the overall
masterplan was submitted in May 2018

5 million sq ft

dCanadaWaterMasterplan

www.canadawatermasterplan.com
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HOW SUSTAINABILITY CREATES VALUE

We continue to deliver strong economic,
social and environmental performance

Aligned to the corporate strategy, our 2020 sustainability strategy

is built around four focus areas, which address major social,
economic and environmental trends to create value for our
stakeholders and the business.

We provide clear guidance on the high social, envirsnmental and
athical standards we expect of employees and suppliers through
policies such as our Supplier Code of Conduct, Local Charter and
Sustainability Brief for Developments The effectiveness of our strategy
and policies can be seen in our streng social and environmental
performance, which reduces risks and creates positive outcomes

Customer Orientation

Wellbeing

Create places that pramote
health, improve productmity
and increase enjoyment

Customers

Occupiers and people
at our places

Right Places

Community

Make a positive contnbution
locally and behave so our places
are considered part of the
local community

Communities

Local people and organisations

Capital Efficiency

Futureproofing

Protect and enhance asset value
through environmental stewardship,
including energy generation and

efficiency, materials innovation and
flood risk reduction

Shareholders

Investors and co-invesiors

Expert People

Skills and opportunity

Develop skills and opportunities
to help local people and
businesses grow

Partners

Local autharities, supphers
and employees

2018 highlights include

We design for wellbemngin
everything we do This includes
collaborating with suppliers to
promote a culture of wellbeing
at our places New facilities
launched at Broadgate support
the wellbeing of construction
workers, designed by local
students at the University of
East London

(14

Theres real enthusiasm
from the team for their new
Jacilities, which have the feel
of « high street restanrant.”

Jeff Tidmarsh
Broadgate Framework Design
Manager at Sir Robert McAlpine

7,980 children participated Iin our
Young Readers Programme with
the National Literacy Trust and
custormers, across 25 retail centres
and three London campuses

14

We know that when children
enjoy reading and have books
of their own at home, they do
better at school, at work and in
life; yet a third of children left
primary school last year unable
to read well. Our partnership
with British Land takes us to
the very heart of this issue.”

Jonathan Douglas
Director of the National
Literacy Trust
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17% increase i renewable
energy generated by solar
panels at our places this year
to 800,000 kWh, with more
installations planned We also
procured 7% of all electricity
from certified renewable
sources, as an RE100 partner

(19

It is encouraging to sce large
commercial real estate
investors like British Land
seeking to reduce thetr carbon
Jootprines and futureproof
their assets.”

John Macdonald-Brown
CEO of Syzygy Renewables

742 local people progressed
into jobs and 159 employers
recruited through Fort Kinnaird
Recruitment & Skills Centre,
including our custorners We
support this as part of Bright
Lights, our skills and
employment pragramme

(14

Excellent service. We are able
to turn recruitiment around
very quickly due to filling our
intervicw slots immediately
Jollowing advertising our
vacancies.”

HR Manager
Marks & Spencer, Fort Kinnaird



Case studies: sustainability in action

Input

£325.000

invested in Broadgate Connect since 2012, along
with support from British Land management

Cutput

264

East London jobseekers recerved employability
traming, buitding their skilts

Cuteomes

£3.7m 22

sociglvalue added Broadgate suppliers
through upskilling and and accuplers
gelling jpbseekers into rectuited talent
employment

262

East London jobseekars  Helping secure the
supportedinto jebsand  skills our business, supply
Zéntoapprenticeships,  chainand customers
creating pasitive futures  need far the future

for themselves

Farmore on Principal risks see
pages 521055

Meadowhall

How cur integrated
approach to sustainability
enhanced our
refurbishment of
Meadowhall this year

For more on Sustainability perfarmance
measures, see pages 17510 174

British Land

Input

X 60111

refurbishment investment including £31 mitlion
construction spend, applying placemaking expertise
to transform the laok and feel of the centre

Output
L]
69, 1in3
of construction spend construction jobswere

awarded to firms within ~ filled by people living
25 miles, including srmall  1in Shetheld
local businesses

Outcomes

£30m

boost far the regional Contributing to unantmous
economy including planning support fur the
£26 rmilbion for srmall leisure extension
businesses

Jobs for Sheffield apprenticeships supported
residents or created through the

Meadowhall refurbishment

Broadgate

How Broadgate Connect,
part of our Bright Lights
skills and employment
programme, has created
langible outcomes m

the focal communnty
since 2012

For maore on Sustainabiity including
strategy, performance and policies, see
www britishland com/sustainability
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QUR KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

How we performed over
the past year against
our strategy

Links to remuneration

Long-Term Annual
|
|

incentive Plan Incentive award

Customer Orientation

Total accounting return (TAR)
Delivering sustainable long term value
Total accounting return is our overall
rneasure of performance lts the
dividend paid plus the growth in EPRA
NAY per share

Responding to changing lifestyles Insights

- 43,000 surveys were conducted across
our Retaill portfolio including 12,000 online
surveys completed at 14 of our Retail
centres, 3,000 surveys were completed
on our campuses

- QOurdata shows that consumers who
engage with our catering offer spend 27%
more on retail than those using retail
alone and the addition of leisure, food
and beverage offerings increases dwell
time to 20 minutes versus 54 minutes
for a retan-only user

- Qur campus surveys showed that more
retail’ was the most requested area of
improvement with ‘moere green spaces’
also an important priority

We recognise and respond to our
customers’ changing needs, based

on our insights about how people use
our spaces and our operational expertise

Our operational pricrities in the year
- Further develop customer insights
- Deliver technolegy driven innovations

Our response

- 15% of space under development at
Broadgate will be retail, leisure or food
and beverage including a cinema at
1 Finsbury Avenue and Italian
marketplace Eataly at 135 Bishopsgate

- Public realm improvements including a
woodland walk completed at Paddington
Central and six independent cafes signed

- Successful year at Pergola, an 850 cover
pop up dining concept at Paddington with
179,000 visitors in 2017

- 130,000 sq ft of food, beverage and leisure
lettings at our Retail centres

KPI

- 0ur 100 Liverpoot Street development will
benefit from smart technologies, including
biormetric screening, environmental
optimisation of Lighting, temperature and
arr quality and people flow analysis

- Technical solutions implemented at Storey
include super-fast and resilient internet
connechivity, tallored to occupier
requirements and a Storey customer
portal to assistin day-to-day management
of the space

Wellbeing

- Progress towards our WELL Gold
target at 100 Liverpool Street,
designing for wellbeing and
productivity

- 83% shopper scare for perception
of wellbeing at our Retaill assets
(2017 84%)

- Embedding wellbeing improverments,
including greenery, social spaces,
garmes areas, improved walkways
and training

Customer satisfaction Out of 10

Risk indicators we monitor

We extensively survey our custorners
and other users of our places tc assess
our performance and identify
apportunities for improvement

- Consumer confidence

- Employment forecasts for relevant
sectors

- Market letting risk [vacancies, expiries,

2018 8.1

2017 : : . 8.1

2016 ) 7.9

speculative development]
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Total accounting return (TAR)

PO 2 7%

Q)

Right Places

2018 performance

This year we generated a TAR of 8 9%
camprising a dsidend increase of 3 0% to
30 08 pence per share and a EPRA NAV
growth of 5 7% to 967 pence per share

Risk indicators we monitor

- Forecast GDP

- The margin between propertyyields
and long term borrowing costs

- Property capital growth and ERY
growth forecasts

Creating great environments
inside and out

We invest in places with potential and use
our placemaking framework to deliver
growth and returns

Our operational priorities in the year

- Deliver next steps of the Broadgate
masterplan

- Submit Canada Water planning

- Deliver flexible workspace offer

KPI

Investing in potential

- Committed development pipeline more
than doubled to 1 6 million sq ft,
development risk well managed with
55% of the ERV pre-let or under offer

- Onsite on more than 1 million sq ft of
developments at Broadgate, with 32%
pre-let or under offer

- Onsite at1 Triton Square, fully pre-let
on the office space covering 310,000 sq ft

- Planming achieved at the Gateway
Building, for & hotel at Paddington Central,
covering 105,000 sq ft

- E£60 mullion refurbishment of Meadowhall
completed, with a further £46 million
invested by nearly 80 customers

- Resolution toc grant planning achieved on
330,000 sq ft leisure halt at Meadowhall,
in total planning approvals on nearly

800,000 sq ft across the Retail portfolio

- Master development agreement with
Southwark Council at Canada Water,
outline planning application submitted
on the overall masterplan in May 2018

- 180,000 people have attended events
at the Printworks, our events space at
Canada Water, which was named the
Best New Venue 2017 1n the Londen
Venue Award

- Storey, our branded flexible workspace
offer, launched and now active across
114,000 sq ft, with space at each of our
campuses, now 77% let

Community

- £2 1 million community pregramme
benzfitting 39,798 people through
our L.ocal Charter activity (2G17
£17 rmitlion and 35,600

- British Land employee volunteering
79% and skilis-based volunteering
16%, with a new programme
launched to iIncrease more iImpactful
skills-based volunteering from 2019
(2017 90% and 16%, 2020 targets
90% and 20%]

Total property returns
We have underperformed the IPD
benchmark this year by -310bps,
reflecting our lack of exposure
to Industrial, the strongest
performing category

2018 7.0%

2017

31%

Speculative development commitment
Development supports value and future
income growth, but adds risk We keep our
committed development exposure at less
than 15% of our investment portfolio, with a
maximum of 8% developed speculatively

% of standing investments

2018 £0.6bn 4.5%
017 . £0.5bn 37%
: : 38%

Risk indicators we monitor

- Property capital return and ERV
growth forecasts

- Total development exposure

- Progress of developments against plan

- Speculative development exposure
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Strategic Report

OUR KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Links to remuneration

Long-Term Annual

Incentive Plan Incentive award

Capital Efficiency

Sustainability performance

We use industry-recognised indices to

track our sustainability performance

and Link this to remuneration

- Dow Jones Sustainability Index
World and Furope 2017 91st
percentile

- FTSE4Good 2016 94th percentile

- Global Real Estate Sustainab:lity
Benchmark 2017 Five Star rating

Disciplined use of capital

We make risk-adjusted decisions to invest
in acgquisitions and development whilst
preserving our balance sheet strength

Our operational priorities in the year

- Beat budget and achieve leasing targets
- Recycle capital toimprove returns

KPt

Robust financial performance

- Marginal decline in praofits, down 2 6% to
£380 mullion, despite net sales of income
producing assets of £1 5 billion over the
past two years and properties moving
into development

- Dwidend increase of 3% proposed for
2018/19, supported by our actions to
Increase cover, despite asset sales

- 2 4milbion sq ft of leasing across Retait
and Offices, 8 2% ahead of ERV

- 55% let or under offer on committed
development pipeline with committed
costs substantially covered by
residential receipts

- Further dwersifying sources of finance
with £300 million Sterling bond 1ssued

- LTVreduced to 28 4% despite £206 million
of acquisitions and a £300 rillion share
buyback

- Sentor unsecured credit rating upgraded
to ‘A by Fitch

- Weighted average interest rate reduced
to an all time low of 2 8%

Capital recycling

- £479 million of retail sales, making good
progress against target of £500 million
by November 2018 and bringing total
disposals to £2 3 billion over four years

- £103 million acquisition of The Woolwich
Estate, 2 4 9 acre retarl-anchored
scheme In south east London benefitting
from Crossrail

- Commitment to develop 1 Finsbury
Avenue and 135 Bishopsgate triggering
£17 million mvestment into our
Broadgate campus

- £300 million returned to shareholders via
a buyback, completed ahead of schedule

Futureproofing

- 92% of developments on track
to achieve BREEAM Excellent
for offices and Excellent or
Very Good for retail (2017 100%,
2020 target 100%)

- 54% reduction in carbon intensity
and 40% reduction in landlord
energy intensity versus 2009,
index scored (2017 44% and 35%
respectively, 2020 target 55%)

Loan to value (LTV)

— proportionally consolidated

We manage our LTV through the property
cycle such that our financial position would
remain robust in the event of a significant
fallin property values

07 - : 29.9%
2016 . . 32.1%

Weighted average interest rate
— proportionally consolidated
We have reduced our cost of finance to
an all time low supporting our financral
performance

2017 . 3.1%

3.3%

Risk indicaters we monitor

- Financial covenant headroom

- Period until refinancing 1s required

- Percentage of debt with interest
rate hedging

- Execution of debt financings
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Expert People

2018 performance

We continued to perform strengly on
sustamability indices have almost achieved
our 2020 carbon reduction target, and
launched a Supplier Code of Conduct for
ethical, social and environmental 1ssues

Risk indicators we monitor

Health and safety

Energy Performance Certificates
Flood risk

Public trust in business

The knowledge and skills to deliver

Qur team has the expertise to deliver
Places Peaple Prefer

Our operational priorities in the year

- Promcte an inclusive, performance
driven culture

- Create 2 more customer focused
organmsation

KPI

An open culture

- Ranked in the top 10 of FTSE 100
companies in the 2017 Hampton-
Alexander Review with 40% female
representation across the Executive
Committee and direct reports

- Circa 20% of employees now formally
work flexibly with technelogy available
to everyene to do so

- Successful years for BL Pride, our LGBT
and Allies network, our Women s
Committee and Wellbeing Committee,
with a Parents and Carers network
and Ethnic Diversity network formed
In the year

- Policy on enhanced shared parental
leave well recewved

Enhancing customer focus

- Customer-focused sales training rolled
out to everyone In client-facing roles

- Further cross-team collaboration
between British Land and Broadgate
Fstates with common platforms
established for messaging, calendar,
document management, customer
relations and HR systems

- Significant investment in technical
security measures and Group wide
employee training and awareness
on cyber security and GDPR

- WorldHost customer service tramning

rolled out to 21 of 25 of our major centres,
with 18 centres receving tramning in
dementia awareness and a range of site
appropriate training across the portfolio
including Autism Awareness, Mental
Health First Aid Training and Suppoerted
Guide training, helping people with

sight loss

Further investrment in our data and
analytics capabilities including improved
technology at our centres, a data and
analytics platform and a central Insights
team operating across Retail and Offices
ensures that data and insights are an
important factor in our decision making

Skills and opportunity

- 278 people supported into jobs
through Bright Lights, our skills
and employment programme,
working with suppliers, customers
and local partners

- 100% of employees and 70% of
supplier workforce at managed
properties paid the Living Wage
Foundation rate (2017 100% and
72% respectively)

Best Companies survey
The Best Comparnues survey published
by The Sunday Times provides
an extensive and objective measure
of employee engagement

2018 Two star

2017 One te watch

Ore star

Risk indicators we monitor
- Unplanned executive departures

Far our Rernuneration Report,
see page 76

For how we manage risk in delivering
our strategy, see page 48
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SOCIAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL REPORTING

Building a supportive and
inclusive culture for our people

and our key stakeholders

Diversity and equality

We are focused on creating diverse and inclusive places and
recognise that to deliver this strategy successfully, we need a
business and culture which promote these values By creating an
environment where our people feel fully supported, we empower
the whale organisation to be mare productive

Our Inclusive Culture Steering Committee, headed by a member
of our Executive Committee, promotes diversity and inclusion
at all levels of the business

Initiatives include

- Dwversity and uncenscious bias training cornpleted and is now
implemented for all new starters

- Internship and graduate schemes targeting young people
from diverse backgrounds [see page 25

- Ensuring that potential employee shortlists reflect the Group's
diversity criteria

- Diwversity networks empowering people to drive change
{see page 17]

- Shared parental pay providing equal enhanced benefits
to all parents

- Dwversity and inclusion forum for key suppliers to discuss
challenges and share best practice

- Diversity and inclusion survey, which we have also shared
with key sugpliers to support their activities

- Updating our values to reflect the changing way we work
together as a business [see page 9]

We are signatornies o

- People in Property’s guidetines on diversity and inclusion
inrecruitment

- The 30% Club, which targets a minimum 30% female
representation on FTSE 100 Boards

- EWGroup’s Inctusive Culture Pledge to develop diversity
across leadership, people, brand, data and future

- Real Estate Balance's CEC Commitments for Diversity

Our performance

- 49% of Group employees are female, including three Directors
on the Board and three of our Executive Committee [as at
March 2018)

- Ranked sixth in the Hampton-Alexander Review Report, with 40%
female representation across the Executive Comrmuttee and their
direct reports (as at Novemnber 2017)

- Chris Grigg ranked in the top 20 Ally Executives by OUTstanding
and the Financial Times for the third year running rank 11)

- First listed property company to achieve National Equality
Standard accreditation

Diversity and inclusion www.britishland com/inclusive-culture
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Gender pay gap and balance

As at 5 April 2017 British Land had 237 employees and 322 employees
in Broadgate Estates Currently the mean difference in gender pay at
British Land 15 39 4% which 1s in line with the average for our peer
group, reflecting the legacy structure of the real estate industry The
average gap for bonusesis 66 8% Cur workforce 1s made up almost
equally of men and women and men and women doing the same job
are pald the same, so we look at this as a difference in opportunity,
rather than pay The British Land Beard 1s committed to achieving
better gender balance across all positions in the Company and has
in place recruitment and development practices thatit believes will
lead to a matenal change to this position over time

Gender balance www britishland.com/gender-pay-gap

2018 2m7
M F M F
British Land 115.20 12470 11920 10853
Of which are Board 9.00 3.00 1000 300
Of which are Senior Managers  64.20  32.90 6420 2820
Broadgate Estates 243.50 213.41 22729 20418
Group total 358.70 338.11 34649 31271

Figures expressed as full tirme equivalent

Supply chain

We ask suppliers to work in 2 way we believe 1s best practice to achieve
our social, environmental and ethical standards The effectiveness of
our policies in this area can be seen in our sustainability performance
measures on pages 175 to 176 This year, we launched our Supplier
Code of Conduct, where we set out supplier obligations in areas

such as health and safety, human rights, fair working conditions,
anti-bribery and corruption, community engagement,
apprenticeships and environmental management

Supply chain www.britishland com/suppliers

Human rights

Our respect for human rights 1s embedded in how we do business

We are a signatory to the UN Global Compactwhich supports a core
sat of values, including human rights, and have made appropriate
disclosuresin respect of the Modern Slavery Act We are alse a member
of APRES, an action programme on responsible and ethical sourcing
across the construction industry For our performance on aspects
including fair wages and diversity, see pages 17510 176

Modern Slavery Act disclosure www britishland.com/MSA

Anti-bribery and corruption

We are committed to the highest tegal and ethical standards in every
aspect of our business Itis our policy to conduct business in a fair,
honest and open way, without the use of bribery or corrupt practices
to obtain an unfair advantage We provide clear guidance for suppliers
and employees, including policies on anti-bribery and corruption,
anti-fraud and code of conduct All employees receive training on
these 1ssues appropriate to their rales and responsibilities

Anti-bribery and corruption www britishtand.com/antibribery



Carbon reporting

Carbon intensity across our portfolio has reduced by 54% versus
our 2009 baseline, through the National Gnid s decarbonisation
and our own efficiency improvements With this 2020 target almost
achieved, we have also gone further, committing to source alt our
electricity from renewable sources and partnering with RE100,
supporting further decarbonisation of the National Grid

Absolute cimissions Scope 1and 2

2018 34,269

2018 5842
2017 41,758
2017 14,237

W Location based methodology 88 Market based methodology

Scope  and 2 emissions intensity (tonnes CO,e)*

Year ended 31 March 2018 2017 2009
Per m- - Offices [net lettable area) 0.055 00&% ons
Per m* - Retail enclosed 0.056 0067 0174
Per parking space — Retail open air 0.062 D064 0106
Per £m - Gross rental and related

income from managed portfolio” 58.03 67 3% -

We have reported on atl emission sources required under the Companies Act
2006 [Strategic Report and Directors Reports) Regulations 2013 These sources
fallwithin cur consaolidated financial statements and relate to head office
activities and controlled emissians from aur managed portfolio Scope 1and 2
emissions cover 76% of cur multi-let managed portfolio by value We have used
purchased energy consumption data the GHG Pratocal Corporate Accounting
and Reporting Standard [revised edition] and emission factors from the UK
Governmenl s GHG Cenversion Factors for Company Reporting 2017

" Gross Rental Incorne {GRI) fram the managed portfolio comprises Group GRI
of £441 mullion (2017 £442 millien), plus 100% of the GRI generated by joint
ventures and funds of £358 million (2017 £437 mulbion], less GRI generated
assels outside the managed portfalio of £235 rmullion (2017 £25% million]

Our envircnmental impacts include carbon emissions across our
portfolio This year, combustion of fuel ermissions reduced by 6%,
largely due to changes in cur portfolic Operation of facilities
emissions reduced by 75%, largely due ta fluctuations in air
conditioning plantissues Location based emissions from purchased
energy decreased by 20%, largely due to Grid decarbonisation and

changes in our portiolio Market based emissions decreased by 72%,

largely due to more electricity purchased from renewable sources
and changes in our portfolio

Absolute Scope 1 and 2 emissions (tonnes CO,c¢)

Year ended 31 March 2018 207 2009
Combustion of fuel: Managed portfolio
gas use and fueluse in British Land
owned vehicles 6,901 7,348 5,156
Operation of facilities: Managed portfolio
refrigerant loss from air conditioning b6 261 -
Purchase of electricity, heat, steam
and cooling: Managed portfolio
electricity use
Location based 27,301 34149 41186
Market based 1,875 6630 -

Task Force on Climate-related Financial
Disclosures (TCFD)

We support the recommendations of the Task Force
and continue to actively manage climate issues.

Governance

Our Risk Committee, which reports to the Board, monitors and
oversees climate 1ssues Climate risks are identified through a
process involving trend analysis and stakeholder engagement
They are then incorporated into our risk framework and
ranaged by the appropriate business areas

Strategy
We actively manage climate I1ssues across our business
This includes

- Upgrading assets with EPC ratings of F and G

- Improving fleod risk assessment and protection

- Procuring electricity from REGC certified renewable
sources, as an RE100 partner (2018 97%)

- Installing low carbon energy generation sources, where viable

Risks
We reviewed clmate risks i1 2018 as part of ourwider
materiality review Theyinclude

- Rising energy costs

- Energyand carbon taxation, such as the CRC Energy
Efficiency Scheme

- Climate and energy regulation, such as Mimmum Energy
Efficiency Standards (2018 5% of portfolio at risk]

- Flood risks, impacting on asset value and insurance
costs (2018 of the 3% of portfolio at tugh risk, 100%
has flood management plans)

- Costincreases linked with carbon-intensive
construction materials

Opportunities
- Anticipating occupier demand for climate resilient properties
- Delivering energy and carbon cost savings for us and our
customers [2018 £14 milbon gross and £6 million net
since 2012)
- Generating on site energy (2018 1,664 MWh]
- Outperforrming Building Regulations (2018 26% better
on average)

More infermation
Principat risks pages 52 to 55

Sustamability performance messures pages 17510 174

Sustamability Accounts for addittonal metrics, full methodology,
explanation of changes and Pw( < independent assurance
www.britishland com/sustainabilityreport

Climate strategy COP Report www.britishland.com/sustainabilityreport
Materiality review www,britishland.com/materiality

Policies and Code of Conducl www.britishland.com/policies
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FPERFORMANCE REVIEW

Against an uncertain backdrop
we remain _focused on our strategy

¢13.4bn

portfolio valuation

10%

lotal property return

1.8%

ERV growth

77 ycars

weghted average lease length
tofirst break

974%

nccupancy rate

2.2%

valuation mavement

Market backdrop

The economic enviranment remained uncertain across the year,
with consumer spending more subdued, as inflation [measured by
CPl} reached a high of 3 1% in Novernber The impact of political and
economic uncertainty relating to the ongeing Brexit negotiations
weighed cn investment decisions for UK businesses and in
November 2017, we saw the first interest rate rise in 10 years
However, at 4 2%, unemployment is atits lowest in more than

40 vears and inflation 1s slowing, as the impact of Sterling weakness
moderates Sowhile UK GEP growth forecasts remain below other
major economies, the relative strength of the global economy 1s
suppertive for UK businesses

The investment market

The London investment market proved resilient, with real estate
continuing to offer good relative returns, and the unigque attractions
of London rermaiming persuasive, partcularly for overseas investors
However, buyers have hecome more selective, with well-let,
best-in-class assets still generating good interest while pricing on
other assets has softened, driving further polarisation The picture

is similar in retail, where higher quality assets, both large and small, |

continue to see dermand, althcugh the market remains cautious with
investors generally demanding a higher yield to compensate for a
perceved increase N risk
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The Office occupational market
| Demand for the best quality space has remained firm, with
businesses continuing to make long term commitments to London

. despite wider uncertainty Imitial estimates for Brexit-related job

losses in the financial sector have been substantially lowered and

, financial services campanies have continued to take space, although

media and technology companies are now a more significant source
of demand Flexible workspace was another important driver, with
its share of take up increased from an average of 7% in 2012-14 to
21%1n 2017 This represents a shift towards more collaborative
workplaces on more flexible terms This is largely driven by the
growth of small and medium sized businesses, but also many larger
corporates, who ncreasingly require flexible workspace in addition
to their core office space

The supply pipeline has moderated substantially since the
referendum, and nearly 50% of all space under construction 1s
currently pre-let, including nearly 60% of space due for completion in
2018 As aresult, occupiers with relatively large space requirements
have limited options in the coming years, which should support rents

on the best quality space

The Retail occupational market
In Retall, the cccupational market became more challenging as the

. year progressed The long term structurat impact of online continues

to affect operators, and these 1ssues have been exacerbated by short
term factors, notably rising costs and subdued consurmer confidence
Retailers continue to rationalise therr store netwaorks, and several
highly leveraged operators with challenged models have applied for
CVAs [company voluntary arrangements) However, this negative
sentiment obscures healthy performances from aperators with
strong and differentiated offerings, who are evolving the role of

their stores to reflect the changing way people shop

In the casual dining sector, operators who over-expanded In recent
years have been similarly impacted by short term cost pressures,

although the overall leisure market remains strong Spending on
leisure has contmued to grow and this year is expected to reach
nearly £130 billion, a 17% merease compared to five years ago

As aresult, palansation 1s accelerating rapidly The best quality retail
schemes, which meet a much broader mix of uses, including leisure
and entertainment, and which support the important role physical
retail can play in an omni-channel strategy are still generating good
rental tension and delivering income growth




Qur strategy

Our strategy 1s to create outstanding places, which reflect the
changing lifestyles of the people who work, Live or spend time n

our space - we call this creating Places People Prefer We do this by
understanding and responding to the evolving neads and expectations
of our customers Increasingly people want to combine working,
shopping, socialising and entertainment in & single place Across our
business we are responding to this trend by curating the environment
inside and outside our buildings to create more of these opportunities,
which include a mix of activities As our markets evolve, we will
continue to positian our business to benefit from the long term
trends to drive enduring demand for our space

Londan Offices

Our campus approach enables us to successfully differentiate cur
space by creating neighbourhoods we can enhance and enliven
through placemaking 78% of our offices are located on our three
central Londen campuses at Broadgate, Paddington Central and
Regent’s Place Ateach, we are delivering a growing mix of uses
alongside our offices, Including dining, shopping, leisure and
entertainment as well as events and activities people can enjoy seven
days aweek Our newest buildings reflect the changing ways people
are working, with more collaborative space, distinctive features such
as roof terraces and smart technology, and sustainable characteristics,
all of which 1s driving good demand from a wide range of occupiers |

Starey, our flexible workspace business, 1s an integral part of that
approach, helping to attract new occupiers to our campuses and
allowing us to meet the evolving needs of existing customers
importantly, our campuses benefit from excellent connectivity and
transport infrastructure, which will be further enhanced by Crossrail
at Broadgate and Paddington Central This makes them accessible
and convenient, and will drive footfall, providing a strong rationale
for extending the retail and leisure offer

Broadgate Estates

In May 2018, we announced the sale of the third-party portiolio

of Broadgate Estates, our property management business, to
international real estate adviser Savills This transaction enables
us ta focus exclusively on our own assets and enhance the service
we provide to our customers as our business hecomes increasingly
mixed use

Portfolio performance

Total

Valuation ERV Yield property

Year ended Valuatran movernenl growlth shift return
31 March 2018 fm % % bps Y
Offices 6705 45 21 (7] 90
Retait 6,594 03 16 6 27
Residential 132 16 n/a nfa 4 6

' Canada Waler 283 (70) n/a n/a 139
Total 13,714 22 18 1 70

Retail

We believe that physical stores have a key role as a part of

a successful omni-channel retail strategy, but that the market s
polarising towards the best locations Size should be appropriate
to the catchment and quality of space and services are key
Placemaking 15 an important part of how we can add value as
owners and managers of property by curating our space to meet
the needs of our customers, we can support the way the role of
the store s changing Thisis where our investment is focused

There are typically three phases to a modern consumer journey
‘discavery, transaction and fulfilment’ Cur Regional centres
typically support the 'discovery’ phase, they attract visitors from
awide catchment 50 we are enhancing the nature of this space to
encourage people to stay longer and spend more by enlivening our
space with more leisure and entertainment Our data shows that
when customers engage with our catering offer, their retall spend
s typically 27% higher

The second stage 1s the actual transaction, which may take
place In store ar anline For retalers, transactions which are
made [or fulfilled) in store are preferred, as they do not incur the
cost of last mile delivery, reducing pressure on margins |

The third stage s fulfilment’ Retailers are focused on rightsizing
their store networks, but are committed to maintaimng good |
coverage, with stores increasingly playing a role in logistics and
distribution Across our portfolio 27% of shoppers now use click and
collect, up from 19% three years ago, and here, our Local centres,
which provide convenient shopping for local communities, have a
particular role to play

The portfolic value was up 2 2%, driven primarily by our leasing
activity, in particular the pre-letting of our developments which saw
avaluatien gain of ¢ 6% ERY growth was positive in Retail and Offices
but was strongerin the first half, particularly in Retail Gffice yields
contracted 7 bps mostly in the first half reflecting our leasing
success, whilst Retail saw yield expansian of 6 bps, which was mare
pranounced in our Local centres Overall, the portfolic equivalent
yield was broadly flat at 4 8%

The portfolio underpertormed the IPD all property total return index
by 310 bps over the year, largely reflecting the continued strength of
the industrial sectorwithin the index, where we have no exposure
Offices outperformed the sector benchmark by 70 bps on a total
returns basis while Retail underperformed by 50 bps

We have completed the first phase of our valuer appointment policy,
which restricts the engagement of valuers on individual assets to
10years As aresult, this year, 45% of the portfolio was subject tc a
change invaluer Despite some variations on individual assets, there

- was no material impact at a subsector level, and therefore overall

All of these changes were reported at half year and full detaits on
our policy can be found in the Governance section of our website

Investment and development

Canada

Retall  Offices Residential Water Taotal
From 1 April 2017 £m £m tm £m £m
Purchases 199 - - 7 206
Sales'? (4191 (577} (312] - [1,308)
Development spend 37 82 54 23 190
Capital spend 57 3 - - iy
Net investment (132)  [490] (258] 30 (850]
Gross investment 706 bb4 366 30 1.766

On a proportionally consolidated basis including the Group s share of joint

ventures and funds

"tncludes £575 miltion Leadenhall Building disposal exchanged during the year
ended 31 March 2017 and completed thisyear Includes sale of Richmond which
exchanged during the year and completed post year end

*Includes £193 reullion of Clarges completions which exchanged priot to FY18,
of which £168 million cornpleted after the year end
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PERFORMANCE REVIEW CONTINUED

¢1.8bn

gross investment aclivity

¢1.3bn

disposals

£0.5bn

acquisitions and capital expenditure

24m sq ft

lettings and renewals

+8. 29

lettings and renewals ahead of ERY

The gross value of our investment activity since 1 April 2017, as
measured by our share of acquisitions, disposals, capital spend
on developments and other capital projects, was £1 8 billion This
includes our share from the sale of The Leadenhall Building of
£575 million {100% £1 15 bithion) which completed in the year,
£419 million retail sales in line with book value and more than
£200 million of asset purchases

We exchanged or completed residential sales of £119 million in the
year, on average 16% ahead of most recent valuations Inaddition,
we have completed on £193 mullion of Clarges sales which exchanged
prior to T April 2017, of which €148 million completed postyear end
This brings total completed and exchanged sales at Clarges to

£344 million to date

This year, development spend has totalled £190 mitlion, with the
majority relating to Broadgate developments and Clarges Capital
expenditure of £62 million retates to income enhancing investment
and more general asset enhancement inihiatives including at
Meadowhall, Glasgow Fort, Peterbarcugh and Teesside

Development activity
British Land share

ERV let/
Current Costto under
Sqft value complete ERV offer Residential
At 31 March 2018 000 £m €m  Em Em exchanged
Completed inyear 170 488 17 2 1 3442
Commutted 1,614 572 427 63 35 -
Near term 578 a5 436 30 - -
Medium term 2,992
Canada Water
Phase 1 1.848

On a propertionally consslidated basisincluding the Group s share of jaint ventures
and funds [excepl area which s shown at 100%)]

! Total site areas 5 million sq ft,

z of which £193 million completed to date including £168 million post year end
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Across our portfolio, we have created attractive development
apportumties in line with our strategy, giving us the optionality
to progress when the time 1s right This 1s a unique advantage tn
the current environment, where we see imited opportunity to
make accretive acquisitions, given the continuing strength of
nvestment markets

We believe that space which meets a broader range of needs
will be most successful long term, so cur development pipeline
focuses on our London campuses where we see the patential to

. further enhance the mix of uses, with retail and residential in

addition to our core office space

In bine with our disciplined approach to capital allocation, we
carefully manage our development risk, and pre-letting our space

1s an important part of that appreach 35% of the £63 mullicn ERV in
our committed pipeline 1s already pre-let or under offer and our total
speculative expasure 15 Just 4 5% of portfolio gross asset value [GAV),
well below our internal risk threshold for speculative development

of 8% In addition, costs to come on our commitied pipeline of

£427 rllion are substantially covered by residential receipts to
come of £373 million from our Clarges Mayfair development

Looking forward, our medium term pipeline comprises a broad mix
of opportunities including mixed use schemes at Eden Walk, Kingston
and Ealing where we see potential to deliver sizeable residential
schemes alongside an impreved retail offer At Canada Water, we are
creating a new urban centre for London, which witl comprise cffices,
retail and leisure as well as residential We signed a Master
Development Agreement with Southwark Council and submitted our
outline planning application for the masterplan in May 2018 In total,

. our medium term pipeline covers 4 8 million sq ft, with the majority

of projects currently incormne producing or held at low cost

Construction cost forecasts continue to suggest that the rate of
growth has moderated from the levelin recent years However,
pressure on labour costs and imited capacity in the industry indicate
the rate of costinflation will increase in 2019/20 back to closer to
3-4% per annum To manage this, 89% of the costs on our
committed development programme have been fixed

More details on the portfolio, properly performance, individual
developments and assels sold and acquired during the year can
be found in the detailed supplementary tables on pages 166 t0 174



LONDON OFFICES

Strong leasing activity driven
by our campus strategy and

good market demand

Highlights

- Portfolio value up 4 5%, with the West End up 5 8% and the
Cityup 2 8%

- Yield contraction of 7 bps overall, with 13 bps contraction
In the West £nd, weighted towards the first half, and 2 bps
expansion in the City

- ERV growth of 2 1%, with the West End up 2 5% and the City
up 15%

- 70bps ahead of IPC on a total return basis, 100 bps ahead
on a capital basis, with ERV growth 100 bps shead

- Leasing activity covered 1 2 million sq ft, four times the area
achieved last year, adding £40 muillion to future rents, under
offer orin negotiations on a further 548,000 sq ft

- Rent reviews cavered 226,000 sq ft, 10% ahead of passing rent

- Actiity generating lke-for-like income growth of 2 4%

— E484 mulhion [excluding residential sales at Clarges) of gross
capital activity, including our share of The Leadenhal
Building [E575 million]

Tim Roberts
Head of Offices

Campus review

78% of our offices are located on our three central London
carmpuses, Broadgate, Regent s Place and Paddington Central
Each benefit from excellent transport links, as well as vibrant local
neighbourhoods, which supports our placemaking initiatives and
makes them more dynamic and interesting places to work and visit

Broadgate

At Broadgate, our leasing actmty covered nearly 590,000 sq ft,
including 160,000 sq ft at 100 Liverpool Street, to SMBCE, the
European subsidiary of SMBC [Sumitomao Mitsui Banking
Corparation] Having committed to this building on a speculative
basis at the end of 2016, we are now 37% let cn the office space by
area, and are seeing good levels of interest on the remaining space
A key focus remains increasing the mix of uses at our campuses, and
this year we signed a major deal with Eataly, the ltalian marketplace
at 135 Bishopsgate, where they will open ther first UK location
covering 42,000 sq ft This s an important letung for the campus,

in Line with our objective to make Broadgate an internationally
recogrused centre for new food, retail and culture We are under
offer or in negotiations on a further 269,000 sq ft of office space at

. this development, together accounting for around 80% of the space

At 1 and 2 Finsbury Avenue [1FA and 2FA), we are building
Broadgate s reputation as a centre for innovation and finance
We have let 79,000 sq ft to Mimecast at 1FA and are under offer on

" a cinema (11,000 sq ft], togethear representing more than one third

of the building At 2FA, we have let 14,500 sq ft on a short term basis
to Starling Bank, as well as a host of lettings in the technology and
creative sectors through Storey, our flexible workspace business
which covers 60,000 sq ft at Broadgate at 2FA and Appold Street

This year, we were pleased that Broadgate was the winner of two
Revo Opal Awards The first recogmsed how our commercialisation
strategy had helped transform and positively enhance the
environment at Broadgate, and the second recognising cur Winter
Forest as a best in class build, execution and visitor experience

' Regent’'s Place

At Regent s Place, our leasing activity covered 411,000 sq ft, with
our pre-let to Dentsu Aeqis of all the office space at 1 Iriton Square
accounting for 310,000 sq ft, the largest pre-let in the West [ nd for

| 22years Aspartof this letting, Dentsu Aegis have an option to return

their existing space at 10 Triton Street in 2021, which if exercised,
would have a compensating adjustment covering the rent free
period of the letting at 1 Triton Square
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LONDON OFFICES CONTINUED

Our Offices portfolio in London

£6.7pn

portfolio valuation [Briush Land sharel

143 years

weighted average lease length
tofirst break

96.17%

occupancy rate

facebook reatfirmed their commitrnent to the campus, taking

a further 39,400 sq ft at 10 Brock Street, bringing their total
accupation to 213,000 sq ft across two buildings, doubling their
initial requirement This 1s a good example of how we have been
able to accommodate the needs of our occuprers as their business
expands or needs change, sowe are pleased that Storey 1s now
operational across 23,000 5q ft at 338 Euston Road We also signed
Flykick, a new kick-boxing gym at 350 Euston Road, which cpened
in March 2018, in line with our focus on enlivening our spaces and
diversifying the mix

The Regent’s Place Community Fund s also entering its second year,

bringing together occupters to support local charities and make a
positive local difference Inits first year, over 2,600 people benefitted
fram projects addressing employability, social cohesion and health
and wellbeing

Paddington Central

Paddington was our best performing campus, up in value

more than 7% in the year as we benefitted from the placemaking
activities we have undertaken across our five years of ownership
This has delivered a total unlevered return of 12% per annum

4 ¥angdom Street (147,000 sq ft), reached practical completion in
April 2017 and was nearly 20% let ahead of launch in June 2017,
to occupiers including Vertex, Sasol and Mars, whose activities
span pharmaceuticals, energy and foed products Storeyis now
operational across 15,000 sq ft and a further 25,000 sq ft has
been allocated

Pergola, an outdoor drinking and dining experience which welcomed
179,000 people in 2017, reopened for the summer seascn at the end
of April. We are continuing to improve the feod, beverage and leisure
offering at Paddington with six operators, including a gym, barbers
and a number of independent cafés, together covering 12,500 sq ft,
signed in the period We completed stage one of our public realm
improvement programme and are now underway with stage two,
which will enhance and enliven the canal-side space

Storey

Since its launch in June 2017, Storey, our flexible workspace brand,
has made good progress We introduced the concept in respense to
changing customer needs, and to broaden the range of services we
offer campus occuplers Itis now operaticnal atall three of our
campuses, as well as Internaticnal House, Ealing, covering a total of
114,000 sq ft, of which 77% 1s now let We are differentiating our offer
to appeal to innovative businesses that have outgrown conventional
co-working space, as well as larger organisations seeking additional
space on more flexible terms 1n addition to their core requirement
Marketing and fit out are tallored accordingly, so our occupiers are
able to create their own brand within our space, but benefit from
shared facilities in the building as welt as the advantages that our
campuses provide

The average size of occupier 1s 52 employees and the average lease
length i1s 27 months (21 months term certain), with existing occupiers
from our campuses accounting for more than half of the space taken
AIM-lListed robotic software company Blue Prism have taken space
at 338 Euston Road and at Broadgate our activity 1s supporting the
campus's emergence as a centre of technology and mnovation,

with lettings to Wipro s strategic and digital arm. Digital +Designit,
Tantalum, an autometive technolegy innovator, and Rotageek,

which offers data-driven employee scheduling services

The premium to ERV we are achieving Is at or above target, and
we have allocated a further 119,000 sq ft to Storey from within the
portfolio, of which 73,000 sg ft will be at TFA 10,000 sq ft will be
club’ space at 4 Kingdor Street, where customers will be able

to host events and meetings and benefit from collaboration with
fellow Storey and other campus occuplers This brings total space
commutted to Storey to more than 230,000 sq ft

Residential

Clarges Mayfair, our super prime residential development, reached
practical completion in December 2017 To date we have cempleted
or exchanged on 24 residential units totalling £344 million and will
commence marketing of the remaining 10 valued at £141 mitlion,

. this sumimer This scheme, which has delivered profits of more




Paddington Central

In March 2013, we raised nearly £500 rilbion to fund attractive
investrment opportuntlies through a share placing Four
months later, we acquired Paddington Central lor £470 million,
and in 2015, One Shetden Sgquare for £210 mallion, at the
entrance tothe campus

InFebruary 2019 we comrmitted to the speculative
developrnent of 4 Kingdom Street When completed, it was
nearly 90% let ahead of the launch in June 2017 at rents 5%
shead of pre-referendum ERVs Today, top rents across
Paddington are more than 30% higher

Over the last hive years we have invested aver £10 mitlion
upgradingthe campus environment, making 1t more attractive
and engaging, and last year added Pergola, a pop-up diming
concept which has welcorned nearly 180,000 visitors The
evolution of Paddington continued this year We now have four
canal boats of which three are restaurants and recent lettings
to six independent food and restaurant operators have nearly
doubled the food and beverage allocation We also have
cansent for a 332,000 sq ft office-led developrment at

5 Kingdom Street and a 105,000 sq ft hotel

than £200 mullion to date, [of which residential accounts for over
£150 million] dermonstrates our expertise in residential The offices
element of this scheme reached practical completionin fune 2016
andis nearly 90% let

Rooftop of 4 Kingdom Street

At Blossom Street, Shareditch, we have an option over two acres
of land which expires in February 2019 We have consent fora
340,000 sq ft mixed use development, integrating 258,000 sq ft of

* character office space, with retail and residential, to create a mixed

use development that builds on the hustoric fabric of the area Our

Offices development

Over the year, we have committed to nearly 1 mullion sq ft of
development opportunities on our London campuses, more than
doubling our developrnent commitments, but without a material
increase in our speculative exposure 56% of the ERV In our
committed office developments 1s pre-let or under offer

We arhipved planning cansents covering more than 1 million sq ft
across our three campuses, and are already on site on more than
20% of this space

Committed pipeline
Our committed pipeline covers 15 million sq ft This includes 366,000
sq ftat 1 Triton Square, Regent s Place, but the majornity s at Broadgate

We are making good progress at 100 Liverpool Street, our 522,000 sq ft
development adjacent to the Crossrail station at Liverpool Straet
Station The building targets the Platinum WiredScore certification
for connectrity, a BREEAM Excellent rating for sustainability and the
WELL Gold certification for wellbeing, our plans include 20,000 sqg ft
of cutdoor terraces on five levels providing cutside spaces for office
workers to come together We have pre-let 37% of the office space to
SMBCE and are seeing good interest on the 90,000 sq ft of retail space
here Also at Broadgate, we are on site at 1FA (291,000 sq ft}, which
will include a cinema and rocf terrace, and 135 Bishopsgate (328,000
sq ftl, with 42 000 sq ft of retail pre-let to italian marketplace Eataly
In total we are detivering more than T milben sq ft at Broadgate, of
which 15% of the space will be retail or leisure, with 32% of the total
ERY pre-let or under offer

Near term pipeline

Looking ahead, our near term pipeline covers 445,000 sq ft of
opportunities we would look to progress in the next 12 months
[t includes the Gateway Building at Paddington Central, and our
option at Blossom Streetin Shoreditch

In line with our strategic focus on expanding the mix of uses at our
carnpuses, we were pleased to achieve planning consent for the
Gateway, a 105,000 sqg ft premium hotet at Paddington Central

. plans envisage a mix of floorplates, to appeal to small and growing

businesses, particularly in the technology and creative sectors, with
the potential for some space to be allocated to Storey We will make
a decision on this development before the end of this calendar year

Medium term pipeline

Locking further ahead, we have created options across our portfolio,
which provide opportunities to grow and develop our business well
into the future Our medium term office pipeline covers 1 4 million sq ft,
of which three-quarters s at Broadgate

At 2-3 Finsbury Avenue [2FA and 3FA), we have consent for

a 563,000 sq ft development, adding 374,000 sq ft to the existing
space, but would seek a significant pre-let before making any
commitment In the meantime, the space 1s generating a good income
through short term more flexible lets and 1s proving particularly
successful amongst technolegy and creative occuprers 20,000 sq ft
has been letto TMT and creative occupters through our core business
at 2FA, and a further 60,000 sg ft by Storey at 2FA and Appold Street
We recently achieved vacant possession at 3FA, and the spaces
enjoying similar success, with 44,000 sq ft of short term lets agreed
as well as 1,700 sq ft of events space which we expect to launch n
the coming months This short term activity provides us with options
over when we commence development We are progressing our
plans at 1-2 Broadgate, in totat covering 507,000 sq ft, including a
significant retall, leisure and dining element Vacant possessions
not expected until the end of 2019 but we expect to make a planning
application towards the end of this year

At 5 Kingdom Street, at Paddington Central, we have existing
consent for a 240,000 sq ft office-led scheme, our plans will increase
this to more than 332,000 sq ft and we expect to submit a revised
application later this year The site sits above the Box, a 70,000 sq ft
site which will become redundant on the completion of Crossrall,
when ownership reverts to British Land This represents an
interesting opportunity to create an alternative use, potentially retail,
leisure, conference or events space, which will further differentiate
our campus offering
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RETAIL

Quality space driving

operational outperformance

in polarising markets

Highlights

- Portfolio value up 0 3%, with the multi-let portfolio down 0 5%
offset by positive movernents on our solus and leisure assets

- In the multi-let portfolio, Regienals were marginally up in
value whilst Locals were down 1 5%

- Yield expansion of 6 bps overall, with ¢ bps expansion in the
multi-tet portfolic, more pronounced in the Local portfolio

- ERVgrowth of 1 6%, with 1 9% growth in the multi-let
portfolio reflecting our successful leasing actvity

- Underperformed IPD by 50 bps on a total return basis and
70 bps below on a capital basis, ERY growth was 70 bps
ahead of the index

- Leasing activity covered 1 2 million sq ft, adding €7 mullion
to future rents

- Virtually full with occupancy at 8%

- Completed more than 100 rent reviews, 4 2% ahead of
passing rent

- Nearly 90% of leases reaching expiry were either retained or
replaced on terms anead of ERV, with a further 5% re-let in
the short term

- Activity generating Like-for-like income growth of 12%

- Footfall up 0 3%, 340bps ahead of benchmark, retailer sales
down 1 6%, 130bps ahead of benchmark

- Gross investment activity of £706 mullion, with sales of
£419 million, overall in line with book value, £199 rmillion
of acquisitions, Including £152 million of regeneration
opportunities in London, benefitting from Crossrail
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Charles Maudsley
Head of Retail, Leisure & Residential

Operational review

We have a focused leasing strategy, nformed by our insights,

which keeps our offer relevant in today s market, this means we

are targeting growth subsectors and meeting customer needs
Compared with 2015, we have undertaken 8 8% more leasing to
‘health and beauty’ operators, and 5 6% more In ‘outdoor and sports
clothing At the same time, we have reduced leasing to sectors
where sales have declined, notably general fashion 1s down more
than 10%

We are alsa leveraging our insights to demanstrate the attractians
of our assets to potential occuplers This year for example, we
signed Decathlon at Ealing after providing compelling research
on the strategic fit between its demographic profile and the local
catchment, and at Broughton, Chester, Footasylum opened its
first cut of town store, having demonstrated to the cccupier that a
physical store was an cpportunity to enhance their previously low
brand awareness to aver one million residents in the catchment

 Earlyindications are that it is trading well This approach s integral

to our leasing strategy across the portfolio and instrumental in
encouraging operators to open out of town stores, with recent
examples including Lush, Ann Summers, Disney and Joules alt
opening at Glasgow Fort, and Hotel Chocolat at Teesside, Stockton

!Inaddition, our rent to sales ratic remains attractive at 11%

| At Meadowhall, we have seen a strong response to our £60 million

refurbishment, with nearly 80 occupiers investing £46 million
upgrading their stores We have signed 28 new cccupliers, including
online retarler Joe Browns first physical store, and Australian
homewares brand House, who opened one of their first UK stores
here We have strengthened the premum offering to reflect the
improving catchment, with Godiva, Michael Kars, Flannels,

Tag Heuer, Neal's Yard, Joules and Nespresso all signing We have

. relocated or upsized a further 71 occuplers and renewed or re-geared

leases on another 14 This year, deals were signed 13% ahead of ERY,
and our activity has generated ERV growth of 2 8% We are also
pleased that our investment has benefitted the local community,
with 69% of construction spend going to local businesses and

24 people supported into apprenticeships



Our Retail portfolio

£0.6bn

portiolio valuation [British Land share]

79 years

weighted average lease length to
first break

98.0%

occupancy rate

315m

annual foot{all

Our portfolio has the potential to reach

60%

of the population

Un a propartionally consolidated basis including the Group s

share of joint ventures and funds

' Oeeupancy reduces to 97 5% treating space as vacant where
accuplers have gone into Liquidation post 31 March 2018

Source CACI Retal Footprint 2014
Note Catchment mcludes Broadgate

Across the market, sales and footfall are down but our assets have
continued to outperform Footfall was up 0 3% across the multi-let
portfolio, cutperforming the market by 340 bps with the scale of

our outperformance continuing to grow A number of our centres
performed particularly well, including Stockton, Teesside, where we
are on site with a £20 million refurbishment, and SouthGate, Bath,
where the dining offer has been revitalised, introducing new brands
like Comptoir Libanais, Thaikhun, Franco Manca and Absurd Bird
Retailer sales {which only capture in store sales] were down 1 6%

at our centres, but were ahead of market by 130 bps

In what has been a more challenging occupler market, we are
confident in the relative strength of our portfelio The combined
impact of adrministrations and CVAs during the year was 0 6% of total
gross incorme or £3 7 milion and the partfolio 1s virtually full with
occupancy of 28%

Capital activity

We are cormmutted to reshaping our Retail portfolio to focus on
assets which best align with our strategy This has been ongoing
for some time 1n the last four years, we have made £2 3 billion of
retall asset disposals This year, we sold £419 million of assets
[E662 million on a gross basis), in tine with book value, of which
£122 million were made in the second half, 7 4% ahead of book
value, and we are now under offer on a further £72 rmillion

Acquisitions of £179 mullion in the period included a Tesco JV swap,
which resulted in a net £73 mitbon of superstore disposals We also
acquired The Woolwich Estate and 10-40 The Broadway in Ealing for
atotal of £152 million These acquisitions are in line with our focus eon
well-connected assets with mixed use potential, strong or improving
local demographics and where we can put our placemaking expertise ‘
to work Both areas benefit from Crossrail, and have already seen
significant regeneration ahead of that This brings total gross activity, 1
including development and capital spend, to more than £ 700 millien

We have invested £88 million inte the portfolio, of which 70% 1s income
producing capex, and the remainder focusing on improvements to
the public realm We have a strong track record of delivermg value
with assets benefitting from material investment (mere than 5% of
value] delivering a total return outperformance of ¢ 80 bps, over the
last three years, driven by ERY growth

Retail development
Across the Retail portfolio, we achieved 44 planning consents
covering nearly 800,000 sq ft

We completed our 66,000 sq ft leisure extension at New Mersey,
Speke, which added an 11-screen cinema, pre-let to Cineworld, and
six restaurant units Overall, the scheme 15 80% let or under offer,
and witl open in summer 2018

Committed pipeline

We are on site with a 107,000 sq ft leisure extension at Orake Circus,
Plyrmouth, which will add a 12-screen cinema and 15 restaurants
We expect to reach practical completion towards the end of 2019
and are already 38% let or under offer

Near term pipeline

Our near term pipeline includes leisure extensions at Stockton,
Teesside (84,000 sq ft] and Forster Square, Bradford [49,000 sq ft)
At Teesside, we received a resolution to grant planning for our
masterplan, which includes aredevelopment of the existing

. terrace, the introduction of smaller retail and restaurant units
and impr ovements to the public realm, overall adding 51,000 sq ft,

. butwe wiil seek a significant pre-let befere committing to this
deelopmem We expect to subrmit a planning application for our
plans at Bradford this year
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RETAIL CONTINUED

Fort Kinnaird. Edinburgh

British Land has managed Fort Kinnarrd, 3 560,000
sq ft shopping scheme in Edinburgh, since 2005 In
the last five years, we have invested over £12 million,
including a 57.000 sg It leisure extensionin 2015,
adding a seven-screen Odeon cinema, anaw play
area for children, and & range of restaurants
including Pizza Express, Nando s and Five Guys The
environment has been improved through shopfront
works, addibonal new planting and refurbishment of
dated umts Occupiers who have benefitted from this
include JD Sports, Primark, Waterstones and Currys

Fort Kinnaird provides employment for 2,000 local
people, and accounts for one retail job in every 201n
Edinburgh In 2077 we employed 28 apprentices and
all 12 participants in our Bright Lights Starting Out
in Retall and Hospitality programme secured
employment

Medium term pipeline

Our medium term pipeline includes our 330,000 sq ft teisure
extension at Meadowhall, where we secured a resolution to grant
planming consent Our plans will transform the centre’s leisure offer
with new dining and entertainment options, a new cinema, cafe
caurt, gym, open-air terrace and space for leisure, event and
community use We also submitted planning for a 208,000 sq ft
leisure extension at Serpentine Green, Peterborough, which will add
139.000 sq ft Our mixed use epporturities mclude a £400 million
redevelopment of Eden Watk, Kingston, where we have consent for
380 new homes, 28 new retail units, 12 restaurants and cafés and
35,000 sq ft of flexible office space AtFEaling, we are working up
plans for a wider mixed use development

Canada Water

At Canada Water, we are working with the London Borough of
Southwark on one of London’'s most significant development projects
Our long term viston for the area, spanning 53 acres, will deliver

a major new mixed use urban centre for this part of London,

Just one stop on the Jubilee Line frem Canary Wharf, in Zone 2

In March 2018, we were delighted to receive Southwark Cabinet
approval to entar into & Master Development Agreement with
Southwark Council, which was signed in May 2018 Under the terms
of the agreement, we have negotiated a new headlease, which
consolidates our holdings lincluding the Printworks, the Surrey
Quays Shopping Centre and the Mast Leisure Centre} into a single
500 year headlease, with Southwark Council as the lessor This
structure effectively aligns the ownership of these assets, with
British Land owning 80% and Southwark Council owning the
remaining 20% Southwark Council will have the opportunity to
participate in the development of the Individual plots, up to a
maximum of 20%, and returns will be pro-rated accordingly
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This agreement enabled us to submit our planming application in
May 2018, which included a detailed application for the project's
first three buldings, comprising workspace, retall, hames [of which
35% will be affordable] and a new leisure centre These buildings
are part of a major first phase of the development covering a total
of 1 8 million sq ft of mixed use space This includes one rmitlion sq ft
of workspace, 250,000 sq ft of retail and leisure space and 650
homes The overall masterplan, of which phase 1 forms part,is
expected to deliver up to 3,000 new homes, two millicn sq ft of
workspace and one million sq ft of retall, leisure, entertainment
and community space

* Subject to planning approvals, construction of the first detailed plots

coutd begin in spring 2019 Potential structures will be explored
when we have greater visibility on timing, but we are already seemng
interestin the space from a range of sectors and discussions are
underway on several builldings

Inthe meantime, the success of the Printworks, our award-winning
entertainment space in the old Daily Mail Printwerks, 1s building
awareness of the area With capacity for 5,000, 1t has welcomed
more than 250,000 visitors since launch, and has hosted bands
including So Solid Crew and Django Django as well as the
Beavertown Brewery Extravaganza, bringing over 70 of the

world's best breweries together The space has proved to be such

a commercial success, as well as an effective driver of footfall,

that it has now been incorporated into our develcpment plans

While the gross valuation of Canada Water was marginally up to
£283 million, the net valuation was down 7%, reflecting feasibility
costsincurred over the year which were not recoverable through
the valuation, pending achievermnent of ptanning



FINANCIAL REVIEW

Financial performance
for the year was robust

£380m

Underlying Frofit':

374y

Underlying earnings per share

£501m

IFRS profit before tax

3008p

Dividend per share

+89v

Total accounting return’’

967,

EPRA nel assat value per share'’

£9506m

IFRS net assets

%8.4%
2.8%

Weightad average inlerest rate”

' $ee gtossary for definitions www.britishtand com/glossary
" See Table B within supplementary disclosure for reconciliations
1o IFRS melrics
See note 2 within financial statements for calculation
- See note 17 within financial staterents for calculation and
reconcilialion to IFRS metrics
On a propartionally consclidated basisincluding the Group s share
of joint ventures and funds

Overview

Financial performance for the year was robust with underlying
earnings per share down 1 1% at 37 4 pence and Underlying Profit
down 2 6% at £380 million, despite significant sales EPRA net asset
value per share [NAV) increased by b 7% reflecting a portfolio
valuation gain of 2 2% on a proportionatly conselidated basis and
the impact of the £300 million share buyback programme

We have continued to reposition the portfolio with £1 8 bullion of gross
capital activity [E0 8 billion of net capital activityl since 1 April 2017
This comprises £1 0 bithion of disposals of income producing assets
representing 7% of the total portfolio, primarily single-let Retail
assets and our 50% interest in The Leadenhall Bullding which
exchanged in the previous financial year Sales were made at an
average yield of 4% We completed or exchanged on residential sales
of €01 billion during the year and completed £0 2 billion of further
residential sales at Clarges post year end

The net proceeds from this activity provide capacity for reinvestment
into our portfolio, particularly through the development opportunities
we are now progressing with a forecast yield on cost of around &%
We have mamtained a disciplined approach to capital and completed
our £300 million share buyback pregramme in February 2018,
purchasing 47 4 million ordinary shares at an avarage price of

630 pence This has increased NAV by 15 pence and added

0 4 pence to EPS this year Ouring the period we have also remvested
£0 3 billion in our developments and capital expenditure across
the portfolio, and made €0 2 billion of acquisitions

Underlying Profit was down 2 6% reflecting the impact of net sales
over the past two years and lease expiries at properties geing into
development This has been largely offset by leasing success at our
developments, like-for-like rental growth and financing activity, as
well as one-off surrender premia receved |FRS profit before tax
was £501 mithien, up from £195 rmillion in the prier year, primarily

due to the positive property valuation movement in the pericd

‘ Qur financial metrics remain strong LTV has decreased 150 bps

to 28 4% from 29 9% at 31 March 2017, primarily through net sales,
offset by the share buyback Our weighted average interestrate s
atits lowest level at 2 8% This financial strength provides us with
the capacity to progress oppertunities, including our development
pipeline, whilst retaining significant headroom to our covenants We
have been active in debt markets, including 1ssuing our £300 millicn
Sterling unsecured bond Qur senior unsecured credit rating has
been upgraded to A by Fitch

Shareholder returns remain a priority We increased the dividend
3% to 30 08 pence for the year ended 31 March 2018, resulting in a
dwidend payout ratio of 80% The Board propose a further increase
of 3% next year to 31 00 pence, a quarterly dividend of 775 pence

Presentation of financial information
The Group financial statements are prepared under IFRS where the
Group's Interests in Jjoint ventures and funds are shown as a single

" line item on the income statement and balance sheet and all

subsidiaries are consolidated at 100%

Management considers the business principaliy on a proportionally
consolidated basis when setting the strategy, determining annual
priorities, making investment and financing decisions and reviewing
performance This includes the Group s share of joint ventures and
funds on a line-by-line basis and excludes non-controlling tnterests
in the Group's subsidiaries The financial key performance indicators
are also presented on this basis

A summary income statemant and summary balance sheet which
reconcile the Group income staterments to British Land's interests on
a proportianally conselidated basis are included in Table A within the
supplementary disclosures

Managernent monitors Underlying Profit as this more accurately
reflects the Group's financial performance and the underlying
recurring performance cof our core property rental activity, as
opposed to IFRS metrics which include the non-cash valuation
rovement on the property portfolio It is based on the Best
Practices Recommendations of the Eurcpean Public Real Estate
Association [EPRA] which are widely used alternate metrics to their
IFRS equivalents
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Management also moniters EPRA NAY as this provides a transparent  The £34 million decrease in net rental income during the year was

and consistent basis to enable comparison between European the result of divestment activity and development expires partially

property companies Linked to this, the use of Total Accounting . offset by surrender premia, leasing of developments and tike-for-like

Return allows management to monitor return to shareholders based | rental growth

on movements in a consistently applied metnc, being EPRA NAY, and

dividends paid Net sales of Income producing assets of £1 5 billion over the last two
years have reduced rents by £44 million in the year

Loan to value {proportionally consolidated] 1s also monitored by i

management as a key measure of the level of debt employed by the Lease expines relating to properties in our development pipetine

Group to meet its strategic objectives, along with a measurement of reduced net rents by £22 mitiion, including £6 million at 100

risk It also allows comparison to other property companies who Liverpool Street where we are on site and progressing well with

similarly monitor and report this measure development, £5 milbon at the substantially pre-let 1 Triton Square
scheme, £5 million at 1TFAwhere we started on site in August 2017,

Income statement and £6 rmitlion at 135 Bishopsgate where we are now committed

1. Underlying Profit having let 42,000 sq ft to Eataly These are partally offset by one

Underlying Profitis the measure that i1s used internally to assess off surrender premia received, the majority being a £15 million

income performance No company adjustments have been made in surrender premium received from Royal Bank of Scotland in

the current or prior year and therefaore this 1s the same as the pre-tax | June 2017
EPRA earnings measure which includes a number of adjustments

to the IFRS reported profit before tax This s presentad below on Development lettings, notably at 4 Kingdom Street and Clarges,
a proportionally consclidated basis have contributed £6 million to rents in addition to Uke-for-like rental
growth of 1 8%, excluding the impact of surrender premia Retall
20017 2018 growth was 1 2% driven by asset management activities, such as
sectian tm Em ° splitting units, as well as leasing of vacant space In Offices,
Gross rental income | 643 613 Lke-for-like growth was 2 4% driven by fixed uplifts at rent reviews
Property operating expenses (33) (37] ahs well as leasing of completed developments that are now in
Net rental income 11 60 576 | thelikesfor-like portfolio
Net fees and other income 17 15 | 1.2 Administrative expenses
Administrative expenses 12 (B6) (83) | Administrative expenses decreased by a further £3 million this year
Net financing costs 13 {151)  (128) | as aresult of lower variable pay Due to the impact of sales on rents,
X - the Group's operating cost ratio increased by 130 bps to 16 9%
Underlying Profit 390 380 (2016/17 15 &%)
Non-controlling interests
in Underlying Profit 14 14 . 1.3 Net financing costs
EPRA adjustments (209} 107 ”
IJR;S ﬂrofltlEJ:’fSore tax : i 371;5 37521 - 15
nderlying p .4p _
N e
IFRS basic EPS 2 188p 48.7p 9
Dwidend per share 3 2920p 30.08p
' EPRA adjustments consist of iInvestment and development property
revaluations, gains/losses on investment and trading property disposals,
changes mthe fairvalue of inancial instruments and associated close out costs
Theseitems are presented in the capital and other column of the consolidated
income statement
207 Financing Net Developrnents Share 2018
1.1 Net rental income actmity dwestrment buyback
tag) 20 6 —e Financing costs have come down by £23 million this year
(14
Debt transactions undertaken over the last two years reduced
financing costs by £1%9 milbon in the year This includes repayment of
BLT debt following the net sales of five properties and exit from the
joint venture in April 2017, and early redemption of our é 75% and
9125% 2020 debentures In December 2017 we also successfully
tendered and repaid £84 millien of our 5 357% 2028 and 5 0055%
2035 Debentures Prior year activity includes early repayment of the
£295 mittilon TBL Properties Limited secured loan and close-out
of related swaps

2017 Net Expreson  Surrender  Develop- Like-for-lke 2018
divestrment  develop- premia ment rental i
ments lettings growth X
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In September 2017, the 1 5% convertible bond was cash settled using
existing bank facibities This has proven to be highly efficient financing ‘
since its 1ssue In September 2012 we estimate that it has saved

£40 rmitbon in financing costs compared to a fixed rate Sterling bond

at the time

Also in September we issued a £300 millien unsecured Sterling bond
for 12 years at a coupon of 2 375%, the lowest for a UK real estate
company in this market As well as diversifying both our sources of
funding and our maturity profile, it also established a benchmark for
us in the unsecured Sterling market

3. Dividends

The fourth intenim dividend payment for the quarter endad 31 March
2018 will be 7 52 pence to give a full year dividend of 30 08 pence,

an increase of 3 0% Payment will be made on 3 August 2018 to
shareholders an the register at close of business on 29 June 2018
The final dividend will be a Property Inceme Distribution and no
SCRIP alternative will be offered

This results in anincrease in the dividend pay-out ratio to 80% for
the year [2016/17 77%)

" The Board propeses to increase the dividend by 3 0% in 2018/19 to

During the year we agreed a new £100 mitlion bilateral bank revalving
unsecured credit facility {RCF'} and extended £225 million of existing
facilities In May, following the year end, we completed an amendment
and extension of cur largest syndicated RCF at £735 miltion, with

12 banks, at an initial margin of 90 bps and new maturity of five years,
which may be extended by a further two years at cur requestand on
each bank’s approval This facility, together with the bilaterals,

adds further Lguidity and flexibility to our debt portfolio

Net divestment activity reduced costs by a further £15 million,
the impact of which 1s partially offset by development spend

At 31 March 2018 we had interest rate hedging on 80% of our debt
[spot), and on 60% of our projected debt on average over the next
five years

1.4 Underlying Earnings Per Share

Underlying EPS is 37 4 pence based on Underlying Profit after tax of
£380 million EPS decline of 1 1% against the Underlying Profit decline
of 2 &% was driven by the 0 4 pence benefit of the share buyback
programme, which would be 14 pence on anannualised basis

2.1FRS profit before tax

The main difference between IFRS profit before tax and Underlying
Profitis that 1t includes the valuation movement on investment and
development properties and the fair value movements on financial
instruments In addition, the Group s investments in joint ventures
and funds are equity accounted in the IFRS incorne statement but
are included on a proportionally consolidated basis within
Underlying Profit

The IFRS profit before tax for the year was £501 million, compared
with a profit before tax for the prior year of £195 rillion This reflacts
the positive valuation movement on the Group s properties which
was £346 million more than the prior year and the valuation
movement ¢n the properties held in joint ventures and funds which
was £145 million more than the prior year, resulting from ERY
growth of 1 8% in the currentyear This was partially offset by higher
capital financing costs of £176 million more than the prior year
primarily due to recycling of cumutative losses within the hedging
and translation reserve in relation to a hedging instrument which

1s no longer hedge accounted The recognition of these amounts In
capital financing charges in the income staterment has a lmited
impact on EPRA NAVY, with fimancing and debt management activity
undertaken in the year leading te a 5 pence reductionin EPRA NAV
per share

IFRS basic EPS was 48 7 pence per share, compared to 18 8 pence
per share in the prior year, driven principally by positive property
valuation movements The basic weighted average number of shares
in1ssue during the year was 1,013 million (2016/17 1,029 mullion]

310 pence per share, with a quarterly dividend of 779 pence per
share The Board has taken into account future profit shape,
our preferred payout range and the external environment

Balance sheet

2017 2018

Section £m £m

Properties at valuation 13,240 13,716
Other non-current assets 154 185
14,096 13,901

Other net current labilities [364]  [368)
Adjusted net debt 6 (4,223 (3,973)
Other non-current Liabilities nn -
EPRA net assets 2498 9,580
EPRA NAV per share 4 9i5p  967p
Nen-controelling interests 255 254
Cther EPRA adjustments’ 277]  [308)
IFRS net assets 5 9476 9,506

Proportionally consolidated bastis

' EFPRA net assets exclude the mark-to-market on dernvatives and related debl
adjustments, the mark-ta-market on the convertible bonds as well as deferred
taxation on property and derivative revaluations They include the trading
properties at valuation (rather than lower of cost and net realisable value] and
are adjusted for the ditutive impact of share options No dilutian adjustment 15
made for the £350 million zero coupon convertible bond maturing in 2020
Delails of the EPRA adjustments are included i Table B within the
supplementary disclosures

4. EPRA net asset value per share

37
15 2
o L —
_— e
67
2017 Valuation  linder- Dwidends Financing  Share Other 2018
perfar- lying anddebt  buyback
mance Pralit rnanage-
ment costs

EPRA NAV per share has increased 5 7%, reflecting a valuation
increase of 2 2% for the year (M1 +1 4%, H2 +0 9%} This is the result
of stable yields and ERV growth of 1 8% resulting from healthy
leasing activity and investor appetite for long term, secure income
streams In addition, property performance includes the benefit of
completing the sale of The Leadenhall Building ahead of book value,
which contributed £32 mitlion to capital profit, and an uplift of

£59 million following completion of Clarges
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Retarl valuations are up 0 3% with marginal outward yield moverment !
of 6 bps and ERV growth of 1 6% the multi-let portfobo, which ‘
accounts for 81% of our Retall assets, was down 0 5% but saw ERV
growth of 1 9% driven by leasing success

Office valuations were up 4 5% driven by inward yield movement
of 7 bps and ERV growth of 2 1% Valuation increases are driven

by successful leasing, developments (up 10 6%]) and strong sales
activity The campuses account for 78% of the Offices portfolio and
all delivered streng performance, reflecting the attractiveness of
our campus approach

The 5 pence impact of financing and debt management costs
primarily relates to early repayment of debentures, term debt and
termination of interest rate swaps Our share buyback programme
has contributed 15 pence to EPRA NAV

5.IFRS net assets

IFRS net assets at 31 March 2018 were £2.506 million, an increase
of £30 million from 31 March 2017 This was primarily due to IFRS
profit before tax of £501 rmillion and ether comprehensive income
of £141 million, partially offset by £302 million of dividends paid

as well as £300 mullion of share purchases under the share
buyback scheme

CGash flow, net debt and financing
4. Adjusted net debt’

7. Financing
Group Proportionally consolidated
2017 2018 2017 2018
Net debt/
. adjusted net debt’ £3,0%m £3,046m £4,223m  £3,973m
Principal amount
of gross debt £3069m  £3,007m £4,520m £4,265m
Loan to value 22 6% 22.1% 299% 28.4%
Weighted average
Interest rate 2 4% 2.0% 31% 2.8%
Interest cover 45 53 36 4.0
. Weighted average
maturity of
drawn debt 4 Fyears B.1years 77years B8.6years

Group dala as presented in note 17 of the financial statements

The proportionally consclidated figures include the Group s share of joint
venture and funds net debt and exclude the mark-te-rmarket on derivatives
and related debt adjustments and non-controlling interests

Our balance sheet remains strong LTV and weighted average
interest on drawn debt have been reduced since 31 March 2017

At 31 March 2018, our proportionally consolidated LTV was 28 4%,
down 150 bps from 29 9% at 31 March 2017 due to net disposals,
cffset by the share buyback This is positioned to support investment
into our development pipetine as well as maintain significant

. headroom Note 17 of the financial statements sets out the

1,015
(101}
._W-_ {300)
(206} [302)

(4.223) (3.973}
2017 Disposals Acque-  Develop-  Net Diwi- Share  Cther 2018
sitions ment cash from dends  buyback
and opera-
capex tians

Adjusted net debt s a proportionally consolidated measure It represents

the Group net debt as disclosed in note 17 to the hnancial statements and

the Group s share of joint venture and funds net debt excluding the mark-ta-
market on derivatives, related debt adjustrments and non-controlling interests
Areconciliation between the Group net debt and adjusted net debt s included
in Table Awithin the supplementary disclosures

Net sales reduced debt by £0 8 billion in the year Completed
disposals during the year included the sale of The Leadenhall
Building for £575 million {BL share] and, in Line with our strategy of
focusing an multi-let assets, 20 superstores totalling £302 miltion
(BL share] We completed purchases of £206 mitlion during the year,
including The Woolwich Estate

We've also spent £122 rmullion on developments and a further
£87 million on capital expenditure related to asset management
on the standing portfolio The value of committed developments
ts £572 million, with £427 millicn costs to come Speculative
development exposure i1s 4 5% of the portfolio after taking into
account residential pre-sales There are 578,000 sq ft of
developments in our near term pipeline with anticipated

costs of £434 million
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calculation of the Group and proportionally consolidated LTV

The strength of our business s reflected in British Land s senior
unsecured creditrating which was upgraded by Fitch to 'A"in
February 2018 The long term 1ssuer default rating was also
upgraded to A-’

We maintained focus an ensuring our debt s cost effective Qur
weighted average interest rate is at an all ime lew of 2 8% driven
by proactive financing and debt management actions, together
with market rates Our interest cover has also improved to 4 Ox at
31 March 2018 from 3 6x at 31 March 2017

Our weighted average debt matunity 1s almost nine years following
1ssuance of the £300 mullion unsecured Sterling bond, and maturity
of the convertible

At 31 March 2018, British Land has £1 8 billion of committed
unsecured revolving bank facitities, £1 2 bilben undrawn These
faciities have maturities of maore than two years Based on our
current commitments, these facilities and debt maturities, we have
no requirernent to refinance until early 2021

Further informatien on our approach to financing 1s provided In the
Financial policies and principles section of the audited Annual Report
for the year ended 31 March 2018

Chris Grigg
Chief Executive



FINANCIAL POLICIES AND PRINCIPLES

We focus on having an appropriate
balance of debt and equity funding
which enables us to deliver our

property strategy

Leverage

We manage our use of debt and equity finance to balance the benefits
of leverage aganst the risks, including magnification of property
valuation movements A loan to value ratio [LTV ] measures our
leverage, primarily on a proporticnally consolidated basis including
our share of joint ventures and funds and excluding non-controlling
interests At 31 March 2018, our proportionally consolidated LTV
was 28 4% and the Group measure was 22 1% We manage our LTV
through the property cycle such that our financial position would
remain robust in the event of a significant fall in property values
This means we do not adjust our approach to leverage based on
changes in property market yields Conseqguently, our LTV may be
higher in the low point in the cycle and will trend downwards as
market yields tighten

Debt finance

The scale of our business combined with the quality of our assets
and rental Income means that we are able to approach a diverse
range of debt providers to arrange finance on attractive terms

Good access to the capital and debt markets 1s a competitive
advantage, allowing us to take advantage of opportunities when they
arise The Group's approach to debt financing for British Land 1s to
raise funds predominantly on an unsecured basis with our standard
financial covenants {set out on page 47) This provides flexibitity

and low operational cost Our jont ventures and funds which choose
to have external debt are egch financed in ring-fenced’ structures
without recourse to British Land for repayment and are secured

on their relevant assets Presented on the following page are the
five guiding principles that govern the way we structure and
rnanage debt

Monitoring and controlling our debt

We monitor our debt requirement by focusing principally on current
and projected borrowing levels, avallable facilties, debt maturity and
interest rate exposure We undertake sensitivity analysis to assess
the impacts of proposed transactions, movements in interest rates
and changes In property values on key balance sheet, lquidity and
profitability ratios We also consider the risks of a reducticn in the
avallability of finance, inctuding a tempaorary disruption of the debt
markets Based on our current commutments and avaiable facilities,
the Group has no requirement to refinance until early 2021 British
Land s committed bank facilities total £1 8 billion, of which

£1 2 bitlicn was undrawn at 31 March 2018

Managing interest rate exposure

We manage our nterest rate profile separately from our debt,
considering the sensitivity of underlying earnings to movernents
in market rates of interest over a five-year period The Board sets
appropriate ranges of hedged debt over that period and the longer
term Our debt finance 1s raised at both fixed and variable rates
Derwatives [primarily interest rate swaps and caps) are used to
achieve the destred interest rate profile across proporticnally
consolidated net debt At 31 March we had interest rate hedging
on 80% of our debt [spot), and on 60% of our projected debt on
average over the next five years, with a decreasing profile over
that period The use of derivatives 1s managed by a Derivatives

- Committee The interest rate management of joint ventures and

funds 1s considered separately by each entity s Board, taking inte
account appropriate factors for its business

Counterparties

We monitor the credit standing of our counterparties to minimise
risk exposure in placing cash deposits and arranging derivatives
Regular reviews are made of the external credit ratings of the
counterparties

Forcign currency

Our policy 1s to have no material unhedged net assets or liabilibies
denominated in foreign currencies When attractive terms are
available, the Group may choose to borrow in currencies other
than Sterling, and will fully hedge the foreign currency exposure
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Our five guiding principles

Diversify
OUr SOLITees
of finance

Phase
maturity
of debt
portfolio

Maintain
liquidity

Maintain
flexibility

Maintain
strong
balance
sheet
metrics

We monitor finance markets and seek to access different sources of finance when the relevant market conditions are
favourable to meet the needs of our business and, where appropriate, those of our joint ventures and funds The scale and
quality of aur business enables us to access a broad range of unsecured and secured, recourse and non-recourse debt
We develop and maintain long term retlationships with banks and debt investors We aim to aveid reliance on particular
sources of funds and borrow from a targe number of lenders from different sectors in the market across a range of
geographical areas, with a total of 30 debt providers in bank facilities and private placernents alone We work to ensure
that debt providers understand our business, adopting a transparent approach to provide sufficient disclosures to enable
them to evaluate their exposure within the overall context of the Group These factors increase our attractiveness to debt
providers, and in the last five years we have arranged £4 1 billion [British Land share £3 6 billion] of new finance in
unsecured and secured bank loan facilities, Sterling bonds, US Private Placements and convertible bonds [n addition we
have existing long dated debentures and securitisation bonds A European Medium Term Note programme has also been
rnaintained to enable us to access Sterling/Euro unsecured bond markets when 1t 1s appropriate for our business, this was
used for our £300 million Sterling unsecured bond 1ssuance in September 2017

4. .3bn

total drawn debt [proportionatly consolidated]

The maturity profile of our debt 1s managed with a spread of repayment dates, reducing our refinancing risk in respect of
urming and market conditions As a result of our financing activity, we are ahead of our preferred refinancing date horizen
of not less than two years The current range of debt maturities 1s within one to 20 years In accordance with cur usual
practice, we expect to refinance facilities ahead of their matunities

8.6 years

average drawn debt maturity [propaortionally consolidated)

In addition to our drawn debt, we always aim to have a good level of undrawn, committed, unsecured revolving bank
facilites These facilities provide financial liguidity, reduce the need to hold resources in cash and deposits, and mimimise
costs artsing from the difference between borrowing and deposit rates, while reducing credit exposure We arrange these
revolving credit facilities in excess of our committed and expected requirernents to ensure we have adequate financing
avallability to support business requirermnents and new spportumities An example of this 1s our recent amendment and
extension of the £735m revolving credit facility, in advance of 1ts maturity, for a new five-year term

£1.2bn

undrawn revolving credit facilities

Our facilities are structured to provide valuable flexibility for investment activity execution, whether sales, purchases,
developments or asset management inihatives Our unsecured revolving credit facilities provide full operational flexibility
of drawing and repayment (and cancellation if we require] at short notice without additionat cost These are arranged with
standard terms and financial covenants and generally have maturities of five years Alongside this unsecured revolving
debt our secured term debt in debentures has good asset security substitution rights, where we have the ability to move
assets in and out of the security pool

£1.8bn

total revolving credit faciuties

We use both debt and equity financing We manage LTV through the property cycle such that our financial positien would
remain robust in the event of a significant fall in property values and we do net adjust our approach to leverage based

on changes in property marketyelds We manage our interest rate profile separately from our debt, setting appropriate
ranges of hedged debt over a five-year period and the longer term

Our senror unsecured credit rating [ A7) and long term IDR credit rating [A-') were upgraded by Fitch during the year

28.4% A 4.0x

LTV [proportionally consolidated) senmor unsecured credit rating interest cover [proportionally consolidatea)
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Group borrowings

Unsecured finanaing for the Group includes bilateral and syndicated
revolving bank facilities [with imitial terms usually of five years, often
extendable], US Private Placements with maturities up to 2027, the
Sterling unsecured bond maturing in 2029, and the convertible bond
maturing in 2020

i Borrowings in our joint ventures and funds

External debt for our joint ventures and funds has been arranged
through long dated securitisations or secured bank debt, according
to the requirements of the business of each venture

Hercules Unit Trust and its joint ventures have term loan facilities

maturing in 2019 and 2020 arranged for their business and secured

Secured debt for the Greup (excluding debt in Hercules Unit Trust
which 1s covered under ‘Borrowings in our joint ventures and funds’)
15 provided by debentures with longer maturitres up to 2035

Unsecured Borrowings and covenants

The same financial covenants apply across each of the Group's
unsecured facilities These covenants, which have been consistently
agreed with all unsecured lenders since 2003, are

~ Net Borrowings not to exceed 175% of Adjusted Capital
and Reserves

- Net Unsecured Borrowings not to exceed 70% of
Unencumbered Assets

No income or interest cover ratios apply to these facilities, and there
are no other unsecured debt financial covenants in the Group

The Unencumbered Assets of the Group, not subject to any security,
stood at £7 7 billion as at 31 March 2018

Although secured assets are excluded from Unencumbered Assets
for the covenant calculatiens, unsecured lenders benefit from the
surplus value of these assets above the related debt and the free
cash flow from them During the year ended 31 March 2018, these
assets generated £53 rmillion of surplus cash after payment of
interest In addition, while investments in jomt ventures do not form
part of Unencurmbered Assets, our share of free cash flows
generated by these ventures 1s reqularly passed up to the Group

Unsecured financial covenants

2014 2015 2014 2017 2018
At 31 March 0 % % % %
Net borrowings to adjusted |
capital and reserves 40 38 34 29 29 |
Net unsecured borrowings
to unencumbered assets 31 28 29 26 23

Secured borrowings

Secured debt with recourse to British Land 1s provided by debentures
at fixed interest rates with long matunities and imited amortisation
These are secured against a combined pool of assets with commaon
covenants, the value of those assets 1s required to cover the amount
of these debentures by a mimmum of 1 5 times and net rental income
must cover the interest at least once We use cur rights under the
debentures to actively manage the assets in the security pool, in line
with these cover ratios We have reduced our debenture debt by

£284 million over the last three years as we continue to focus on
unsecured finance at a Group level, and have reduced the assets

held in the security pool accordingly

British Land

on praperty portfolios, without recourse to British Land These loans
include LTV ratio fwith maximum levels ranging from 40% to 65%]
and income based covenants

The securitisations of Broadgate [£1,565 mitlion], Meadowhall

[£643 million]) and the Sansbury’s Superstores poartfolio

(£251 muilion), have weighted average maturities of 10 8 years,

%1 years and 4 1 years respectively The key financial covenant
applicable s to meet interest and scheduled amortisation (equivalent
to | imes cover), there are no LTY covenants These securnitisations
have guarterly amortisation with the balance outstanding reducing
to approximately 15% to 30% of the original amount raised by
expected final maturity, thus mitigating refinancing risk

There s ne obligation on British Land to remedy any breach of these
covenants in the debt arrangement of joint ventures and funds
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MANAGING RISK IN DELIVERING OUR STRATEGY

Effective risk management is integral
to our objective of delivering
sustainable long term value

The Executive Directors are responsible for delivering the Company s
strategy, as set by the Board, and managing risk Ourrisk management
framework categorises our risks into external, strategic and
operaticnal risks The Risk Committee [comprising the Executive
Directors and senior management across the business) is responsible
for managing the principal risks in each category in order to achieve
our performance goals

British Land core strengths
Whilst ultimate responstbility for oversight of risk managerment
High quality commercial portfolio focused on London rests with the Board, the effective day-to-day management of risk
campuses and multi-let retail centres around the UK 15 ernbedded within cur operational business units and forms an
Long term strategy positioning the business to benefit integral part of how we work This bottom up approach ensures
from long terrm trends potential risks are identified at an early stage and escalated as
Customer focused approach to respond to appropriate, with mitigations put in place to manage such risks
changing Lifestyles Each busimess unit maintains a comprehensive risk register
Diverse and high quality occupier base Changes to the register are reviewed quarterly by the Risk

High occupancy and secure cash flows Committee, with significant and emerging risks escalated

Well balanced and risk managed development pipeline to the Audit Committee

Executicn of asset management and
development activity To read more about the Board and Audit Commuttee s risk oversight,
Abthity to source and execute attractive see pages 67, 72and 73

investment deals
Efficient capital structure with good access Top down Bottorn up

to capital and debt markets Strategic risk management Operatianal risk management
Strang sustainability performance -

Review external Tl
environment

} Robust assessment Assess effectiveness
For British Land, effective risk management is a carnerstone ! of principal risks of nsk management

| BOARD/ cyst
of delivering our strategy and integral to the achievement of our ! - AUDIT ystems
objective of delivering sustainable long term value We maintain a | Set risk appetite COMMITTEE -
comprehensive risk management process which serves to identify, and parameters Report on principal risks
assess and respond to the full range of financial and non-financial - and uncertainties
risks facing our business, including those risks that could threaten | Determine strategic
solvency and Liquidity, as well as identifying emerging risks action points . -

ldentify principal risks Consider completeness

QOur approach 1s not intended to eliminate risk entirely, but instead

to manage our risk exposures across the business, whilst at the ? - of identified risks
same time making the most of our opportuntties Direct delvery of RisK and adequacy of

. strategic actions in COMMITTEE/ rnitigating actions
Our risk management framework line wn%w risk appelite  EXECUTIVE 9=ns
Ourintegrated approach combines a top down strategic view with - DIRECTORS Consider aggregatien
a complementary bottem up operational process outlined in the Monitor key of nsk exposures
diagram on the right risk indicators across the business

The Board has overall responsibility for risk management with a P
particular focus on determining the nature and extent of exposure to )
principal risks 1t 1s willing to take in achieving its strategic objectives Execute strategic
The amount of risk we are willing to take (s assessed in the context of actions

the care strengths of our business (as summarised above] and the
external environment in which we operate - this 1s our risk appetite

Report current and
emerging risks
BUSINESS -
UNITS Identify, evaluate and
mitigate operational risks

S I recorded in risk register
The Audit Committee takes responsibility for overseeing the T T - -

effectiveness of risk management and internal control systems
on behalf of the Board, and also advises the Board on the principal
risks facing the business including those that would threaten its
solvency or hiquidity

Report on key
v nskindicators
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Cur risk appetite
Change inrisk

Principal Key risk indicators appetite in the
internal risks {including current optimal thresholds) year
Investment - Execubion of targeted acquisitions and Y
strategy disposals in ine with capital allocation plan l@'
loverseen by Investment Commitieel
- Annual IRR process which forecasts
prospective returns of each asset
- Percentage of portfelio in non-core sectors
Development - Total development exposure <15% ,»‘\
strategy of investment portfolio by value @
- Speculative development exposure <8%
of investment portfolia by value
- Progress on execution of key development
projects aganst plan
Capital - Managa our leverage such that LTV should Py
structure not exceed a maximum threshold If market 52!
yields were to rise Lo previous peaks
- Financial covenant headroom
Finance - Perwduntlrefinancing is required /ﬁ\
strategy of not less than two years @
- Percentage of debtwith interest rate
hedging over next five years
People - Unplanned executive departures o
. Ky
- Employee engagement [Best R4
Companies survey)
—_—
Income - Market letting risk incluging vacancies, |’<§=»

upcoming expiries, and breaks and
speculative developrment

sustanability

- Weighted average unexpired lease term

- Concentration of exposure to individual
customers or sectors

Key ‘

i
Change from last year

/“\\
‘@ Unchanged

Our risk appetite 1s reviewed annually as part of the annual strategy
review process and approved by the Board This evaluation guides
the actions we take in executing ocur strategy We have identified

a suite of Key Risk Indicators [KRIs) te monitor the risk profile

las summarised abovel, which are reviewed quarterly by the Risk
Committee, to ensure that the activities of the business remaimn
within our risk appetite and that our risk exposure 1s well matched
to changes in cur business and our markets These include the
most significant judgements affecting our risk exposure, including
our investment and developrnent strategy, the level of occupational
and developrment exposure, and our financial leverage

The Board considers the risk appetite annually and has concluded it
15 broadly unchanged from last year and is appropriate to achieve our
strategic objectives Our strategy, which 1s based on long term trends,
endures, and our financial capacity, flexibility and optionality enable
us to adjust to the evolving political and economic uncertainties

During the year we have maintained a balanced approach to risk

We ve had a strong focus on caprital discipline, demonstrated by
selling £1 3 billion of mature and off-strategy assets, reinvesting
partly in our share buyback programme, selective acquisitions and
profitable development, whilst reducing our LTV further to 28 4%

We have substantial headroom and operational eptionality to continue
to pragress our unique development pipeline, including at Canada
Water, whilst at the same time carefully managing our risk profile

Our risk focus

The external environment remains difficult, and the Board 1s
continuing to monitor the potential risks associated with the UK
leaving the European Umon [ Brexit’] As exit negotiations are
ongoing, the final outcome remains unclear and it 1s tco early to
understand fully the impact Brexit will have on our business and
our markets The mainimpact of Brexitis the potential negative
Impact on the macro-economic environment, but it could also
impact our investment and occupter markets, our ability to execute
cur investment strategy and our income sustamnability

During the year, the Risk Committee has focused on some key
operational risk areas across the business and has undertaken
deep dive reviews Into specific areas of risk including

- Data protection [GDPR] and implementing a project to manage
personal data appropriately

- Retailer temant risk and managing our exposure to individual
customers or sectors in light of a more challenging market
backdrop

- Enhancing our crisis management strategy for both physical
and cyber risks including a simutation exercise for senior
management

- Management of health and safety and environmental risks across
the portfolio In particular, fabric investigations were carried
out on our entire portfolio following the Grenfell Tower fire
Our Health and Safety management system was re-certified
under BS OHSAS 18001

- ldentifying and managing key supplier relationships and the
launch of our Supplier Code of Conduct
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MANAGING RISK IN DELIVERING OUR STRATEGY CONTINUED

Our principal risks and assessment

Our risk management frarework is structured around the
principal risks facing British Land The Audit Comimittee on behalf
of the Board has undertaken a robust assessment of the principal
risks and uncertainties that the business 1s exposed to 1n Light of
the long term trends we are facing [see page 12], together with the
challenging backdrop of political and ecenomic uncertarty Whilst
the nature and type of the principal risks are considered to be
unchanged from the previous year, several of our principal risks are
elevated [as shown by the risk heat map below], being the political

and regulatory outlook, commercial property investor demand,
occupier demand including tenant default and the risk to cur income
sustainability One risk, capital structure, 1s considered to have
reduced reflecting our lower leverage

The principal risks are summarised below (and detailed on pages 52
to 55], including an assessment of the potential iImpact and Lkelihood
and how the risks have changed in the year, together with how they
relate to our strategic priorities

Our risk assessment

Change

Key strategic inrisk
priorities assessment
affected inyear

Principal
risks

External risks

@ Ecancomic autlook

®LE
®Le®
2®

@

Political and
regulatery outlook

Commercial
property investor
demand

Occuprer demand
and tenant default

2
®
@&

@ Availability and cost
of finance

® @ o
Likelihood

@ Catastrophic
business event

Internal risks — strategic

@ Investment strategy @g@
2®

Development
strategy

@ Capital structure ®

® e e @

Finance strategy @

Internal risks — operational
@ People

Income
sustainability

Key

00c
<O

8®

®

®

@
8
®

Q

]
©

n
L

Other grouprisks

In additicn to our princtpal risks, there are also a number of other
risks that are largely operational in nature and are managed
centrally with apprepriate processes and mitigation plans in place
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Strategic priorities

impact

Note The above iliusirates principal risks which by their nature are those which have the potential
to mignificantly iImpact the Group s strategic abjectives, financial position or reputation The heat map
highlights net risk, after taking account of principal mitigations

Change year on year

Customer Orientation @ Unchanged
Right Places @ Increased
Capital Efficiency @ Reduced

) Expert People

These risks comprise

Effective control
environment

Fraud and corruption
Complance and legal
framework

- Supply chain management

- Operating model including -
reliance on third parties

- Culture -

- Information systems and -
cyber security



Viability statement

Assessment of prospects

The Group's annual corporate planning pracess includes the
completion of a strategic review, reassessing the Group’s risk
appetite and updating the Group's forecasts

The Group's strategy provides the focus for cur annual prionities
and s formally reviewed annually This process s led by the Chief
Executive through the Executive Committee and includes the active
engagement of the Board Part of the Beoard's role 1s to consider
whether the sirateqy takes appropriate account of the Group's
principal risks The latest Updates to the strategic plan and
Group's risk appetite were approved by the Board in March 2018

The strategy and risk appetite drive the Group's forecasts These
cover a five-year period and consist of a base case forecast which
includes cornmitted transactions only, and a ferecast which also
includes non-comrutted transactions the Board expects the
Group to make in Line with the Group's strategy Afive-year
forecast s considered to be the optimal balance between the
Group’s long term business model to create Places Pecple Prefer
and the fact that preperty investment 1s a long term business
[with weighted average lease lengths and debt maturities in
excess of five years), offset by the progressively unreliable nature
of forecasting in later years, particularly given the historically
cyclical nature of the UK property industry

Assessment of viability

For the reasons outlined above, the peried over which the
Directors consider 1t feasible and appropriate to report on
the Group's viability 1s the five-year period to 31 March 2023

The assumptions underpinning these forecast cash flows and
covenant compliance forecasts were sensitised to explore the
restlience of the Group te the potential impact of the Group's
significant risks, or a combination of thase risks

The principal risks table which follows on pages 52 ta 55
summarises those matters that could prevent the Group from
delivering on its strategy A number of these principal risks,
because of their nature or potential impact, could also threaten
the Group's ability to continue in business Inits current form it
they were to occur

The Directors paid particular attention to the risk of a downturn

in econcmic outlook which could rmpact property fundamentals,
including investor and occupier demand which would have a
negative impact on valuations, and give rise to a reduction in the
availability of finance The remaining principal risks, whilst having
an impact cn the Group s business model, ars not considered by
the Directors to have a reasaonable lkelihood of impacting the
Group's viability over the five-year period to 31 March 2023

The sensitivities performed were designed to be severe but
plausible, and to take full account of the avallability of mitigating
actions that could be taken to avoid or reduce the impact or
occurrence of the underlying risks relating to a 'downturn scenario’

- Downturn in economic outlock key assumptions including
occupancy, void periods, rental growth and yields were
sensitised in the downturn scenario’ to reflect reasonably
Likely levels associated with an economic downturn, including
- areduction in occupler demand, with a fall in occupancy rate
of 5% and ERV declines of 6%

- areduction in Investment property demand to the level seen
in the last severe downturn in 2008/2009, with outward yield
shift to 8% net initial yield

- Restricted availability of finance based on the Group's current
commitments and available facilities there 1s no requirement
to refinance until early 2021 in the normal course of business,
financing 1s arranged in advance of expected requirements
and the Directors have reasonable confidence that additional
or replacement debt facilties will be putin place In the

downturn scenario, the following sensitivity of this

assumption was conducted

- areduction in the availability of finance, for the final two
years of the five-year assessment period from early 2021
alongside the Group's refinancing date

. The outcome of the downturn scenario’ was that the Group's

covenant headroom based on existing debt (i e the level by which
investment property values would have to fall before a financial
covenant breach occurs) decreases from the current 60% to, at its
lowest level, 22%, indicating covenants cn existing facilities would
naot be breached

In the "downturn scenarie’, mitigating actions would be required
to enable the Group ta meetits future labibties, including through
asset sales, which would allow the Group to continue to meetits
Labilities over the assessment period

Viability statement

Having considered the torecast cash tlows and covenant
compliance and the impact of the sensitivities in combination

in the 'downturn scenario’, the Directors confirm that they have

a reasonable expectation that the Group will be able to continue
in operation and meet tts Liabilities as they fall due over the period
to 31 March 2023

~ Going concern

The Directors also considered it appropriate to prepare the

‘ financial statements on the going concern basis, as explamed
i 1n the Governance review

¢ n

El' To read more infarmation on going concern, go to page 67

(I

|
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Report

PRINCIPAL RISKS

External risks

Risks and impacts

How we monitor and manage the risk

Economic The UK economic clim

outlook

Responsible
executive:
Chris Grigg

interest rates present
risks and opportunitie

markets and the
businesses of our
customers which can
impact both the delive
of our strategy and
our financial
performance.

Political
and regulatory
outlook

Responsible
executive
Chris Grigg

including the decision
leave the EU, bring ris
principally in two area

any businesses to

ate

and future movements in

5 in

property and financing

ry

Significant political events -
and regulatory changes,

to
ks
St

Reluctance of investors

make investrment and
accupational decisions

whilst the sutcome

refnains uncertan and

On determination of the

outcome, the Impact on
the case for investment

Inthe UK, and on

specific policies and
regulation introduced,

particularly those
which directly impa
real estate orour
customers

Commercial Reduction in investor

property
investor demand
Responsible
executives:

Charles Maudsley,
Tim Roberts

valuations and could a
from variations in:

econosmy

ct

demand for UK real estate
may result in falls in asset

rise

The health of the UK

The attractiveness of

tnvestment in the UK

Felative attractiven
of nther asset class

Availability of finance

ess
es

Key

Change from last year

(@ Risk exposure has increased

=

@ No significant change in risk expasure

P
\{k) Risk exposure has reduced

52

The Risk Commuttee reviews the economic
environment in which we operate quarterly to assess
whether any changes to the econamic outlook justify
are-assassment of the risk appetite of the business

Kay indicators including forecast GDP growth.
employment rates, business and consumer
confidence, interest rates and inflation/deflation
are considered, as well as central bank guidance
and government policy updates

We stress lest our business plan against a downlurn
in econormic outlook to ensure our financial position
15 sufficiently flexible and resilient

Qurresilient business model focuses on a high
quality portfolio, with secure incorme streams and
robust finances

Whilst we are not able to influence the autcome
of sigmificant political events, we do take the
uncertainty related to such events and the range
of possible sutcomes into account when making
strategic investment and financing decisions

Internally we review and monitor proposals and
emerging policy and legistation to ensure that we
take the necessary steps to ensure compliance if
applicable Additionally we engage public affairs
consultants to ensure that we are properly briefed
on the potential policy and regulatery irmplications
of political events We also mornttor public trust in
business Where appropriate, we act with other
induslry participants and representative bodies
to contribute to policy and regulatary debate

We monitor and respond to social and political
reputational challenges relevant to the industry

The Risk Committee reviews the property market
quarterly to assess whether any changes to the
market outlock present risks and epportunities
which should be reflected in the execution of our
strategy and our capital allocation plan The
Committee considers indicaters such as margin
between property yields and borrowing costs

and property capital growth forecasts, which are
considered alongside the Cammittee members’
knowledge and experience of market activity

and trends

We focus on prime assets and sectors which we
believe will be less susceptible aver the medium
term to a reduction i occupier and investor demand
Strong relationships with agents and direct investors
active In the market

We stress test our business plan for the effect of
a change 1n property yields
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Change in risk assessment in the vear

o

(@) The decision to leave the EU continues to impact
"2 the economic outlogk Nonetheless, UK economic
growlh has remained relatively resilient and has fared

better than many expected. albent growing at levels
lower than other major econgmies

Consumer spending has softened as inflation has
squeezed household spending, although there are some
early signs that inflation 15 moderating There has,
however, been some offset from a stronger global
econormy Equity and foreign exchange markets have
been less volatile in the year, although remain sensitive
to external shocks

The Bank of England increased interest rates for the first
time in a decade, with the prospect of mare rises to
come Increases are expected to be imited and gradual
and to remain low by historical standards

We are mindful of the angoing political and econarmic
uncertainties, however we are confident that the
resilience of our business with our sustainable long term
ncome streams and batance sheet strength, together
with Lhe actions we have taken, leaves our business

well positioned

@] Whilst a Brexit transition period has been agreed
U to 2020, uncertainty remains over the outcome of
negotiations on our future relatianship with the EU,
including cruciat issues of market access, labour
movement and trade Furthermore, the global
geopolitical and trade environments remain uncertain
The present hung Parliament also creates domestic
policy uncertainty

In terms of significant regulatory changes, the General
Data Prolection Regulation [GOPR] comes into farce

on 25 May 2018 and will control and govern the use of
personaldata, affecting operations across the business

In these maore volatile times, we will benefit from our
long term, secure rental income, with $7% of our
portfolio occupied and our financial capacily and
flexibility to adjust to evelving conditions

@\ Overall property transaction volumes held up

" U/ relatively well in 2017, however, investors are
becoming increasingly selective and market pricing
palanised, with continued softening in demand for more
secondary assets

The historically wide gap between properiy yields and
interest rates has continued to underpin demand for UK
real estate, albeit interest rates are expected ta rise
slightly inthe medium term

In terms of our sectors

- Office investment volumes continue to benehit from
demand from overseas investors, but investars are
increasingly selective in terms of their requiremants,
often seeking well-let, best-in-class stock or
opportumities with an achievable growth story Supply
of high guality new space across bath the West End
and Crty markets is relatively constrained in the short
term London office prime yields have been stable
throughout 2017

Retail investment volumes remain subdued, albet
activity iIncreased towards the end of 2017, particularly
for retail parks Investor demand for retail
increasingly focused on smaller lot sizes with secure
income streams Retail prime yields remain stable,
but secondary asset prices are expected to weaken
turther as polarisatien in retail continues

We have continued to be active and successfully sold
£1 3bitlion of assets, overail above valuation



Risks and impacts

How we monitor and manage the risk

Change in risk assessment in the vear

Occupier
demand
and tenant
default
Respansible
executives:

Charles Maudsley,
Tim Roberts

Availability
and cost

of finance
Responsible
executives:
Lucinda Bell

[until January 2018,
Chris Grigg

lafter January 2018]

Catastrophic
business
event
Respansible

executive:
Chris Grigg

Underlying income,
rental growth and capital
performance could be
adversely affected by
weakening occupier
demand and occupier
failures resulting from
variations in the health
of the UK economy and
corresponding weakening
of consumer cenfidence,
business activity and
investment.

Changing cansurmer and
business practices
including the growth of
internet retailing, flexible
warking practices and
demand for energy
efficient buildings, new
technologies, new
legislation and alternative
lecations may resutt in
earlier than anticipated
obsolescence of our
buildings if evolving
occupier and requlatory
requirements are not met

Reduced availability of
finance may adversely
impact ability to refinance
debt and/or drive up cost.
These factors may also
result in weaker investor
demand for real estate.

Regulation and capital
casts of lenders may
increase cost of finance

An external event such
as a civil emergency,
including a large-scale
terrorist attack, cyber
crime, extreme weather
occurrence,
environmental disaster
or power shortage could
severely disrupt global
markets lincluding
property and finance) and
cause significant damage
and disruption to British
Land’s portfolie and
operations.

- The Risk Committee reviews indicators of
occupier demand quarterly including consurner
confidence surveys and employment and ERV
growth forecasts, alengside the Commuttee
members knowledge and experience of sccupier
plans, trading performance and leasing activity
In guiding execulian of our strategy

- We have g high quality, diversified occupter base
and monitor concentration of exposure to individual
nccupiers or sectors We perform rigorous occupier
covenant checks ahead of approving deals and onan
ongoing basis so thatwe can be proactive In managing
expasure to weaker occuplers

- Ongeing engagement with our custorners Through
our Key Occuprer Account programme we work
together with our accuprers to find ways to besl meet
therr evolving requirernernts

- Qursustainability strategy links action on occupier
health and wellbeing, energy efficiency, community
and sustainable design to aur business strategy
Our social and environmental targets help us camply
with new legislation and respond to customer
demands, for example, we expect all our office
developments to be BREEAM Excellent

- Market berrowing rates and real estate crednt
availability are monitored by the Risk Cornrnittee
guarterly and reviewed regularly in order to guide
our financing actions 10 executing our strategy

- We monitor our projected LTV and our debt
requirements using several internally generated
reports focused on borrawing levels, debt maturity,
avallable facilities and interest rate exposure

- We maintain good long term relatienships with our
key financing partners

- Thescale and quality of our business enables us 1o
access a diverse range of sources of finance with a
spread of repayment dates We aim always o have
a good level of undrawn, comnmitted, unsecured
revolving facilities to ensure we have adeguate
financing availability to support business
requirements and opportunilies

- We work with industry bodies and other relevant
organisations to participate in debate on emerging
finance regulations where our interests and those
of our industry are affected

- We maintain a comprehensive crisis response plan

across all busimess units as well as a head office
business continuity plan

- The Risk Committee monitors the Home Oifice
terrorism threat levels and we have access to
sacurity threat information services

- Assetemergency procedures are reqularly reviewed
and scenario tested Physical security measures are
in place at properties and development sites

- QurSustainabitity Committee momtors
environmental and climate change risks Asset risk
assessments are carried out to assess a range of
nsks including security, flood, envirenmental,
health and safety

- We have implemented corporate cyber security
systems which are supplemented by incident
management, disaster recovery and business
cantinuity plans, all of which are regularly reviewed
to be able to respond to changes in the threat
landscape and organisational reguirements

— We also have appropnate insurance in place
across the portfolio
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'%F\ In the mare uncertain environment, we are seeing
~ Y. polansation of occupier demand accelerating with
an Iincreasing focus on the best quality space Inthis
raontext, our leasing actwity has been good, with

2 4 million sq ft of space let or renewed across the
partfolio, at rates well ahead of ERY, and our portfolio
remains virtually full with #7% occupancy

In terms of our sectors

- Inthe London office market, occuplers are more
thoughtful about their requirements as a result of
political and ecanomic uncertainty However, we
continue te see both international and British
companies making cammitments in Landon,
confident of s enduring statusas a global city in
which the world's leading organisatiens want to do
busingss Take-up has remained resilient partly
underpinned by streng demand for fiexible
workspace, demonstrating the changing nccupier
market, as well as good dermand for Grade A space

- With retailers facing economic and structural
challenges, the wider occupational market has been
more cautious with polarisation of occupier demand
continuing Whilst more recently, we have seena
number of operateors apply for company voluntary
arrangements, as some retailers struggle to compete
with the rise of online shopping and increased costs,
there are many retarlers which continue to trade well
and grow sales The growth mimportance of online
means the way in which occupiers and ther
custamers are using physical space 1schanging
However the store and its value is still integral to
support retailers ommi-channel approach, and there
remains demand for the best space, where retailers
can grow sales with lower occupancy costs

@ Although there has continued to be market

Y yolatility reacting to macro-economic and political

uncertainties, debt markets have remained open There

continuesto be good availability of finance in debt and
capital markets [unsecured and secured] from a range
of tenders for UK REITs and other grod quality real
estate investors Development finance s mare difficult

Lo obtain with fewer lenders participating Projects

without pre-lets require strong sponsaors

Interest margqins/spreads have been relatively stable,
but market/gilt rates have increased, pushing overall
debt pricing up lalthough still low by hustorical
standards)

We have continued to access the debt markets and
during the year raised £400 mitlion of new finance
including a £300 rmiltion unsecured Sterling bond,
as well as extending £225 million of revolving
credit facilities

@ The evaluation of the Likely iImpact of this risk
"3 %% has not changed notably since the prior year
The Home Office threat level frominternatianal
terrorismremains Severe During theyear, we have
carried aut a crisis simulation exercise and enhanced
our procedures where appropriats

Wa are mindful of cyber security risks, particularly
following a number of recent high-profile hacks,
and have cantinued to enhance our security position
and provide employee training and awarengss on
cybersecunty



¢ Report

PRINCIPAL RISKS CONTINUED

Internal risks

Risks and impacts

How we monitor and manage the risk

Change in risk assessment in the year

Investment
strategy
Respansible
executives:

Chnis Grigg.
Charles Maudsley,
Tun Roberts

Development
strategy
Responsible
executives:

Chris Grigg,
Charles Maudsley,
Tim Roberts

In order to meet our
strategic objectives we
aim toinvest in and exit
from the right properties
at the right time

Underperformance could
result from changes in
market sentiment as
well as inappropriate
determination

and execution of aur
property investment
strategy, including:

- Sectorselection and
weighting

- Tirming of investmant
and divestment
decisions

- Exposureto
developments

- Asset, tenant, region
cencentration

- Co-investment
arrangements

Development provides
an opportunity for
outperformance but
usually brings with it
elevated risk.

This is reflected in our
decision-making protess
around which schemes to
develop, the timing of the
development, as well as
the execution of these
projects.

Development strategy
addresses several
development risks that
could adversely impact
underlying incorme and
capital performance
including

- [Developmeant letting
exposure

- LConstruction timing
and costs (including
canstruction cost
inflation]

- Major contractor failure

- Adverse planning
Judgements

Key

Change fram last year

p
@ Risk exposure has increased

@ No sigmificant change in risk exposure
@) Risk exposure has reduced

54

- Qurinvestment strategy s determined lo be
consistent with our target risk appetite and is based
on the evaluation of the external environment

- Progress against the strategy and continuing
alignment with our risk appetite 1s discussed at
each Risk Committee with reference to the praperty
markets and the external economic environment

- TheBoard carries out an annual review of Lthe
overall corporate strategy (including the current
and prospective asset portfolio allocation

— Indwidual investment decisions are subject te
robust risk evaluation overseen by our fnvestment
Commuttee including consideration of refurns
relative to risk adjusted hurdle rates

- Review of prospective performance of indwidual
assets and their business plans

- Woe foster collaborative relationships wath our
co-1nvestors and enter into ownership agreemerts
which balance the interests of the parties

- Weamanage our levels of totat and speculative
development exposure as a proportion of the
investrment portfolio value within a target range
taking Into account associated risks and the impact
on key financial metrics This s monitared quarterly
by the Risk Committes along with progress of
developments against plan

- Prior to comrmutting to a development a detailed
appraisal is undertaken This includes consideration
of returns relative to risk adjusted hurdle rates and
15 overseen by our Investment Cornrmittee

- Pre-lets are used to reduce developmenl leting risk
where considered appropriate

- Competitive tendering of construction contracts
and, where appropriate, fixed price contracts
entered into

- Detailed selection and close monitaring of
contractorsincluding covenant reviews

- Experienced develapment management team
closely rmornitors design, canstruction and overall
delivery process

- Early engagement and strong relatienships with
planning authorities

- Wealsoactively engage with the communities in
which we operate, as detailed in our Local Charter,
to ensure that our development activities consider
the interests of all stakehaolders

- We manage environmental and social risks across
our development supply chain by engaging with our
suppliers, including through our Supplier Code of
Conduct, Sustainablity Brief for Developments and
Health and Safety Policy
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(@ Our strategy 15 aligned to tong term trends, and
2 % our high quality portfolio s positioned to benehit
from increasing polarisation and to attract a broader
range of occupiers

We have continued to be active n executing our capital
allocation plans and have sold £1 3 billion of assets in
the year overall ahead of valuation, pnimarily mature
and off-strategy assets The retail market faces
structural challenges and we have continued to
reshape our Retail portfolio with £419 million of sales
in the year, in total £2 3 bilion over the last four years

We have maintained strong capital discipling, and
have focused resocurces on progressing our unigue
development pragramme, selective acquisitions and
a £300 million share buyback Qverall we were a net
divestor of £0 8 billion of properties aver the course
of the year

@ Developmentis an important part of our business
%" and has delivered some of cur strengest returns,
butis inherently higher risk, particularly when pursued
on a speculative basis We Lirmit our developrnent
exposure to 15% of the totalinvestment portfolio by
value, with a maximum of 8% Lo be developed
speculatively

During the year, we have doubled our committed
development pipeline, representing a total
development exposure of 8 %, whilst carefuliy
managing the risk by securing substantial pre-lets,
as such there has been only a miner increase in
speculative exposure, which now stands at 4 5% of
the portfolic GAV Committed construction costs are
substantially covered by residential receipts lo come



Risks and impacts

How we monitor and manage the risk

Change in risk assessment in the year

Capital structure

- leverage

Responsible
executives:
Lucinda Bell

luntil January 2018),

Chris Grigg
{after January 2018]

Finance
strategy
Responsible

executives-
Lucinda Bell

luntil January 2018],

Chris Grigg
lafter January 2018]

People
Responsible
executive:
Chris Grigg

Income
sustainability
Responsible
executives:

Lucinda Bell

[until January 2018),
Chris Grigg

lafter January 2018],

Charles Maudsley,
Tim Roberts

Qur capital structure
recognises the balance
between performance,
risk and flexibility.

- Leverage magnifies
capital returns, both
positive and negative

- Anincrease in leverage
increases the risk of
a breach of covenants
on berrowing facilities
and may increase
finance costs

Finance strategy
addresses risks bothto
continuing solvency and
profits generated.

Fallure to manage
refinancing requirements
may resultin a shortage
of funds to sustain the
operations ol the business
orrepay facilities as they
fall due

A number of critical
business processes and
decisions lie in the hands
of a few people

Failure to recruit, develop
and retain staff and
Directors with the right
skills and experience may
result in significant
underperformance or
Impact the effectiveness
of operations and decision
making, In turn impacting
business performance

We are mindful of
maintaining sustainable
income streams which
underpin a stable and
growing dividend and
provide the platform
from which to grow

the business.

We consider sustainability
of curincome streams In

- Execution of
investment strategy
and capital recycling,
notably timing
of reinvestmment of
sale praceeds

- Natureand structure
of leasing actiity

- Natureand timing of

asset management and
development aclivity

- We manage our use of debt and equity finance to
balance the benehts of leverage against the risks

- We aimto manage our ioan tovalue [LTV] through
the property cycle such that our financial position
would remain robust in the event ol a significant fall
In property values This means we do not adjust our
approach to leverage based on changes in property
market yields

- We manage our investment activity, the size and
tirning of which can be uneven, aswell as our
development commitments to ensure that our LTV
level rernamns appropriate

- Weleverage cur equily and achieve benefits of scale
while spreading nisk through joint ventures and
funds which are typically partly financed by debt
without recourse to British Land

- Five key principles guide our financing, employed
together to manage the risks in this area diversify
our sources of finance, phase maturity of debt
portfolio, maintain Lquidity, maintan flexibibity,
and maintain strong balance sheet metrics

- We maonitor the perniod untii financing 1s required,
which s a key determinant of financing activity Debt
and capital market conditions are reviewed regularly
1o 1dentify financing cppertunities that meet our
business requirements

- Financial covenant headroom is evaluated regulariy
and in conjunchien with transactions

- We are commutted lo maintaining and enhancing
relationships with our key financing partners

- We are mindful of relevant emerging regulation
which has the potential to impact the way that we
finance the business

- QurHR strategy 1s designed to minimise risk
through

- informed and skilled recruitment processes

- talent perfarmance management and succession
planming for key roles

- highly competitive compensation and benefits
- people development and training

-~ Therisk s measured through employee
engagemenl surveys [ncluding the Best
Companies surveyl, emplayee turnover and
retention metrics We manitor this through the
number of unplanned executive departures in
addition lo canducting exit interviews

- We engage with curemployees and suppliersto
make clear our requirements in managing key risks
including health and safety, fraud and bribery and
other social and environmental risks, as detailed in
our policies and codes of conduct

- Weundertake comprehensive profit and cash flow
forecastingincerparating scenario analysis to model
the impact of proposed transactions

- Proactive asset managemenl approach to mamntam
strong occupier tine-up We monitor our rmarket
letting exposure including vacancies, upcoming
expiries and breaks and speculative development as
well as cur weighted average unexpired lease term

- Wehave a high quality and diversihied occuprer base

and maniter concentration of exposure te individual
occuplers or sectars

- Weare proactive in addressing key lease breaks

and expiries to mimimise pereds of vacancy

- We actvely engage with the communities in which

we operate, as detailed in our Local Charter, to
ensure we provide buildings that meet the needs
of all relevant stakeholders
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{ 4 Our balance sheet metrics remain strong, both

7/ the proportionally consolidated loan to value
[LTV) and weighted average interest rate have been
reduced alongside improved interest cover We have
decreased LTV by a further 150 bps lo 28 4% from
29 9% at 31 March 2017, primarily through net
disposals This financial strength provides us with
the capacily o progress opportunities including cur
development pipeline whilst retaining significant
headroom to our cavenants

<, The scale of cur business, quality of our assets
Y5 7 and security of our rental streams enable us to
access a broad range of debt hnance on attractive
terms Following issuance of the £300 mithon
unsecured Sterling bond, cur weighted average debt
maturity I1s almest nine years, and based on current
commitments and available deblt facilities, we have no
requirement to refinance until early 2021 Our
committad bank facilities total £1 8 billion of which
£1 2 billion were undrawn 3t 31 March 2018 The
strength of sur business s reflected in our senior
unsecured credit rating which was upgraded by Fitch to
‘A lfrom A-) during the year

{@‘ Expert People 1s one of the four care focus
“2 Y areasof our strategy and a key factarin our
performance We continue to empower our people
to rmake the most of their potential though training
and development

We are focused en buillding a supportive and inclusive
culture for our people and we were the first Listed
proparty campany to achieve the National Equatity
Standard accreditation in the year

During the year, staff turnover has rermaimed relatively
low at 16% and our high level of staff engagement was
recognised by achieving a Two Star rating in the Sunday
Times Best Companies to Work For survey

‘/h "y We are mindful of the challenges facing the retail
*M.+ market which has seen a number of operators
apply for company voluntary arrangements We
continue to actively monitor aur exposure to occuplers
at risk of default and administration and are selective
about the sectors and operators we target

We also recognise that in delivering our investment
strategy and selling some of our mature assels, we
have had to be conscious of the irmpact on our incorme
in the shortterm

However, our income streams are underpinned by
a high quality, diverse occupmer base with high
accupancy, and lacking lorward our developrment
pipeline offers sigmificant potentral to generate
future iIncome
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We have created a woodland walkway outside 2 Kingdom
Street and enlivened the space inside with independent
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Governance

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Our Board develops strategy
and leads British Land to

achieve long term success

Non-Executive Chairman and Executive Directors

John Gildersleeve D

Non-Executive Chairman

Appointed as a Non-Executive Directar in September 2008 and as
Charrmann January 2013

Skills and experience: John i1s deputy chairman of TalkTalk Telecom
Group PLC John also serves as chairman of Noble Foods Ltd He
was formerly deputy chairman and senior independent director of
Spire Healthcare Group plc, chairman of EM! Group and Gallaher
Group and chairman of Carphone Warehouse Group [now Dixons
Carphone plc) He was also a non-executive director of Lloyds TSB
Bank PLC, Vodafone Group and Pick n Pay Stores [South Africal
and an executive director of Tesco plc

Charles Maudsley

Head of Retail, Leisure & Residential

Appointed to the Board in February 2010

Skills and experience: Charles joined British Land in 2010 from
LaSalle Investment Management where he was Co-Head of Europe,
Managing Director of the UK business, a member of the Management
Board and an International Director Prior to Joining LaSalle, he was
with AXA Real Estate Investment Management for seven years where
he was Head of Real Estate Fund Management in the UK
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Chris Grigg
Chief Executive

i Appointed to the Board in January 2009

Skills and experience: Chris has more than 30 years’ experience
in the real estate and financial industries in a range of leadership
roles Until November 2008, Chris was chief executive of Barclays
Commercial Bank, having Joined Barclays in 2005 Pricr to that,
Chris spent over 20 years at Goldman Sachs, latterly as a partner
Chris s a non-executive director of BAE Systemns plc, a board
member of both the British Praperty Federation and the Eurcpean
Public Real Estate Association and member of the 30% Club

Tim Roberts

Head of Offices

Appointed 1o the Board in July 2006

Skills and experience: Before joining British Land in 1997 Tim was

a partner at Drivers Jonas, In the Investment Agency team He was
farmerly a non-executive director of Songbird Estates Tim s also

a Trustee of LandAid, the property industry chanity, and chair of their
Grants Committee and 1s a board member of the Westminster
Property Association



Non-Exccutive Directors

William Jackson ® N

Senior Independent Director

Appointed as a Non-Executive Director in Apnil 2011 and Senior
Independent Director in July 2017

Skills and experience: Willam s managing partner of Bridgepoint,
one of Eurape’s leading private equity groups, which he has led since
2001 He also serves as chairman of the board of Pret A Manger and
president of Borna Sports SL [the rights holder to the Moto GP world
motercycling championships] He has served on a range of boards
during his career, including Hamptons Group Limited and Alliance
Medical Holdings Limited, and has extensive operational and
tfransaction experience

Alastair Hughes 2

Non-Executive Director

Appainted as a Non-Executive Director in January 2018

Skills and experience: Alastair 1s a fellow of the Royal Institute of
Chartered Surveyors He s a non-executive director of Schroders
Real Estate Investment Trust Limited and has over 25 years of
experience In global real estate markets Heisa former director of
Jones Lang LaSalle Inc [JLL) having served as managing director
of JLL in the UK, as chief executive for Europe, Middle East and
Asia and then as regional CEQ for Asia Pacific

Lynn Gladden R

Non-Executive Director

Appointed as a Non-Executive Director in March 2015

Skills and experience: Lynnis Shell Professor of Chemical
Engineering at the University of Cambridge and will take up the
role of Executive Chair of the Engineering and Physical Sciences
Research Councilin October 2018 Lynn s also a commissioner
of the Royal Commussion for the Exhubiticn of 1851, a fellow of
both the Royal Society and the Royal Academy of Engineering,
and a non-executive director of IP Group plc Lynnwas pro-vice-
chanceller for research at Cambridge until the end of 2015

Nicholas Macpherson 4

Non-Executive Director

Appointed as a Non-Executive Director in December 2016

Skills and experience: Nicholas 1s chairman of C Hoare & Co and

a director of The Scottish American Investment Company PLC

He also serves as a crosshencher in the House of Lords, a visiting
Professor at King's College London and a Trustee of the Royal Mint
Museum Nicholas was the Permanent Secretary to the Treasury for
over 10years from 2005 to March 2016, leading the department through
the financial crisis and the subsequent period of banking reform

He joined the Treasury in 1985 and held a nurmber of roles pricr to
his appointment as Permanent Secretary Nicholas trained as an
economist and has worked at the CBl and Peat Marwick Consulfing
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Governance

BOARD OF DIRECTORS CONTINUED

Non-Executive Directors

Preben Prebensen R

Non-Executive Director

Appointed as a Non-Executive Director in September 2017

Skills and experience: Preben 1s group chief executive of Close
Brothers Group ple He spent over 23 years in a number of senior
positions at 42 Morgan Preben was previously chief executive

of Wellington Underwriting plec from 2004 to 2004, and then

chief investment officer and a member of the group executive
committee at Catlin Group Limted

Laura Wade-Gery R

Non-Executive Director

Appointed as a Non-Executive Director in May 2015

Skills and experience: Laura 1s a non-executive director of John Lewis
Partnership plc, a non-executive director and chair of the remuneration
committee of Immunocore Limited, a trustee of the Royal Opera
House, a director of Snape Maltings Trading Limited and a member
of the Government Digital Strategy Adwisory Board Between July
2011 and September 2014, Laura was executive director Multi
Channel at Marks and Spencer Group plc Previously, Laura

served In a number of senior positions at Tesco PLC and was

a non-executive director of Trinity Mirrer plc
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Tim Score @& N

Non-Executive Director

Appainted as a Non-Executive Director in March 2014

Skills and experience: Tim Is a non-executive director of Pearson plc
and HM Treasury, sits on the board of trustees of the Royal National
Theatre, and s chairman of the Foothall Association’s audit
committee He was formerly chief financial efficer of ARM Holdings
PLC and held senior financial positicns at Rebus Group Limited,
Willam Baird ple, LucasVarity plc and BTR ple Frorm 2005 to 2014,
he was a non-executive director of National Express Group PLC,
including time as interim chairman and six years as senior
independent director

Rebecea Worthington A

Non-Executive Director

Appointed as a Non-Executive Director in January 2018

Skills and experience: Rebecca is group chief financial officer of
Countryside Properties PLC She spent 15 years at Quintain Estates
and Development PLC, first as finance director and tatterly as deputy
chief executive Rebecca was a non-executive director and chair of
the audit commuittee at Hansteen Holdings plc until 20 March 2018,
and a non-executive director of Aga Rangemaster Group plcto
September 2015 Rebecca quabified as a chartered accountant

with PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP



Incoming Executive Director

Simon Carter

Chief Financial Officer

Appointment date 21 May 2018

Skills and experience: Simcn joins British Land from Leogicor, the
owner and operator of European logistics real estate, where he has
served as chief financial officer since January 2017 Prior to joining
Logicor, from 2015 to 2017 Simon was finance directar at Quintain
Estates & Development Plc Simon previously spent over 10 years with
British Land, working in a variety of financial and strategic roles, and was
amember of our Executive Committee from 2012 until his departure
in January 2015 $imoen also previcusly worked for UBS in fixed income
and qualified as a chartered accountant with Arthur Andersen Simon
holds a degree in economics from the Unwversity of Cambridge

i Company Secretary

Brona McKeown

General Counsel and Company Secretary

Appointed as General Counsel and Company Secretary in
January 2018

Skills and experience: Before joining British Land, Brona was
General Counsel and Company Secretary of The Co-aperative
Bank plc for four years as part of the restructuring executive team
Immediately prior to that she was Interim General Counsel and
Secretary at the Coventry Building Scciety Untl Octaber 2011,
Brona was Global General Counsel of the Corporate division of
Barclays Bank plc, having joined Barclays in 1998 Brona tramed
and spent a number of years at a large City law firm

Changes to the Board

Lucinda Bell Stood down as Executive Director and
Chief Financial Officer on 19 January 2018
Aubrey Adams Retired as Non-Executive Director

on 31 December 2017

Retired as Non-Executive Director
on 18 July 2017

Retired as Non-Executive Director
on 18 July 2017

Simon Borrows

Lord Turnbull

Board Committee membership key
“ Audit Committee member ¥ Remuneration Committee member

" Normmatisn Committee member 2 Chairman of a Beard Committee

Directors’ core areas of expertise'

Propersy
France

Retail and consumer
Academic
Public sector

12%

! Some Directors are represented in more than one category
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Governance

CHAIRMAN'S GOVERNANCE REVIEW

Welcome to the Corporate
Governance and Remuneration
sections of our Annual Report

| am pleased to present the Corporate Gavernance Report for the
year ended 31 March 2018.

The Board's responsibility for leading the Company and overseeing
the governance of the Group continues to be supported by a robust
structure which allows for constructive debate and challenge by its
members This approach enables the Directors to make effective
decisions, at the right time and based on the right information

As | mention in my staternent on pages 4 and 5, our level of
thoughtful activity and the resilience of cur strategy set British Land
apart We take this thoughtfulness and consideration into our
governance structure and | recently asked that a review of our
governance policies be undertaken to ensure that they remain
appropriate for our business and in line with best market practice

Governance underpins the way in which the business of the Group
is managed, cur behaviour and our corporate culture This year,
we are reporting against the 2016 UK Corporate Governance Code
(the Code] available at www.fre.org.uk | am pleased to report that
the Board has continued to apply good governance and considers
that the Company has complied with the provisions of the Code
throughout the year

The following Corporate Gevernance Report, including the reports
of the Audit, Normination and Remuneration Committees, outlines
how the Company has applied the Code’s principles and provisions

Board changes

As mentioned on page 5, the Board has continued to evolve during
the year with a number of changes to its membership Lucinda Bell
stepped down as an Executive Director and as Chief Financial Officer
on 19 January 2018, and left British Land on 4 Apnit 2018
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I'would like to thank Lucinda for her cammitment to British Land
for over 25 years, six years of which were as an Executive Director,
and wish her all the very best for the future We look forward to
welceming Simen Carter as an Executive Director and Chief
Financial Officer when he joins the Group on 21 May 2018

I should alsc like to take this opportunity to thank our Non-Executive
Directors who retired during this year The dibgence and commitment
shown by Aubrey Adams, Simon Borrows and Lord Turnbull during
their long tenure have been exemplary and have contributed ta the
goad governance of the Group

During the year we also welcomed three new Non-Executive
Directors Preben Prebensen, Alastair Hughes and Rebecca
Worthington and | look forward to working closely with them
over the coming years All Directors in role at 31 March 2018 will

. stand for electien or re-election at the 2018 AGM

This year, we appointed Independent Board Evaluation (IBE] to
undertake the triennial externally facilitated Board evaluation
Details of the process undertaken and a summary of the cutcomes
are set out on page 66 However, | am pleased to report here that the
review concluded that your Board, its Commitees and its individual
members cantinue to operate effectively and with due diigence

We fully intend to implement the recommendations made by IBE
and we will report on progress in the 2019 Annual Report

The Board also reviewed and approved a new Diversity and Inclusion
Palicy this year Further detail on this 1s given in the Nomination
Committee Report on pages 74 to 75 and in the Social and
enviranmental reporting section on page 30

All Directers will attend this year's AGM which will again provide
an opportunity for all shareholders to hear more about our
performance during the year and to ask questions of the Board

I look forward to welcorming you on 17 July 2018

Qe Aeds.

John Gildersleeve
Non-Executive Chairman



GOVERNANCE REVIEW

Our governance structure is
an integral part of the way we
design and deliver our strategy

Leadership

The Board

As at 31 March 2018 the Beard comprised the Chairman, eight
independent Non-Executive Directors and three Executive Directors
Biographies of the Directors are set out on pages 58 to 61 and include
details of the skills and experience each brings to the Board

Qur rigorous and transparent procedures for appointing new
Directors are led by the Nomination Committee Non-Executive
Directors are appointed for specified terms and all continuing
Directors offer themselves for election or re-election by shareholders
at the AGM each year provided the Board, on the recommendation of
the Nomination Committee, deems it appropriate that they do so

The composition of the Board 1s fundamental to 1ts success in
providing strong and effective leadership The Nomination Committee
1s responsible for reviewing the compaosition of the Board and 1ts
Committees and assessing whether the balance of skills,
experience, knowledge and diversity I1s appropriate to enable

thern to operate effectively

Board of Directors (as at 31 March 2018)

o/

B Non-Executive Charrman
B Independent Non-Executive Directors
B Executve Directors

We continue to have a strong mix of experienced individuals on the
Board The majority are independent Non-Executive Directors who
are not only able to offer an external perspective on the business, but
also constructively challenge the Executive Directors, particularly
when developing the Company's strategy The Non-Executive
Directors scrutinise the performance of management in meeting
their agreed goals and objectives, and monitor the reporting of

that performance

The high calibre of debate and the participation of all Directors,
Executive and Non-Executive, in its meetings allows the Board to
utilise the experience and skills of the individual Directors to ther
maximum potential and make decisions that are in the best
interests of the Company

Role of the Board

The Board has reserved key decisions and matters for its own
approval, including its care responsibilities of setting the Group’s
strategic direction, overseeing the delivery of the agreed strategy,
managing risk and establishing the culture, values and standards

. of the Group as awhole Matters below the financial imit set by the

Board are delegated to a committee of any twe Executive Directors
with all decisions taken reported to the next following Board meeting

The Board culture i1s one of openness and constructive debate, the
Directors are able to voice their opinions in a relaxed and respectful
environment, allowing coherent discussion When running Board
meetings, the Chairman maintains a collaborative atmosphere and
ensures that all Directors contribute to the debate The Chairman
also arranges informat meetings and events throughout the year to
help buld constructive relationships between the Board members
and the senior management team

The Chairman meets with individual Directors outside formal
Board meetings to allow for open, two-way discussion about the
effectiveness of the Board, 1ts Committees and its members
The Chairman 1s therefore able to remain mindful of the views
of the individual Directors

Division of responsibilities

There 15 a clear written division of responsibilities between the
Chairman [who1s respensible for the leadership and effectiveness of
the Board] and the Chief Executive [who 1s responsible far managing
the Campany’s business])

The Board has delegated authority for the day-to-day management
of the business to the Chief Executive, with specific areas of the
business being managed by the other Executive Directors The
Executive Directors are involved in, or aware of, all major activities

* and are therefore extremely well placed to ensure that any decisions

align with the Group's agreed strategy

The Executive Directors make decisians within predefined
parameters delegated by the Board, although any proposal may still
be taken to the full Board for consideration and approval where this
15 considered appropriate, even if they fall within those parameters

Three standing Commuttees have been established the Audit,
Nomination and Remuneration Committees, to which certain powers
have been delegated Membership of each of these Committees 15
comprised solely of independent Nan-Executive Directers The reports
of these three standing Committees are set out on pages 62 to 921

Management Committees have alsc been established to make
recommendations on matters delegated to them by the Board,
its standing Committees or the Executive Directors

This governance structure [set out on the following pagel ensures
that the Board (s able to facus on strategic propesals, major
transactions and governance matters which affect the long term

' success of the business
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Governance

GOVERNANCE REVIEW

Governance structure

Board of Directors
Develops strategy and leads British Land ta achieve long term success, determines the risks British Land faces, the level of nisk it
1s prepared to take to achieve its strategy and ensures that systems of risk management and control are in place It also provides
leadership and governance for the Company as a whole, having regard to the views of shareholders
and other stakeholders

The Board has reserved certain matters to 1ts own approval [see www.britishland.com/governance] with others being delegatad
to Board or Management Committees as appropriate

Audit Committee Nominaticn Committee Remuneration Committee
Oversees financiat and narrative Leads process for Beard Sets the Executive Directors’
reporting, provides assurance on the appointments and succession Remuneration Policy and the
effectiveness of mternal control, risk planning, ensures that Board and remuneration of the Chairman and
management systems and audit senicr management have appropriate Executive Directors, approves annual
processes, reviews the effectiveness skills, knowledge and experience to and long term performance
and objectivity of external and cperate effectively and deliver objectives and awards
internal auditors strategy, reports on diversity See report on pages 76 ta 91
See report on pages 6% to 73 Seereporton pages 741075

Chief Executive and Executive Directors
Overall responsibility for day-to-day management of the business and implementation of approved strategy
; lies with the Chief Executive with specific areas of the business managed by the other Executive Directors

Executive Committee
An advisory committee that operates under the direction and leadership of the Chief Executive Membership comprises
all Executive Birectors and senior management from across the business Considers day-to-day operational and
financial performance, performance of the Group's assets and overall development programme

Investment Committee Risk Committee Health, Safety and
Reviews, approves or recommends Oversees management and reporting Envirenment Committee
significant transactions including of strategic and operational risks, Drives actions in pursult of the
acquisitions, disposals and recommends appropriate risk Company's health and safety and
developments of assets up to appetite levels and monitors risk environmental stewardship goals and
an agreed financial umit exposure, reviews operation of risk reviews performance agamnst actions
management processes

Sustainability Committee Community Investment Committee
Monitors performance and progress Oversees the strategic management
against sustainability targets and key of the Comrmunity Investment Fund

Initiatives, agsessing emerging and approves and monitors all
social, ethical and environmental related spend
1ssues, assoctated risks and
mitigating actions
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Strategy days

The Board held its annual offsite strateqy event during March 2018
The strategy days are structured to provide the Directors, and the
Non-Executive Directors in particular, with an oppartunity to focus on
the development of, and challenge to, the Group’s corporate strategy

The tormat of the 2018 event was different from prior years with one
entire session given over to the consideration of key questions on
future direction. To stimulate this conversation, a number of external
speakers were invited te the session held earlier in the day and to the
following dinner in order to give 3 wider social and economic context
to discussions

Board meetings

Regular Board and Committee meetings are scheduled throughout
the year and the Directors ensure that they altocate sufficient time to
discharge ther duties effectively Occasionally, Board meetings may
be held at short notice when Board-level decisions of a time-critical
nature need to be made

The table below sets out the changes that have taken place to the
Board, together with details of each Director s attendance at Board
meetings during the year ended 31 March 2018

Date of Date of
appointment leaving the

Directar Isince ¥ Aprit 2017} Board Attendance
John Gildersleeve 7/8
Chris Grigg 8/8
Charles Maudsley 8/8
Tim Roberts 8/8
Lynn Gladden 8/8
Alastair Hughes 01 Jan 2018 3/3
William Jackson 8/8
Nicholas Macpherson 7/8
Preben Prebensen 01 Sep 2017 5/5
Tim Score 8/8
Laura Wade-Cery 8/8
Rebecca Worthington 0% Jan 2018 2/3
Former Directors

Lucinda Bell 19 Jan 2018 5/6
Aubrey Adams 31 Dec 2017 5/5
Simon Borrows 18 Jul 207 2/3
Lord Turnbull 18 Jul 2017 2/3

Absences at Board meetings were due to commitments predating
jeining the Board, illness or unavailability for meetings held at
short notice

The Board agenda Is set by the Chairman, in conjunction with the
Chief Executive and Company Secretary Each scheduled meeting
includes a Management Report delivered by the Chief Executive and
regular updates on the activities of various standing and management
Committees Discussions also take place on strategic proposals,
major acquisitions, disposals and developments and legal and
governance matters

Ouring the year ended 31 March 2018 particular areas considered
by the Board, either directly or following receipt of reports from its
standing Committees, include

- Outcomnes of the annual strategy days and progress towards
agreed outcomes

- Consideration and approval of risk appetite and the principal
risks faced by the Company

- Use of capital and the implementation of a £300 million share
buyback programme

— Launch of the Flexible Workspace brand [Storey)

- Review of the outcome of a multi-agency crisis management
exercise at ene of British Land’s assets

- Results of the externally fac/litated Board performance evaluation

- Approval of full year and half year financial results, the Annuatl
Report and the Notice of AGM

- Declaration of quarterly interim dividends

- Diwversity and gender pay

- Cyber security and information technology

- Preparations for the General Data Protection Regulation
[which comes into force in May 2018)

- Health and safety compliance

- Governance review

- Sustainability

Care Is taken to ensure that infermation 1s circulated in good time
before Board and Committee meetings, and that papers are
presented clearly and with the appropriate level of detail to enable
the Board to discharge its duties All papers are circulated one week
prior to meetings and clearly marked as being ‘For Decision” or
‘For Information To enhance the delivery of Board and Committee
papers the Board uses a Board portal and tablets which provide a
secure and efficient process for meeting pack distribution Under
the direction of the Chairman, the Company Secretary facilitates
effective information flows between the Board and its Cormnmittees,
and between senior management and Non-Executive Directors

In March 2018 the Board undertecok a site visit to Meadowhall in
Sheffield, a joint venture asset with Nerges Bank Investment
Management Since the Beard last visited 1n 2015, a £60 million
refurbishment had been undertaken, creating a go-to” space
providing cutstanding custormer experiences As well as reviewing
the results of the refurbishment, the Board considered the next
phase of the Meadowhall development programme including the
delivery of the Leisure Hall where we have secured a resclution to
grant planning consent from Sheffield City Council

Effectiveness

Beardinduction

On appointment, atl Directors whether Executive or Nan-Executive
recave a comprehensive induction Each new Director 1s invited to
meet the General Counsel and Company Secretary or Head of
Secretariat to discuss their induction in detail, fellowing which the
programme Is taillored specifically to their requirements and adapted
to reflect their existing knowledge and experience

Each induction programme would ordinarily include

- Meetings with the Chairman, Executive Directors, Committee
Chairmen, external auditor or remuneration consultants
(as appropriate)

- Information on the corporate strategy, the investment strategy,
the financial position and tax matters [including details of the
Company's REIT status]

- An overview of both Retail and Offices portfolias provided
by members of the senior management team

- Visits to key assets Ouning 2017 and 2018 these included visits
to Broadgate, Canada Water, Meadowhall and Paddington

- Details of Board and Committee procedures and Directors
responsibilities

- Detadls on the investor relations programme

- Information on the Company's approach to sustainabibity

All induction documents are made avallable on our secure electroruc

Board portal and are therefore avallable to Directors both during and
after their induction
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GOVERNANCE REVIEW CONTINUED

Training and development

The Chairman and Company Secretary agree what Board wide
training or development may be appropriate Buring the year ended
31 March 2018, the Board considered papers and presentations on
legal and regulatory developments, technology opportunities or
challenges and sustainabibty-related developrments as well as
receiving regular briefings on the views of stakeholders and the
external environment

Directors are also entitled to seek independent advice in relation to
the performance of their duties at the Company’s expense, subject
to having first notified the Chawrman or the Company Secretary

Commitment

Non-Executive Directors’ letters of appeintment set out the time
commitments expected from them Following consideration, the
Neormination Committee has concluded that all the Non-Executive
Directors cantinue to devote sufficient time to discharging their
duties to the required high standard

British Land’s palicy 1s to allow Executive Directors to take ane
noen-executive directorship at another FTSE company, subject to
Board approval External appointments of the Executive Directors
are disclosed in their biographies Any fees earned by the Executive
Directors are disclosed on page 87 of the Rernuneration Report

Conflicts of interest

The Directers are required to avoid a situation in which he ar she
has, or can have, a direct orindirect conflict with the interests of
the Company The Board has established a procedure whereby

the Directors are required to notify the Chairman and the Company
Secretary of all new eutside interests and actual or perceived
conflicts of interest that may affect them in their roles as Directors
of British Land All potentiat conflicts of interest are authorised by
the Board at the earliest opportunity and the register of Directors
Iinterests 1s reviewed by the full Board at (east annually

The Board also reviews the Directars’ Interests Policy on an annual
basis Following the tast review in November 2017, the Board
concluded that the policy continued to operate effectively

Re-election

The Board has reviewed the Nomination Committee’s assessment
of whether each Non-Executive Director remains independent in
character and judgement and whether there are relationships or
circumstances which are Ukely to affect, or could appear to affect.
that judgement As a result, the Board as a whole considers that
each of the Non-Executive Directors 1s independent, 1s of the stature
and has the required experience to perform his ar her role as an
independent Director The results of the externally facilitated Board
evaluation also confirm the Board's belief that each Nan-Executive
Director standing for election or re-election at the 2018 AGM
remains committed to their role within British Land and continues
to perform effectively
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Board evaluation
During the year, the effectiveness of the Board and its Committees
was conducted by Independent Board Evaluation |BE]

Stage 1
Octeber 2017
IBE met with the Chairman to discuss and agree
the focus of the evaluation

\/

Stage 2
November 2017
IBE attended Beard and Committee meetings

\/

Stage 3
February 2018
Individual interviews held with each Board Director,
the Company Secretary and the Head of Secretariat

\/

Stage 4
March 2018
IBE attended further Board and Committee meetings

\/

Stage 5
March 2018
Draft report discussed with Chairman prior to finalisation
and presentation to the whole Board

\/

Stage 4
March/April 2018 - post Board presentation
IBE provided feedback to the Chairmen of the Audit, Nomination
and Remuneration Committees on the performance of each
Committee The performance of the Chairman was alsa
discussed with the Senior Independent Director who
subsequently met with the other Non-Executive Directors to
further consider the Chairman’s performance, taking inte
account the views of the Executive Directars

In addition to the formal Board evaluation, the Board Chairman
met each Non-Executive Director indwidually during the year to
discuss their contribution to the Board

Outcomes

Overall, the evaluation report from IBE reflected well on the
Board Its members are seen as engaged and committed while
the Board's culture remains open, respectful and constructive

IBE made a number of recommendaticns to the Board, based
on the Board s own suggestions, including

- Increasing the Board's interaction with the wider
management team

- Working to define Board values in conjunctien with the
Company values and take forward the Board's work on
culture and employee engagernent

- Using informal Board sessions to enable abgnment around
cormnplex or evolving 1ssues

The Board intends to :implement the recornmendations made
by IBE and will report on pregress in the 2012 Annual Report

IBE has no other connection with British Land
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Financial and business reporting

The Board s responsible for preparing the Annual Report and
confirms in the Directars’ responsibility statement set out on page 95
that they believe that the Annual Report, taken as a whole, is farr,
batanced and understandable, and provides the information
necessary to assess British Land’s position, performance, business
model and strategy The basis on which the Company creates

and preserves value over the long terrm s described in the

Strategic Repart

The Audit Committee reyiewed the procedure undertaken to enable the |
. — Acomprehenswe property and corporate insurance programme

Beard to provide the fair, balanced and understandable confirmation
to shareholders Meetings were held between the Group Financial
Controtler, Head of Investor Relations and other senior employees to
review and document the key considerations undertaken and a
detailed report was then presented to the Audit Committee

Risk management and internal control

The Board determines the extent and nature of the risks it 1s prepared
to take in order to achieve the Company s strategic objectives The
Board has responsibility for the Cempany’s overall approach to risk
management and internal control which includes ensuring the
design and implementation of appropriate risk management and
Internal control systems Oversight of the effectiveness of these
systems 1s delegated to the Audit Commuttee which undertakes
regular reviews to ensure that the Group 1s identifying, considering
and mitigating as far as practicable, the most appropriate risks for
the business

The Board confirms that, through the Audit Committee, a robust
assessment of the principal risks facing the Company, including
those that would threaten its business model, future performance,
solvency or Liguidity, was carried out during the year

British Land’s approach to risk, including the roles of the Beard,
and the Audit Committee in setting risk appetite and monitonng risk
exposure, 1s detailed in the "Managing risk in delivering our strategy
section on pages 481to 51

As well as complying with the Code, the Group has adopted the
best practice recommendations in the FRC "Guidance on risk
management, Internal control and related financial and business
reporting and the Company s internal contrel framework operates
1n line with the recommendations set out in the internationally
recognised COS0 Internal Control Integrated Framework

The Company 1s commutted to conducting its business in an
ethical manner, with integrity and in Une with all relevant laws
and regulations The Group has adopted a number of policies and
procedures including policies and training on anti-bribery and
corruption and fraud awareness, information security and GDPR
Allemployees are made aware of the Group's policies through the
employee handbook, regular bulletins and receive training
appropriate to their roles and responsibilities

The Audit Committee reviews the effectiveness of the Group's
system of internal control annually, including the systems of control
for material joint ventures and funds The Group's internal control
systern 1s built on the following fundamental principles, and is
subject to review by internat audit

- Adefined schedule of matters reserved for approval by the Board

- Adetalled authorisation process no material commitments are
entered into without thorough review and approval by more than
one authorised person

- Formal documentation of all significant transactions

" - Arobust system of business and financial planning including

cash flows and profitability forecasting, with scenario anzalysis
performed on major corporate, property and financing proposals

- Arobust process for property investment appraisals

- Monitoring of key outcomes, particularly expenditure and
performance of significant investments, against budget
and forecast

- Clearly defined policies and review of actual performance
against policies

- Benchmarking of property perfoermance against external
sources such as Investment Property Databank

- Keycontrols testing

and a formal whistle-blowing policy

During the course of its review for the year ended 31 March 2018,
and to the date of this Report, the Audit Commuttee has not identified,
nor been advised of, a failing or weakness which 1t has determined

to be significant

Going concern and viability statements

During the year the Board assessed the appropriateness of using
the going concern’ basis of accounting in the financial statements
The assessment considered future cash flows and debt facilites

[to assess the iquidity risk of the Company] and the availability of
finance [to assess the solvency risk] The assessment covered the
12-month period required by the going concern’ basis of accounting

In accordance with the Code, the Board has also assessed the
prospects of the Group over a five-year period which 1s deemed
appropriate for the viability staterment In preparing the viability
staterment the Board considered the principal risks set out on pages
52 to 55 and the sensitivities of cash flow and debt covenant
forecasts, all of which are considered to have & reasonable lkelhood
of impacting the viability of the Company Full details of this

! assessment are set out on page 51

Following these assessments the Directors believe that the Group
1s well placed to manage its financing and other business risks
satisfactorily and have a reasonable expectation that the Company
and the Group have adequate resources to continue in operation
for at least 12 months from the date of the Annual Report They
therefore consider it appropriate to adopt the going concern basis
of accounting in preparing the financial statements

The Board also censiders that the Company and the Group will be
able to continue in eperation and meet its liabilities as they fall due

. overthe period ending 31 March 2023

Taxation

QOur principles of good governance extend to our responsible
approach to tax Our tax strategy ['Our Approach to Tax'], avallable
on our website www.britishland.com/governance, 1s approved by
the Board and 15 1n line with the Group’s long term values, culture
and strategy

Remuneration
The Directors’ Remunaration Reportis set out on pages 76 to 91

The Remuneration Policy was approved by sharehaolders at the 2014
AGM and)s summarised on page 78 We are not making any changes
to the Remuneration Policy this year
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Relations with stakeholders

The Board 1s cornmitted to mamntaining open channels of
communication with all of the Company’s stakeholders Animpartant
part of this i1s providing a clear explanation of the Company’s strategy
and objectives, and ensuring that feedback 1s acknowledged,
considered and, where appropriate, acted upon Stakeholder
feedback s essential to the success of our business, so we ensure
the Chairman, Senior Independent Director, Chief Executive and
other Executive Directors are availlable to address any concerns

our stakeholders may wish to raise

British Land aims to be informative and accessible to all
shareholders Announcements relating te the Group's financial
results and key events are provided in a timely manner and are easily
accessible via our website and social media The Group website alsa
provides detalled information on our assets, as well as case studies
ilustrating our strategy, including our sustainability activities

British Land has a dedicated Investor Relations team which 1s
available to respond to any questions or concerns investors may
have on an ad hoc basis

All stakeholders are able to contact the Company directly via
the contacts page on our website www.britishland.com/contacts

Annual General Meeting

All Directors attend the AGM, which provides retail shareholders

In particular with an oppertunity to hear directly from the Board on
the Company’s performance over the pastyear, its strategy and the
objectives for the year ahead The AGM also provides shareholders
with the opportunity to ask questions and a number of the Directors,
including the Chairman, make themselves available for informal
discussion after the meeting has concluded

The 2017 AGM was attended by approximately 125 shareholders
All resolutions were voted on by way of a poll and passed by

the required majority The results of the AGM voting are announced
to the London Stock Exchange as soon as practicable following the
AGM and also made avallable on the Company’s website

Retail shareholders

Our ‘Shareholders Centre’ on our website www.britishland.com/
shareholders-centre includes information on the AGM, dividends,
shareholder communication, how to contact our registrar, Equinity,
and other useful resources for shareholders

Institutional investors

Institutional investors and analysts receive regular communications
from the Company, including details of Investor Retations events

[see the chart to the right]. cnhe-to-one and group meetings with
Executive Directars, and tours of our major assets This year, our
invastor relations activity included a presentation and asset tour at
Paddington Central, following the completion of our 4 Kingdom Street
development In total, the Chief Executive, former Chief Financial
Officer and Investor Relations team met with representatives from over
205 institutions during the year ended 31 March 2018 We periodically

commuission an independent investor perception study, which provides |

feedback on our strategy and highlights material concerns from key
investors and is presented to the Board

The Executive team 1s committed to ensuring that shareholder views,
both positive and negative, are relayed back to the Board The Chief
Executive provides a written report at each scheduled meeting which
includes direct market feedback on activity during the period.
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Key investor relations activities
during the vear included

Mav 2017

Full year resulls prasentation

- Fullyear results roadshow, lune 2017
London
- Investor roadshow, w:sﬁ;‘:{a%rdospertyconlerence
Us/Canada - Inveslor praperty conference,
London

- Prwate Client round table
presentation, London

- Analyst & Investor presentation,
Paddington Central

July 2017
- AGM
Septembur 2017
{nvestor property
conference, London
. - Investor property tour,
l\member 2017 Paddington Central
Industry dinner - Thought Leadership event,
- Halfyearresulis Broadgale

- Halfyearresults
roadshow, London
- Two investor property

conferences, Londan January 2018
- Investor property
conference, London
- Investor property tour, Broadgate
- Investor property tour, Storey

February 2018

- Private Client round table

presentation, London March 2018

- Investar property tour, Storey
- Retall round table
presentation & lunch

Lenders and bondholders

The Board recognises the contribution made by our lenders and
bondholders Through our Treasury team, the Group maintains
an open dialegue with our debt providers which helps the Board
understand their investment appetite and criteria

Community

British Land recognises that the peopie who live in and around our
assets are essential to creating Places People Prefer, and therefore
to the success of our business Investing in these communities (s
animportant part of our approach, and our ‘Local Charter’ details
how we build trust by making positive contributions lecally Our
‘Community Funding Guidebines’ set out how we allocate funding,
with a particular focus on Imtiatives close to our assets that provide
opportunities to local pecple through education, employment and
traiming Both documents can be found on our website at
www.britishland.com/policies



REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

We monitor the quality and

integrity of the financial

reporting and valuation process

| am pleased to present the report of the Audit Committee for the
year ended 31 March 2018.

In line with the focus on improved governance and clear, relevant
and concise reporting, this report of the Audit Committee
highlights the main issues which arose during the year and

how they were addressed

Key areas of focus

Ultimately, the Committee continues to play a key role in overseeing
the integrity of the Group’s financial statements, including assessing
whether the Annual Report is fair, balanced and understandable,

as well as ensuring that a sound system of risk management and
internal controlis in place

During the year, the Committee has reviewed the process for
identification and mitigation of key business risks, challenging
management actions where appropriate The Committee has also
reviewed the appropriateness of the accounting treatment of
significant transactions, including asset acquisitions and disposals
Together with the ongoing scrutiny of the process for valuing
investment and development assets, the Commuittee also reviewed
the outcormnes and effectiveness of the tender of valuation services
undertaken during the first half of the financial year

This year saw the iImplementation of the first phase of the new valuer
appolntrment policy [see page 73 for further details) with ¢ 45% of the
portfolio subject to new valyers at 30 September 2017 Further
transitions will take place over the next two years with the initiat
implementation of the valuer appointment policy due to be completed
1in 2019 The Commuttee has appreciated the continued professicnalism
of allits valuers during the tender process

Committee composition and governance

The year to 31 March 2018 has seen significant change to the
rmembership of the Committee As mentioned in the 2017 Annual
Report, Simon Borrows retired frem the Committee at the conclusion
of the 2017 AGM In addition, having served on the Board and this
Committee for nine years, including a peried as Committee
Chairman, Aubrey Adams retired at the end of the 2017 calendar
year | would ke to thank them both for the diligence and insight

they provided during their tenure and Aubrey, in particular, for his
knowledge and experience of the UK property market

We also welcomed three new members to the Committee during
the financial year Nichclas Macpherson, who has served for a full
year, Rebecca Worthington and Alastair Hughes Details of the
knowledge, experience and skills each brings to the Commuttee are
set out below

The Comrmittee continues to be composed solely of independent
Non-Executive Directors with sufficient financial experience,
commercial acumen and sector knowledge to fulfil their
responsthitities The changes in membership, together with
attendance at Cemmuttee meetings during the year, are set out
in the following table

Date of
Committee Date of

Director Position appointment resignation Attendance
Tirn Score Chairman 20 Mar 2014 3/3
Alastair Hughes Member 1 Jan 2018 N1
Nicholas

Macpherseon Member 1 Apr 2017 3/3
Rebecca

Worthington Member  1.Jan 2018 N
Aubrey Adams Member  15ep2008 31 Dec 2017 2/2
Simon Borrows  Member 12 Apr 2011 18 Jul 2017 1/1

Nicholas was the Permanent Secretary to the Treasury for over

10 years from 2005 to March 2016, leading the department through
the financial crisis and the subsequent period of banking reform
He joined the Treasury in 1985 and held a number of roles prior to
his appointrment as Permanent Secretary Nicholas trained as an
economist and has worked at the CBl and Peat Marwick Consulting
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Rebecca has worked in the real estate industry since 1998 and brings
valuable insight Into residential real estate as well as financial,
operational and governance experience as a result of her role as
group chief financial officer of Countryside Properties PLC, and
former roles as finance director of Quintain and charr of the audit
committee at Hansteen Holdings and Aga Rangemaster Group

Alastair has over 25 years of experience in real estate markets
His experience as former Chief Executive of JLL for Europe,
Middle £ast and Africa and then regional CED for Asia Pacific,
and his non-executive directorship of Sehroders REIT, brings an
in-depth knowledge of global commercial real estate markets

The Board 1s satisfied that the Committee as a whole has
competerce relevant to the real estate sector For the purposes
of the UK Corporate Governance Code, Rebecca and | are deemed
to meet the specific requirement of having significant, recent and
relevant financial experience

Members of the senior management team, including the former
Chief Financial Officer, General Counsel and Company Secretary,
Group Financial Controller, Head of Financial Reporting and
representatives of both external and Internal auditors are invited to
attend each Committee meeting In addition, the Charrman of the i
Board, Chief Executive Officer, Head of Investor Relations, Head of
Planning and Analysis and other key emiployees are invited to attend
part, or all, of specific Committee meetings

The Cammittee meets privately with both external and rnternat
auditors after each scheduled meeting and continues to be satisfied
that neither 1s being unduly influenced by management As Committee
Chairman, | additienally hold regular meetings with the Chief
Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and other members of
management ta obtain a good understanding of key 1ssues affecting
the Group and am thereby able to identify those matters which
require meaningful discussion at Comrnittee meetings | also meet
the external audit partner, internal audit partner and representatives
frorn each of the valuers privately to discuss any matters they wish
to raise or concerns they may have

Committee effectiveness

The Committee’s effectiveness during the year to 31 March 2018
was assessed as part of the triennial independently facilitated
Board evaluation process This review considered the structure,
mermbership and role of the Committee as well as the Board's
perception of the quality and thoroughness of its work The review
concluded that the breadth of experience brought to the Committee
by 1ts new members provided the Board with confidence that it
would continue to operate thoroughly and effectively and that the
financial governance of the Company was conducted with
diligence and due process

The Comrmnittee also reviews its terms of reference on an
annual basis The currentterms of reference were approved
by the Board in March 2018 and are available on our website
www.britishland.com/committees

The information below sets out in detall the activity undertaken
by the Cormrmittee during the year ended 31 March 2018 | hope
that you find 1t useful in understanding our work

Tim Score
Chairman of the Audit Committee
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Role and responsibilities
The principal responsibilities of the Committee are

Financial reporting - Monitoring the integrity of the Company's
financial statements and any formal announcements relating
to financial performance, and considering significant financial
reporting tssues, judgemeants and estimates

External Audit - Oversight and remuneration of the external
auditor, assessing effectiveness and making reccmmendations
to the Board on the appointrment of and the policy for non-audit
services provided by the external auditor

Internal Audit - Monitaring and reviewing reports on the work
performed by the internal auditor and reviewing effectivenass,
including its plans and resourcing

Risk management and internal controls - Reviewing the
system of internal control and risk management

Investment and development property valuations -
Considering the valuation process and outcome and the
effectiveness of the Company's valuers

Financial reporting

The Committee continues to review the content and tene of the
preliminary results press release, Annual Report and half year
results at the request of the Board Drafts of the Annual Report
are reviewed by the Commuttee Chairman and the Committee
as awhole prior to formal consideration by the Board, with
sufficient time provided for feedback

The Commuttee reviewed the key messaging included in the Annual
Report and half year results, paying particular attention to those
matters considered to be important to the Group by virtue of their
size, complexity, level of judgement required and potential impact
on the financial staternents and wider business model Anyissues
which were deemed to be significant were debated openly by the
Committee members and other attendees, including management,
external and internal auditors

The Comrmittee has satisfied itself that the controls over the
accuracy and cansistency of the informaticn presented in the
Annual Report are robust The Caommittee therefore recommended
to the Board that the Annual Report presented a fair, balanced and
understandable overview of the business of the Group and that it
provided stakeholders with the necessary information tc assess
the Group's position, performance, business model and strategy

During the year, the Group received a letter from the Financial
Reporting Council confirming that the 2017 Annual Report had been
subject to a review by 1ts Conduct Committee, which 1s responsible
for overseeing the FRC's work in promoting high quality corporate
reperting and ensuring compliance with relevant accounting and
reporting requirements and rules No questions or queries were
ratsed as a result of this review, no respense from the Company
was requested and no further action was undertaken

A number of minor matters were noted for improvement which, in
the view of the Conduct Committee, would be of benefit to the users
of the Annual Regort Consequently, we have made changes to the
Annual Report this year in line with these recommendations
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The significant issues considered by the Cemmittee in relation to the financial statements during the year ended 31 March 2018, and the
actions taken to address these 1ssugs, are set out in the following table

Significant issues considered

How these issucs were addressed

Going concern
statement

Viability
statement

Accournting for
significant
transactions

REIT status

Valuation of

property
portfolio

Revenue
recognition

The appropriateness of
preparing the Group financial
statements on a going
concern basis

Whether the assessment
undertaken by management
regarding the Group’s long
term viability appropriately
reflects the prospects of
the Group and covers an
apprepriate period of time

The accounting treatment

of sigmificant property
acquisitiens, disposals and
financing transactions 15 a
recurring risk for the Group
with non-standard accounting
entries required, and in scme
cases management
judgement applied

Maintenance of the Group s
REIT status through
compliance with certain
conditions has a significant
impact on the Group’s results

The valuation of investment
and development properties
conducted by external valuers
IS inherently subjective as it1s
undertaken on the basis of
assumpticns made by the
valuers which may not prove
to be accurate

The outcome of the valuation
15 significant to the Group in
terms of investrment decisions,
results and remuneration

For certain transactions,
judgement s applied by
management as to whether,
and to what extent, they should
be treated as revenue for the
financial year

The Committee reviewed managerment’s analysis supporting the going concern basis
of preparation This included consideration of forecast cash flows, availability of
commuitted debt facilities and expected covenant headroom The Committee also
recewed a report from the external auditor on the results of the testing undertaken
on management’s analysis

As aresult of the assessment undertaken, the Committee satisfied itself that the
going concern basis of preparation remained appropriate

The going concern statement 1s set out on page 67

The Commuttee considered whether management s assessment adequately reflected
the Group’s risk appetite and principal risks as disclosed on pages 52 to 55, whether
the period covered by the staternent was reascnable given the strategy of the Group
and the environment inwhich it operates, and whether the assumptions and
sensitivities identified, and stress tested, represented severe but plausible scenarios
in the context of solvency or liquidity The Committee also considered a report from
the external auditor

The Committee concurred with management’s assessment and recommended the
viabihty statement to the Board

The viability statement, together with further details on the assessment undertaken,
Is set out on page 51

The Commuttee reviewed management papers on key judgements, mcluding those for
significant transactions, as well as the external auditor's findings on these matters

In particular, the Committee considered the accounting treatment of The Leadenhall
Building transaction, the share buyback programme, Storey (British Land's flexible
workspace offering launched in the year) and the acquisition of The Woolwich Estate

The external sauditor confirmed that management’s jJudgements in relation to these
transactions were appropriate and reasonable and the Commuttee agreed with this
conclusion

The Committee reviewed the Company’s compliance with the REIT tests
Management presented details of the methodology and results of their process
for REIT testing, with any change in long term trends, and the level of headroom,
highlighted The Commuttee also considered the external auditor’s review of the
REIT tests performed by management

The Committee concluded that the Company s REIT status had been maintained
in the year

The external valuers presented their reports to the Committea prior to the hatf year
and full year results, providing an overview of the UK property market and
summarising the performance of the Group s assets Significant judgements are
also highlighted

The Committee analysed the reports and reviewed the valuation gutcomes,
challenging assumptions made where thought fit. In particular, with the
implementation of the first stages of the new valuer appointment policy,

the Committee paid specific attention to those assets which were subject to
a new valuation instruction during the year

The Committee was satisfied with the valuation process and the effectivenass of the
Company's valuers The Commitiee alsc approved the relevant valuation disclosures
to be included in the Annual Report

The Commuttee and the external auditor considered the appropriateness of the
accounting treatment applied by management in relation to revenue recognition
In particular, the Committee considered the treatment of Clarges Residential umit
sales, taking into account the timing of legal completions following practical
completion of the property in the year

The Cammittee considerad the scope of the accounting standard and agreed with
the reasonableness of the Judgement made
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External Audit

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP [PwC] was appointed as the Group’s
external auditor for the 2015 Annual Report following a formal
competitive tender The Committee will consider the need fora
competitive tender for the role of external auditer every five years
and, in accordance with legislation and its own terms of reference,
will ensure that a competitive tender takes place at least every 10
years There are no contractual obligations in place which would
restrict the Committee’s selection of a different auditor The Group's

audit engagement partner is John Waters, who has been in role since

PwC’'s appointment The Commuttee will ensure that the rotation of
audit partner s undertaken as required by legislation to the extent
that this 1s not undertaken earlier by PwC

The Committee 1s responsible for overseeing the relationship with
the external auditor and far considering thewr terms of engagement,
remuneration, effectiveness, independence and continued
objectivity The Committee annually reviews the audit requirements
of the Group, for the business and in the context of the external
environment, placing great importance on ensuring a igh quality,
effective External Audit process

Fees and non-audit services

The Committee discussed the audit fee for the 2018 Annuat Report
with the external auditar and approved the proposed fee on behalf
of the Board

In addition, the Group has adopted a policy for the provision of
nen-audit services by the external auditer The policy helps to
safeguard the external auditor's ndependence and objectivity The
policy altows the external auditor to provide the following non-audit
services to British Land where they are considered to be the most
appropriate provider

- Audit related services including formal reporting relating to
berrowings, shareholder and other circulars and work in respect
of acquisitions and disposals In some circumstances, the
external auditor 1s required to carry out the work because of their
office In other circumnstances, selection would depend on which
firm was best surted to provide the services required

- Sustaminablity assurance PwC currently provides an assurance
opinion to the Company aver selected sustainability data This
appointment 1s reviewed annually

In additicn, the following protocols apply to non-audit fees

— Total non-audit fees are limited to 70% of the audit fees inany
one year Additionally, the ratio of audit to non-audit fees 1s
calculated in Line with the methodology set outin the 2014
EU Regulations

- Committee approval 1s reguired where there might be questions
as to whether the external auditor had a conflict of interest

~ The Audit Committee Chairman 1s required to approve in advance
each additional project or incremental fee between £25,000 and
£100,000 and Comrttee approval s reguired for any additional
projects over £100,000

During the year two engagements relating to sustamnability
assurance and financial model assurance required approval
These engagements were approved by the Audit Commitiee
Chairman on the basis that PwC were best placed to provide these
services and that they created no confiict of interest with their role
as external auditor

Tetal fees for non-audit services amounted to £0 2 mullion, which
represents 20% of the total Group audi fees payable for the year
ended 31 March 2018 Details of all fees charged by the external
auditor during the year are set out on page 113
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The Commuittee i1s satisfied that the Company has complied with
the provisions of the Statutory Audit Services for Large Companes
Market Investigation (Mandatory Use of Competitive Processes and
Audit Committee Responsibilities] Order 2014, published by the
Competition & Markets Authority on 26 September 2014

Effectiveness

Assessment of the annual evaluation of the external auditor s
performance was undertaken by way of a questionnaire completed
by key stakeholders across the Group, including senior members
of the Finance team The review took into account the quabity of
planning, delivery and execution of the audit including the audit

of subsidiary companies), the technical competence and strategic
knowledge of the audit tearm and the effectiveness of reporting
and communication between the audit team and management

. PwC also provide the Cormrnittee with an annual report onits

independence, chjectivity and compliance with statutory, regulatory
and ethical standards For the year ended 31 March 2018, as for

the prior year, the external auditor confirmed that it continued to
malintain appropriate internal safeguards to ensure 1ts independence
and objectivity

The Committee concluded that the quality of the external auditer s
work, and the knowledge and competence of the audit team, had
been maintained at an appropriate standard during the year

The Cormmittee therefore recommended to the Board that a
resolution to reappoint PwC as external auditor to the Group be
put to shareholders at the 2018 AGM

Internat Audit

The role of Internal Audit s to act as an independent and objective
assurance functicn, designed to improve the effectiveness of the
governance, risk management and internal contrels framework
in mitigating the key risks of British Land Ernst & Young LLP [EY)
continue to provide internal audit services to British Land and
attended all Commuttee meetings to present their audit findings

. and the status of management actions

During the year, the Committee reviewed and approved the annual
internal audit plan, including consideration of the plan’'s alignment to
the principal nisks of the Group and its joint ventures Internal audits
completed during the year included those in relation to I7, third party
management, fraud resilience, Insurance, company secretariat,
procurement, human resources, accounts payable and payroll
[phase 2] Overall, no significant control issues were identified
although several process and control improvements were propased,
with follow up audits scheduled where necessary

Effectiveness

The annual effectiveness review of the internal auditor included
cansideration of the Internal Audit charter which defines EY's role
and responsibilities, review of the quality of the audit work undertaken
and the skills and competence of the audit teams The Committee
concluded that EY continued to discharge its duties as internal
auditor effectively and should continue in the role for the year
commencing 1 April 2018

Risk management and internal controls

The Board has delegated responsibility for overseeing the
effectiveness of the Group's risk management and internal control
systems to the Committee The Committee has oversight of the
activities of the executive Risk Committee, receving minutes of
all Risk Committee meetings and discussing any significant
matters raised



REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE CONTINUED

At the full and half year, the Committee reviewed the Group's
principal nisks including consideration of how risk exposures have
changed during the period and any emerging risks in the Company's
risk register Bath external and internal risks are reviewed and their
effect on the Company’s strategic aims considered The Committee
considered the Group s risk appetite, concluding that it remains

set at an appropriate level to achieve the Group's strategic goals
withaut taking undue risk The Board accepted the Commuttee’s
recommendation that no changes were requred to the Group's risk
appetite for the forthcormning year The Committee also reviewed the
status of key risk indicators throughout the year against the risk
appetite set, focusing on any which were outside optimal ranges

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Committee gave particular
attention to the risk relating to catastrophic operational events
including ensuring that safety iInvestigations were undertaken on the
British Land portfolio following the Grenfell Tower fire and that crisis
response plans were in place for both physical and cyber risks The
Commuttee alsc undertakes annual reviews of the Group’s Treasury
Policy [which includes policies en liquidity, interest rate and foreign
currency management] and the Groug s insurance programme

Half yearly, the internal auditor reports to the Committee on the
effectiveness of internal controls, including an analysis of control
issues identified by rmanagement through the exceptions reporting
process Care s taken to ensure thatidentified risk areas are
considered forincorporation in the internal Audit plan and that the
findings of internal audits are taken into account when identifying and
evaluating risks within the business Key observations are reported
to, and debated by, the Committee During the year, it was agreed
that exceptions reporting should include operaticnal matters as well
as hinancial For the year ended 31 March 2018, the internal auditor
confirmed that the system of risk management and internal contral
had been effective

At the request of the Remuneration Commuttee, the Committee
considers annually the level of risk taken by management and
whether this affects the perfermance of the Company and thereby
incentive awards granted to the Executive Directors and senior
management Taking into account the reports received on internal
key controls and risk management, and the results of the internal
audit reviews, the Committee concluded that for the year ended

31 March 2018 they were not aware of excessive risk taking by
management which cught to be taken into account when
determining incentive awards

The Group's whistleblowing arrangements, which enable all staff,
including temporary and agency staff, suppliers and occupiers to
report any suspected wrongdoing, remained unchanged during the
year These arrangements, which are monitored by the General
Counsel and Company Secretary and reviewed by the Committee
annually, include an independent and confidential whistleblowing
service provided by a third party The Committee received a
summary of all whistleblowing reports received during the year
and concluded that each had been dealt with appropriately

Investment and development property valuations

The external valuation of British Land's property portfolio 1s a key
determinant of the Group’s balance sheet, its performance and the
remuneration of the Executive Directors and senior management
The Commutlee 1s committed to the ngorous monitaring and
review of the effectiveness of its valuers as well as the valuation
process itself

As set out in the 2017 Annual Report, a new policy has been adopted
regarding the appointment of external valuers The key siements of
this policy are

- The duration of any valuer’s appointment to a specific asset s
Lmited to 10 years [except where that asset has been market
tested in the period)

- An agreed panel of valuers with the required level of market
knowledge and service provision will be maintained

- Incumbents cannot be re-appointed to an asset

- There will be a mimimum of two valuers on each of our main
sectors, with each valuer covering a meaningful proporticn
of both the overall pertfolio and retevant sector

To ensure a manageable transition of assets to new valuers, the
Committee agreed that the mital implementation process would

be spread over three years, running 2017-2019 The first phase of
tendering [ 45% of the portfolio] was completed during the first
half of the current financial year with a further ¢ 20% scheduled to
transition in both 2018 and 2019 The Group s valuers are now CBRE,

| Knight Frank, Jones Lang LaSalle [JLL] and Cushman & Wakefield

The Committee reviews the effectiveness of the external valuers
bi-annually, focusing on a guantitative analysis of capital values,
yield benchrarking, avallability of comparable market evidence

! and major outliers to subsecter movements, with an annual
| qualitative review of the level of service received from each valuer

The valuers attend Committee meetings at which the full and half
year valuations are discussed, presenting their reports which include
details of the valuation process, market conditions and any significant
judgements made The external auditor reviews the valuations and
valuation process, having had full access to the valuers te determine
that due process had been followed and appropriate information
used, before separately reporting its findings to the Committee The
valuation process s also subject to regular review by Internal Audit

British Land has fixed fee arrangements in place with the valuers
in relation to the valuation of wholly-owned assets, in line with
the recornmendations of the Carsberg Committee Report

Copies of the valuation certificates of CBRE, Kright Frank, JLL
and Cushman & Wakefield can be found on our website

. atwww.britishland.com/reports

Focus for the coming year

: During the year ending 31 March 2019 the Committee will continue
. tofocus on the processes by which the Board identifies, assesses,

. monitors, manages and mitigates risk particularly in light of the

The Committee also reviewed the Group s tax strategy which sets
out the Group's approach to risk management and governance in
relation to UK taxation, its attitude towards tax planning, the level
of risk the Group 1s prepared to acceptin relation to tax and its ‘
relationship with HM Revenue & Customs The resulting document |
('Our Approach to Tax'] was approved by the Board in March 2018

and s available on the Company s website (www.britishland.com/
governance)

Additional information on the Company's internal controls systems ‘
Is set out In the ‘Managing risk in delivering our strategy section |
on pages 48 to 4%

i continued uncertanty ansing from the UK's decision to leave the EU

The Committee will atso continue to manitor key risk areas for the
business, particularly those scheduled for review by internal audit
including. but not imited to General Data Privacy Regulation
compliance, cyber security and crisis management
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REPORT OF THE NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Committee leads
the process for Board
appointments

Welcome to the report of the Nomination Committee for the year
ended 31 March 2018,

Role and responsibilities
The Committee’s principal responsibilities remain

- Reviewing the structure, size and composition {including the
skills, knowledge and experience and diversity] of the Board
and its Committees and recommending changes to the Board

- Considering succession planning for Directors and other
senlor executives

- Reviewing the independence and time commitment requirements
of Non-Executive Directers and

- Making recommendations as to the Directors standing for
election or re-election at the AGM

Full details of the Committee’s role and responsibilities are set
out in1ts terms of reference availlable on our website at
www.britishland.com/committees

Committee composition and governance

Fotlowing Lord Turnbull's retirement, the Cornmittee has three
members William Jackson and Tim Score, both independent
Non-Executive Directors, while | continue to Chair the Committee

[ would like to thank Lord Turnbull for the support and advice he has
provided to the Committee during his tenure

Details of the Committee’s membership and attendance at meetings
are sat out in the following table

Date of
Committee Date of
Director Position appointment resignation  Attendance
John Gildersleave Chairman 1 Jan 2013 3/4*
William Jackson  Member 11 Apr2011 414
Tim Score Member 1 Apr 2017 &/4
Lord Turnbull Member 1 Apr2006 18 Jul 2017 11

® John Gildersleeve was unable to attend ana meeting due to illness
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Chris Grigg, Chief Executive, was invited to attend atl Commuttee
meetings during the year

Luke Meynel! of Russell Reynolds [and formerly of The Zygos
Partnership) was invited to attend one Committee meeting during
the year

Diversity

The Committee, the Board of Oirectors and British Land as a whole
continue to pay full regard to the benefits of diversity, including
gender diversity, both when searching for candidates for Beard
appointments and when the Company 1s searching for candidates

: for other appointments

The Committee recommended an updated Board Diversity and
Inclusion Policy to the Board during the year The revised Policy
aspires for wornen to represent 30% of Board membership by 2020,
as well as having regard to other aspects of diversity when making
recruitment decisions at both 8oard and senior management level

British Land currently has three female Board members Lynn
Gladden, Laura Wade-Gery and Rebecca Waorthingten, all of whom
are Non-Executive Directors This represents 25% female Board
membership as at 31 March 2018 (2017 23%)

The Board Dwversity and Inclusion Policy also sets out British Land's
commitment to strengthen the gender balance on British Land’s
leadership and sentor management teams The Board recognises
that successful delivery of our strategy 1s underpinned by creating
an environment where all our people feel fully supported We have
established an Inclusive Culture Steering Committee, headed by a
member of our Executive Committee, to promote diversity and
inclusion at all levels of the business The Steering Committee has
implemented a nurmber of iInhatives such as diversity training for
all new joiners and the establishment of support networks Further
infarmation on diversity within British Land 1s set out on page 30

We also recently published our gender pay gap report. The report
15 available on our website (www.britishland.com/governance] and
sumrmarised on page 30

Board membership

The Cornmittee regularly reviews the structure, size and compaosition
of the Board in order to ensure 1t 1s made up of the right people with
the requisite skills and expertence, mcluding diversity of thought and
approach, who can provide strong and effective leadership to the
business and support delivery of the Company's strategy




As was anticipated in last year's Annual Report, Simon Borrows
and Lord Turnbull retired from the Board at the cenclusion of the
2017 AGM In addition, Aubrey Adams retired from the Board at the
end of the 2017 calendar year and Lucinda Bell stecod down as an
Executive Director and Chiet Financial Officer on 19 January 2018

The process undertaken by the Committee to identify, select and
make recormmendatians to the Board i relation to the appoeintment
of three Non-Executive Directors and & new Chief Financial Officer
15 set out below

Appointment process for Board Directors

Role requirements
The Comrmittee prepared detailed role specifications
setting out the skills, knawledge, experience and
attributes required for the role(s)

The Chief Executive was also involved in preparing !

the role specification for the Chief Financial Officer
\/

Search process
Under the direction of the Cammuittee, Russell Reynalds
(previously The Zygos Partnershipl, an external search
consultancy, was engaged to facilitate the search process

\/

Review
Details of preferred candidates were presented to, and
considered by, the Committee and, in the case of the
Chief Financial Officer, the other Executive Directors
Shortlisted candidates were invited to interview by the
Commuttee, Chief Executive and ather Directors as appropriate

\/

Recruitment
The Committee considered the feedback from interviews and
made recommendatiens to the Board as to the appointments of
Preben Prebensen, Alastair Hughes and Rebecca Worthington
as Non-Executive Directars and Simon Carter as Executive
Birector and Chief Financial Officer

The appointments were formally announced fellowing
approval by the Board

Other than the provision of recruitment consultancy services neither
Russell Reynolds nor, previgusly, The Zygos Partnership has any
connaction with British Land

Succession planning

The Committee 1s responsible for reviewing the successicn plans
for the Board, including the Chief Executive The succession plans
for the Executive Directors are prepared on immediate, medium and
long term basis while those for Non-Executive Directors reflect the
need to regularly refresh the Board Such plans take account of the
tenure of iIndmvidual members The Committee’s review of Executive
Cirector succession plans include consideration of the process for
talent development within the organisation to create a pipeline to
the Board

The Chief Executive, with the support of the HR Directar, is
responsible for developing succession plans for executives and
senior management which are presented to and considered by
the Committee

Independence and re-election

Prior to recommending the re-appointment of any Non-Executive
Director to the Board, the Commuttee assesses their continued
ndependence, the time commitment required and whether the

" re-appointment would be In the best Interests of the Company

Detailed consideration 1s given to each Non-Executive Cirector’s
contribution to the Board and its Committees, together with the
averall balance of knowledge, skills, experience and diversity

Non-Executive Directors’ tenures (as at 31 March 2018)

W Under 1ysar
M 1 tc3years
| 3tobyears
B Over 6 years

Having served for more than six years, the Committee undertook

a particularly rigorous review of Willam Jackson's contributions

to the Beard and the Committees on which he serves, together with
his continued independence The Committee unanimously concluded
that Willam remained independent in character and judgement and
continued to discharge his responsibilities as a Non-Executive
Director effectively Willlam did not participate in the aiscussion
relating to hus re-appointment

i Following their review, the Committee 1s of the opinion that each

Non-Executive Director continues to demonstrate comrmitment to

his or her role as a member of the Board and its Committees,
discharges his or her duties effectively and that each makes a
valuable contribution to the leadership of the Company for the benefit
of all stakeholders Accordingly, the Committee recommended to

the Board that resolutions to elect or re-slect each Non-Executive
Director be proposed as appropriate to the AGM alongside the
resolutions to re-elect the Executive Directars

Therefore, in accordance with the Code, each of the Directers in role
at year end and the date of this Annual Report will offer themselves
for election (in the case of Alastair Hughes, Preben Prebensen and
Rebecca Worthington] or re-election [in the case of all ather
Directors] In addition, Simon Carter will take up his appointment an
21 May 2018 and offer himself for election at the AGM Biographies
for each Director can be found on pages 58 to 61

Committee effectiveness

This year the review into the Committee’s effectiveness was
undertaken as part of the trnennial externally facilitated Board
evaluation | am pleased to report that the evaluation concluded that
the Committee had handled the various succession 1ssues well over
the past year and continued to operate effectively

Focus for the coming vear

Having overseen majar changes to membership of the Board over
the last 12 months, the Committee intends to focus its attention for
the coming year on tmpareving the gender balance of the leadership
team and undertaking a formal structured review of the succession
plans for senior management

John Gildersleeve
Chairman of the Nomination Commmittee
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DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION REPORT- LETTER FROM THE CHAIRMAN OF THE REMUNERATHON COMMITTEE

Our Remuneration Policy
aligns management incentives

with our strategy

Dear Shareholders

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present the Directors’
Remuneration Report for the year ended 31 March 2018, which
includes an ‘At A Glance’ summary and the Company s Annual
Report on Remuneration

The Annual Report on Remuneration, which describes both how the
Committee has implemented the Remuneration Policy during the
year and our intentions for the coming year, is set out on pages 79
to 91 As usual, the Report on Remuneration will be subject to an
advisary vote at this year's AGM and | hope to continue to have

your support

Our Remuneration Policy was approved by sharehalders in July 2014
with over 97% support and a summary 1s set out on page 78 The full
Policy 1s available tn the 2016 Annual Report and on our website at
www.britishland.com/committees

Qur current Remuneration Policy will remain in force until the 2019
AGM During the latter part of 2018, the Committee will therefore
consider what, if any, changes are required to the Remuneration
Policy te support the Company’s strategy We will fully engage with
shareholders, employees and other stakeholders te ensure that their
views are taken into consideration In recommending any changes to
our Remuneration Pelicy, we will also take account ofthe outcome of
the current review of the UK Corporate Gevernance Code

Committee membership

As disclosed in last year's Annual Repart, Lord Turnbull retired
from the Board, and this Committee, at the conclusion of the
2017 AGM {would like to thank Lord Turnbull for his commitment
to the Commuittee during his term of office and wish himwelk

in his retirement
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Lynn Gladden and Laura Wade-Gery were members throughout
the year and we were pleased to welcome Preben Prebensen to
the Committee on 1 September 2017

Board changes

As previously menticned by the Company’s Chairman, there

have been a number of Board changes this year Lucinda Bell stood
dawn from the Board on 19 January 2018 and left British Land on

4 April 2018 During this period, Lucinda continued to receive her
salary and employment benefits in full

Lucinda 1s eligible for an annual bonus for the 2017/18 financial year,
subject to the satisfaction of a combination of corporate and personal
objectives After over 25 years of service to British Land, Lucinda 1s
considered to be a ‘gocd leaver” and, as such, her cutstanding
executive share plan awards will be treated in line with the goed
leaver provisions in the respective plan rules Full details are
provided an page 84

As announced in January 2018, Simon Carterwill join British Land
as an Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer on 21 May 2018
On appointment, Simon Carter’s basic salary will be set at £485,000
In ine with the approved Remuneration Policy, Simon’s pension
contribution will be set at 15% of salary and his maximum annual
bonus plan and LTIP opportunities for the year will be set at

150% and 250% of salary respectively, consistent with the other
Executive Directors To replace a deferred payment forferted on
joining British Land, Simon will be awarded shares worth €£675,000,
which have to be held for at least one year

Remuneration in respect of the vear ended 31 March 2018
As noted by the Company Chairman, in the context of the econormic
and political uncertainty that we have seen since the EU referendum,
and cver the lastyear in particular, British Land has performed well
Qver the year ended 31 March 2018, the Company detivered good
financial results and took important steps for long term value creation

The total returns from our property investments are expected to
outperform the market modestly As a result, payouts from our
annual incentive plan are expected to be between 55% and 57 5%
of maximum for the Executive Directors This shows that the
Company’'s remuneration policies have waorked as originally
intended when the annual incentive policy was set and approved
by shareholders

For our long term incentives, with our three-year performance
relative to the original benchmarks underperforming the median of
these benchmarks, we expect the LTIP maturing this June 2018 to
lapse in futl along with half of the MSP awards vesting this year




Remuneration in respect of the vear commencing

1 April 2018

Salary and fees

The Committee has discussed and reviewed the Company’s annual
salary review framework for all employees it has also reviewed the
salartes of the Executive Directors and concluded that these should
be increased by 2% in line with the average increase for the wider
employee population This i3 the first increase since 2015

The Committee reviewed the annual fee payable to the Chairman,
which has also not increased since 2015, and concluded that this
should be increased to £385,000 {representing a 4 2% Iincrease,
equating to an average increase of 1 4% over the three-year period)
for the year commencing 1 April 2018

The Board also reviewed the fees payable to the Non-Executive
Directors and concluded that the base fee should be increased to
£62,500 frorm £61,000, which represents a 2 5% increase

Annual incentives

In respect cf the annual incentive awards for Executive Directars,
the Committee has set strict weightings and targets for each
performance measure For the caming year, we will continue with
70% of any potential award being dependent on successfully
achieving financial targets, with 20% based on achieving qualitative
cnteria and 10% on individual targets Further information (s
provided on page 79

Long term incentives

The Commuttee proposes to grant leng term incentive awards during
this coming year at 250% of salary, the same tevel as last year
Details on the proposed grants, including performance conditions,
are set out on page 80

We will be using the same three performance measures as
previously, but have refined the way we will be assessing the Total
Property Return component to make 1t more relevant to the assets
the Company owns

Below Board-level incentives

The Committee s remit also includes oversight of the Group's
remuneration policy for the wider employee population In this
respect the Committee has approved a change to the long term
share incentive arrangements for the seruor management population
by approving the use of Restricted Share Awards

Previoysly the senior management population had participated in the
Long-Term [ncentive Plan {LTIP) on a similar basis as the Executive
Directors However, for 2018 for certain employees other than
Executive Directors, the Comrmittee has approved the use of
Restricted Shares instead of, or [for the non-Beard members of the
Executive Committee) in cornhination with, a lower level of LTIP The
lower level of LTIP award takes into account the increased certainty
of value of Restricted Shares

The introduction of Restricted Shares creates a stronger alignment
with the interests of other sharehalders from the date of grant,
together with being a more valued and retentive remuneration
package for senior managérent

The Restricted Shares will vest after three years subject to
continued service

Gender pay gap

We have recently published our first gender pay gap report
[www.britishland.com/gender-pay-gapl As required by legislation,
this information 1s based on data at a snapshot date of 5 April 2017
when British Land had 237 employees and Broadgate Estates
Lirmited, a wholly-owned subsidiary, had 322 employees

Our pay gap reflects an industry-wide picture where we have more
men than women in senior higher paid roles rather than unequal pay
for sirmilar work The British Land Board 1s committed to achieving
better gender halance across all positions in the Company and has
in place recruitment and development practices that it believes witl
lead to a material change in this positicn over time

Our workforce 1s made up almost equally of men and women
We pay men and women wha do the same jobs equally, with each
rote benchmarked annually against external data

We have made significant progress over recent years whilst
recognising that there is more work to be done to reduce the extent
of the iImbalance in the future In 2013 we were a founding supporter
of ‘Pathways to Property’, a programme set up to encourage young
people from a wide range of diverse backgrounds into the real estate
sector and in 2017 we welcomed a graduate trainee to British Land
from the first cohort to cemplete this programme

British Land was the first FTSE 100 property company to achieve

the National Equality Standard [August 2017) We are alsoone of a
handful of FTSE 100 compantes who have introduced company-
enhanced shared parental pay as well as introducing flexible working
practices in many areas of the business, fernale mentoring
programmes and maternity ceaching

We will continue to measure our gender pay very regularly to come
to understand If what we are doing 1s working and to 1dentify areas
where there Is further need for change

Committee effectiveness

As with the other Board Committees, this year’s evaluation of the
effectiveness of the Remuneration Committee was undertaken

as part of the triennial independently facilitated Board evaluation
process | am pleased to report that the review concluded that the
Commuittee continued to operate diligently and effectively, that its
members had an appropriate balance of skills and experience and
carried out their duties in a sensible and pragmatic way

Recommendation

British Land continues to strive to apply best practice in its
remuneration policies and to listen carefully to shareholder
feedback We therefore hope that you show your support for our
approach to remuneration by vating for’ the Directors’
Remuneration Report at the 2018 AGM

William Jackson
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
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DIRECTORS REMUNERATION REPORT: AT AGLANCE

Executive Directors’ remuneration
The tables below show the 2018 actual remuneration aganst potential opportunity for the year ended 31 March 2018 and 2017 actual
remuneration for each Executive Director Full disclosure of the single total figure of remuneration for each of the Directers 1s set cut in the

table on page 81

Chris Grigg Charles Maudsley

Chief Executive €000 Head of Retail, Leisure & Residential £000
2018 actual [ ] £2,244 2018 actual [ ] £1,081
2018 potential’ _ €4,878 2018 potential’ _ £2,477
2017 actual £1938 2017 actual [ £943

1,000 2,000 3,000 4,000 5000 6,000 0 500 1,000 1,500 2,000 2,500 3,000

Tim Roberts Lucinda Bell (to 19 January 2018)

Head of Offices £000  Chief Financial Officer £:000
2018 actual [ £1,125 2018 actual ] £941
2018 potential’ || R £2535 2018 potential' [ N £2,060
2017 actual £953 2017 actual [ £1,002

M Sslary  H Benefits

500

B Pension

1,000 1,500 2,000 2500 3,000

W Annual Incentive Long term incentives

' 2018 potential assumes that bath annual and long term incentives pay out 1n full

Summary of Remuneration Policy
The Remuneration Policy summarised below was appraved by shareholders on 19 July 2016 The Policy will apply untit the AGM in July 2019
The Remuneration Policy is set out n full in the 2016 Annual Report and 1s available on our website www.britishland.com/committees

Element of remuneration

Link to strategy

o

500 1,000 1,500 2,000 2,500 3,000

Framework

Fixed Basicsatary  Attracts and retains Expert People with Maximum level cannot be greater than the upper quartile of the comparator
the appropriate degree of expertise and group Reviewed annually and increases lypically in ine with inflation and
expernence to deliver agreed sirategy general salary increases throughout the Group

Maximurmi fee of £1.500 p 3 1n aggregate for all gualifying appointments to
subsidiary boards
Benelits Benehis are restricted to a maxirnurm of £20,000 p a for car allowance and
the amount required to continue providing agreed benefits at a similar level
year-on-year
Pension Defined benefit scheme —target benefitis the pension that can be provided
contribution by the 31 March 2012 lifetime allowance [£1 8 million] uplifted by RPI
Dehined contribution arrangements - cash allowances in lieu of pension
are made at between 15-35% of salary
Variable Annual Performance measures related to British Land s~ Maximurm oppartumity 1s 190% of basic salary 2/3rd is paid in cash when
Incentive strategic focus and the Executive Director s granted with the remaiming 1/3rd [net of tax) used to purchase shares on behalf
indwvidual area of responsibibity are set by the of the Executive Director {Annual Incentive Shares] which must be held for 3
Cornmittee at the beginning of the financial year  further three years from the date of grant whether or not the Executive Director
remains an employee of Briush Land
Long term - Total Property Return [TPR] links reward Maximum value of an LTIP award 15 300% of basic salary which may be inthe
incentive to gross property perfarmance form of perfarmance sharas or market value options or 3 combination of both
- Total Accounting Return {TAR] Links reward
te net property performance and shareholder
distributions
- TotalShareholder Return [TSR] directly
correlates reward with shareholder returns
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How we intend to apply our
Remuneration Policy during the
year commencing 1 April 2018

The following pages set out how the Commuittes intends to apply the Remuneration Policy during the coming year
Executive Directors’ remuneration

gl‘il Basic salaries

Basic salaries for our current Directors have been set at the fallowing levels fer the year commencing 1 April 2018
Basic salary

Director

Chris Grigg 856,800
Charles Maudsley 455,175
Tim Roberts 455,175
Simon Carter (from 21 May 2018] 485,000

Annual Incentive awards

The maximum bonus opportunity for Executive Directors remains at 150% of salary The performance measures for the Annual Incentive
awards have been selected to reflect a range of quantitative and qualitative goals that support the Company's key strategic objectives
The performance measures and weightings for the year commencing 1 April 2018 will be as follows

Praportion of Annual
Incentive as a percentage

Measure of maximum opportunity
Quantitative measures 70%
Total Property Return relative to {PD [sector reweighted) 42%
Profit growth relative to budget 28%
Qualitative measures 20%
Right Places - Progress on key projects including developments 5%
Customer Orientation - Company reputation with all stakeholders 5%
Capital Efficiency - Execution of targeted acquisitions and disposals 5%
- Progress on strengthening the dividend
Expert People - Promoting an inclusive, performance driven culture 5%
Individual objectives Performance agamst indiwidual success factors 10%

The Committee has set targets for the quantitative measures for the corming year and will disclose these in the 2019 Remuneration Report
as they are felt to be commercially sensitive In assessing how the Executive Directors performed duning the year commencing 1 April 2018,
the Committee will take into account their performance against all of the measures and make an assessment in the round to ensure that
performance warrants the level of award determined by the table ahove

As disclosed in 2017, the Commuttee agreed that for Annual Incentive awards, the sector weighted IPD March Annual Universe benchmark
[which includes sales, acquisitions and developrments and so takes Into account active asset management as well as a more representative
peer group) would be most suitabte However, due to iming of publication of the March Universe benchmark, the Company’s actual
performance against IPD metrics 1s unlikely to be known when the 2019 Annual Report is approved by the Board The 2019 Remuneration
Repart will therefore include an estimate of the vesting value of Annual Incentive awards for that financial year, with the actual awards,
based on the final IPQ March Annual Universe Data, set out in the fotlowing Annual Report [for the year ending 31 March 2020]
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DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION REPORT: ANNUAL REPORT ON REMUNERATION CONTINUED

@ Long term incentive awards

An LTIP award will be made te Executive Directors during the year commencing 1 April 2018 it s anticipated that the grant size of LTIP
awards will be 250% of salary for each Executive Director This continues to be below the maximum available under the policy of 300%
of salary approved by sharehclders in July 2014

The performance measures that apply to this LTIP award will be as follows

Measure Link to strategy Measured relative to Weighting
Total Property Return (TPR) The TPR measure 1s designed TPR perfarmance will be assessed against the £0%
The change in capital value, less  to link reward to strong performance ofan IPD benchmark

any capital expenddure incurred,  performance at the gross

plus net income TPR1s property level

expressed as a percentage of

capital employed over the LTIP

performance period and 15

calculated by IPD

Total Accounting Return (TAR) The TAR measure 1s designed te  TAR will be measured relative to a comparator group 40%
The growth in British Land's link reward to performance at censisting of the 17 largest FTSE property companies

EPRA NAV per share plus the net property levet that takes  that use EPRA accounting (including British Land}

dividends per share paid over the  account of gearing and our

LTIP performance period distributions to shareholders

Total Shareholder Return (TSR} The TSR measure 15 designed Half of the TSR measure will be measured relative to 20%

The growth in value of a British
Land shareholding over the LTIP
performance period, assuming

to directly correlate reward
with the return delivered
to sharehalders

the performance of the FTSE 100 and the ather half
will be measured relative to the performance of a
comparator group consisting of the 17 largest FTSE

dividends are reinvested to
purchase additional shares

property companies that use EPRA accounting
inciuding British Land]

Performance against the LTIP rneasures will be assessed over a period of three years 100% of the preportion of the TAR and TSR awards
attached to each measure will vest if British Land’s performance 1s at an upper quartile level If performance against a measure 1s equal
to the median, 20% of the proportion attached to that measure will vest and if perfermance 1s below med:ian the proportion attached to
that measure will lapse There wilt be straight-line vesting between rmedian and upper quartile performance for each measure

For the TPR award, 20% of the award will vest for matching a sector weighted IPD index reflecting the Company’s property assets
There will be straight-line vesting between this index performance and the higher of 1 1x the index performance and 100 basis points
per annum cutperformance The Committee retains the discretion to reduce the formulaic vesting amount if 1t feels that there 1s a
raterial inconsistency between the leve! of reward and relative performance delivered

Non-Executive Directors’ fees

Fees paid to the Chairman and Nan-Executive Directors are positioned around the mid-market of cur comparater group of companies
(FTSE 100 companies with broadly similar market capitalisations to British Land) with the aim of attracting individuals with the appropriate
degree of expertise and experience The fee structure set out below was adopted at the 2016 AGM and incorporates a 2 5% increase to the
annual fee for the Non-Executive Directors and a 4 2% increase to the Chairman's fee for the year commencing 1 April 2018

Chairman’s annual fee £385,000
Non-Executive Directors’ annual fee £62,500
Senior Independent Director s annual fee £10,000
Audit Committee or Remuneration Committee Chairman’s annual fee £20,000
Audit Committee or Remuneration Committee member’'s annual fee £8,000
Nomination Commuttee member’s annual fee £4,000
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How we applied our

Remuneration Policy during
the year ended 31 March 2018

The following pages set out how we implemented the Directors’ Rermuneration Policy during the year ended 31 March 2018 and the
remuneration recerved by each of the Directors

Single total figure of remuneration (audited)
The following tables detail all elements of remuneration recevable by Briish Land’s Executive Directors in respect of the year ended
31 March 2018 and show comparative figures for the year ended 31 March 2017

Other
items in the Pension or
Taxable nature of pensicn Annual Long term

Satary/fees benefits remuneration allowance incentives?  incentives Total

2018 2018 2018 2018 2018 2018 2018

Executive Directors €000 £000 £000 £000 €000 €000 £000
Chris Grigg 840 22 15 294 724 349 2,244
Charles Maudsley 446 22 12 47 370 164 1,081
Tim Roberts 448 23 12 89 380 173 1,125
Lucinda Bell (to 19 January 2018} 398 18 12 24 337 152 941

' The propartion of Lucinda Bell s salary, benefits and annual incentives which relate to the period fram 19 January to 31 March 2018 are set outin the Paymentsto
past Directors disclosure on page 84
" 2018 Annual Incentive cutcomes are subject to the publication of final IPD results

2017 2017 2017 2017 2017 2017 2017
£000 £000 £000 £000 €000 €000 £000
Chris Grigg 840 23 14 294 418 349 1,938
Chartes Maudsley 4Lhb 23 13 67 231 163 943
Tim Roherts 448 23 12 85 227 163 953
Lucinda Bell 493 23 13 78 245 150 1,002

Notes to the single total figure of remuneration table

g@l Fixed pay

Taxable benefits: Taxable benetits include car allowance (between £16.170 and £16,800), private medical insurance and subsidised gym
membership The Company provides the tax gross-up on subsidised gym membership and the figures included above are the grossed
up values

Other items in the nature of remuneration include Life assurance, permanent health insurance, annual medical check-ups, professional
subscriptions, the value of shares awarded under the all-employee Share Incentive Plan and any notional gan on exercise of Sharesave
options that maturad during the year

Pensions: Neither Chris Grigg rior Charles Maudsley participate in any British Land pension plan and instead receive cash allowances of
35% and 15% of basic salary respectively, in lieu of pension For the year ended 31 March 2018, these payrments amounted to £294,000 and
£66,938 respectively Lucinda Bell' and Tim Roberts are both members of the British Land Defined Benefit Pension Scheme The table below
details the defined benefit pensions accrued at 31 March 2018 (or date of leaving the Board in the case of Lucinda Bell)

Defined benefit

pension accrued at Normat

31 March 20182 retirement

Executive Director £000 age
Tim Roberts LA | 60
Lucinda Bell' [to 19 January 2018] 107 60

" Lucinda Bell remained an active member of the British Land Defined Benefit Pension Scheme until her departure from the Company on 4 April 2008 following which
she became a deferred member of that scherme
= The gccrued pension 15 based on service Lo the year end or, if earlier the date of leaving the Board and final pensionable salary al thal date

There are no additional benefits that will become recewvable by a Director in the event that a Director retires early
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Variable pay

= Annual Incentive FY18

The level of Annual Incentive award i1s determined by the Committee based on British Land s performance and each indvidusl Executive
Director’s performance against thewr individual targets during the year For the year ended 31 March 2018 the Comimittee’s assessment
and outcomes are set out below

Range of performance
between 25% and 100%

M 1
— 1

B 100% pay-out
25% pay-out  50% pay-out [no increased

[no pay-out [performance  pay-out above Outcome
below this in line with this maximum as % of
Quantitative measures Weaighting point) expectations]  pay-out point]l  Outcome salary Performance achieved against target range
Total property 14 7% 22 1% - Target range of maiching seclor weighted index to
returnsvs IPD 4£2% . outperforming it by 1% TPR of 7 3%, exceedingthe
{estimated) estimated threshold of weighted IPD index by 20bps

15 1% 22 6% - Target range of matching the budget to

Underlying 26% . outperfarming it by 3 5% Profit achievernent in line
Profit ¢ with expectation at F380m (This target s
commercially sensitive so has not been disclosed)
Sub-total 70% Sub-total 29 8% 44 7%
Qualitative measures Performance achieved against measures

- Progress on Broadgate campus vision — on site

Progress on developing 11m sg ft

Right key projects - Canada Water development agreement with
Places including 5% . 50% 75% Southwark Councit
developments - Completed Meadowhatl extension and resolution te
grant planning achieved for the leisure extensron
- Completion of Clarges Mayfaw
- Flexible workspace brand Storey launched across
allthree Office campuses
Company - Retail footfall and Lke-for-like sales continue to
CuFtomer reputation with 59, ‘ 30% 4 5%  outperformthe benchmarks by 340bps and 130bps
Orientation all stakeholders respec[wgly
- Continued recognition of sustaimability credentials
across five key indices [GRESB, M5CI, EPRA sBPR,
DJSIWorld Index and FTSE4Good)
Execution - Ahead on Profit vs Budget
of targeled - Fitch upgraded credit ratingto A [from A- ) for
acquisitions d debt
and disposals Debut 520 of Sterling bond for £300
Capital N o, — Debutissueof Sterling bond for mitlion
Efficiency z:rr%gnretiiﬁ.”n 5% . 50% 7% _ AR at historic low of 2 8%
the d\%ldend §nd - Completed £300 miltion share buyback pragramme
execution of at average share price of £6 30
debt financing - Dmidend growth maintaned at 3%
- National Equality Standard achieved
Expert ﬁ]rcc{:;?é:g”g an - Achieved 2 Star Rating in Best Companies
Pe:ple performénce 5% . 50% 75% - Board and senior management appointments -
driven culture three Non-Executive Directors, Chief Financial
Ofticer and other senior apporntments
Sub-total 20% Sub-total 18 0% 270%
Quantitative and qualitative 47 8% MN7%
Individual measures' 10% 759-97% 11 2-14 5%

Total 55 3-575% B2 9-86 2%

The Committee assesses 10% of the bonus opportunity on the indwidual contribution by each Executive Director towards a series of preset objectives which are closely
aligned to the qualitative measures set out In the above table

The Committee determined that the level of award would be 7 5% of basic salary for each Executive Director with Chris Grigg receiving an additionat 2 17% reflecting

his strong individual performance, Tim Roberts receving an addional 1 5% reflecting his personal performance and that of the Office business and Lucinda Bell
recewving an additional 1 22% in line with her remuneratien terms on leaving
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@% Long term incentives

The infermation in the tong term incentives colurnn in the single total figure of remuneration table [see page 81) relates tc vesting of awards
granted under the following schemes, including, where applicable, dividend equivalent payments an those awards and interest accrued on
those dividend equivalents .

Long-Term Incentive Plan

The awards granted to Executive Directors on 22 June 2015, and which will vest on 22 June 2018, were subject to two equally weighted perfermance
conditions over the three-year period fo 31 March 2018 The first measured Bntish Land's TPR refative to the funds in the Oecember IPO UK Annual
Property Index [the Index], while the second measured TAR relative te a comparator group of British Land and 16 or so other property companies

The TPR element Is expected to lapse, based an British Land s adjusted TPR of 7% when compared to the funds in the Index The TAR
elerment 1s also expected to lapse based on British Land's TAR of 27% The actual vesting rate of the TPR and TAR elements can only be
calculated once results have been oublished by IPD and all the companies within the comparator group respectively The actual percentage
vesting will be confirmed by the Cornmittee in due course and details provided in the 2019 Remuneration Report

Estimated value Estimated dividend

Perfarmance Number of performance of award on vesting equivalent and interest

Executive Director shares or option shares/option awarded £000 £000
Chris Grigg Performance shares 154,949 0 0
Market value options 206,599 0 0

Lucinda Bell Performance shares 121,254 0 0
Charles Maudsley Ferformance shares 109,756 0 0
Tim Roberts Performance shares 109,756 0 0

2017 comparative As set outin the 2017 Annual Report, the 2014 LTIP awards lapsed in full on 23 June 2017 as expected

Matching Share Plan

The performance conditions for the MSP Matching awards granted on 29 June 2015 were (] TSR relative to a comparator group of British
Land and 16 other property companies and [i1) British Land's gross income growth [GIG) relative to the IPD Quarterly Universe [the Universe]
These performance conditions are equally weighted The MSP Matching awards willvest on 29 June 2018

Korn Ferry Hay Group Limited [Korn Ferry] has confirmed that the TSR element of the award will vest at 0% as British Land's TSR
performance over the period was -9 8% compared to a median of 40 4% for the cormparater group The GIG element 1s expected to vest at
100% as British Land's annualised GIG over the period of 4 7% is expected to exceed the expected growth of the Universe by more than the
upper hurdle As aresult, 50% of the MSP Matching awards granted in June 2015 are expected to vest As disclosed for the 2015 LTHP above,
the actual percentage vesting will be confirmed by the Commuttee and details provided in the 2019 Remuneration Report

Number of Estimated value Estimated dividend

Matching Shares of award on vesting equivalent

Executive Director awarded £000 £000
Chris Grigg 94,348 308 4
Lucinda Bell 40,950 134 18
Charles Maudsley 44,226 145 19
Tim Roberts 46,682 153 20

2017 comparative In June 2017, the Committee confirmed that the 2014 MSP Matching awards would vest as to 50% on the vesting date
(being 30 June 2017] The long term incentives figures in the 2017 camparatives of the single total figure of remuneration table have therefore
been updated to reflect the actual share price on vesting (601 10 pence] rather than the average for the $0-day perniod used in the 2017 Annual
Report of 608 078 pence
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Share scheme interests awarded during the year (audited)

Long-Term Incentive Flan

The total value of each Executive Director’s LTIP award for the year ended 31 March 2018 was equivalent to 250% of basic salary at grant
At grant each Director is able to indicate a preference as to the proportion of the award that they wish to receive as either performance
shares or market value options The share price used to determine the face value of performance shares and the fair value of options,
and thereby the number of performance shares or optrons awarded, Is the average over the three dealing days immediately prior to the
day of award For the award granted in June 2017, no Executive Director elected to receive market value options and the share price for
determining the number of performance shares awarded was 617167 pence The performance conditions attached to these awards are
set gutin the Remuneration Policy approved by shareholders in July 2016 and summarised on page 80

Performance shares
Percentage vesting on

Number of Face End of achievement of minimum

Grant performance value  perfermance Vesting performance threshold

Executive Director date shares granted £000 period date %
Chris Grigg 28/06/17 340,264 2,100 31/03/20 28/06/20 20
Charles Maudsley 28/06/17 180,765 1116 31/03/20 28/06/20 20
Tim Roberts 28/06/17 180,765 1,114 31/03/20 28/06/20 20
Lucinda Bell 28/06/17 199,702 1,232 31/03/20 28/06/20 20

Sharesave Scheme

The following options were granted te Executive Directors duning the year under the all-employee Sharesave Scheme The exercise price s
setat a 20% discount to the average market price of the Company s shares over the three dealing days immediately preceding nvitation to
the Scheme The cost of exercise 1s met entirely by the Director and s accumulated by deductions from salary from grant to vesting

Totalto be
deducted Numberof Earliest
from salary options Facevalue Exercise exercise
Executive Director Grant date £000 granted €000 price date Expirydate
Lucinda Bell 21/06/17 9 1,771 ? 508 01/09/20  28/02/21

Directors’ shareholdings and share interests (andited)

Directors’ shareholdings at 31 March 2018

The following table shows the Executive Directors interests in fully paid ordinary British Land shares, including shares held by connected
persons, MSP Bonus Shares, Annual Incentive Shares and shares held in the Share Incentive Plan All interests are beneficial

Holding at 31 March 2018

[or date of departure from Holding at
Director the Board, if earlier) 31 March 2017
Chris Grigg 1,297,818 1,257,368
Charles Maudsley 251,194 230,383
Tim Roberts 265,748 244,714
Lucinda Bell (at 19 January 2018) 246,411 226,098

Shareholding guidelines

The minimum shareholding guidelines require Executive Directors to hold ordinary shares with a value equal to a set percentage of salary
There 1s no set timescale for Executive Directors to reach the prescribed target but they are expected to retain net shares received on

the vesting of long term incentive awards until the target 1s achieved Shares that count towards the holding guideline are unfettered

and beneficially owned by the Executive Directors and their connected persons Deferred annual incentive shares, MSP Bonus Shares,
locked-in SIP shares and all unvested awards de not count towards the requirement

The guideline shareholdings for the year commencing 1 April 2018 are shown below

Unfettered

Guideline as holding as Total holding as

percentage Unfettered percentage of Total 3 percentage

of basic  Guideline holdingat  basicsalaryat shareholdingat of basic salary at

Executive Director salary holding’ 31 March2018  31March 2018 31 March 20182 31 March 2018
Chris Grigg 225% 294,393 1,232,206 942 1,297,818 992
Charles Maudsley 150% 104,264 2117143 32 251,194 261
Tirn Roberts 150% 104,264 230,230 331 265,748 382

' Calculated ana share price ol 642 pence on 29 March 2018
? Sea Directors shareholdings table above which include MSP Bonus Shares and all shares held in the SIP

The guideline shareholding for Simon Carter has also been set at 150% of salary
The shareholding guidelines for Executive Directors were last increased with effect from 1 Apnil 2075 when the holding requirement for

each Director was increased by 25% of basic salary The Committee regularly reviews the guidelines together with the Executive Directors’
shareholdings, but has not proposed any change for the year commencing 1 April 2018
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Acquisitions of ordinary shares after the year end

The Executive Directors have purchased or been granted the following fully paid ordinary British Land shares under the terms of the

partnership, matching and dividend elernents of the Share Incentive Plan

Date of

purchaseor  Purchase Partnership Matching Dividend
Executive Director award price shares shares shares

Chris Grigg 16/04/18 650 79 23 46
04/05/18 67577 109

14/05/18 696 4b4 21 42

Charles Maudsley 16/04/18 450 79 23 44
04/05/18 47577 87

14/05/18 696 464 21 42

Tim Roberts 16/04/18 65079 23 46
04/05/18 &7577 2M

14/05/18 696 464 21 42

Unvested share awards
Number Subject to End of
outstanding at performance performance

Executive Director Date of grant 31 March 2018 measures pericd Vesting date
Chris Grigg LTIP performance shares’ 22/046/15 154,949 Yes 31/03/18 22/06/18
LTIP performance shares 22/06/14 229979 Yes 31/03/19 22/06/19
LTIP performance shares 28/08/17 340,264 Yes 31/03/20 28/06/20
MSP Matching Shares! 29/06/15 94,348 Yes 31/03/18 29/06/18
MSP Matching Shares 29/06/16 94,718 Yes 31/03/19 29/06/19
Charles Maudsley LTIP performance shares’ 22/06/15 109,756 Yes 31/03/18 22/06/18
LTIP performance shares 22/06/14 122176 Yes 31/03/19 22/06019
LTiP performance shares 28/06/17 180,745 Yes 31/03/20 28/06/20
MSP Matching Shares' 29/06/15 44,226 Yes 31/03/18 29/06/18
MSP Matching Shares 29/06/16 47,206 Yos 31/03/19 29/06/19
Tirmn Roberts LTIP performance shares! 22/06/15 109,756 Yes 31/03/18 22/06/18
LTIP performance shares 22/06/14 41,088 Yes 31/03/19 22/06/19
LTIP performance shares 28/06/17 180,765 Yes 31/03/20 28/06/20
MSP Matching Shares’ 29/06/15 46,682 Yes 31/03/18 29/06/18
MSP Matching Shares 29/06/16 46,056 Yes 31/03/19 29/U8/19
Lucinda Bell LTIF performance shares' 22/06/15 121,254 Yes 31/03/18 22/06/18
LTIP performance shares? 22706018 134,376 Yes 31/03/19 22/06/19
LTIP performance shares? 28/06/17 199,702 Yes 31/03/20 28/06/20
MSP Matching Shares' 29/06/15 40,950 Yes 31/03/18 29/06/18
MSP Matching Shares? 29/06/16 47,206 Yes 31/03/19 29/06/19

The LTIP and MSP awards granted in June 2015 are also included within the 2018 Long term incentives column of the single total figure of remuneration table

on page 81 Thedegree lo which performance measures have been or are expected to be achieved, and the resultant proportions of the awards expected to vest,

are detailed on page 83

¢ These awards will vest on a pro-rala basis on the applicable normalvesting date if and to the extent that performance conditions are met at that time

Unvested optioh awards [not available to be exercised)

Number Option Subject to End of Date
outstanding at price performance performance becomes Exercisable
Executive Director Date of grant 31 March 2018 pence measures period exercisable until
Chris Grigg LTIP options’ 22/06/15 206 599 824 5 Yes 31/03/18  22/06/18  22/06/25
Tim Roberts Sharesave options 19/06/13 2,348 5110 No nfa  01/09/18  28/02/19
Sharesave options 23/06/14 3,135 5740 No n/a D1/09/19  29/02/20
LTIP options 22/06/16 244,353 7305 Yes 31/03/19  22/06/19  22/06/24
Lucinda Bell Sharesave options’ 22/06/15 1,297 6970 No nfa  01/0%/18  28/02/19
Sharesave options’ 21/06/17 1,771 5080 No n/a 01/09/20  28/02/21
" The LTIP oplions granted in June 2015 are also inciuded withinthe 2018 Long termincentives column of the single total figure of remuneration lable on
page 81 The degreeto which performance measures have been or are expecled to be achieved, and the resullant proportions of the awards expected to vest,
are detailed on page 83
These Sharesave pptions lapsed on 4 April 2018, the date on which Lucinda Bell left British Land
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Vested option awards lavailable to be exercised)

Number

outstanding Option
at 31 March price Exercisable
Executive Director Date of grant 2018 pence until
Chris Grigg LTIP aptions 29/06/09 7.751 387 29/04/19
LTIP options 11/04/10 1,073,825 447 11/06/20
LT!P options 28/06/11 695,657 575 28/04/21
LTiP options 14/09/12 743,494 538  14/09/22
Lucinda Bell LTIP cpuions 11/06/10 7952 447 11086420
(as at 19 January 2018] | 71p gpnons 14/12/10 11764 510 14/12/20
LTIP options 14/09/12 138,289 538  14/09/22
LTIP options' 05/08/13 87,19 601  05/08/23
' This award vested at the level of 56 3% under the performance conditions
Options exercised during the year ended 31 March 2018
Market price
on date of
Number  Optionprice  Date became Date exercise
Executive Director Date of grant exercised pence exercisable exercised pence
Lucinda Bell Sharesave options 23/0614 1,567 574 01/09/17  26/02/18 650 20
LTIP options 11/06/10 40,000 447 11/06/13 20/1117 627

Pavments to past Directors (audited)

During the period from 19 January 2018 to 31 March 2018, Lucinda Bell remained an employee of British Land and receved salary of £94,808
and taxable benefits of £4,223 Lucinda remarned a member of the SIP until her departure from British Land on 4 April 2018 Under the Rules
of the SIP, Lucinda received matching shares in February and March 2018 with a total value of £603 In addition, Lucinda wili receve an
addiionat £80,3901n relation to the Annual incentive awards for the year ended 31 March 2018 which related 1o the period after she had
stepped down from the Board A contribution of £10,000 plus VAT was also made to Lucinda s legal fees

Payments to Lucinda Bell on leaving British Land (audited)

After over 25 years at British Land, Lucinda Bell informed the Board in October 2017 of her intention to stand down from the Board and to
leave the Company Following the completion of the search for a replacement Chief Financial Officer, Lucinda Bell stood down from the
Board on 19 January 2018 and left British Land as planned an 4 April 2018 Lucinda's remuneration terms on leaving were in line with the

Remuneration Policy approved by shareholders at the 2016 AGM

Lucinda received her salary and ernployment benefits in full to the date of her departure and will receive payments in lieu of notice for the
remainder of her 12-month notice period to 4 October 2018 The maximum amount payable for this period comprises base salary of £246,500,
car allowance of £8,350, pension contributions/allowance of £52,500 and the value of other benefits of £2,546 These payments may be
reduced by the value of any alternative paid employment secured during this period As mentioned in the Committee Chairman s letter on
page 76, Lucinda 1s eligible for an annual bonus for the 2017/18 financial year, subject to the satisfaction of a combination of corperate and
personal objectives In line with the Remuneration Policy, two-thirds of any annual bonus will be paid in cash and one-third will be used to

purchase Britsh Land shares which must be held for a further period of three years

Lucinda ceased to participate in the Company’s all-employee employee share plans on departure and any unvested Sharesave awards
lapsed at that time Lucinda’s vested executive share awards remain exercisable until 4 October 2018

The Committee determined that Lucinda be treated as a good (eaver’ under the Company’s executive share plans Consequently,
awards [Inclucing any dvidend equivalents) will continue to vest on the normal vesting dates subject to the extent to which the applicable
performance criteria have been met and where relevant any time pro-rating reduction applied The vesting levels of these awards will be

confirmed in the Annual Reports for 2019 and 2020 respectively

Other disclosures
Service contracts

All Executive Directors have (and in the case of Simon Carter, will have) rolling service cantracts with the Company which have notice periods

of 12 months on etther side

Date of service

Narmal notice
period to be given

Normal notice
period to be given

Director contract by Company by Director
Chris Grigg 19/12/2008 12 months 12 maonths
Charles Maudsley 03/11/2009 12 months 12 months
Tirn Roberts 1441172006 12 months 12 manths
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In accordance with the Code, all continuing Directars stand for election or re-election by the Company's shareholders on an annual basis
The Directors’ service contracts are available for inspection during normal business hours at the Company s registered office and at the
Annual General Meeting The Company may terminate an Executive Director’s appointment with immediate effect without notice or payrent
in Lieu of notice under certam circumstances, prescribed within the Executive Director s service contract

Executive Directors’ external appointments
Executive Directors may take up ane non-executive directorship at another FTSE company, subject to British Land Board approval

Chris Grigg was appointed a non-executive director of BAE Systems plc on 1 July 2013 During the year to 31 March 2018, Chris received
a fee of £85,845 (including £5,84% of overseas travel allowances and benefits deermed te be taxable) from BAE Systems plc, which he
retained in full (2017 £84,000] Lucinda Bell was appointed a non-executive director of Rotork plc on 10 July 2014 During the period from
1 Apnit 2017 to 19 January 2018, when she stood down from the Board, Lucinda recewved a fee of £45,125 from Rotork plc, which she
retained in full {2017 £47,910}

Relative importance of spend on pay

The graph below shows the amount spent on remuneration of all employees [including Executive Oirectors) relative to the amount spent on
distributions to shareholders for the years to 31 March 2018 and 31 March 2017 The remuneration of employees increased by 2 4% relative to
the prior year, while distnibutions to shareholders increased by 2% Distributions te shareholders include ordinary and, where offered, scrip
dividends No scrip alternative was offered during the year ended 31 March 2018 The graph also shows the split between property income
distributions [PID) and non-property income distributions {non-PID)

Relative importance of spend on pay Remuneration of employees Distributions to shareholders
including Directors B PID cash dvidends paid
2017/18 T B Wages and salaries to shareholders
T g, 2o B Annual incentives 8 PID tax withholding
M Social security costs ¥ Non-PID cash dividends
2016117 T B Pension costs paid to shareholders
T oo B Equity-settled share-based
payments

Total shareholder return and Chief Executive’s remuneration

The graph below shows British Land’s total shareholder return for the nine years from 1 Apnil 2009 te 37 March 2018 against that of the FTSE
Real Estate Investment Trusts [REIT) Total Return Index for the same period The graph shows how the total return on a £100 investment in
the Cempany made on 1 Aprit 2009 would have changed over the nine-year pericd measured, compared with the total return on a £100
investment in the FTSE REIT Total Return Index The FTSE RE!T Total Return Index has been selected as a suitable comparator because it 1s
the index in which British Land’s shares are classified

Total Shareholder Return
Rebased to 100, 1 April 2009

400 - -

\
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v N?A
1
o /

1 31 3! Rl 31 3 31 J1 Il 3
Apnl March March March March March March March March March
2009 2ma 2011 2002 2013 M4 2015 2016 m7 018

B The Brish Land Company PLC B FTSE All Share REITs Sector
Source Korn Ferry Hay Group Limited

The base point required by the regulations governing Remuneration Report disclosures was close to the bottom of the property cycle
at 1 April 2009 Since British Land's share price had not fallen as much as the average share price of the FTSE REITs sector at that time,
a higher base point for subsequent growth was set
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The table below sets out the total remuneration of Chris Grigg, Chief Executive, over the same period as the Total Shareholder Return graph
The quantum of Annual Incentive awards granted each year and long term incentive vesting rates are given as a percentage of the maximum

opportunity available

Chief Executive 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015114 2016117 2017/18
Chief Executive’s single total figure

of remuneration {(£000) 2,082 2.329 5,353 4,810 5,398 6,051 3,623 1938 2,244,
Annual Incentive awards against

maximum opportunity (%] 67 83 75 75 90 96 67 33 57
Long term incentive awards

vesting rate against maximum

opportunity (%) n/a n/a 99 43 98 93 54 15 16

Chief Executive's remuneration compared to remuneration of British Land employees
The table below shows the percentage changes in different elements of the Chief Executive’s remuneration relative to the previous financial
year and the average percentage changes in those elements of remuneration for employees based at British Land s head office over the

same period Head office employees have been chosen as an appropriate comparator group for this purpose as employees based at British
Land s head office carry out work of the most simitar nature to the Chief Executive

Average change

Value of Chief Executive Value of Chief Executive Change in Chief Executive In remuneration of
remuneration 2018 remuneration 2017 remuneration British Land employees
Remuneration element £000 £000 % 3
Salary 840 840 0 618
Taxable benefits 22 23 -315 -7 41
Annual Incentive 724 418 70 81 2185
Non-Executive Directors’ remuneration (audited)
The table below shows the fees paid to cur Non-Executive Directors for the years ended 31 March 2018 and 2017
Fees Taxable benefits® Total
2018 2017 2018 217 2018 2017
Chairman and Non-Executive Directars £000 £000 €000 €000 £000 £000
John Gildersleeve [Chairman) 369 349 43 49 412 418
Lynn Gladden 69 6% 1 1 70 70
Alastair Hughes (from 1 January 2018] 17 - - - 17 -
Willam Jackson 100 87 - - 100 87
Nicholas Macpherson lfrom 19 December 2016] &9 17 - - &9 17
Preben Prebensen {from 1 September 2017) 40 - - - 40 -
Tim Score 93 89 - - 73 89
Laura Wade-Gery 1 &9 1 - 70 49
Rebecca Worthington [from 1 January 2018) 17 - - - 17 -
Aubrey Adams [to 31 December 2017) 52 69 - - 52 69
Simon Borrows (to 18 July 2017} 21 &9 - - 21 69
Lord Turnbull (to 18 July 2017) 25 89 - - 25 89

! Taxable benefits include the Chairman s chauffeur cost and expenses incurred by other Non-Executive Direclors The Company provides the tax gross up on these
benefits and the figures shown above are the grossed up values
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Shareholding (audited)

Althcugh there are no shareholding guidelines for Non-Executive Directors, they are each encouraged to hold shares in British Land

The Company facilitates this by offering Non-Executive Directors the ability to purchase shares guarterly using their post-tax fees During
the year ended 31 March 2018, Lynn Gladden, William Jackson, Tim Score and Laura Wade-Gery have each received shares in full or part
satisfaction of their Non-Executive Directors’ fees

The table below shows the Non-Executive Directors’ shareholdings as at year end or the date of retirement from the Board if earlier.

Holding at Helding at
Oirectar 31 March 2018 31 March 2017
John Gildersleeve 5,220 5,220
Lynn Gladden 13,950 7,837
Alastair Hughes 7,274 -
William Jackson 128,123 123,858
Nicholas Macpherson 4,600 " 2,300
Preben Prebensen - -
Tim Score 34,134 22,415
Laura Wade-Gery 8,059 4,831
Rebecca Worthington 3,000 -
Aubrey Adams [as at 31 December 2017) 30,000 30,000
Simon Borrows (as at 18 July 2017) 300,000 300,000
Lord Turnbutl [as at 18 July 2017) 21,258 21,258

In addition, on 11 Aprit 2018, the following Nen-Executive Directors were atlotted shares at a price of 645 2675 pence per share in full or part
satistaction of their fees

Non-Executive Director Sharesallotted
Lynn Gladden 1,550
Willlam Jackson 1.017
Tim Score 2,81
l.aura Wade-Gery 775
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DIRECTORS REMUNERATION REPORT: ANNUAL REPORT ON REMUNERATION CONTINUED

Letters of appointment (audited)

All Non-Executive Directors have a letter of appointment with the Company The effective dates of appointment are shown below

Director

Effective date of appointment

John Gildersleeve [Chairman)

1 September 2008 [Non-Executive Director], 1 January 2013 (Chairman)

Lynn Gladden

20 March 2015

Alastair Hughes

1 January 2018

Willlam Jacksen

11 Aprit 2071

Nicholas Macpherson

19 December 2014

Preben Prebensen

1 September 2017

Tim Score

20 March 2014

Laura Wade-Gery

13 May 2015

Rebecca Worthington

1 January 2018

All continuing Non-Executive Directors stand for election or re-election on an annual basis The letters of appointment are available for

inspection during normal business nours at the Company’s registered office and at the AGM

The appointment of the Chairman or any Non-Executive Uirectors may be terminated immediately without notice if they are not reappointed

by shareholders or f they are removed from the Board under the Company’s Articles of Assocation or if they resign and do not offer

themselves for re-election In addition, appointments may be terminated by either the indwvidual or the Company giving three months written
notice of termination ar, for the Chairman, six months written notice of termination

Neither the Chairman nor the Nen-Executive Oirectors are entitled to any compensation for loss of office for any reason other than accrued

and unpaid fees and expenses for the period up to the termination

Remuneration Committee membership

Membership of the Committee was changed during the year with the retirement of Lord Turnbull and appointment of Preben Prebensen

As at 31 March 2018, and throughout the year under review, the Committee was comprised wholly of independent Non-Executive Directors
The members of the Committee, tegether with attendance at Committee meetings, are set out in the table below

Date of appeintment

Director Pasition {to the Committee) Date of resignation Attendance
William Jackson Chairman 14 January 2013 /6
Lynn Gladden Member 20 March 2015 676
Preben Prebensen Member 1 September 2017 474
Laura Wade-Gery Member 13 May 2015 b6
Lord Turnbull Member 1 April 2006 18 July 2017 2/2

During the year ended 31 March 2018, Committee meetings were alsc part attended by John Gildersleeve (Cornpany Chairman), Chris Grigg

[Chief Executivel, Lucinda Bell [Chief Financial Officer], Charles Maudsley (Executive Director], Elaine Willams [Company Secretary and

General Counsel to 31 August 2017], Bruce James (interim Company Secretary from 1 September 2017 to 15 January 2018), Brona McKeown
(General Counseland Company Secretary fram 15 January 2018] and Ann Henshaw (HR Directorl other than for any itemn relating to thewr own
remuneration A reprasentative from Korn Ferry also routinely attends Committee meetings

The Commuttee Chairman holds regular meetings with the Chairman, Chief Executive and HR Director to discuss all aspects of remuneration

within British Land He also meets the Committee’'s independent remuneration advisers, Korn Ferry, prior to each substantive meeting to

drscuss matters of governance, remuneration policy and any concerns they may have
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How the Committee discharged its responsibilities during the year
The Committee’s role and responsibilities have remained unchanged during the year and are set out in fullinits terms of reference which
can be found on the Company s website www.britishland.com/committees The Committee s key areas of responsibility are

- Setting the Remuneration Policy for Executive Directors and the Company Chairman, reviewing the remuneration policy and strategy
for members of the Executive Committee and other members of executive management, whilst having regard to pay and employment
conditions across the Group

- Determining the total individual remuneration package of each Executive Director, Executive Committee member and other members
of management

- Monitoring performance against conditions attached to all annual and long term incentive awards to Executive Directors, Executive
Committee and other members of management and approving the vesting and payment outcomes of these arrangements

- Selecting, appointing and setting the terms of reference of any independent remuneration consultants

In addition to the Committee’s key areas of responsibility, during the year ended 31 March 2018, the Committee also considered the
following matters

- Reviewing and recommending to the Board the Remuneration Report to be presented for shareholder approval

- Appraisal of the Chairman’s annual fee, remuneraticn of the Executive Directors including achievement of corporate and individual
performance, and pay and Annual Incentive awards below Board level

- Considering the extent to which performance measures have been et and, where appropriate, approving the vesting of Annual Incentive
and long term incentive awards

- BGranting discretionary share awards, reviewing and setting performance measures for Annual Incentive awards

- Considering the impact of the share buyback on incentive plans

- Reviewing the Committee’s terms of reference

- Considering gender pay gap reporting requirements

— Departure terms for Lucinda Bell

- Recruitment terms for Simon Carter

- Receving updates and training on corporate governance and remuneration matters from the independent remuneration consultant

Remuneration consultants

Korn Ferry was appointed as independent remuneration adviser by the Committee on 21 March 2017 following a competitive tender process
Korn Ferry 1s a member of the Remuneration Consultants Group and adheres to that group’s Code of Conduct The Committee assesses the
advice given by its advisers to satisfy itself that it is objective and independent The advisers have private discussions with the Committee
Chairman at least once a year in accordance with the Code of Conduct of the Remuneration Consultants Group Fees, which are charged on
a time basis, were £129,244 lexcluding VAT] Korn Ferry also provided general remuneratton advice to the Company during the year

Voting at the Annual General Meeting
The table below shows the voting outcomes of the resolutions put to shareholders regarding the Directors Remuneration Report (at the AGM
in July 2017) and the Remunaration Policy (at the AGM 1n July 2014)

Votes Total votes Yotes
Resolution Votes for % for against % against cast withheld
Directors’ Remuneration Report (2017) 722,118,468 98 24 12,935,360 174 735,053,828 7,872,041
Directors’ Remuneration Policy (2014) 727144,638 9713 21,494,166 287 748,638,804 7,869,489

This Remuneration Report was approved by the Board on 16 May 2018

William Jackson
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
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Governanoe

DIRECTORS' REPORT AND ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURES

Directors’ Report and additional disclosures

The Directors present their Report on the affairs of the Group,
together with the audited financial statements and the report of the
auditor for the year ended 31 March 2018 The Directors’ Report s
alsc the Management Report for the year ended 31 March 2018 for
the purpose of Disclosure and Transparency Rule 4 1 8R Information
that is relevant to this Report, and which 1s incorporated by reference
and including information reguired in accordance with the UK
Companies Act 2006 and Listing Rule 9 8 4R, can be located in the
following sections

Information Section in Annual Report Page
Future developmenis of the Strategic Report Bto 25
business of the Company

Rizk factors and principal risks Strategic Report  48te 55
Financial instruments - Strategic Report  45t0 47
risk management objectives

and polictes

Dwidends Strategic Report 43
Sustainability governance Strategic Report 31
Greenhouse gas emissions Strategic Report 2
Viability and going concern Strategic Report 51 and 67
statements

Governance arrangements Governance  62to 91
Employment policies and Strategic Report 17 and 30
employee involvement

Capitalised interest Financial statements 119 10 120
Additional unaudited Other information 164 to 174

financial informatian unaudited

Annual General Meeting (AGM)

The 2018 AGM will be held at 11 00am on 17 July 2018 at

The Montcalr London Marble Arch, 2 Wallenberg Place, London
WIH 7TN

A separate circular, comprising a letter from the Chairman of the
Board, Notice of Meeting and explanatory notes on the resolutions
being proposed, has been crculated to shareholders and 15 available
on our website at www.britishland.com/agm

Articles of Association

The Company's Arbicles of Association [Arhicles) may only be
amended by special resclution at a general meeting of shareholders
Subject to applicable law and the Company s Articles, the Directors
May exercise all powers of the Company

The Articles are available on the Company's website at
www.britishland.com/governance

92 British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2018

Board of Directors

The names and biographical details of the Directors and details

of the Board Commuittees of which they are members are set aut
on pages 58 to 61 and incorporated into this Report by reference
Changes to the Directors during the year and up to the date of this
Report are set out on page 61 The Company's current Articles
require any new Director to stand for election at the next AGM
following their appeintment The current Articles also require each
Director to stand for re-election at the third AGM following their
electlon However, i accordance with the Code and the Company’s
current practice, all continuing Directors offer themselves for
election or re-election, as required, at the AGM

Details of the Directers’ interests in the shares of the Company and
any awards granted to the Executive Directors under any of the
Company's all-employee or executive share schemes are given in

the Directors Remuneration Reporton pages 746 ta 31 The Service
Agreements of the Executive Directors and the Letters of Appointment
of the Non-Executive Directars are also summarised in the Directors’
Remuneration Report and are available for inspection at the Company s
registered office

The appoitment and replacement of Directors 1s governed by the
Company's Articles, the Code, the Companies Act 2006 and any

| related legistation The Board may appeint any person to be a

Director so long as the total number of Cirectors does not exceed
the lmit prescribed in the Articles In adaihion to any power of
removal conferred by the Companies Act 2004, the Cormpany may
by ordinary resolution remove any Director before the expiry of their

i pericd of office

Directors’ interests in contracts and conflicts

of interest

No contract existed during the year in relation to the Company's
business in which any Director was materially interested

The Company’s procedures for managing conflicts of interest by the
Directors are set out on page 66 Provisions are also contained in the
Company s Articles which allow the Directors to suthorise potential
conflicts of interest

Directors’ liability insurance and indemnity

The Company maintains appropriate Directors’ & Officers’ Liability
Insurance coverin respect of any potential legal action brought
against its Directors

The Company has aiso indemnified each Director to the extent
permitted by law against any bability incurred 1n relation to acts or
omissions arising in the ordinary course of their duties The indemmity
arrangements are qualifying indemnity provisions under the
Companies Act 2006 and were in force throughout the year



Share capital

The Company has one class of shares, being ordinary shares of

25 pence each, all of which are fully paid The rights and obligaticns
attached to the Company's shares are set outin the Articles There
are no restrictions on the transfer of shares except in relation to
Real Estate Investment Trust restrictions

The Directors were granted authority at the 2017 AGM to allot
relevant securities up to a nominal amount of £85,817.956 as well as
an additienal authority to allot shares to the sarma value cn a nights
issue This authority will apply untilthe conclusion of the 2018 AGM
At this year s AGM, shareholders will be asked to renew the authornity
to allot relevant securities

Atthe 2017 AGM, the Directors were also given power by the
shareholders to make market purchases of crdinary shares
representing up to 10% of its 1ssued capital at that time, being
102,981,547 ordinary shares This authority will also expire at the
2018 AGM and it 1s proposed that the renewal of that authority will
be scught

In July 2017, the Beard decided that the strength of the investment
market and the continuing discount in the Company’s share price
meant that the best use of capital would be to undertake a share
buyback Asaresult, duringthe year ended 31 March 2018, the |
Company repurchasad 47,607,139 ordmary shares of 25 pence each |
for an aggregate consideration of £300 million This represents

4 85% of the 1ssued share capital [excluding shares held in Treasuryl
at that date All shares repurchased during the year were cancelled

The Company continued to hold 11,266,245 ordinary shares in
treasury during the whole of the year ended 31 March 2018 and
to the date of this Report

Further details relating to share capital, including movements during |
the year, are set out in ngte 20 to the financial statements

Rights under an employee share scheme

Employee Benehit Trusts (EBTs] operate in connection with some of
the Company's employee share plans The trustees of the EBTs may
exercise all rights attached to the Company’s ardinary shares in
accordance with their hduciary duties other than as specifically
restricted in the documents which govern the relevant employee
share plan

Waiver of dividends

Blest Limited acts as trustee {Trustee) of the Company's
discretionary Employee Share Trust {EST) The EST holds and, from
time to time, purchases British Land ordinary shares in the market,
for the benefit of emplayees, including to satisfy outstanding awards
under the Cempany’s various executive employee share plans

A dividend waiver is1n place from the Trustee in respect of all
dividends payable by the Company on shares which it helds in trust

Substantial interests

All notifications made to British Land under the Disclosure and
Transparency Rules [DTR 5] are published on a Regulatory
Infarmation Service and made available on the Investors section
of our website

As at 31 March 2018, the Company had been notified of the

- following interests in its ordinary shares in accordance with DTR 5
. The information provided 1s correct at the date of notification

Interestsin Percentage

ardinary holding

shares disclosed %

BlackRock, Inc 98,113,953 998
Norges Bank 51,439,045 499
GIC Private Limited 41121137 399
APG Asset Management NV 39,851,884 400

Since year end, BtackRock, Inc has submitted a number of
notifications to the Company, all of which have been disclosed to the
market The latest notification dated 23 April 2018 adwises that they
indirectly hald 98,224,793 ordinary shares, representing ¢ 99% of the
Company's 1ssued share capital

Change of control

The Group’s unsecured borrowing arrangements include provisions
that may enabtle each of the lenders or bondhoiders to request
repayment or have a put at parwithin a certain period following a
change of cantrol of the Company In the case of the Sterling bond
this arises if the change of control also results in a rating downgrade
to below investment grade in the case of the convertible bond there
may alsa be an adjustment to the conversion price applicable for a
limited peried following a change of control

There are no agreements between the Company and its Directors
or employees providing for compensation for loss of office or
employment that occurs specifically because of a takeover, merger
or amalgamation with the exception of provisions in the Company’s
share plans which could result in options and awards vesting or
becoming exercisable an a change of control

Payments policy

We recognise the importance of good supplier relationships to the
overall success of our business We manage dealings with suppliers
in a far, consistent and transparent manner

Events after the balance sheet date
Detalls of subsequent events, if any, can be found in note 24 on page 146

Political donations
The Company made no political donations during the year (2017 nil]
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Governanee

DIRECTORS' REPORT AND ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURES CONTINUED

Community investment

Our financial denatiens to good causes during the year totalled
£€1,687.000(2017 £1,351,000) Our Cammunity investment Cammtttee
approves all expenditure frorm our Cormnmunity Investment Fund and
reports to the Executive Committee on an annual basis

Inaddition, the Company aiso supports fundraising and payroll giving
for causes that matter to staff This supportincludes

- 50% uplift of staff payroll giving contributions (capped at £5,000
per person and £50,000 per annum for the whole organisation]

- Astaff matched funding pledge, matching money raised for
charity by staff up te £750 per persen per year

We also support fundraising by the teams managmg our retail and
office properties around the UK by

- Matching up to £1,000 for site fundraising intiatives per year,
per lecation

- Extending cur staff matching funding pledge to on site employees
of Broadgate Estates Limited, our wholly-owned subsidiary

Qur community investment s guided by our Local Charter, which
we updated in 2018 to increase focus on five priorihies around
our places

Connecting with local communtties

- Supporting educational initiatives for local people
Supporting local training and jobs

- Supporting local businesses

Contributing to local people s wellbeing and enjoyment

Through cur community investment and Local Charter activity, we
connect with commumities where we operate, make positive local
contributions, help people fulfil their potential, help businesses grow,
and promote wellbeing and enjoyment This all supports our strategy
to create Places People Prefer

Community
investment in
action

Young people taking
partin ona of the
educational initiatives
we support, Linking
to career paths in
our sector
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Ilealth and safety

We have retained formal recagnition of cur focus on health and
safety threugh a successful audit of our OHSAS 18007 accreditation
We continue to improve our approach to health and safety
management to ensure that we consistently achieve best practice
across all actiaties in the business lconstruction, managed portfolio
and head office] to deliver Places People Prefer to our employees

' and our customers

r
|
|
|
|
|
|

RIDDOR* for the year ended 31 March 2018

Total RIDDOR
incidents Injury rate
2018 2017 2018 2017

Construction 3 Z 0.13 G08  per 100,060
hours worked
Retail 30 22 0.01 001 per 100,000
footfall
Offices 4 8 12.88 239 per 100,000
workers
Head Office 0 0 0 0  per 100,000
full time
_equivalents

* Reporting of Injuries, Diseases and Dangarous Occurrences Regulations 2013

Auditor and disclosure of information
Each of the Directors at the date of approval of this Report
confirms that

- Sofar as the Diractor is aware, there 1s no relevant audit
infermation that has net been brought to the attention of the
auditor

- The Director has taken all steps that he/she should have taken
to make himself/herself aware of any relevant audit information
and to establish that the Company’s auditor was aware of
that information

PwC has indicated its willingness te remain in office and, on the
recommendation of the Audit Committee, a resolution te reappoint
PwC as the Company's auditor will be proposed at the 2018 AGM

The Directars’ Report was approved by the Board on 16 May 2018
and signed on its behalf by

Brona McKeown

General Counsel and Company Secretary
The British Land Company PLC
Company Number 621920



DIRECTORS RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report
and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law
and regulation

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements
for each financial year Under that law the Directors have prepared
the Group financial statements in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the Furopean
Umon and the parent Company financial statements in accordance
with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice
(United Kingdomn Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101
‘Reduced Disclosure Framework’, and applicable law]

Under company law the Directors must not approve the financial
statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group and Company and of the profit
or loss of the Group and Company for that peniod In preparing the
financial statements, the Directors are required to

- Select surtable accounting policies and then apply them
consistently

- State whether applicable IFRSs as adopted by the European Union
have been followed for the Group financial statements and Umited
Kingdom Accounting Standards. comprising FRS 101, have been
followed for the parent Company financial statements, subject to
any matenal departures disclosed and explained in the financial |
statements

- Make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable
and prudent

- Prepare the financial statements an the going concern basis
unless it is Inappropriate to presume that the Group and Company
will continue In business

The Directors are respansible for keeping adequate accounting |
records that are sufficient to show and explain the Group and !
Company s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at |
any tme the financial position of the Group and Company and enable
them to ensure that the financial statements and the Directors
Remuneration Report comply with the Companies Act 2006 and, as
regards the Group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regutation

The Directors are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the
Group and Company and hence for taking reasaonable steps for the
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of
the Company's website Legislation in the United Kingdorn governing
the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ
from legislation in other jurisdictions

The Directors consider that the Annual Report and accounts, taken
as awhole, 15 far, balanced and understandable and provides the
information necessary for shareholders to assess the Group and the
Company’s performance, business model and strategy

Each of the Directors, whose names and functions are listed 1n the
Board of Directors on pages 58 to 60 cenfirm that, to the best of
their knowledge

- The Company financial statements, which have been prepared in
accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice [United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS
101 'Reduced Disclosure Framework', and applicable law], give
atrue and fair view of the assets, Labilities, fimancial pasition
and profit of the Company

- The Greup financial staternents, which have been preparedn
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, give
atrue and fair view of the assets, Liabitities, financial position
and profit of the Group

- The Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report include a fair
review of the development and performance of the business and
the position of the Group and Company, together with a description
of the principal risks and uncertainties that it faces

By order of the Board

Chris Grigg
Chief Exacutive
16 May 2018
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Financial statements

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT TO THE MEMBERS

OF THE BRITISH LAND COMPANY PLC

Report orn the audit of the financial statements
Opinion
In our apinian

- The Briish Land Company PLC's Group financial statements and
Cormpany financial statements [the "financial statements’ give a
true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the Company’s
affairs as at 31 March 2018 and of the Group s profit and cash
flows for the year then ended,

- the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in
accardance with [FRSs as adapted by the European Union;

- the Company financial staternents have been properly prepared in
accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice [United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS
101 'Reduced Disclosure Framework”, and applicable law], and

- the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
the requirements of the Companies Act 2004 and, as regards the
Group financial staterments, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation

We have audited the financial statements, included within the Annual
Report and Accounts 2018 [the "Annual Report”), which comprise

- the Consolidated Balance Sheet as at 31 March 2018,

- the Consolidated Income Statement for the year ended
31 March 2018,

- the Consolidsted Statement of Comprehensive tncome for the
year ended 31 March 2018,

- the Consolidated Staterment of Cash Flows for the year ended
31 March 2018,

- the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for the year
ended 31 March 2018,

- the Company Balance Sheet as at 31 March 2018,

- the Company Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended
31 March 2018, and

- the notes to the financial statements, which include a description
of the significant accounting policies

Qur optnion I1s consistent with our reporting to the Audit Committee

Basis for opinian

We conducted aur audit in accordance with International Standards
on Auditing (UK) ["ISAs [UK]"] and applicable law Our responsibilities
under ISAs (UK} are further described in the Auditers respensibilities
for the audit of the financial statements section of our report

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 1s sufficient

and appropriate to provide a basis for our cpinton

Independence

We remained independent of the Group in accordance with the
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial
staternents in the UK, which includes the FRC's Ethical Standard, as
applicable to listed public interest entities, and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements

To the best of our knowledge and belief, we declare that non-audit
services prohibited by the FRC s Ethical Standard were not provided
to the Group or the Company

Other than those disclosed in note 5 to the financial statements, we
have provided no non-audit services to the Group or the Company in
the period from 1 Aprit 2017 to 31 March 2018

Our audit approach

Overview

- Dur 2018 audit was planned and executed having regard to the fact
that the Group’s operations were largely unchanged in nature
from the previous year Additionally, there have been no significant
changes to the valuation methodology and accounting standards
relevant to the Group In light of this, our appreach to the audit in
terms of scoping and key audit matters was largely unchanged
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- We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed
enough work to be able to give an opinien on the financial
statements as a whole The Group financial statements are
prepared on a consolidated basis, and the audit team carries cut
an audit over the consolidated Group balances in support of the
Group audit opinion The following joint ventures are also audited
to Group materiality Broadgate and Meadowhall

Materiality

- Overall Group materiality £131 8 miltion (2017 £135 ¢ million),
based an 1% of total assets

- Specific Group materiatity, applied to underlying proht, £19 6 million
(2017 £19 4m] which represents 5% of underlying pre-tax profit

- Overall company mateniality £287 0 million {2017 £283 0 rullion},
based on 1% of total assets

Key audit matters

- Valuation of investment and development properties
- Revenue recognition

- Accounting for transactions

- Taxation

The scope of our audit

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and
assessed the risks of material misstaterment in the financial
statements In particular, we looked at where the directors made
subjective jJudgements, for example in respect of significant
accounting estimates that involved making assumptions and
considering future events that are inherently uncertain

We gained an understanding of the legal and regulatery framework
applicable to the Group and the industry in which it operates, and
considered the risk of acts by the Group which were contrary to
applicable laws and regulations, including fraud We designed audit
procedures to respond to the risk, recognising that the risk of not
detecting a material misstatement due to fraud 1s higher than the
risk of not detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or intentional
misrepresentations, or through collusion We focused on laws and
regulations that could give rise tc a material misstatement in the
financial statements, including, but not Uirmited to, the Companies Act
2006 and the UK tax legislation as applicable to a REIT

Our tests included, but were not lirmited to, review of the financial
statemnment disclosures to underlying supparting documentation, and
enguiries of managerment and review of minutes of those charged
with governance

There are inherent Limitations in the audit procedures described
above and the further removed non-compliance with laws and
regulations 1s from the events and transactions reflected in the
financial statements, the less likely we would become aware of 1t

We did not identify any key audit matters relating to irreqularities,
including fraud As in all of our audits we also addressed the risk of
management override of internal controls, including testing journals
and evaluating whether there was evidence of bias by the directors
that represented a risk of matenal misstatement due to fraud

Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those rmatters that, in the auditors’
professional judgement, were of most significance 1n the audit of

© the financial staternents of the current pericd and include the most

significant assessed risks of material risstaternent (whether or not
due to fraud] identified by the auditars, including those which had
the greatest effect on the overall audit strategy, the allecation of
resources in the audit, and directing the efforts of the engagement
teamn These matters, and any comments we make on the results of
our procedures thereon, were addressed in the cantext of our audit
of the financial statements as a whole, and in ferming our epinton
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters
This i1s not a complete Ust of all risks 1dentified by our audit



Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the Key audit matter

Valuation of investment and development properties - Group
Refer to pages 69 to 73 [Report of the Audit Committee), pages 109 to
111 [Accounting policies] and pages 119 to 123 {Notes to the Accounts)

The Group's investment property portfoliois split between office in
Central Londen, retail across the UK, the assets at the Canada Water
site In East London and cther properties in Central Lendon The
valuation in the Consclidated Balance Sheet 1s £2.997 mitlion

The valuation of the Group's investment property portfolic s
inherently subjective due to, among other factors, the individual
nature of each property, 1ts location and the expected future rentals
for that particular property For developments, factors include
projected costs to complete and timing of practical completion

The valuations were carried cut by third party valuers, CB Richard
Ellis, Junes Lang LaSalle, Cushman and Wakefield and Knight Frank
(the "valuers”] The valuers were engaged by the Directors, and
performed their work in accardance with the Royal Institute of
Chartered Surveyors ["RICS ) Valuation - Professional Standards
The valuers used by the Group have considerable experience of the
markets in which the Group cperates

In deterrmining a property s valuation the valuers take into account
property-specific information such as the current tenancy
agreements and rental Inccme They apply assumptions for yields
and estimated market rent, which are influenced by prevaiting
market yields and comparable market transactions, to arrive at

the final valuation For developments, the residual appraisal method
is used, by estimating the fair value of the completed project using

a capitalisation method less estimated costs to completion and a
risk premum

The significance of the estimates and judgements involved, coupled
with the fact that only a small percentage difference in individuat
property valuations, when aggregated, could result in a material
misstaterment, warrants specific audit focus in this area

I here were also certain specific factors affecting the valuations in
the year Properties under development, completed developments
that are now valued as standing mvestment properties and standing
investment properties that have been reclassified to development
properties cantinue to be a key audit matter

We read the valuation reports for all the properties and confirmed
that the valuation approach for each was in accordance with RICS
standards and suttable for use in determiming the carrying value for
the purpose of the financial statements

We assessed the valuers’ qualifications and expertise and read their
terms of engagement with the Group to determine whether there
were any matters that might have affected their objectivity or may
have Imposed scope Uimitations upon their work We also considered
fee arrangements between the valuers and the Group and other
engagements which might exist between the Group and the valuers
We found no evidence to suggest that the objectivity of the valuers

In their performance of the valuations was compromised

We obtained details of every property held by the Group and set an
expected range foryeld and capital value movement, determined by
reference to published benchmarks and using our experience and
knowledge of the market We compared the investment yields used by
the valuers with the range of expected yields and the year on year
capital movement to our expected range We also considered the
reasonahleness of other assumptions that are not so readily comparable
with published benchmarks, such as Estimated Rental Value

We attended meetings with management and the valuers, at which
the valuations and the key assumptions therein were discussed

Dur work covered the valuation of every property in the Group, but
the discussions with management and the valuers focused on the
largest properties in the portfolio, proparties under development or
where the valuation basis has changed in the year, the Canada Water
site and those where the yrelds used and / or year on year capital
value movement suggested a possible outlier versus externally
published market data for the relevant sector

Where assumptions were outside the expected range or otherwise
appeared unusual, and/or valuations showed unexpected
movements, we undertook further investigations and, when
necessary, held further discussions with the valuers and obtained
evidence to support explanations received The valuation
commentaries provided by the valuers and supporting evidence,
enabled us to consider the property specific factors that may have
had an impact on value, including recent comparable transactions
where appropriate

We saw evidence that alternative assumptions had been considered
and evaluated by management and the valuers, befere determining
the final valuation We concluded that the assumptions used in the
valuations were supportable in ight of available and comparable
market evidence

We performed testing on the standing data i the Group's information
systems concerning the valuation process We carried out
procedures, on a sample basis, to satisfy ourselves of the accuracy
of the property information supplied to the valuers by management
For developments, capitalised expenditure was tested on a sample
basts to Invoices, and budgeted costs to complete compared with
supporting evidence [for example construction contracts)

it was evident from our interaction with management and the
valuers, and from our review of the valuation reports, that close
attention had been paid to each property’s individual characteristics
at a granular, tenant by tenant level, as well as considering the
overall gquality, gecgrapbic lecation and desirability of the asset as
awhole Noissues weredentified in our testing
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Financial statements

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT TO THE MEMBERS

OF THE BRITISH LAND COMPANY PLC CONTINUED

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Revenue recognition - Group
Refer to pages 69 to 73 (Report of the Audit Committee], page 109
te 111 [Accounting policies) and page 113 (Notes to the Accounts)

Revenue for the Group consists primarily of rental ncome Rental
income is based on tenancy agreements where there Is a standard
process In place for recording revenue, which 1s system generated
There are certain transactions within revenue that warrant additional

audit focus because of an increased inherent risk of error due to thewr

non-standard nature

These include spreading of tenant incentives and guaranteed rent
Increases - these balances require adjustments made to rental
income to ensure revenue 1s recorded on a straight ine basis over
the course of the lease

We carried out tests of controls over the cash and accounts recevable
processes and the related {T systemns to obtain evidence that postings
to these accounts were reliable For rental income balances, we then
used data-enabled audit technigues to identify all standard revenue
journals posted using these systems and processes

The remaining journals related to non-standard transactions
These included reclassifications within revenue, accrued income,
and bad debt provisions For each category of non-standard
revenue summarised above, we understeod the nature and
assessed the reasonableness of journals being generated, and
performed substantive testing over a sample of these items
There were no exceptions arising from our testing cver
non-standard revenue transactions

For balances not included within rental income, such as service
charge income, we performed substantive testing on a sample basis
No 1ssues were identifred In our testing

Accounting for transactions - Group and Cempany
Refer to pages 69 to 73 [Report of the Audit Committee), pages 109
to 111 [Accounting policies] and pages 112 to 147 (Notes)

There have been a number of transactions during the year
These warranted additional audit focus due to the magnitude of
the transactions and the potential for complex contractual terms
that introduce jJudgement into how they were accounted for Key
transactions subject to additional audit focus for the Group were

- Investrment property acquisitions of £250 mitlion, including the
acquisition of The Woolwich Estate [ Woolwich™] for £103 million

- Investment property dispasals of £185 million

- Share buyback of £300 million

- lssue of 2 375% £300m unsecured bond

- Partial close out of interest rate derivative 103 { IRD 103 for
£14 1 million cash settlernent

- Anarount of £15m [the Group's sharel received from RBS in
relation to the surrender of their lease at 135 Bishopsgate,
within the Broadgate joint venture

Key transactions subject to additionat audit focus for the
Company were

~ Share buyback of £300 million

For each transachtion, we understood the nature of the transaction
and assessed the accounting treatment in relation to the Group's
accounting policies and relevant IFRSs

For acquisitions and disposals, we cbtained and read the key
supporting documentation such as Sale and Purchase Agreements
and completion statements Consideration receved or paid was
agreed to bank staterments

For the sites acquired at Woolwich which have been accounted for
as an asset acquisition, we assessed the accounting treatmentin
relation to [FRS 3 Business combinations and 1AS 40, acquisition of
investment property We read the sale and purchase agreements
and agreed that the purchase met the criteria to be recognised as
an asset acquisition We audited the acquisition accounting and the
subsequent re-measurement to farr value at the balance sheet date
We agreed the proceeds paid to bank statements and checked the
transfer of legal title of the assets passed to British Land No issues
were found as a result of these procedures

For the share buyback, we read the broker contracts and audited

the accounting for the buyback in accordance with |IAS 32 For shares
repurchased by the Group, we tested the subsequent cancellation

of the shares acquired and checked the associated costs of the
transaction were correctly recognised within reserves [retained
earnings) From our audit procedures performed, no exceptions
were noted in the accounting for the share buyback programme

A2 375% Sterling Unsecured Bond, maturing September 2029, was
1issued in September 2017 The new bond s held at amortsed cost,
with a book value of £297 6 million We examined the bondissue
documents and the accounting treatment appliad in Line with 1AS 39
and are satisfied that the treatment applied 1s appropriate

The group partially closed a long standing cash flow hedge derivative
during the year, breaking the hedge relationship This resulted in the
recycling of £115 3m from the hedging and translation reserve and
£i4 1m of closeout costs being recognised in the income statement
We tested the accounting treatment applied in line with [AS 3% and
have no 1ssues to report

For the £15m received from RBS, we read the surrender agreements
that detail the payment We agreed receipt of the amount to bank
staternents We concur with the treatment adepted
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Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Taxation
Refer to pages 69 to 73 (Report of the Audit Commutteel, page 111
[Accounting policies] and pages 115 and 130 (Notes to the Accounts]

The Group s status as 5 REIT underpins its business model and
shareholder returns For this reason, it warrants special audit focus
The obligations of the REIT regime include requirements to comply
with balance of business, dividend and income cover tests The
Broadgate joint venture is also structured as a REIT and as such,
REIT compliance 1s also of relevance for this jaintventure in addition
to the overall Group

Tax provisions are in place to account for the rnisk cf challenge of
certain of the Group's tax provisions Given the subjective nature of
these provisions, additional audit focus was placed on tax provisions

We re-performed the Group's annual REIT compliance tests, as well

as those tests for the Broadgate REIT Based on our work performed,
we agreed with management's assessment that all REIT compliance

tests had been met to ensure that the Group and Broadgate maintain
their REIT status

We evaluated the tax provisions and movements made within the
year We obtained sufficient supporung evidence for previsions
released during the year We discussed provisions raised and
increased during the year with management and obtained evidence
to support the levels of provisions recorded We read relevant
correspondence between the Group and Her Majesty s Revenue and
Customs to obtain evidence over the completeness of provisions
Based on our work performed, we are satisfied that the assumptions
and judgerments used by the Group are reasonable

How we tailored the audit scope

We tarlored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed enough work to be able ta give an opinion on the financial statements as a
whole, taking into account the structure of the Group and the Company, the accounting processes and controls, and the industry in which

they operate

In establishing the overall approach to our audit, we assessed the risk of material misstatement, taking into account the nature, Likelihoed
and potential magnitude of any misstatement Following this assessment, we applied professional jJudgment to determine the extent of

testing required aver each balance in the financial staterments

The Group and Company financial staterments are produced using a single consolidation system that has a direct interface with the generat
ledger The Group audit tearn performed all audit procedures over the consolidation for the purposes of the Group audit, which included
testing over the general ledger system and its interface with the consolidation system The Group alse has investments in two |oint ventures
(Broadgate and Meadowhall], which were subject to audits of their complete financial infermation by the Group audit team

This work gave us sufficient appropriate audit evidence for our opinion on the Group financial staternents as a whole

Materiality

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality We set certain quantitative thresholds for materiality These, together
with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures on the
individual financial statement line items and disclosures and in evaluating the effect of misstatements, both individually and in aggregate on

the financial statements as a whole

Based on our prefessional jJudgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole as follows

Group financial statements

Company financial statements

Overall materiality £131 8 rmullion {2017 £135 0 mullion)

£2870 mallion (2017 £283 0 rmillion)

How we determined it 1% of total assets

1% of total assets

Rationale for benchmark
applied

A key determinant of the Group's value 1s direct
property investments Due ta this, the key area
of focus in the audit Is the valuation of
investment properties On this basis, and
consistent with the prior year, we set an overall
Group materiality level based on total assets

The parent company’'s man actvity 1s the holding
of investrments in subsidiaries Given this, and
consistent with the prior year, we set an overall
parent company mateniality level based on total
assets For purposes of the Group audit, we capped
the overall materiality for the company to be 90% of
the Group averall materiality

In addition, for the Broup we set a specific mateniality level of £19 6m (2017 £19 4m) for items within underlying pre-tax profit This equates to
5% of profit betare tax adjusted for capitat and otheritems Inarriving at this jJudgement we had regard to the fact that the underlying pre-tax
profitis a secondary financial indicator of the Group [Refer to Note 2 of the financial statements page 112 where the terms defined in full]

For the Group and Cornpany, we agreed with the Audit Cormmuttee that we would report to them rrusstaternents identified during our audit
of underlying pre-tax itemns abave £1m (2017 £1m) as well as misstatements below that amount that, in our view, warranted reporting for
quabtative reasons We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them, any other rmisstatements dentified during our audit
above £6 5m [2017 £6 7m) as well as rmisstatements below that amount that, in our view, warranted reporting for qualitative reasons
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Financial st

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS REPORT TO THE MEMBERS

OF THE BRITISH LAND COMPANY PLC CONTINUED

Going concern
in accordance with 1ISAs {UK) we report as follows

Reporting obligation

Qutcome

We are required to report if we have anything material to add or
draw attention to in respect of the directors’ statement in the
financial statements about whether the directors considered 1t
appropriate to adept the going concern basis of accounting in
preparing the financial statements and the directors identification
of any material uncertainties to the Group s and the Company's
abitity to continue as a going concern over a period of at least
twelve months from the date of approval of the financial
staternents

We have nothing material to add cor tc draw attention to As not
all future events or canditions can be predicted, this statement
15 not a guarantee as to the Group’'s and Company's ability to
continue as a going concern

We are required to report if the directors’ statement relating to
Going Concern in accordance with Listing Rule 98 éR(3) 15
materially incansistent with our knowledge obtained in the audit

We have nothing to report

Reporting on other information

The other information camprises all of the information in the Annual
Report other than the financial staternents and our auditors report
therson The directors are responsible for the cther information
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other
information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit gpinien or,
except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report, any
form of assurance thereon

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our
responsibility 1s to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other informatron 1 materally inconsistent
with the hinancial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit,
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated If wedentify an
apparent material Inconsistency or material misstatement, we are
required to perform procedures to conclude whether there s a
material rmisstatement of the financial statements or a material
misstatement of the other infoermation If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstaternent of this
other information, we are required to report that fact We have
nothing to repoert based on these responsibilities

With respect to the Strategic Report, Directors’ Report and
Additienal Disclosures and Corporate Governance Statement,
we also considered whether the disclosures required by the UK
Companies Act 2006 have been included

Based on the responsibilities described above and our work
undertaken in the course of the audit, the Companies Act 2006
[CADS), 1ISAs (UK] and the Listing Rules of the Financizl Conduct
Autharity [FCA] require us also to repart certain opinions and
matters as described below (required by 1SAs (UK] unless
otherwise stated)

Strategic Report and Directors’ Report and Additional Disclosures
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the
audit, the information grwen in the Strategic Repart and Directors’
Report and Additional Disclosures for the year ended 31 March 2018
1s consistent with the financial statements and has been prepared in
accordance with applicable legal requirements [CAQ4]

In ight of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and
Company and their environment obtained in the course of the audit,
we did not identify any material risstaternents in the Strategic
Report and Directors’ Report and Additional Disclosures [CAD6)
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Corporate Governance Statement

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the
audit, the information given in the Corporate Governance Statement
[on page 67 in the Governance Review section] about internal
controls and risk management systerns in relation to financial
reporting processes and about share capital structures in
compliance with rules 72 5and 7 2 6 of the Disclosure Guidance and
Transparency Rules sourcebook of the FCA ["DTR ] 1s consistent with
the financial statements and has been prepared in accardance with
applicable legal requiremnents (CAQé)

In tight of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and Company
and their environment obtained in the course of the audit, we did not
identify any materiat misstatements in this information (CA04)

In our opintan, based an the work undertaken in the course of the
audit, the information given n the Corporate Governance Staternent
lan pages 63 and 64 1n the Governance Review section] with respect
to the company s corporate governance code and practices and
about its admimstrative, management and supervisory bodies and
their committees complieswith rules 72 2,72 3and 72 7 of the
DTR (CAD4)

We have nothing to report ansing frem our responsibility to report i
a corporate governance statement has not been prepared by the
company (CAQS)

The directors’ assessment of the prospects of the Group and of
the principal risks that would threaten the solvency or liquidity
of the Group

We have nothing material to add or draw attention to regarding

- Thedirectors’ confirmation on page 50 of the Annuzl Report that
they have carried out a robust assessment of the principal risks
facing the Group, including those that would threaten its business
model, future performance, solvency or Liquidity

+ — The disclosures in the Annual Report that describe those risks

and explain how they are being managed or mitigated

- Thedireciors explanaticn on page 51 of the Annual Report as to
how they have assessed the prospects of the Group, over what
period they have dane so and why they consider that period to be
appropriate, and their statement as to whether they have a
reasonable expectation that the Group will be able to continue in
operation and meet its labilities as they fall due over the period
of their assessment, including any related disclosures drawing
attention to any necessary qualifications or assumptions



We have nothing to report having performed a review of the
directors statement that they have carried out a robust assessment
of the principal risks facing the Greup and statement in relation to
the longer-term viability of the Group Our review was substantally
less in scope than an audit and only consisted of making inguines
and considering the directors’ process supporting their statements,
checking that the statements are in alignment with the relevant
provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code [the "Code™}, and
considering whether the statements are consistent with the
knowledge and understanding of the Group and Company and their
environment obtained in the course of the audit [Listing Rules]

Other Code Provisions
We have nothing to report in respect of our responsibility to
report when

- The statement given by the directors, on page 67, that they
consider the Annual Report taken as a whole to be fair, balanced
and understandable, and provides the information necessary for
the members to assess the Group's and Company's position and
performance, business model and strategy 1s matenially
inconsistent with our knowledge of the Group and Company
obtained in the course of performing our audit

- The section of the Annual Report an page 49 describing the work
of the Audit Committee does not appropriately address matters
communicated by us to the Audit Committee

- The directors statement relating to the company s compliance
with the Code does not properly disclose a departure from a
relevant provision of the Code specified, under the Listing Rules,
for review by the auditors

Directors’ Remuneration

In our opinion, the part of the Directors” Remuneration Report to be
audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the
Companies Act 2006 [CAD4}

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit
Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Directors Responsibilities Statement
set out on page 95, the directors are responsible for the preparation
of the financial statements in accordance with the applicable
framework and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view
The directors are also respensible for such internat control as they
determine 1s necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether

due to fraud or error

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group's and the Company’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going cancern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or the Company or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are 1o obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the financral statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 1ssue an
auditors’ report that incluces cur opinion Reascnable assurance

.15 a high level of assurance, but s not a guarantee that an audit

conducted in accordance with ISAs [UK) will always detect a material
misstaternent when it exists Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements

A further description of cur responsibilities for the audit of
the financial statements Is located on the FRC's website at
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities This description
forms part of our auditors report

Use of this report

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only
for the company’s members as a body in accordance with Chapter 3
of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose

We do nat, 1n giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility
for any other purpose or to any other persen to whom this report

15 shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly
agreed by our prior consent inwriting

Other required reporting
Companies Act 2006 exception reporting

. Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if,

Inour opinion

- we have not received all the infermation and explanations we
require for our audit, or

- adequate accounting records have not been kept by the company,
or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from
hranches not visited by us, or

- certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by taw
are not made, or

- the company financial statements and the part of the Directors’
Remuneration Report to be audited are not in agreement with the
accounting records and returns

We have no exceptions to report anising from this responsibility

Appointment

Following the recommendation of the audit committee, we were
apponted by the members on 18 July 2014 to aud it the financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2015 and subsequent
financial pertods The period of total uninterrupted engagement 1s
4years, covering the years ended 31 March 2015 to 31 March 2018

John Waters (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
London

' 16 May 2018
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Financial statements

CONSQOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018

2018 207
Capital Capitat
Underlying’  and other Total Undertying’  and other Totai
Note £m £m £m tm £m tm
Revenue 3 561 78 639 556 33 589
Costs 3 [136) (64) (200) 122) (26) [148)
3 425 14 439 434 7 441
Joint ventures and funds [see also below] 1 115 346 151 132 (80 52
Adminstrative expenses 82) - (82) (84) - (84)
Valuation movement 4 - 202 202 - (144) (144)
Profit [loss) on disposal of investment properties
and Investments - 18 18 - (5] (5)
Net financing costs
- financing income 6 1 - 1 2 42 4l
- financing charges 6 {65) (183) (228) (80} (29) (109)
(64) 163 (227) [78) 13 165)
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 394 107 501 404 (209] 195
Taxation 7 - ) ] 1 1
Profit for the year after taxation 507 196
Attributable to non-controlling interests 14 - 14 14 ( 3
Attributable to shareholders of the Company 380 13 493 3%0 (197 193
Earnings per share
- basic ? 48.7p 18 8p
- diluted Z 48.5p 14 7p
Allresults derive from continuing operations
2018 2017
Capital Capital
Underlying'  and other Total Underlying' and other Total
Note £m £m £m Em £m Em
Results of joint ventures and funds accounted
for using the equity method
Underlying Profit 115 - 115 132 - 132
Valuation movement 4 - 52 52 - (23] (93}
Capital financing costs - (13 13) - [6} 1)
(Loss] profit on dispesal of investment properties,
trading properties and investments - (3) (3) - 18 8
Taxathon - - - - ] 1
11 115 36 151 132 (80 52

' See defimition in note 2
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018

2018 2017
£m £m
Profit for the year after taxation 507 194
Other comprehensive income {loss):
Items that will not he reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Net actuarial gain {loss) an pension schemes 9 [12)
Valuation movements on owner-occupled properties (3 -
[ (12)
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Gains (losses] on cash flow hedges
- Group 12 (21)
- Joint ventures and funds 8 1
20 (20}
Transferred to the income statement [cash flow hedges)
- Interest rate dervatives 120 16
Deferred tax on items of other comprehensive income {5) -
Other comprehensive income [loss) for the year 141 [18)
Total comprehensive income for the year 648 180
Attributable to non-controlling interests 16 3
Attributable to shareholders of the Company 632 177
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Finanwial starcments

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

AS AT 31 MARCH 2018

2018 T
Nt £m £r
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Investment and development properties 10 9,507 9,073
Owner-occupied properties 10 20 94
9,597 9167
Other non-current assets
Investments 10 joint ventures and funds | 2,822 2746
Other investments 12 174 154
Deferred tax assets 16 4 4
Interest rate and currency derivative assets 17 115 237
12,712 12,308
Current assets
Jont venture held for sale 1 - 540
Trading properties 0 328 334
Debtors 13 35 m
Cash and short term deposits 17 105 114
468 1,159
Total assets 13,180 13,4467
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Short term borrowings and overdrafts 17 [27) [464]
Creditors 14 324) [458]
Corporation tax (22) 301
1373) 19521
Non-current liabilities
Debentures and loans 17 (3,101] 2.817)
Other non-current liabilities 15 {62) [78}
Interest rate and currency dervative tiabilibies i7 (138) 1144}
(3,301) 13,039}
Total liabilities {3,674 13,9911
Net assets 9,504 2476
EQUITY
Share capital 248 260
Share premium 1,300 1.298
Merger reserve 213 213
Dther reserves 33 197]
Retained earnmings 7,458 7.547
Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company 9,252 3,221
Non-controlhing interests 254 255
Total equity 9,506 9476
EPRA NAY per share' Z ¥67p 215p

As dehned innote 2

G- T

John Gildersleeve Chris Grigg

Chairman Chief Executive Officer

The financial statements on pages 104 to 147 were approved by the Board of Directors and signed on its behalt on 16 May 2018

Company number 621920
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018

2ms 2017
Note £m £m
Rental incorne receved from tenants 446 464
Fees and other iIncome received 78 &4
Operating expenses paid to suppliers and employees (173) (149)
Cash generated from operations 351 379
Interest pard (731 (2]
Interest receved 4 8
Corporation taxation [payments) repayments 17 9
Distributions and other recevables from joint ventures and funds " 78 59
Net cash inflow from operating activities 353 363
Cash flows from investing activities
Development and other capital expenditure (190) (225)
Purchase of investment properties (165) (87]
Sale of investment and trading properties 212 761
Payments recerved in respect of future trading property sales 8 8
Disposat of joint venture held-for-sale " 568 -
Disposal of Tesco joint venture 68 -
Purchase of investrments 9] i19)
Indirect taxes paid in respect of investing activities {7 (1
Investmeant in and loans to joint yventures and funds 1179) (590)
Capital distributions and loan repayments from joint ventures and funds 34 83
Net cashinflow from investing activities 346 470
Cash flows from financing activities
Issue of ordinary shares 2 3
Unit issues attributable to non-controlling interests 2 -
Purchase of own shares (301 {8
Dividends paid 19 (304} [295]
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests (15} (14]
Acquisition of units in Hercules Unit Trust 4) (1]
Payments on closeout of interest rate derivative liabilities (18} (13])
Recempts on closeout of Interest rate derivative assets 27 -
Decrease in bank and other borrowings 16286) [526]
Drawdowns on bank and other borrowings 529 31
Net cash outflow from financing activities (708) (833]
Net decrease in cash and cash equivatents (9
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April 114 114
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 105 114
Cash and cash equivalents consists of:
Cash and short term deposits 17 105 114
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Financial statements

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018

Hedging
and Re- Naon-
Share Share transiaton  valuation Merger  Retained conirolling Total
capital  premium reserve' reserve reserve  earmings Total  interests equity
Em Em £m Em £m £m £m £m £m

Balance at 1 April 2017 250 1,298 112} 15 213 7,547 9,221 255 9,476
Profit for the year after taxation - - - - - 493 493 14 507
Revaluation of owner-occupied property - - - {3) - - (3] - (3)
Gains on cash flow hadges - Group - - 10 - - - 10 2 12
Gains on cash flow hedges - joint ventures
and funds - - - 8 - - 8 - 8
Transferred to the iIncome statement
[cash flow hedges]

- Interest rate derivatives - - 120 - - - 120 - 120
Net actuarial gain on pension schemes - - - - - 9 9 - 9
Reserves transfer - - [2) 2 - - - - -
Deferred tax on items of other comprehensive income - - {5] - - - 151 - (5}
Other comprehensive income - - 123 7 - 9 139 2 141
Total comprehensive income for the year - - 123 7 - 502 632 16 648
Share issues - 2 - - - - 2 - 2
Unitissues attributable to nen-centrelling interests - - - - - - - 2 2
Purchase of own shares (12} - - - - (289] (301) - (301)
Purchase of units from non-controling interests - - - - - - - (4 (&
Dividends payable in year (29 64p per share) - - - - - (302}  (302] - (302)
Dividends payable by subsidiaries - - - - - - - (15} {15)
Balance at 31 March 2018 248 1,300 11 22 213 7,458 9,252 254 9,506
Balance at 1 April 2014 260 1,295 107) 14 213 7667 9342 277 9.619
Profit for the year after taxation - - - - - 193 193 3 196
Losses on cash flow hedges - - 21 - - - (21) - 21
Exchange and hedging movements n joint ventures
and funds - - - ] - - 1 - 1
Reclassification of gains on cash flow hedges

- Interest rate derivatives - - 16 - - - 16 - 1%
Net actuarial loss on pension schemes - - - - - 12 (12) - (12)
Other cornprehensive [loss) income - - (5) 1 - (12) (16) - (14)
Total comprehensive income for the year — - (5 1 - 181 177 3 180
Share 1ssues - 3 - - - - 3 - 3
Fair value of share and share option awards - - - - - 2 Z - ?
Purchase of own shares - - - - - [8) (8] - (8)
Purchase of units from non-controlling interests - - - - - - - (1 mj
Gain on purchase of units from non-controlling
mterests - - - - - 1 ] - 1
Dividends payable in year (28 78p par share) - - - - - [2948) (296] - [29¢)
Dwidends payable by subsidiaries - - - - - - - 114) (14)
Balance at 31 March 2017 260 1,298 M2 19 213 7547 9221 255 9476

' The balance at the beginning of the current year includes £15m in relation to translation and (£127)min relation to hedging [2016/17 £9mand (E116m))
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

1 Basis of preparation, significant accounting
policies and accounting judgements

The financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2018

have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the
revaluation of properties, investments held for trading and
derwatives The financial statements have also been prepared

in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
{IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union and mterpretations
1ssued by the IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRS IC), and
therefore comply with article 4 of the EU 1AS regulation, and in
accordance with the Companies Act 2006 In the current financial
year the Group has adopted a number of minor amendments to
standards effective in the year 1ssued by the IASB and endorsed
by the EU, none of which have had a material impact on the Group
The accounting policies used are otherwise consistent with those
contamned in the Group’s previous Annual Report and Accounts
for the year ended 31 March 2017

Anumber of new standards and amendments to standards and
interpretations have been1ssued but are not yet effective for the
current accounting period None of these are expected to have a
rnaterial Impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group

Certain standards which cou(d be expectad to have animpact on the
consolidated financial statements are discussed in further detail
below The Group conducted an impact assessment of the new
standards which are effective next year based on the Group's current
activities and have quantified the impact The results of the impact
assessment confirm that the new standards will lead to imited
changes to presentation and disclosure and will have an immaterial
impact on the consclidated financial statements

IFRS 9 - Financial instruments {effective year ending March 2019}

- The new standard addresses the classification and measurement
of financial assets

- The alignment of the classification and measurement model
under IFRS 9 will resultin changes in the classification of alt
financial assets excluding dervatives These changes will not
have a quantitative impact on the financial statements

- IFRS % introduces an expected credit loss model, reguiring an
expected credit less to be recognised on all financial assets held
atamertised cost The guantitative impact based on batances as
at 31 March 2018 will result in the recognition of an expected
credit loss of £5m, with a carresponding reduction in financial
assets held at amortised cost of £5m The Group has previously
provided for a materially similar balance against trade and other
recevables and therefore the resulting reclassification of
existing provisions will not have a material impact on the net
assets of the Group

- IFRS ?:ntroduces changes to the qualifying cniteria for hedge
accounting and expands the financial and non-financral
instrurmnents which may be designated as hedged items and
hedging instruments in order to align hedge accounting with
business strategy The changes to hedge accounting under IFRS 9
will result in qualitative enhancements to the interest rate and
foreign currency nsk management disclosures The changes
intreduced by IFRS 9 will not have a quantitative iImpact on the
consolidated financial staterments of the Group

IFRS 15 - Revenue from contracts with customers (effective year

ending 31 March 2019]

- The new standard combines a nurnber of previous standards,
setting out a five step model for the recognitton of revenue and
establishing principles for reporting useful information to users
of financial statements about the nature, timing and uncertainty
of revenue and cash flows arising from an entity’s contracts with
customers The new standard does not apply to rental incomne,
which 1s in the scope of IAS 17, but does apply to service charge
Inceme, management and performance fees and trading property

disposals The changes introduced by IFRS 15 will resultin
mimimal gualitative changes to the revenue disclosure and will
not have a guantitative impact on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group

IFRS 16 - Leases [effective year ending 31 March 2020)

- Forlessees, IFRS 14 will result in almost all operating leases
being brought cn balance shaet, as the distinction between
operating and finance leases will be removed The accounting
for lessors will however not significantly change As a result,
on adoption of the new standard, these changes will have
an immaterial Impact on the consolidated financial statements
of the Group

Going concern
The financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis
as explained in the corporate governance section on page 51

Subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates [including funds)

The consolidated accounts include the accounts of The British Land
Company PLC and all subsidiaries (entities controlled by British
Land] Control s assumed where British Land is exposed, or has
the rights, to variable returns from its involvernant with investees
and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over
those investees

The results of subsidiaries, joint ventures or associates acquired or

. disposed of during the year are included from the effective date of

acquisition or up to the effective date of dispasal Accounting policies
of subsidiaries, joint ventures or associates which differ from Group
accounting policies are adjusted on cansolidation

Business combinations are accounted for under the acquisition
method Any excess of the purchase price of business combinations
over the fair value of the assets, Liabilities and contingent Liabilities
acquired and resulting deferred tax thereon is recognised as
goodwill Any discount received is credited to the incorme statement
In the period of acquisition

Allintra-Group transactions, balances, iIncome and expenses
are eliminated on consolidation Joint ventures and associates,
including funds, are accounted for under the equity method,

. whereby the consclidated balance sheet incorporates the Group s

share finvestor's share] of the net assets of its joint ventures and
associates The consolidated income statement incorporates the
Group s share of joint venture and associate profits after tax Ther
profits include revaluation movements on tnvestment properties

Distrbutions and other recewvables from jomnt ventures and
associates (including funds] are classed as cash flows from
operating activities, except where they relate to a cash flow arising
from a capital transaction, such as a property or investment

| disposal Inthis case they are classed as cash flows from

investing activities

Properties

Properties are externally valued on the basis of fair value at the
balance sheet date Investment and owner-occupied properties are
recorded atvaluation whereas trading properties are stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable value

Any surplus or deficit arising on revaluing investment properties 1s
recognised in the capital and other column of the iIncome statement

Any surplus arising on revaluing owner-accupied properties above
costis recognised in other comprehensive income, and any deficit
arising in revaluation below cost for owner-occupied and trading
properties s recognised n the capital and other celumn of the

Income statement
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Finanvial statements

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS CONTINUED

The cost of preperties in the course of development iIncludes
attributabie interest and other associated outgomngs including
attriputable development personnel costs Interest s calculated on
the development expenditure by reference to specific borrowings,
where relevant, and otherwise on the weighted average interest rate
of British Land Campany PLC borrowings Interest s not capitalised
where no development activity 1s taking place A property ceases to
be treated as a developrment property on practical completion

investment praperty disposals are recogmised on completion
Profits and losses arising are recognised through the capital and
other column of the Income staterment The profit on disposal s
determined as the difference between the net sales proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset at the commencement of the
accounting period plus capital expenditure in the period

Trading properties are initially recogrised at cost less impairment,
and trading property disposals are recogrmised in Line with the
revenue policies outiined below

Where investment properties are appropriated to trading properties,
they are transferred at market value If properties held for trading are
appropriated to investment properties, they are transferred at book
value In determining whether leases and related properties represent
operating or finance leases, cansideration is given to whether the
tenant or landlord bears the risks and rewards of ownership

Financial assets and liabilities

Trade debtors and creditors are initrally recognised at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost and discounted
as appropriate

Other investments include loans and receivables held at amortised
cost and investments held for trading classified as fair value through
profit or loss Amartised cost of loans and recewables |s measured
using the effective interest meathod, less any impairment Interestis
recogrised by applying the effective interest rate Investments held
for trading are initially recorded at fair value and are subsequently
externally valued on the same basis at the balance sheet date Any
surplus or deficit arising on revaluing investments held for trading 1s
recognised in the capital and other column of the iIncome statement

Where an investment property s held under a head lease, the head
lease 15 1ntally recognised as an asset, being the sum of the premuum
paid on acquisition plus the present value of mimimum ground rent
payments The corresponding rent Liability to the head leaseholder
15 included in the balance sheet as a finance lease obligation

Debt instruments are stated at their net proceeds on ssue Finance
charges including prermia payable on settlement or redemption and
direct 1ssue costs are spread over the period to redemption, using
the effective interest methad Excepticnal finance charges incurred
due to early redemption lincluding premiums) are recognised in the
income staterment when they occur

Convertible bonds are designated as fair value through profit or loss
and so are initially recognised at fair value with all subsequent gains
and losses, mcluding the write-off of 1ssue costs, recognised in the
capital and other column of the Income statement as a component of
net financing costs The interest charge in respect of the coupon rate
an the bonds has been recogrused within the underlying component
of net financing costs on an accruals basis
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As defined by [AS 39, cash flow and fair vaiue hedges are initially
recogrised at fair value at the date the derivative contracts are
entered into, and subsequently remeasured at fair value Changes

in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as
effective cash flow hedges are recognised directly through other
comprehensive Income as a movement in the hedging and translation
reserve Changes in the fair value of derwvatives that are designated
and qualify as effective fair value hedges are recorded in the capital
and other column of the income statement, along with any changes

in the fair value of the hedged item that s attributable to the hedged

" rnisk Any ineffective partion of all derivatives 1s recognised in the
capital and other column of the iIncome statement Changes in

the fair value of derivatives that are not in a designated hedging
relationship under IAS 39 are recorded directly in the capital and
other column of the income statement These derivatives are carried
at fair value on the balance sheet

Cash equivalents are imited to Instruments with a maturity of less
than three months

Held for sale assets

Assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount 1s
expected to be recovered or settled principally through sale rather
than through continuing use The asset must be available for
immediate sale and the sale must be highly probabtle within one year
of the reporting date Held for sale assets are measured at the lower
of carrying value and fair value less costs to sell Impairment losses
onnitial ctassification as held for sale and gains or losses on
subsequent re-measurements are included in the capital and other
column of the income statement

Revenue

Revenue comprises rental Income and surrender prermia, service
charge income, management and performance fees and proceeds
frorn the sale of trading properties

Rental income, including fixed rental uplifts, from investment
property leased out under an operating lease s recognised as
revenue on a straight-line basis over the lease term Lease

" Incentives, such as rent-free periods and cash contributions to

tenant fit-out, are recogrused on the same straight-line basis being
an integral part of the net consideration for the use of the investment
property Any rent adjustments based on open market estimated
rental values are recogmised, based on managerment estimates, from
the rent review date in relation to unsettled rent reviews Contingent
rents, being those lease payments that are not fixed at the inception
of the lease, including for example turnover rents, are recognised in
the period in which they are earned

Surrender premia fer the early deterrmination of a lease are
recognised as revenue immediately upon receipt, net of dilapidations
and non-recoverable outgoings relating to the lease concerned
Service charge inceme Is recognised as revenue in the period to
which it relates

* Management and performance fees recevable are recognised as

revenue In the period to which they relate Performance fees are
recognised at the end of the performance pericd when the fee
amount can be estimated reliably and it 1s virtually certain that the
fee will be received

Praceeds from the sale of trading properties are recognised when
the nisks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the
purchaser This generally accurs on completion Proceeds from the
sale of trading properties are recognised as revenue in the capital
and other column of the iIncome statement All other revenue
described above 1s recognised in the underlying column of the
income staternent



Taxation

Current tax ts based on taxable profit for the year and 1s calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted

at the balance sheet date Taxable profit differs from net profit

as reported in the iIncome statement because it excludes items

of Inceme or expense that are not taxable [or tax deductible)

Deferred tax is provided on iters that may become taxable in the
future, or which may be used to offset against taxable profits in the
future, on the tempoerary differences between the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes, and the
amounts used for taxatien purposes an an undiscounted basis

On business combinations, the deferred tax effect of fair value
adjustments i1s incorperated in the consolidated balance sheet

Employee costs

The fair value of equity-settled share-based payments to employees
i determined at the date of grant and 1s expensed on a straight-lne
basis over the vesting period, based on the Group s estimate of
shares or options that will eventually vest In the case of options
granted, fair value 1s measured by a Black-Scholes pricing medel

Defined benefit pension scheme assets are measured using fair
vatues Pension scheme Labilities are measured using the projected
unit credit method and discounted at the rate of return of a high
quality corporate bond of equivalent term te the scheme ligbilities
The net surplus [where recoverable by the Group) or deficit s
recognised in full in the consolidated balance sheet Any asset
resulting from the calculation 1s limited to the present value of
available refunds and reductions in future contributions to the plan

The current service cost and gains and losses on settlement and
curtallments are charged to operating profit Actuarial gains and
losses are recognised in full in the periad in which they accur and are
presented in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income

Contributions to the Group’s defined contribution schemes are
expensed on the basis of the contracted annual contnibution

Accounting judgements and estimates

In applying the Greup's accounting policies, the Directors are
reguired to make judgements and estimates that atfect the
financial statements

Sigmificant areas of estimation are

Valuation of properties and investments held for trading

The Group uses external professional valuers to determine the
relevant amounts The primary source of evidence for property
valuations should be recent, comparable market transactions on
an arms-length basis However, valuations of the Group's property
portfolio and investrments held for trading are inherently subjective,
as they are made on the basis of assumptions made by the valuers
which may not prove to be accurate

Other less significant areas of estimation include the valuation of
fixed rate debt and interest rate derivatives, the determination of
share-based payment expense, the actuarial assumptions used
in calculating the Group’s retirernent benefit obligations and
taxation provisions

The key areas of accounting judgement are

REIT status British Land 1s a Real Estate Investment Trust (REIT)
and does not pay tax on Its property Income or gains on property
sales, provided that at least 0% of the Group’s property income 1s
distributed as a dividend to shareholders, which becomes taxable

in their hands In addiion, the Group has to meet certain conditions
such as ensuring the property rental business represents more than
75% of total profits and assets Any potential or proposed changes

to the REIT legislation are monitored and discussed with HMRC

It 1s management's intention that the Group will continue as a REIT
far the foreseeable future

Accounting for jeint ventures and funds In accordance with IFRS 10
Consolidated financial statements’, IFRS 11 Joint arrangements,
and IFRS 12 ‘Disclosures of interests in other entities’ an assessment
15 required to determine the degree of control or influence the Group
exercises and the form of any control to ensure that the financial
statement treatment s appropriate The assessment undertaken by
management includes a consideration of the structure, legal form,
contractual terms and other facts and circumstances in relation to
the entity in question, prior to reaching a conclusien This assessment
1s updated annually and there have been no changes in the judgerment

. reached in relation to the degree of control the Group exercises

within the current or prior year Group shares in joint ventures and
funds resulting from this process are disclosed in note 11 ta the
financial statements

interestin the Group's joint ventures 1s commonly driven by the
terms of the partnership agreements which ensure that control s
shared hetween the partners All significant joint venture arrangements
cf the Group are held in structures in which the Group has 50% of the
voting rights Jomtventures are accounted for under the equity
method, whereby the consolidated balance sheet incorporates the
Group s share of the net assets of its joint ventures and asscciates
The consoudated income staternent incorporates the Group's share
of joint venture and associate profits after tax

Accounting for transactions Property transactions are complex in
nature and can be material to the financial statements Judgements
made n relation to transactions include whether an acquisition 1s a
business combination er an asset, whether held for sale criteria have
been met for transactions not yet completed, and accounting for
transaction costs and centingent censideration Management
consider each transaction separately in order to determine the most
appropriate accounting treatment, and, when considered necessary,
seek independent advice
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS CONTINUED

2 Performance measures

Earnings per share

The Group measures financial performance with reference to underlying earnings per share, the European Public Real Estate Association (EPRA/
earnings per share and IFRS earmings per share The relevant earmings and weighted average number of shares (includmg dilution adjustments)
for each performance measure are shown below, and a reconciliation between these 1s shown within the supplementary disclosures [Table B)

EPRA earnings per share 1s calculated using EPRA earnings, which 1s the IFRS profit after taxation attributable to shareholders of the
Company excluding investment and development property revaluations, gains/losses on investing and trading property disposals, changes
in the fair value of fimancial instruments and associated close-out costs and their related taxation The 2012 convertible bond was repaid in
the current year Inthe prior year diluted EPRA earnings per share did not include the dilutive impact of the 2012 convertible bond, as the
Group's share price was below the exchange price of 693 pence IFRS diluted earnings per share included the dilutive rmpact as 1AS 33
ignores this hurdle to conversion In the current and prior year, both EPRA and IFRS measures exclude the dilutive impact of the 2015
convertible bond as the Company s share price had not exceeded the level required for the convertible conditions attached to the bond to
trigger conversion Inta shares

Underlying earnings per share i1s calculated using Underlying Profit adjusted for underlying taxation [see note 7) Underlying Profit s the pre-tax
EPRA earmings measure, with additional Company adjustments No Company adjustrments were made in either the current or prior year

2018 2017
Relevant Relevant
Relevant number Earnings Relevant number Earnings
earnings of shares per share earnings ol shares per share
Earnings per share £m million pence £m rllion pence
Underlying
Underlying basic 380 1,013 375 390 1,029 379
Underlying diluted 380 1,016 37.4 3%0 1.033 378
EPRA
EPRA bastc 380 1,013 375 390 1,029 37¢%
EPRA diluted 380 1,016 37.4 390 1.033 378
IFRS
Basic 493 1,013 48.7 193 1,029 88
Diluted 473 1,016 48.5 160 1,091 147

Net asset value

The Group measures financial pesition with reference to EPRA net asset value INAV] per share and EPRA triple net asset value [NNNAV) per
share The netasset value and number of shares for each performance measure are shown below A reconciliation between {FRS net assets
and EPRA net assets, and the relevant number of shares for each performance measure, 1s shown within the supplementary disclosures
(Table B] EPRA net assets is a proportionally consolidated measure that 1s based on IFRS net assets excluding the mark-to-market on
dervatives and related debt adjustments, the mark-tc-market on the convertible bonds as well as deferred taxation on praperty and
dervative valuations They include the valuation surplus on trading properties and are adjusted for the dilutive iImpact of share options

The 2012 convertible bond was repaid (in the current year In the prier year EPRA NAV and EPRA NNNAY did not include the dilutive impact of
the 2012 convertible bond, as the Group s share price was below the exchange price of 623 pence In the current and prior year, both EPRA and
IFRS measures exclude the dilutive impact of the 2015 convertible bond as the Company's share price had not exceeded the level required for
the convertible condrtions attached to the bond to trigger conversion into shares

2018 2017
Relevant Net asset Relevant MNet asset
Relevant number value per Realavant rumber value per
net assets of shares share net assets of shares share
Net asset value per share £m mitlon pence Em million pence
EPRA
EPRA NAV 9,560 989 267 9498 1,038 15
EPRA NNNAV 9,044 89 M4 8,938 1038 851
IFRS
Basic 9,506 983 967 9474 1,029 921
Diluted 9,506 989 961 9876 1,096 901

Total accounting return
The Group also measures financial performance with reference to total accounting return This is calculated as the increase in EPRA net
asset value per share and dividend paid in the year as a percentage of the EPRA net asset value per share at the start of the year

2018 2017
Increase in  Dividend per Total Decreazetws  Owidend per Tatal
NAV per share share paid accounting  NAV per share share paid accounting
pence pence return pence pence return
Total accounting return 52 29.64 8.9% [4) 2878 2 7%
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3 Revenue and costs

2018 2007
Capital Capital

Underlying and other Total Underlying and other Total

£m Em £m £m Em £m

Rentrecewvable 441 - 441 449 - 449
Spreading of tenant incentives and guaranteed rent increases (6 - (6) (%) - (9!
Surrender premia [ - é 2 - 2
Gross rental income 441 - 441 442 - 442
Trading property sales proceeds : - 78 78 - 33 33
Service charge inccme 56 - 3] 62 - 62
Management and performance fees [from joint ventures and funds) [ - ) 2 - 9
Other fees and commissions 48 - 48 43 - 43
Revenue 561 78 639 554 33 589
Trading property cost of sales - (64) (64] - (24) (26)
Service charge expenses (66} - (4] [62) - 62)
Property operating expenses 129} - (29) (25} - [25)
Other fees and commissions expenses 141} - (41) (35 - {35)
Costs 134} [64) (200) (122} (26) 148)
425 14 439 434 7 441

The cash element of net rental income recogmsed during the year ended 31 March 2018 from properties which were not subject tc a security
interest was £301m [2016/17 £276m) Praperty operating expenses relating to investment properties that did not generate any rentalincome
were E2m (2016/17 £2m) Contingent rents of £4m (2016/17 £2m] were recognised in the year

4 Valuation movements on property

2018 2017
£€m Em
Consolidated income statement
Revaluation of properties 202 (144]
Revaluation of properties held by joint ventures and funds accounted for using the equity method 52 %3]
254 [237]
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
Revaluation of owner-occupied properties (3) -
251 (237}
5 Auditors’ remuneration — PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
2018 2017
£m £m
Fees payable to the Company's auditors for the audit of the Company’s annual accounts 0.3 02z
Fees payable to the Company s auditars for the audit of the Company s subsidiaries, pursuant to legislation 0.4 04
Total audit fees 0.7 06
Audit-related assurance services 0.1 01
Totalaudit and audit-related assurance services 0.8 07
Other fees
Other services 0.2 01
Total 1.0 08

In addition to the above, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP were remunerated for non-audit fees in PREF, an equity accounted property fund
[see note 11 The Group s share of fees totalled £0 1m i2016/17 £0 1m) PricewaterhouseCcopers LLF are not the external auditors to PREF
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6 Net financing costs

2018 2017
£m £m
Underlying
Financing charges
Bank loans and overdrafts 121 [26)
Derwatives 28 23
Other loans (78] (83)
Obligations under head leases 2 (2)
(711 (88)
Cevelopment interest capitalised 6 8
(65} (80]
Financing income
Deposits, securities and lgud investrments 1 2
1 2
Net financing charges - underlying [64) (78)
Capital and other
Financing charges
Valuation movements on translation of foreign currency net assets (4]] -
Hedging reserve recycling’ 1104) -
Valuation movements on fair value derivatives (79) 51
Valuation maverments on fair value dett 80 (48]
Recycling of fair value movement on close-out of derivatives (14) (10
Capital financing costs? (27} (15)
Valuation movement on non-hedge accounted derivatives (18] (7]
1163} (29)
Financing income
Fair value movement on convertible bonds - 42
- 42
Net financing [charges) income - capital 163) 13
Net financing costs
Total financing income 1 44
Total financing charges (228) {109)
Net financing costs (227) [65]

Interest payable on unsecured bank loans and related interest rate derivatives was £9m [2016/17 £13m) Interest on development expenditure
1s capitalised at the Group’s weighted average interest rate of 2 0% (2016/17 2 4%) The weighted average interest rate an a proportionately

consolidated basis at 31 March 2018 was 2 8% (2016/17 3 1%)

' Represents a reclassification of cumulative losses within the hedging and translation reserve to capitai profit and Loss, in relation ta hedging instrurnents which have

been closed out or are no lenger hedge accounted

¢ Prumarily debenture bands redemption and tender offer and purchase costs
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7 Taxation

2018 2017
£m £m
Taxation income (expense)
Current taxation:
UK corporation taxation 19% [2016/17 20%] - {3)
Adjustments in respect of prior years ' 1 4
Total current taxation income 1 1
Deferred taxation on revaluations and dervatives 5 -
Group total taxation [ 1
Attributable to joint ventures and funds - 1
Total taxation income ) 2
Taxation reconciliation
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 501 195
Less profit attributable to joint ventures and funds' (151) (52)
Group profit on ordinary activities before taxation 350 143
Taxation on profit an ordinary activities at UK corporation taxation rate of 19% (2016/17 20%] (67) 129
Effects of
REIT exempt income and gains 71 28
Taxation losses (4) {2
Deferred taxation on revaluations and derivatives 5
Adjustments in respect of prior years 1 4
Group total taxation income ) 1

' Acurrent taxation expense of EriL(2016/17 Enil] and a deferred taxation credit of £nil {2016/17 £1m] arose on profits attributable to joint ventures and funds The low tax
charge reflects the Group s REIT status

Taxation expense attributable ta Underlying Profit for the year ended 31 March 2018 was £ril (2016/17 £nil) Corporation taxation payable at
31 March 2018 was £22m [2016/17 £30m)] as shown on the balance sheet During the year to 31 March 2018 various tax provisions in respect
of historic taxation matters and current points of uncertainty in the UK have been released and provisicns made The net movement, which1s
included within the tax credit above, 1s not material

8 Staff costs

2018 2017

Staff costs lincluding Directors) £m £m

Wages and salaries 70 b4

Soctal secunity casts 9 8

Pension costs 7 7
Fquity-settled share-based payments -

B4 83

The average monthly number of employees of the Company during the year was 265 [2016/17 261) The average maonthly number of Group
employees, Including those employed directly at the Group's properties and their costs recharged to tenants, was 835 (2016/17 771)

The average monthly nurmnber of employees of the Company within each category of persons employed was as follows Retall 58, Offices 34,
Canada Water 13, Developments 33, Storey 6, Support Functions 121

The Executive Directors and Non-Executive Directors are the key management personnel Ther emoluments are summarisad below and
further detailis disclosed in the Remuneration Report on pages 76 to 91

2018 m7
Directors’ emoluments £m £m
Shortterm employee benefits 5.5 20
Service cost in relation to defined benefit pension schemes 0.2 0?2
Equity-settled share-based payments 11 19
6.8 71
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8 Staff costs continued

Staff costs

The Group's equity-settled share-based payments compnise the Long-Term Incentive Plan (LTIP), the Matching Share Plan [MSP) and
various savings related share option schemes

The Company expenses an estimate of how many shares are likely to vest based on the market price at the date of grant, taking account
of expected performance against the relevant performance targets and service periods, which are discussed in further detail in the
Rernuneration Report

For all schemes except the Company’s Long-Term Incentive Plan share options, the fair value of awards are equal to the market value at
grant date The key inputs used to value share options using a Black-Scholes model granted under the Company’s Long-Term Incentive Plan
are shown below

Long-Term Incentive Plan: Awards in the year ended 31 March 2018 28 JZET$
Share price and exercise price at grant date §17p
Expected option life inyears 5
Risk free rate 0.8%
Expected volatility 24%
Expected dividend yield 5%
Value per option 48p

Movements in shares and options are given in note 20

9 Pensions

The British Land Group of Companies Pension Scheme [ the scheme’] 1s the principal defined benefit pension scheme in the Group The
assets of the scherne are held in a trustee-administered fund and kept separate from those of the Company [t 13 not contracted out of SERPS
(State Earnings-Related Pension Scheme) and 1ts not planned to admit new employees to the scheme The Group has three other small
defined benefit pension schemes There is also a Defined Contribution Pension Scheme Contributions to this scheme are at a flat rate of
15% of salary for non-Directors and are paid by the Company

The total net pension cost charged for the year was £7m (2016/17 £7m], of which £5m (2016/17 £4m] relates to defined contribution plans
and £2m [2016/17 £3m] relates to the current service cost of the defined benefit schermes

A full actuarial vatluation of the scheme was carried out at 31 March 2015 by consulting actuaries, AON Hewitt Associates Ltd The employer's
contributions will be paid in the future at the rate recommended by the actuary of 72 9% per annurn of basic salaries The best estimate of
employer contributions expected to be paid during the year to 31 March 201%1s £5m The major assumptions used for the actuarial valuation were

2018 2017 2014 205 2004
% pa % pa % pa % pa % pa
Discount rate 2.4 24 32 31 4 4
Salary inflatien 4.9 49 48 48 52
Pensicns increase 3.3 33 32 32 35
Price inflation 3.4 34 33 33 37

The mortality assumptions are based on standard mortality tables which allow for future mortality improvements The assumptions are
that a member currently aged 60 will Live on averzage for a further 28 8 years if they are male and for a further 30 5 years if they are female
For a member who retires in 2038 at age 60, the assumptions are that they will Live on average for a further 30 4 years after retirement if
they are male and for a further 31 é years after retirement if they are female

Composition of scheme assets

2018 2017

£m £€m

Equities 54 40
Diversified growth funds 85 84
Other assets 13 10
Total scheme assets 152 154

The vast majority of the scheme assets are quoted in an active market
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9 Pensions continued

The amount included in the balance sheet arising from the Group's obligations in respect of its defined benefit scheme s as follows

2018 27 2016 2015 2014

£m Em £m £m Em

Present value of defined scheme obligations 1147) 167 [143) (145) [129)
Fairvalue of scheme assets 152 154 137 139 131
Irrecoverable surplus {5) - - - 14)
Liability recognised in the balance sheet - 3] (6] () -

The sensitivities of the defined benefit obligation in relation to the major actuanal assurmptions used to measure scheme liabilities are as follows

Increase/[decrease] in
defined scheme abligations

Change in 2018 2007
Assumption assurmption £m £rm
Discount rate +0 5% 114) (18)
Salary inflation +0 5% 1 1
RPIinflation +0 5% 12 17
Assumed life expectancy +1 year 4 5
History of experience gains and losses
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
£m £tm Erm £m £m
Total actuartal gain (loss) recognised in the consolidated statemeant
of comprehensive income’
Amount? 9 (12) () (5] (2
Percentage of present value on scheme Lliabilities 6.1% 72% 07% 3 6% 1 6%
' Movernents stated after adjusting for irrecoverability of any surplus
= Cumulative loss recognised in the statement of camprehensive ncome 1s £40m [2016/17 £49m)
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9 Pensions continued
Movements in the present value of defined benefit obligations were as follows

2018 2m7
£m Em
At1 April (167) 143
Current service cost (2 13)
Interest cost (4] (5]
Actuarial gain {loss}
Gain [loss] from change in financial assumptians 7 [29)
Gain on scheme Liabilities ansing from experience 7 6
Benefits paid 12 7
At 31 March [147) (167)
Movernents in the fair value of the scheme assets were as follows
2018 2017
£m £m
At 1 April 154 137
Interest income on scheme assets 3 4
Contributions by employer 7 7
Actuanal [loss) gain - n
Benefits paid 2] (5)
At 31 March 152 154

Through its defined benefit plans, the Group 1s exposed to a number of risks, the most significant of which are detailed below

Asset volatility

The Labilities are calculated using s discount rate set with reference to corporate bond yields, if assets underperform this yield, this will
create a deficit The scheme holds a significant pertion of growth assets lequities and diversified growth funds] which, although expected
to sutperform corporate bonds in the long term, create volatility and risk in the short term The allocation to growth assets 1s monitored
to ensure It remains aporopriate given the scheme s long term objectives

Changes in bond yields
A decrease in corporate bond yields will increase the value placed on the scheme s Labilities for accounting purposes, although this wall
be partially offset by an increase in the value of the scheme’s bond holdings

Inflation risk

The majority of the scheme's benefrt obligations are linked to inflation, and higher inflation will lead to higher biabilities (although, in most
cases, caps on the level of inflationary increases are in place to protect aganst extreme inflation) The majority of the assets are either
unaffected by or only loosely correlated with inflation, meaning that an increase in inflation will alse increase the deficit

Life expectancy

The majority of the scheme s obligations are to provide benefits for the Ufe of the member, so increases in lfe expectancy will result
In an Increase in the Liabilities
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1) Property
Property reconciliation for the year ended 31 March 2018

Investment
Investment
and
Offices & Canada development Owner-
Retail  residental Water Developments  properties Trading occupled
Level 3 Level 3 Level 3 Level 3 Level 3 properties Level 3 Total
£m Em Ern £m £m £m £m £m
Carrying value at 1 April 2017 5,021 3,616 286 150 %073 334 94 2,501
Additions
- property purchases 237 - 8 - 245 5 - 250
- develepment expenditure 5 15 22 44 8é 45 - 132
- capitalised interest and staff costs - 1 3 1 5 5 - 10
- capital expenditure on asset
management initiatives 29 - - 1 30 - - 30
27 16 33 4é 364 56 - 422
Depreciation - - - - - - (1} 4]
Disposals (134) (2 - - (138) (62) - (198)
Reclassifications (&) (137} - 141 - - - -
Revaluations included in Income statement 40 1565 (21} 18 202 - - 202
Revaluations ncluded in OCI - - - - - - {31 (3
Mavement in tenant incentives and contracted
rent uplift balances 1 1 - - 2 - - 2
Carrying value at 31 March 2018 5,195 3,659 298 355 9,507 328 90 92925
Head lease Liabiiities [note 19) 62)
Valuation surplus on trading properties 134
Group property portfolio valuation at 31 March 2018 2,997
Non-controlling interests (315}
Group property portfolio valuation at 31 March 2018 attributable to shareholders 9,682
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1) Property continued
Property reconciliation for the year ended 31 March 2017

Investment
Investment
and
Offices & Canada development Owrier-
Retad  residenhst Water Developments  properties Trading occupled
Leveld Level 3 Level 3 Level 3 Level 3 properties Level 3 Total
£m Em Em £m Em £m fm £m
Carrying value at 1 April 2016 5,617 3,436 256 334 9,643 325 93 10,063
Additions
- property purchases 80 - 8 - 88 - - 88
- development expenditure 12 4 10 55 81 5é - 137
- capitalised interest and staff costs - - 2 3 5 5 - 10
- capital expenditure on asset
management initiatives 82 g i - 92 - - 72
174 13 21 58 766 61 - 327
Depreciation - - - - - - i\ i
Disposals [624) (39] - (7) (670] {26) - (694
Reclassifications - 271 27 [271) 27 127} - -
Revaluations included in income staterment [105) [57] 18) 36 144) - - (144)
Movernent in tenant incentives and contracted
rent uplift balances (41] 18] - - {49) 1 - (48]
Carrying value at 31 March 2017 5.021 3.616 284 150 2,073 334 04 7,501
Head lease Liabilities [note 15) f64)
Valuation surplus on trading properties 83
Group property portfolio valuation at 31 March 2017 9,520
Non-controlling interests 1310
Group property portfolio valuation at 31 March 2017 attributable to shareholders 9,210

Property valuation
The different valuation method levels are defined below

Level1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or Liabilities

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are cbservable for the asset or Uability, either directly (1 e as prices)
orindirectly e derived from prices)

Level 3: Inputs forthe asset or Lability that are not based an obsarvable market data funobservable inputs]

These levels are specified In accordance with IFRS 13 'Fair Value Measurement” Property valuations are inherently subjective as they are
rmade on the basis of assumptions made by the valuer which may not prove to be accurate Faor these reasons, and consistent with EPRA s
guidance, we have classified the valuations of our property portfolio as Level 3 as defined by IFRS 13 The inputs to the valuations are defined
as ‘'unchservable by IFRS 13 and these are analysed i a table on the following page There were no transters hetween levels in the period

The Group s total property portfolio was valued by external valuers on the basis of fairvalue, in accordance with the RICS Valuation -
Professional Standards 2014, minth edition, published by The Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors

The infermaticn provided to the valuers, and the assumpticns and valuation models used by the valuers, are reviewed by the property
portfolio team, the Head of Cffices, the Head of Retall and the Chief Financial Officer (Chief Executive Officer post January 2018} The valuers
meet with the external auditors and also present directly to the Audit Committee at the interim and year end review of results Further details
of the Audit Committee’s responsibillities in relation to valuations can be found in the Report of the Audit Committee (on pages 69 to 73]

Investment properties, excluding properties held for development, are valued by adopting the nvestment method’ of valuation

This approach involves applying capitalisation yields to current and future rental streams net of income voids arising from vacancies or
rent-free periods and associated running costs These capitalisation yields and future rental values are based on comparable property
and leasing fransachons in the market using the valuers’ professional judgement and market observation Qther factors taken into account
in the valuations include the tenure of the property, tenancy details and ground and structural conditions
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10 Property continued
In the case of ongoing developments, the approach applied is the residual method’ of valuation, which 1s the investmant method of valuation

as described above, with a deduction for all costs necessary to complete the development, including a notional finance cost, together with
a further allowance for remaining risk Properties held for developrment are generally valued by adapting the higher of the residual method
of valuation, sllawing for all associated risks, or the investment method of valuation for the existing asset

Copies of the valuation certificates of Knight Frank LLP, CBRE, Jones Lang LaSalle and Cushman & Wakefield can be found at
www.britishland.com/reports

A breakdown of valuations split between the Group and its share of joint ventures and funds 1s shown below

2018 2017
Joint Joint
ventures ventures
Group  and funds Total Group and funds Total
£m £m £m £tm £m Em
Knight Frank LLP 1,674 2,680 4,354 7.031 2,883 9514
CBRE 4,51 1,403 54 2.489 1,380 3,849
Jones Lang LaSalle 5461 - 541 - 538 238
Cushrnan & Wakefield 3,251 19 3,270 - - -
Total property portfolio valuation 9,997 4,102 14,099 2,520 4,801 14,321
Non-controlling interests i315) (68 (383) {310) (71) (381)
Total property portfolio valuation attributable to shareholders 9,682 4,034 13,714 9,210 4,730 13,940

Information abaut fair value measurements using unobservable inputs [Level 3] for the year ended 31 March 2018

Fair value at ERV per sq ft Equivalent yield Costs to complete per sq ft
31 March 2018 Valuation Min Max Average Min Max Average Min Max  Average
Investment Em technique £ £ £ % % Y 2 £ 3
[nvestment
Retail 5,210 methodology 2 84 24 3 9 5 - 51 2
investment
Offices’ 3,617 methodology 8 17 58 & 5 4 - 323 53
Investment
Canada Water 283 methodology 38 38 38 [A 4 4 - 1 1
Investment
Residentral 70 methodology 15 29 22 2 é 4 - 2 134)
Residual
Developments 355  methodology 18 &6 &1 2 ] 5 - 814 541
Total 9,535
Trading properties
at fair value 462
Group property
portfolio vatuation 9,997

' ncludes owner-accupied
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10 Property continued

Information about fair value measurements using unobservable inputs [Levei 3) far the year ended 31 March 2017

Fair value at ERVpersqft Equivalent yield Costs to complete persg fit
31 March 2017 Valuation Min Max  Average Min Max  Average Min Max  Average
Investment E£m technique £ £ £ % % % 3 £ £
Investment
Retail 4,987 methodology 2 77 22 4 " 5 - 48 b
Investment
Dffices'? 3,695 methodelogy 7 17 54 4 7 5 - 150 20
Investrment
Canada Water 27%  methodology 19 25 22 2 5 3 - 18 10
Residual
Developments? 150 methodology 18 72 54 2 b 4 - 618 508
Total 9103
Trading properties
at fair value 417
Group property
portfolio valuation 9.520

" includes awner-occupled

 Includes Residential with an average capital value per sq ft of £981 including developrnents at end value and mixed use

Information about the impact of changes in unobservable inputs {Level 3] on the fair value of the Group’s property portfolio for the year

ended 31 March 2018

Fair value at Impact on valuations Impact on valuations Impact on valuations

31 March 2018 +5% ERV -5% ERY -25bps NEY  +25bps NEY -65% costs +8% costs

£m Em £m Em Em £m Em

Retait 5,210 210 {199) 269 (278) n/a nfa
Dffices’ 4,079 167 (181] 244 [219) nfa n/a
Canada Water 283 4 [5) 1 m 21 [20)
Residential 70 1 ! 2 12 - -
Developments 355 3 (31) 39 (35) 13 (13
Group property portfolio valuation 9,997 413 {397 555 (535) 34 [33)

" Includes trading properties at fair value

Information about the impact of changes in unobservable inputs [Level 3) on the fair value of the Group’s preperty portfelio for the year

ended 31 March 2017

Impact on valuations

Impact on valuations

Impact an valuations

Fair value at

31 March 2007 +5% ERV -5% ERV -25bps NEY  +25bps NEY -5% costs +5% cosls

Em Em £m £m £m €m £m

Retail 4987 189 1176} 242 (238} nfa nfa
Offices’ 4,019 176 [169) 231 (208) nfa nfa
Canada Water 271 1 (1 20 17 n/a nfa
Residential 93 4 (4] b (6] n/a n/a
Developments 150 8 (12} )] (2} 3 (7)
Group property portfolio valuation 9,520 388 (372 518 [£71) 3 (71

' Includes trading properties at far value

The valuation impact of changes in unobservable inputs for the year ended 31 March 2017 have been restated
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10 Property continued
All other factors being equal

- Ahbugher equivalentyield or discount rate would lead 1o a decrease in the valuation of an asset
- Anincrease In the current ar estimated future rental stream would have the effect of increasing the capital value
- Anincrease in the costs to complete would lead to a decrease in the valuation of an asset

However, there are interrelationships between the unobservable mputs which are partally deterrmined by market conditions, which would
impact on these changes

Additionat property disclosures - including covenant information

At 31 March 2018, the Group property portfolio valuation of £2.997m [2016/17 £9,520m] comprises freeholds of £5,711m (2016/17 £5,576m,
wirtual freeholds of £895m (20156/17 £809m, and long leaseholds of £3,3%3m (2014/17 £3,135m) The historical cost of properties was
£6,294m (2016/17 £6.024m]

The property valuation does not include any investment properties held under operating leases [2016/17 £nil]
Cumulative interest capitalised against investment, development and trading properties amounts to £101m (2016/17 £95m)

Properties valued at £1,202m (2016/17 £1,882m] were subject to a security interest and other properties of non-recourse companies
amounted to £1,245m [20%6/17 £1,158m), totalling £2,447m [2016/17 £3,040m)

included within the property valuation 1s £60m {2016/17 €£62m] in respect of accrued contracted rental uplift income The balance arises
through the IFRS treatment of (eases contaiming such arrangements, which requires the recognition of rental iIncome on a straight-line bas
over the lease term, with the difference between this and the cash receipt changing the carrying value of the property against which
revaluations are measured

11 Joint ventures and funds
Summary movement for the year of the investments in joint ventures and funds

1S

venlJlJT;sE Funds Total Equity Loans Total

) £m £m £m Em £m £m

At 1 April 2017 2,525 241 2,764 2,612 354 2,766

Additions 72 7 79 3 76 79

Share of profit on erdinary activities after taxation 149 2 151 151 - 151
Distributions and dividends:

- Caprtal (23] (13] (38 (38 - (36)

- Revenue (63 (15] (78] (78] - (78]

Hedging and exchange movements 8 - 8 2 - 8

Disposal of Tesco joint venture (68) - (68) 168 - (68)

At 31March 2018 2,600 222 2,822 2,392 430 2,822

Additional investments in joint ventures and funds covenant information

At 31 March 2018 the investments in joint ventures included within the total investments i joint ventures and funds was £2,826m
(2016/17 £3,299m), being the £2 822m total investment shown above, less the net investment of [£4m) [2016/17 £7m) in PREF, a property
fund in Continental Europe
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS CONTINUED

11 Joint ventures and funds continued
The summarised incame statements and balance sheets below and on the following page show 100% of the results, assets and labilities
of joint ventures and funds Where necessary, these have been restatad to the Group's accounting policies

Joint ventures’ and funds’ summary financial statements far the year ended 31 March 2018

Broadgate MSC Property BL Sainsbury
REIT Intermegdiate Superstores
Lt Holdings Ltd Ltd

Norges Bank

Euro Bluebell LLP Investment
Partners (GIC) Management J Sainshury ple
City Offices  Shopping Centres

Property sector Broadgate Meadowhall Superstores
Group share 50% 50% 50%
Summarised income statements €m m £m
Revenue’® 255 102 39
Costs {64] [23] -

191 79 39
Administrative expenses (1) - -
MNet interest payable (82] (33 (14)
Underlying Profit 108 Lb 23
Net valuaticn movement 105 21 3)
Capital financing costs - - (26]
[Loss] profit on disposal of investment properties and investments 18] - g
Profit (loss] on ordinary activities before taxation 193 67 3
Taxation - - -
Profit (\oss) on ordinary activities after taxation 195 67 3
Other comprehensive incame [expenditure] 13 3 -
Total comprehensive income 208 70 3
British Land share of total comprehensive income (expense] 104 35 2
British Land share of distributions payable 35 4 31
Summarised balance sheets Em Em £m
Investment and trading properties 4,668 1,895 523
Current assets b & ~
Cash and deposits 291 39 20
Gross assats 4,965 1,940 613
Current labilities (107) {41 (24)
Bank and securitised debt 1,744] (641] {251)
Loans from joint venture partners [465) [364) -
Other non-current labilities (47} (20} -
Gross liabilities (2,357) (1,068) (275)
Net assets 2,608 874 338
British Land share of net assets less shareholder loans 1,304 437 169

Included within the Broadgate REIT revenue 1s a £29m (€15m British Land share) payment received in June 2017 from the Rayal Bank of Scatland in relation to their
surrender of a lease at 135 Bishopsgate

USS joint ventures include the Eden Walk Shopping Centre Unit Trust and the Fareham Property Partnership

Hercules Unit Trust joint ventures and sub-funds includes 50% of the results of Deepdale Co-Ownership Trust, Gibraltar Limited Partnership and Valenting
Co-0wnership Trust and 41 25% of Birstall Co-Ownership Trust The balance sheet shows 50% af the assets of these joint ventures and sub-funds

Included in the column headed Other Jaint ventures and funds are contributions from the foliowing BL Goodman Limited Partnership, The Aldgate Place Limited
Partnership, Bluebutten Property Management UK Limited, City of London Office Unit Trust and Pillar Retail Europark Fund [PREF] The Group's ownership

share of PREF 13 65%, however as the Graup 1s not able to exercise control over significant decisions of the fund, the Group equity accounts for1ts interest in PREF
Revenue includes gross rental incorne at 100% share of £385m (2016/17 £437m)

- -
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Uss Hercules Umt Trust Other Total
The SouthGale Limited Jjoint Joint ventures Joint ventures Total Group share
Partnership ventures’ and sub-funds' and funds® 2018 208
Universities
Aviva Superannuation
Invastors Scheme Group PLC
Shopping Shopping Retail
Centres Centres Parks
50% 50% Various
Em £m Em £m £m £m
18 13 36 b 469 235
(4 (4] {5] (2) (102) (51)
14 g 31 4 367 184
{1 - - - (2) (1
{1 - (4] - (136) (68)
12 9 27 4 229 115
0 - (28] - 105 52
- - - - (28) (13
1 - - 2 (6) (31
23 9 (" b 302 151
23 9 ] ] 302 151
- - - - 14 8
23 9 ( ] 318 159
1 5 4] 3 159
5 4 14 - 93
Ern Em tm £rm £m £m
275 250 590 - 8,201 4,100
1 1 4 42 &0 31
9 7 10 8 454 227
285 258 504 50 8,715 4,358
(4) (5] (1) 5] (207} (105)
- - (140) - {2,776) (1,388)
- (28] - () (861 (430)
(28] - 141 5 (88) (43)
(32) {31) (155} ) (3,932 1,966)
253 227 449 34 4,783 2,392
127 113 226 16 2,392

The borrowings of jaint ventures and funds and their subsidiaries are non-recourse to the Group Alljoint ventures are incorporated in the United Kingdom, with the
exception of Broadgate REIT Limited and the Eden Walk Shopping Centre Umit Trust which are incorporated in Jersey Of the funds, the Hercules Unit Trust [HUT] joint

ventures and sub-funds are incorporated in Jersey and PREF in Luxembourg

These finanaial staterments include the results and financial position of the Group s interest in the Fareham Praperty Partnership, the Aldgate Place Limiled Partnershup,
the BL Goodman Limited Partnership, the Auchinlea Partnership and the Gibraltar Limited Partnership Accordingly, advantage has been taken of the exemptions
provided by Regutation 7 of the Partnership [Accounts) Requlations 2008 not to attach the partnership accounts to these financial stalements
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS CONTINUED

11 Joint ventures and funds continued
The summarised Income statements and balance sheets below and on the following page show 100% of the results, assets and Labilities
of joint ventures and funds Where necessary, these have been restated to the Group's accounting pelicies

Joint ventures’ and funds’ summary financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2017

Broadgate MSC Property BL Sainsbury
REIT Inlermediate Superstores Tesco joint
Ltd' Holdings Lid Ltd ventures?

Norges Bank

Euro Bluebell LLP Investment
Partners {GIC] Management J Sainsbury plc Tesco PLC
City Offices  Shopping Centres

Praperty sector Broadgate Meadowhall Superstores Superstores
Group share 50% 30% 50% 50%
Summarised income statements £m £m tm £m
Revenue’ 245 99 49 19
Costs [52) [23) - -

193 76 49 19
Administrative expenses - - - (2)
Net interest payable (82) (35] (21 (9
Underlying Profit m 41 28 8
Net valuation movement (1841 (1 (48] (291
Capital financing costs - - na -
Profit on disposal of Investment properties and investments - - 3 (3]
[Loss] profit on ordinary activibies before taxation [74) 40 (27 124)
Taxation - - - 2
[Loss) profit on ordinary activities after taxation (74) 40 1271 (22)
Other comgrehensive income 1 - - i
Total comprehensive income {73) 40 127} (21)
British Land share of total comprehensive lexpense) income (37} 20 (15) (10
British Land share of distributions payable 37 17 55 4
Summarised balance sheets £m Em £m £m
Investment and trading properties 4,478 1,842 769 325
Current assets 2 5 - -
Cash and deposits 290 37 17 2
Gross assets 4,770 1,884 786 327
Current labilities (88] (41) (22) (2)
Bank and securitised debt {1,794 [668) [367) [185)
Loans from jeint venture partners 1357 (317) - -
Other non-current Uabilities {56) 123) - (4]
Gross Liabilities (2,295} {1,049) (389) 191)
Net assets 2,475 835 397 134
British Land share of net assets less shareholder loans 1,237 417 199 68

Included within the Broadgate REIT net valuation movernent 1s a £20m paymenl receved in December 2014 from UBS A G in relation to the development and
occupation of 5 Broadgate, and subseguent vacation of 100 Liverpool Street, including 8-10 Broadgate

¢ Tesco joint ventures include BLT Holdings (2010) Limited as at 31 March 2017

* UsSjointvantures include the Eden Walk Shopping Centre Unit Trust and the Fareham Property Partnership

The Leadenhall column shows the equity accounted profit and loss for the period Due ta the transaction which exchanged in March 2017, the netinvestmentinthis
venture was reclassified as a held for sale asset

Hercules Unit Trust jont ventures and sub-funds includes 50% of the results of Deepdale Co-0Ownership Trust, Gibraltar Lirmited Partnership and Valentine
Co-Ownership Trust ang 41 25% of Birstall Co-Ownership Trust The balance sheet shows 50% of the assets of these joint ventures and sub-funds

Included in the column headed 'Other joint ventures and funds are contributions from the following BL Goodman Limited Partnership, The Aldgate Place Limited
Partnership, Bluebutlon Property Management UK Limited, City of London Office Unit Trust and Pillar Retail Europark Fund I[PREF) The Group’s awnership
share of PREF 15 65%, however as the Group 1s not able to exercise control over significant decisions of the fund, the Group equity accounts forits interest in PREF
Revenue Includes gross rental income at 100% share of £437m (2015/16 £451m)]

&

o
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uss Leadenhall Hercules Unit Trust Other Total
The SouthGate Limited Joint Holding Co Joint ventures Jount ventures Total Group share
Partnership ventures [Jersey] Ltd and sub-funds* and funds* 2017 2017
Universities
Superannuation
Aviva Scheme Group Oxford
Investors PLC Properties
Shepping Shopping City Offices Retait
Centres Centres Leadenhall Parks
0% 50% 50% Various
Em Em m £m £rn £m £m
17 14 43 35 1 522 250
(5) (5) (10 (4] ( (100] (50}
12 9 33 3N - 422 210
{1 - - - (1) (4) (2)
hi - - (4) - (152) (76
10 9 33 27 (1 266 132
(6] (7] 107 [16) - (183) (93)
- - - - - (12 (6
- - - - 34 34 18
4 2 140 1 33 105 51
- - - - 2 1
4 2 140 11 33 107 52
- - - - - 2 1
4 2 140 1" 33 109 53
2 1 70 5 17 53
1 - 5 14 4 132
£m £m £m £m Em £m £m
264 247 - 603 1 8,529 4,265
1 1 3 52 &4 32
8 7 - 10 28 399 200
273 255 - 616 81 8,992 4,497
(4) (6] - (10] (19l 192 (94)
- - - [139] - (3,153) 11,577)
- [22) - - Nzl (708) (354)
128) - - 14] - (115] (58)
32 (28) - (153) (31 (4,148] (2,085)
241 227 - 443 50 4,824 2,412
121 14 - 231 25 2,412

The borrowings of joint ventures and funds and their subsidares are non-recourse to the Group All jomnt ventures are incorporated in the United Kingdom, with
the exception of Broadgate REIT Limited, the Eden Walk Shopping Centre Unit Trust and LeadenhallHalding Co [Jersey) Limited which are incorporated in Jersey

Ofthe funds, the Hercules Uni Trust [HUT joint ventures and sub-funds are incorporated in Jersey and PREF in Luxembourg

These financial statements include the results and financial position af the Group s interest in the Fareham Property Partnership, the Aldgate Place Limited Partnership,
the BL Goodman Limited Partnership, the Auchintea Partnership and the Gibraltar Limited Partnership Accordingly, advantage has bean taken of the exemptions
provided by Requlation 7 of the Partnership (Accounts] Regulatians 2008 not to attach the parthershrp accounts to these financial statements
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11 Joint ventures and funds continued

Jeint venture held for sale

On 1 March 2017 the Group exchanged conditional contracts on an agreement to sell its interest in Leadenhall Holding Co [Jersey) Limited,
aJoint venture with Oxford Properties The net investrment in the joint venture was recognised as a held for sale asset from the date of
exchange in the prior period On 24 May 2017 the transaction completed and the net investment was de-recognised

Joint venture held for sale - summarised balance sheet for the year ended 31 March

Leadenhall Holding Co
[Jersey] Limited

2018 2017
£m £m
Investment property - 1,075
Current assets - 17
Current Labilities - (13)
Loans from joint venture partners - (371)
Net assets - 708
British Land share of net assets less sharehalder loans - 355
Operating cash flows of joint ventures and funds [Group share]
2n8 20017
€m £m
Rental income received from tenants 199 207
Fees and other income received - -
Operating expenses pad to suppliers and employees (22) (20)
Cash generated from operations 177 187
Interest paid 173) (84}
interest received 1 1
UK corporation tax paid )] (2]
Cash inflow from operating activities 104 102
Cash inflow from operating activities deployed as:
Surplus cash retained within jaint ventures and funds 26 43
Revenue distributions per consolidated statement of cash flows 78 59
Revenue distributions split between controlling and non-controlling interests
Attributable to non-controlling interests 2 4
Attributable to shareholders of the Company 76 55
12 Other investments
2018 2017
Investment Loans, Property, Investrment Leans., Property,
held for receivables plantand  Intangible heid for recewvables plant and Intangible
trading and other  equipment assets Total trading  and other  eguipment assets Total
€m €m £m £m £m £m m £m £m £m
At 1 April 93 A 1 9 154 101 26 12 3 142
Additions -~ - 15 4 19 - 14 1 7 22
Disposals - [2) - - (2} - i2] - - (2]
Revaluation 5 3 - - 8 {8) 3 - - 5)
Depraciation/amartisation - - 2) (3 {5) - - (2) (1) (3i
At 31 March 98 42 24 10 174 93 41 i 9 154

The investrment held for trading comprises interests as a trust beneficiary The trust s assets comprise freehold reversions in a pool of
commerctal properties, comprising Sanshury s superstores The interest s categonsed as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy, is subject
to the same Inputs as those disclosed in note 10, and its fair value was determined by the Directors, supported by an external valuation
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13 Debtors

2018 207

£m £m

Trade and other debtors 28 22
Deposits recewed relating to held for sale asset - 144
Prepayments and accrued income 7 5
35 11

' Prioryear balance relates ta deposit received on held for sale joint venture transaction [see note 11] recognised as a financial asset, the realisation of which was
condiional and nat guaranteed as at the prior year balance sheet date

Trade and other debtors are shown after deducting a provision for bad and deubtful debts of £14m [2016/17 £14m] The charge to the iIncome
staternent in relation to bad and doubtful debts was £1m [2016/17 £1m]

The Directors consider that the carcying amount of trade and other debtors 1s approximate to their farr value There i1s no concentration
of credit sk with respect to trade debtors as the Group has a large number of customers who are paying their rent in advance

As at 31 March, trade and other debtors cutside their payment terms yet not provided for are as follows

Qutside credit terms but not impaired

Within 0-1 1-2  Marethan

Total credit terms month months 2 months

£m £m €m £m Em

2018 28 18 [ [A -

2017 ‘ 22 7 9 4 2
14 Creditors

2018 M7

£m fm

Trade creditors 146 127

Deposits receved relating to held for sale asset' - 144

Other taxation and social security 30 3z

Accruats 73 83

Deferred income 75 72

324 458

Prior year balance relates to deposit recewed on held for sale joint venture transaction [see note 11] recognised as a financial Lability, the realisatron of which was
conditional and nat guaranteed as at the prior year balance sheet date

Trade creditors are interest-free and have settlement dates within one year The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and
other creditors s approximate to their fair value

15 Other non-current liabilities

2018 2017

£tm £m

Other creditors - 1
Head leases 62 b4
Net pension Liabitities - 13
62 78
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16 Deferred tax

The movement on deferred tax s as shown below

Deferred tax assets year ended 31 March 2018

1 April Credited to Debited Transferred to 31 March
2017 income to equity joint ventures 2018
€m £m £m £m £m
Interest rate and currency derivative revaluations 4 5 (5) - 4
Other timing differences 7 - - - 7
1" 5 (5) - 1"
Deferred tax liabilities year ended 31 March 2018
£€m £m £m £m £m
Property and investment revaluations (7 - - - 7}
_ (7 - - - (7)
Net deferred tax assets 4 5 (5) - 4
Deferred tax assets year ended 31 March 2017
i April Credited to Debited Transferred to 31 March
2016 income to equity jaint ventures 2017
£m £m £m £m £m
Interest rate and currency derivative revaluations 5 (1 - - 4
Other timing differences b 1 - - 7
11 - - - 11
Deferred tax Liabilities year ended 31 March 2017
£m m £m £m £m
Property and investment revaluations (71 - - - (7)
Other timing differences 1] - - 1 -
— (8 - - 1 {7)
Net deferred tax assets 3 - — 1 4

The foilowing corporation tax rates have been substantively enacted 19% effective from 1 April 2017 reducing to 17% effective from 1 April
2020 The deferred tax assets and Uabilities have been calculated at the tax rate effective in the period that the tax 1s expected to crystallise

The Group has recognised a deferred tax asset calculated at 17% {2016/17 17%) of £7m [2016/17 £5m) in respect of capital losses from
pravious years avallable for offset against future capital prefit Further unrecognised deferred tax assets in respect of capital losses of
£123m (2016/17 £129m) exist at 31 March 2018

The Group has recognised deferred tax assets on derwvative revaluations to the extent that future matching taxable profits are expected
to arise

At 31 March 2018, the Group had an unrecognised deferred tax asset calculated at 17% (2016/17 17%) of £43m [2016/17 £50rm] in respect
of UK revenue tax losses from previous years

Under the REIT regime, development properties which are sold within three years of completion do not benefit from tax exemption

At 31 March 2018, the value of such properties 1s £176m [2016/17 £176m) and if these properties were to be sold and no tax exemption
was available, the tax artsing would be £13m (2016/17 £13m)
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17 Net debt

2018 2017
Footnote £m Em
Secured on the assets of the Group
9125% First Mortgage Debenture Stock 2020 11 - 34
5 264% First Mortgage Debenture Bonds 2035 369 377
5 0055% First Mortgage Amortising Debentures 2035 95 99
5 357% First Mortgage Debenture Bonds 2028 255 348
Bank loans 12 512 475
Loan notes 2 2
1,233 1,335
Unsecured
5 50% Senior Notes 2027 100 102
3 895% Sentor US Dollar Notes 2018 2 27 32
4 635% Senior US Dollar Notes 2021 2 156 181
4 766% Senior US Dollar Notes 2023 2 7 13
5 003% Senior US Dollar Notes 2026 2 63 73
3 81% Semar Notes 2026 110 14
3 97% Senior Notes 2026 12 n7
1 5% Convertible Bond 2017 - 406
0% Convertible Bond 2020 337 3N
2 375% Sterling Unsecured Bond 2029 298 -
Bank loans and overdrafts 595 477
1,895 1,946
Gross debt 3 3,128 3,281
Interest rate and currency derivative Liabilties 138 144
Interest rate and currency derivative assets (115) (217
Cash and short term depostts 4,5 {105) 114
Total net debt 3,046 3,094
Net debt attributable to nen-controlling interests (109) (103)
Net debt attributable to shareholders of the Company 2,937 2991
" These are non-recourse borrowings with no recourse for repayment to other companies ar assets in the Lroup
2018 2017
£m £m
11 BLD Property Holdings Ltd - 34
12 Hercules Unit Trust 512 475
512 50%
© Principal and inierest on these borrowings were fully hedged into Sterling at a floating rate al the ime of 15sue
* The principal amount of gross debt at 31 March 2018 was £3,007m [2016/17 £3,069m) Included in this rs the principal amount of secured borrowings and other
borrowings of non-recourse companies of £1159m ofwhich the borrowings of the partly-owned subsidiary, Hercules Unit Trust, net beneficially owned by the
Groupare E119m
¢ Included within cash and short term deposits is the cash and short term depasits of Hercules Unit Trust, of which £10m s the propertion not beneficially owned
: gi;hhea?ﬂ?;epposns not subject lo a security interest amount to £21m [2016/17 £9%m)
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17 Net debt continued
Maturity analysis of net debt

2018 2017
Em £m
Repayable within one year and on demand 27 4b4h
Between one and two years 163 31
two and five years 1,194 1,283
five and ten years 803 783
ten and fifteen years 305 332
fifteen and twenty years 636 388
3,101 2.817
Gross debt 3,128 3.281
Interest rate and currency dervatives 23 (73]
Cash and shaort term deposits . (105]) (114)
Net debt 3,046 3,094

1.5% Convertible bond 2012 [maturity 2017}
0On 10 September 2012, British Land (Jerseyl Limited {the 2012 Issuer], a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, issued £400 million 15%
guaranteed convertible bonds due 2017 [the 2012 bonds) at par On 10 September 2017, the convertible bonds were redeemed at par

0% Convertible bond 2015 [maturity 2020)

On 9 June 2015, British Land [White] 2015 Lirmited {the 2015 [ssuer], a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, 1ssued £350 mullion zero
caupon guaranteed convertible bonds due 2020 [the 2015 bonds) at par The 2015 Issuer s fully guaranteed by the Company in respect of
the 2015 bonds

Subject to their terms, the 2015 bonds are convertible into preference shares of the 2015 Issuer which are automatically transferred to the
Company in exchange for ordinary shares in the Company or, at the Company’s election, any combination of ordinary shares and cash
From 20 July 2015 up to and including 29 June 2018, a bondhaolder may exercise its conversion right if the share price has traded at a level
exceeding 130% of the exchange price for a specified period Thereafter, and up te but excluding the 7th dealing day before § June 2020
[the maturity date), a bondholder may convert at any time

The imitial exchange price was 1103 32 pence per ordinary share The exchange price 1s adjusted based on certain events [such as the
Company paying dividends in any quarter above 3 418 pence per ordinary share] As at 31 March 2018 the exchange price was 1034 52 pence
per ordinary share

From 30 June 2018, the Company has the option to redeem the 2015 bonds at par if the Company’s share price has traded above 130% of

the exchange price for a specified period, or at any time once 85% by norminal value of the 2015 bonds have been converted, redeemed, or
purchased and cancelled The 2015 bonds will be redeemed at par on 9 June 2020 [the maturity date] if they have not already been converted,
redeemed or purchased and cancelled
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17 Net debt continued
Fair value and book value of net debt

2018 2017

Fairvalue Book value  Difference Farrvalue  Bookvalue — Difference

fm £m £m L tm £m

Bebentures and unsecured bonds 1,783 1,682 101 1,682 1,590 2
Convertible bonds 337 337 - 737 737 -
Bank debt and other fleating rate debt 1,116 1,109 7 963 954 9
Gross debt 3,236 3,128 108 3,382 3,281 101
interest rate and currency derivative labilities 138 138 - 144 144 -
Interest rate and currency dervative assets (115) (115] - {217 (217 -
Cash and short term deposits (105] (105) - (114) (114 -
Net debt 3,154 3,044 108 3195 3,094 101
Net debt attributable te non-controlling interests (110) (0% 1 (105) (103) (2]
Net debt atiributable to shareholders of the Company 3,044 2,937 107 3,090 2,991 g9

The fair values of debentures, unsecured bonds and the convertible bond have been established by ebtaining quoted market prices from
brokers The bank debt and other floating rate debt has been valued assuming it could be renegotiated at contracted margins The derivatives
have been valued by calculating the present value of expected future cash flows, using appropriate market discount rates, by an independent

treasury adviser

Short term debtors and creditors and other investments have been excluded from the disclosures on the basis that the fair value 1s equivalent

to the book value The fair value hierarchy level of debt held at amortised costis level 2 [as defined in note 10)

Group loan to value [LTV)

2018 2017

£m £m

Group {oan to value {LTV]) 22.1% 22 6%
Principal amount of gross debt 3,007 3,069
Less debt attributahie to non-controlling mnterests (119) 112]
Less cash and short term deposits (balance sheet] {105) (114)
Plus cash attributable to non-controlling interests 10 g
Total net debt for LTV calculation 2,793 2.852
Group property portfolic valuation [note 10) 9,997 9,920
Investments n joint ventures and funds (note 17) 2,822 2,766
Jaint venture held for sale (note 11) - 540
Other investments [note 12) 174 154
Less property and Investments attributable to non-controlling interests (368) (364]
Total assets for LTV calculation 12,627 12,616

Proportionally consolidated loan to value [LTV)

2018 2017

£m Em

Proportionally consolidated loan to value [LTV] 28.4% 299%
Principal amount of gross debt 4,399 4 649
Less debt attributable to non-controlling interests (135} (128)
l ess cash and shert term deposits 331) [323)
Plus cash attributable to non-controlling interests 10 9
Total net debt for proportional LTV calculation 3,943 4,207
Group property portfolio valuation (note 10} 2,997 2,520
Share of property cf joint ventures and funds (note 10] 4,102 4 801
Other investments [nate 12) 174 154
Less other investments attributable to joint ventures and funds 12} (3)
Less property attributable to non-controlling interests (3831 (387}
Total assets for proportional LTV calculation 13,888 14,091
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17 Net debt continued
British Land Unsecured Financial Covenants
The two financial cavenants applicable to the Group unsecured debt including convertible bonds are shown below

2018 2017

£m £m

Net Borrowings not to exceed 175% of Adjusted Capital and Reserves 29% 29%
Principal amount of gross debt 3,007 3,069
| ess the relevant proportion of borrowings of the partly-owned subsidiary/non-controlbng interests 119} 112)
Less cash and deposits [balance sheet) (105) 4
Plus the relevant proportion of cash and deposits of the partly-owned subsidiary/non-controlling interests 10 ?
Net Borrowings 2,793 2,852
Share capital and reserves (balance sheet) 9,504 9474
EPRA deferred tax adjustment [EPRA Table A) 5 3
Trading praperty surpluses (EPRA Table A) 134 83
Exceptional refinancing charges [see below) 233 274
Fair value adjustments of financial instruments {EPRA Table A 137 155
Less reserves attributable to non-controlling interests [balance sheet] (254} (255
Adjusted Capital and Reserves 9,761 2736

In calculating Adjusted Capital and Reserves for the purpese of the unsecured debt financial covenants, there is an adjustment of £233m
[2016/17 £274m) to reflect the cumulative net amortised excepticnal items relating to the refinancings in the years ended 31 March 2005,

2006 and 2007

2018 017
£m Em
Net Unsecured Borrowings not te exceed 70% of Unencumbered Assets 23% 26%
Principal amount of gross debt 3,007 3,069
Less cash and deposits not subject to @ secunity interest [being £91m tess the relevant proportion of cash and (84} {96]
deposits of the partly-owned subsidiary/non-controlling interests of £7m)
Less principal amount of secured and non-recourse borrowings 1,159) (1,238)
Net Unsecured Borrowings 1,764 1,735
Group property portfolio valuation [note 10} 9,997 2520
Investrnents in joint ventures and funds (note 11] 2,822 2766
Joint venture held for sale (note 11) - 540
Other investments (note 12) 174 154
Less investments in joint ventures and jaint venture held for sale (note 11) (2,822) 13,299)
Less encumbered assets [note 10} (2,447) (3,040)
Unencumbered Assets 7,724 6,641
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17 Net debt continued

Reconciliation of movernent in Group net debt for the year ended 31 March 2018

Arrangement
Foregn costs
2017 Cash flows Transfers? exchange Fair value amortisation 2018
Short term borrowings 464 1458) 27 - (8) - 27
Long term borrowings 2,817 381 127) (40) (10) - 3,101
Dervatives' 173) 29 - 40 27 - 23
Total labilities from financing activities® 3,208 [68) - - " - 3,151
Cash and cash equivalents (114) 9 - - - - (105]
Net debt 3,094 (59) - - n - 3,046
Reconciliation of movement in Group net debt for the year ended 31 March 2017
Arrangernent
Foreign cosls
2016 Cash flows Translers exchange Fairvalue amortisation 2017
Short term borrowings 74 (74) Lbh - - - 464
Long term borrowings 3,687 1423] (464) 49 [34] & 2,817
Dervatives (30) ] - (48] 4 - (73]
Total tabilities froam flnanClng activities 3,731 (454 - 1 (32) 4 3,208
Cash and cash eguivalents (114) - - - - - 114}
Net debt 3.617 1494) - 1 [32) 4 3,094
' Cash flows on derivatives include £20m of net recerpts on derivative interest
¢ Cash flows on derivatives include £14m of net receipts on derivative interest
* Transfers comprises debl maturing from long term to short terrm borrowings
- Cash flows of £68m shown abave represents net cash ftows on interest rate derwative closeouts of £9m decrease in bank and other borrowings of £62é6mand
drawdoewns on bank and other berrowings of £529m shown in the consolidated statement of cash flows, along with £20m of net receipts on derivative interest
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17 Net debt continued

Fair value hierarchy

The table below provides an analysis of financial instruments carried at fair value, by the valuation method The fair value hierarchy levels are
defined in note 10

2018 2017
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£m £m £m £m fm £m £m tm
Interest rate and currency derivative assets - (115} - (115) - 217) - (217)
Other invesiments - available for sale (14) - - [14) (14) - - (14)
Other investments - held for trading - - 98 98 - - 93] 93]
Assels 14) {115) 98 131) 114] {217 193) i324)
interest rate and currency dervative
Liabilities - 138 - 138 - 144 - 144
Converfible bonds 337 - - 337 737 _ - 737
Liabilities 337 138 - 475 737 144 - 881
Total 323 23 98 Li4 723 (73) (93] 557
Categories of financial instruments
2018 2017
£m Em
Financial assets
Fair value through income statement
Other investments — held for trading - 98 93
Derivatives in designated hedge accounting relationships 110 215
Derivatives not in designated hedge accounting relationships 5 2
Loans and receivables
Trade and other debtors 28 166
Cash and short term deposits 108 - 14
Other investmnents - loans and receivables 42 41
388 651
Financial liabilities
Fair value through income statement
Convertible bonds (337) [737)
Derivatives in designated hedge accounting relationships (5] (143
Derivatives not in designated accounting relationships (133) M
Amortised cost
Gross debt (2,791) (2,544)
Head leases payable 182) (64)
Creditors 1237) 1373
(3,565) (3.842)
Total 13,177) 13.211)

Gains and losses on financial iInstruments, a5 classed above, are disclosed in note 4 inet financing costs), note 13 [debtors], the consolidated
income statement and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income The Directors censider that the carrying amounts of other
investmeants and head leases payahble are approximate to their fair value, and that the carrying amounts are recoverable

Capital risk management

The capital structure cof the Group consists of net debt and equity attributable to the equity holders of The British Land Company PLC,
comprising Issued capital, reserves and retained earnings Risks relating to capital structure are addressed within Managing risk in
delivering our strategy on pages 48 to 31 The Group's objectives, policies and pracesses for managing debt are set out in the Financial
policies and principles on pages 45 to 47
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17 Net debt continued

Interest rate risk management

The Group uses interest rate swaps and caps to hedgs exposure to the variability in cash flows on floating rate debt, such as revelving bank
facilities, caused by moverments in market rates of interest

At 31 March 2018, the fair value of these derivatives 1s a net Liability of £118m Interest rate swaps with a fair value of £5m have been
designated as cash flow hedges under |1AS 39

The ineffectiveness recogmised in the Incorme statement on cash flow hedges in the year ended 31 March 2018 was £nil{2016/17 £nil)

The cash flows occur and are charged to profit and loss until the maturity of the hedged debt The table below summarises variable rate debt
hedged at 31 March 2018

Variable rate debt hedged

2018 2017

£m £m

Cutstanding at one year 775 775
at two years 600 775

at five years 250 250

atten years 250 250

Fair value hedged debt
The Group uses interest rate swaps to hedge exposure on tixed rate financial Uabilities caused by movements in market rates of interest

At 31 March 2018, the fair value of these derivatives 1s a net asset of £95m Interest rate swaps with a fair value of £110m have been
designated as fair value hedges under [AS 39 [2014/17 asset of £215m)

The cross currency swaps of the 2018/2021/2023/2026 US Private Placements fully hedge the foreign exchange exposure at an average
floating rate of 146 basis points above LIBOR These have been designated as fair value hedges of the US Private Placements

Interest rate profile - including effect of derivatives

2018 207

£m £m

Fixed or capped rate 2,107 1,604
Variabte rate [net of cash] ) 23¢9 1,490
3,046 3,094

All the debt 15 effectively Sterling denominated except for £3m [2016/17 £11m) of Euro debt of which £3m 1s at 3 vanable rate (2016/17 £11m]

At 31 March 2018 the weighted average interest rate of the Sterling fixed rate debt1s 3 2% (2016/17 3 3%) The weighted average period for
which the rate s fixed 1s 91 years (2016/17 8 3years) The floating rate debt is set for periods of the Company’s choosing at the relevant
LIBOR [or similar] rate

The proportion of net debt at fixed or capped rates of interest was 80% at 31 March 2018 on a spet basis The proportion of net debt at fixed or
capped rates of Interest as an average over the next five-year forecast period, on a proportionally consclidated basis, was 60% at 31 March
2018 Based on the Group's interest rate profile, at the balance sheet date, a 574 bps increase in interest rates would decrease annual profits
by £59m [2016/17 £87rm decrease) Similarly, a 72 bps reduction would increase profits by £10m (2016/17 £5mincrease based on a 34 bps
reduction] The change 1n interest rates used for this sensitvity analysis 1s based on the largest annual change in three-month Sterling
LIBOR over the last 10 years The impact assumes LIBOR does not fall below 0%

Upward movements in medium and long termanterest rates, associated with higher interest rate expectations, increase the value of the
Group's interest rate swaps and caps that provide protection against such moves The converse s true for downward movements in the yield
curve A 204 bps shift represents the largest annual change in the seven-year Sterling swap rate over the last 10 years At 31 March 2018

a 204 bps parallel upward shift in swap rates would increase the value of cash flow hedges and derivatives that are not hedge accounted

by £68m [2016/17 £82m) A 204 bps downward shift in swap rates would reduce the value of these derivatives by £81m (2016/17 £131m)]
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17 Net debt continued

Interest rate profile - including effect of derivatives continued

The 0% 2015 Convertible Bond 1s designated as fair value through profit or loss Principal components of the market value of this bond
include British Land's share price and its volatility, and market interest rates

The fair value of the 0% 2015 Convertible Bong at 31 March 2018 was a £337m Lability At 31 March 2018 a 204 bps parallel upward shift
in interest rates would reduce the fair value lizbility by £15m, and a 204 bps downward shift in interest rates would increase the fair value
liability by £15m

Foreign currency risk management

The Group's policy 15 to have no material unhedged net assets or Liabilities denorminated in foreign currencies The currency risk on
overseas Investments 1s hedged via foreign currency denominated borrowings and derivatives The Group has adopted net investment
hedgingin accordance with IAS 39 and therefore the portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument that i1s determined to be an
effective hedge i1s recognised directly in equity The ineffective portion of the gain ar loss on the hedging instrument 1s recognised
immediately in the iIncome statement

The table below shows the carrying amounts of the Group's foreign currency denominated assets and labiliies Provided contingent tax
on overseas Investments (s not expected to occur it will be ignared for hedging purposes Based on the 31 March 2018 position a 26%
appreciation (largest annual change over the last ten years) in the Euro relative to Sterling wauld result in a £nil change (20156/17 £nill in
reported profits

Assels Liabilities
2018 2007 2018 2017
£m £ £m £m
Evure depnominated 3 11 3 11

Credit risk management

The Group’s approach to credit risk management of counterparties is referred to in the Financial polictes and principles on pages 45 to 47 and
the risks addressed within Managimg rnisk in delivering our strategy on pages 48 to 51 The carrying amount of financial assets recorded In the
financial statements represents the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of the value of any collateral obtained

Cash and short term deposits at 31 March 2018 amounted to £105m (2016/17 £114m] Deposits and interest rate deposits were placed with
financial institutions with BBB+ or hetter credit ratings

At 31 March 2018, the fair value of all interest rate dervative assets was £119m (20146/17 £217m)

At 31 March 2018, prior to taking into account any offset arrangerments, the largest combined credit exposure to a single counterparty
arising from money market deposits, hquid investments and derivatives was £49m (2016/17 £120m) This represents 0 4% (2016/17 09%)
of gross assets

The deposit exposures are with UK banks and UK branches of internationat banks

The Group's exposure to credit risk in respect of its trade recevables i1s analysed in note 13 Provisians are made taking into account historic
credit losses and the creditworthiness of debtors

Liquidity risk management
The Group's approach ta liquidity risk management 1s discussed in the Financial policies and principles on pages 45 to 47, and the risks
addressed within Managing risk in delivering our strategy on pages 48 to 51

The following table presents a maturity profile of the contracted undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date
on which the Group can be required to pay The table includes both interest and principal flows Where the interest payable 1s not fixed,
the amount disclosed has been determined by reference to the projected interest rates implied by yield curves at the reporting date

For derwvative financial instruments that settle on a net basis [e g interest rate swaps) the undiscounted net cash flows are shown and for
dervatives that require gross settlement [e g cross currency swapsl the undiscounted gross cash flows are presented Where payment
obligations are in foreign currencies, the spot exchange rate ruling at the balance sheet date 1s used Trade creditors and amounts owed
to joint ventures, which are repayable within one year, have been excluded from the analysis

The Group expects to meet its financial Labilities through the various available Ligquidity sources, including a secure rental income profile,
asset sales, undrawn committed borrowing facilities and, in the longer term, debt refinancings
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17 Net debt continued

Liquidity risk management continued

The Group leases out all its investment properties under operating leases with a weighted average lease length of eight years This secure
income profile 1s generated from upward only rent reviews, long leases and high occupancy rates The future aggregate mimimum rentals
recevable under non-cancellable operating leases are alse shown in the table below Income from joint ventures ang funds is not included
below Additional bquidity will arise from letting space in properties under construction as well as from distributions received from joint
ventures and funds

2018
Three

Within Fellowing to five Qver five
one year year years years Total
Em tm £m £m £m
Debt! 30 166 1,173 1,680 3,049
Interest on debt 92 94 232 475 893
Derivative payments 34 16 182 259 491
Head lease payments 2 2 7 267 278
Total payments 158 278 1,594 2,681 4,711
Derwative receipts (52) (20) (209) (198) 1477)
Net payment 106 258 1,385 2,485 4,234
Operating leases with tenants 424 399 9468 1,490 3,281
Liguidity surplus [deficit) 318 141 1417) (995) {953)

Cumulative liquidity surplus [deficit) 318 459 42 [953]

2017
Three

Within Following to five Dver five
one year year years years Total
£m Em £rm Ern Em
Debt’ 459 33 1,240 1,420 3152
Interest on debt 89 86 235 468 878
Derwvative payments 12 A 189 263 508
Head lease payments 2 2z 7 254 265
Total payments 562 165 1,671 2,405 4,803
Derivative receipts (26) (61] (255] (251) (593]
Net payment 536 104 1416 2,154 4,210
Operating leases with tenants 405 387 984 1,750 3,521
Liguicity [deficit) surplus 1131) 278 [432) i404) (6589

Cumulative liquidity [deficit] surplus 131 147 (285) (689

Gross debt of £3,128m (2016/17 £3.281m] represents the total of £3.049m (2016/17 £3,152m], less unamortised sssue costs of £13m [2016/17 £15ml, plus fairvalue
adjustments to debt of £92m (2016/17 £144m)

Any short term liquidity gap between the net payments required and the rentals receivable can be met through other Liguidity sources
avallable to the Group, such as committed undrawn borrowing facilities The Group currently holds cash and short term deposits of £105m of
which £91rm 1s not subject to a security interest [see footnote 5 to net debt table on page 131) Further lguidity can be achieved through sales
of property assets or investments and debt refinancings

The Group's property portfalio i1s valued externally at £9.997m and the share of joint ventures and funds property 1s valued at £4,102rm
The commutted undrawn borrowing facilities available to the Group are a further source of hquidity The maturity profile of commuited
undrawn borrowing facilities 1s shown below

Maturity of committed undrawn borrowing facilities

2018 207

£m Em

Maturity date  over five years 50 125
between four and five years 90 11e

hetween three and four years 1,010 58

Total facilives available for more than three years 1,160 1,293
Betwsaen two and three years 85 149
Between one and two yaars 86 -
Within one year - 2
Total 1,331 1444

The above facilities are comprised of British Land undrawn faciities of £1,245m excluding the extension of the £735m facility, plus undrawn
facilities of Hercules Unit Trust totalling £86m
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18 Leasing
Operating leases with tenants

The Group leases out all of its Investment properties under cperating leases with a weighted average lease length of eight years
(2016/17 eight years] The future aggregate minimurm rentals receivable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows

2018 2017
£m £m
Less than one year 424 A05
Between one and two years 399 382
Between three and five years 948 984
Between six and ten years %06 ¢80
Between eleven and fifteen years 393 460
Between sixteen and twenty years 145 181
After twenty years 46 129
Total 3,281 3,521
Operating lease commitments
The future aggregate minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows
2018 2017
€m Em
Less than one year 3 3
Between cne and two years 3 3
Between three and five years 8 7
Between six and ten years 7 9
Total 21 24

The Groug's leasehold investment properties are typically under non-renewable leases withaut significant restrictions Finance lease
liabilities are payable as follows, no contmgent rents were payable in either period

2018 2017
Minimum Mimmum
lease lease
payments Interest Principal payments Interast Principat
£m £m £m €m Em £m

British Land Group

Less than cne year 2 2 - 2 2 -
Between one and two years 2 2 - z 2 -
Between two and five years 7 7 - 7 7 -
Mare than five years 267 205 62 249 205 b4
Total 278 216 62 280 214 b4
Less future finance charges (216} [218)
Present value of lease ahligations 62 &4
More than five years 62 b4
Present value of lease obligations 62 b4

140 British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2018



19 Dividend
The fourth quarter interim dividend of 7 52 pence per share, totalling £74m [2016/17 730 pence per share, totaling £75ml, was approved
by the Board on 16 May 2018 and is payable on 3 August 2018 to shareholders on the register at the close of business on 29 June 2018

The Board will announce the availability of the Scrip Dividend Alternative, if available, via the Regulatory News Service and an its website
iwww.britishland.com/dividends), no later than four business days before the ex-dividend date of 28 June 2018 The Board expects to
announce the split between Property Income Distributions [PID] and non-PID income at that ime  Any Scrip Dividend Alternative will not
be enhanced PID dividends are paid, as required by REIT legistation, after deduction of withholding tax at the basic rate [currently 20%],
where appropriate Certain classes of shareholders may be able to elect to receve dividends gross Please refer to sur website
www.britishland com/dividends for details

Pence per 2018 2m7
Payment date Dividend share £m Em
Current year dividends
0308 2018 2018 4thinterim 752
04 052018 2018 3rd interim 752
0902 2018 2018 2nd interim 752 75
10112017 2018 1stinterim 752 77
3008
Prior year dividends
04082017 2017 4th interim 730 75
05 05 2017 2017 3rd interim 730 75
1002 2017 2017 2nd interim 730 75
11112014 2007 1stinterim 730 75
2920
05 08 2016 2016 4thainterim 709! 73
06 05 2016 2016 3rd interim 709 73
Dividends in consolidated statement
of changes in equity 302 796
Diwvidends settled in shares - -
Drvidends settied in cash 302 296
Timing difference relating to payment
of withholding tax 2 il
Dividends in cash flow statement 304 295
Dividend split half PIO, half non-PID
20} Share capital and reserves
2018 2007
Number of ordinary shares inissue at 1 April 1,041,035,058 1,040,562,323
Share 1ssues 429,206 472,735
Repurchased and cancelled (47,607,139) -
At 31 March 993,857,125 1, 041,035,058

Of the 1ssued 25p ordinary shares, 7.376 shares were held in the ESOP trust [2016/17 7,783), 11,266,245 shares were held as treasury shares
[2016/17 11,266,245) and 982 583.504 shares were in free 1ssue {2016/17 1,029,761,030} No treasury shares were acquired by the ESOP trust
during the year All issued shares are fully paid In the year ended 31 March 2018 the Cornpany repurchased and cancelled 47,60713% ordinary
shares at a weighted average price of 630 pence

Hedging and translation reserve

The hedging and translation reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of cash flow and foregn
currency hedging instruments, as well as all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations The foreign exchange differences also include the translation of the Liabilities that hedge the Company s net investmentin a
foreign substdiary

Revaluation reserve
The revaluation reserve relates to owner-cccupled properties and invesiments in joint ventures and funds

Merger reserve

This comprises the premiurn on the share placing in March 2013 No share prermium s recorded tn the Company’s financial staternents,
through the operation of the merger relief provisions of the Companies Act 2006
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20 Share capital and reserves continued
At 31 March 2018, opticns over 7,517,263 ordinary shares were outstanding under employee share option plans The options had a weighted
average Ufe of 6 6 years Detalls of outstanding share options and shares awarded to employees including Executive Directors are set out

below and on the following page
Exercise dates

At 1 April Vested but  Exercised/ At 31 March Exercise

Date of grant 2017 Granted not exercised Vested Lapsed 2018 price pence From To
Share options Sharesave Scheme

260612 42,698 - - 140,403) (2,295] - 392 00 01217 010318
190613 317 - - - (317] - 51100 01916 280217
190613 15,202 - - - (352] 14,850 51100 01918 010319
230614 116,537 - - (112,774) (3,761] - 574 00 01917 010318
230614 98,450 - - - (15.938) 82,512 574 00 01919 010320
220615 39,205 - - - (11,305] 27,900 69700 01918 010319
220615 20,382 - - - {5,376) 15,006 69700 01920 010327
200616 92101 - - {559 [45,616) 45,926 608 00 01919 010320
200616 59,300 - - - (37,297) 22,003 608 00 0192y 010322
210617 - 265,883 - - (5064] 256,819 508 00 01920 010327
210617 - 78,960 - - [2,420) 96,540 508 00 01922 010323

484,192 364,843 - [153,738) (1337411 561,556

Long-Term Incentive Plan - options vested, not exercised

290609 10,333 - - - - 10,333 38700 290612 290619
211209 49,710 - - (11,157} - 58,653 44600 211212 211219
110610 1,207,153 - - (74,884] - 1,132,269 44700 M0613  NM0620
141210 59,933 - - (4,800] - 55,133 51000 141213 141220
2806 M 823.253 - - (10,434 - 812,817 57500 280614 2806 21
1912 17 76,826 - - {6,651] - 70,175 45100 191214 191221
140912 1.055.207 - - 185,254 (2.096) 968,557 23800 140915 140922
201212 77,345 - - 16,532] (8,616) 62,197 56300 201215 201222
050813 333,028 - - (27,280] (11,6701 294,078 60100 050816 050823
051213 208,015 - - (23.151) 12953 171,909 40000 051216 051223
3,921,503 - - [250,143]  [35,337] 3,636,023

Long-Term Incentive Plan - unvested options

23614 763,854 - - - 1763,854) - 684 33 230617 230624

121214 26127 - - - [26,127] - 75783 121217 121224

22615 1,021,853 - - - 132,731 889,122 824 50 220618 220625

22614 1,317,362 - - - 95,7421 1,221,620 730 50 220619 220626

28617 - 1,258,685 - - [49,743] 1,208,942 81717 280620 280627
3129196 1,258,685 - - [1,068,197] 3,319,684

Totai 7.534,891 1,623,528 - [403.881] [1,237,275) 7,517,263

Woeighted average exercise

price of options [pence) 621 593 - 522 490 609
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20 Share capital and reserves continued

Share price
AT Aprit Exercrsed/ At 31 March at grant date
Date of grant 2017 Granted Vested Lapsed 2018 pence Veshing date
Performance Shares Long-Term Incentive Plan
23614 1,302,354 - - 1,302,354) - 684 0D 23617
121214 4,354 - - 14,354) - 75783 121217
72615 1,151,199 - - (82.741] 1,068,458 824 50 22618
22616 1,273,754 - - [136704] 1,137,050 73050 22419
28617 - 1948771 - [51,159) 1,897,612 51717 284 20
3731661 1948771 - {1577312] 4,103,120
Matching Share Plan
30614 289540 — [144780) (144,780] - 702 40 30617
29615 282,170 - - - 282,170 806 00 29618
29616 318,932 - - (5756) 313,174 80700 29619
890,662 - [144.780) (150,536] 595,346
Total 4,622,323 1948771 [(144,780) [1,727,848] 4,698,466
Weighted average price of shares [pence) 749 617 702 695 714

21 Segment information

The Group allocates resources to Investment and asset management according to the sectors it expects to perform over the medium term
Its three principal sectors are Offices, Retail and Canada Water The Retail sector includes leisure, as this 1s often incorporated into Retail
schermnes Residential properties were included within Offices in the prior year, but have been reclassified within Other/unallocated in the
current year, with the prior year comparatives represented

The relevant gross rental income, net rental iIncome, operating result and property assets, being the measures of segment revenue, segment
result and segment assets used by the management of the business, are set cut below Management reviews the perfarmance of the
business principally on a propertichally consolidated basis, which includes the Group s share of joint ventures and funds on a Uine-by-lne
basis and excludes non-controlling interests in the Group’s subsidiaries The chief aperating decision maker for the purpose of segment
information 1s the Executive Committee

Gross rental income 1s derived from the rental of buildings Operating result s the net of net rental income, fee iIncome and administrative
expenses No customer exceeded 10% of the Group's revenuegs in eitheryaar
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21 Segment information continued
Segment result

Difices Retail Canada Water Other/unallocated Total
208 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 27
€m Em £m £m £m £m £m tmn £m fm
Gross rental income
British Land Group 139 139 273 276 8 9 4 3 424 427
Share of jaintventures and funds 102 116 87 100 - - - - 189 216
Total 21 255 340 376 8 g 4 3 413 643
Net rentalincome
British Land Group 1 31 254 262 7 8 4 2 394 403
Share of joint ventures and funds 98 112 82 95 - - - - 180 207
Total 229 243 336 357 7 8 4 2 576 610
Operating result
British Land Group 124 127 248 252 4 5 142) (47) 334 337
Share of joint ventures and funds 95 109 79 96 - - (2] (1) 172 204
Total 221 236 327 348 4 5 144) (48] 508 541
2018 2017
Reconciliation te Underlying Profit £m Em
Cperating result 508 941
Net financing costs (128) (157}
Underlying Profit 380 390
Reconciliation to profit on ordinary activities before taxation
Underlying Profit 380 390
Capital and other 107 (209)
Underlying Prefit atiributable 1o non-controlling interests 14 14
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 501 185
Reconciliation to Group revenue
Gross rental income per operating segment result 613 643
Less share of gross rental incorme of joint ventures and funds (189) (216]
Plus share of gross rental incerne attributable to non-centrolling Interests 17 15
Gross rental income (note 3) Li 4Li7
Trading property sales proceeds 78 33
Service charge income .1 42
Management and performance fees (from joint ventures and funds) [ 9
Other fees and commissions 48 43
Revenue [Consolidated Income Statement} 639 589

Areconcibation between net financing costs in the consolidated income staternent and net financing costs of £128m 12016/17 €£151m) in the
segmental disclosures abave can be found within Table A in the supplementary disclosures Of the total revenues above, £ml [2016/17 £nil]

was derived from outside the UK

Segmentassets
Offices Retail Canada Water Otherfunallocated Total
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2m7 2018 207
€m £m £m Em €m fm £m £m £m Em
Property assets
British Land Group 4,31 4,049 4,915 4,716 283 271 13 154 9,682 9,210
Share of jointventures and funds 2,334 2,776 1,681 1938 - - 19 16 4,034 4,730
Total 6,705 6,845 5,596 6,654 283 271 132 170 13,716 13940
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21 Segment information continued
Reconciliation to net assets

2018 2017
British Land Group £m £m
Property assets 13,M6 13940
Other non-current assets 185 154
Non-current assets 13,901 14,09
Other net current Liabilities [348) (364)
Adjusted net debt 13,973)  [4.223)
Other non-current liabilities - m
EPRA net assets [diluted} 9,550 9,498
Nan-controlling interests 254 255
EPRA adjustments (308) (277)
Net assets 9,506 9476

22 Capital commitments
The aggregate capital commitments to purchase, construct or develop investment property, for repairs, maintenance or enhancements,
or for the purchase of Investments which are contracted for but not provided, are set out below

2018 2017

tm £m

British Land and subsidiaries 239 84
Share of joint ventures 193 19
Share of funds - 2
432 107

23 Related party transactions

Details of transactions with joint ventures and funds are given in notes 3, 6 and 11 During the year the Group recognised joint venture
management fees of £6m (2016/17 £9m) Details of Directors’ remuneration are given in the Remuneration Report on pages 76 to 91
Details of transactions with key management personnel are provided in note 8 Details of transactions with The Briush Land Group of
Companies Pension Scheme, and other smaller pension schemes, are given in note 9

24 Contingent liabilities

Group, joint ventures and fynds

The Group, joint ventures and funds have contingent lahibties in respect of legal claims, guarantees and warranties arising in the ordinary
course of business Itis not anticipated that any matenal labiities will arise from contingent liabitities
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25 Subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests

Set out below 1s summarised financial information for each subsidiary that has non-contrelling interests that are material to the Group
The information below 1s the amount before intercompany ebminations, and represents the consclidated results of the Hercules Unit
Trust group

Summarised income statement for the year ended 31 March
Hercules Unrt Trust

2018 2047

£m Em

Profit on ordinary activities after taxation 53 G
Attributable to non-controlling interests 14
Attributable to the shareholders of the Company 39

Summarised balance sheet as at 31 March
Hercules Lnit Trust

2018 2017

£m frm

Total assets 1,548 1,509
Total uabilities (585) [537)
Net assets 983 F78
Non-controlling interests (254) (255)
Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company 729 723

Summarised cash flows
Hercules Unit Trust

2018 2017

£m tm

Netincrease ih cash and cash equivalents 3 0
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April 40 30
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 43 40

The Hercules Unit Trust1s a closed-ended property Unit Trust The unit price at 31 March 201815 £684 {2016/17 £684] Non-controlling
interests collectively own 23 0% of units in1ssue The British Land Cempany PLC owns 77 0% of units in issue, each of which confer equal
voting rights, and therefore 1s deemed to exercise control over the trust

26 Subsequent events
There have been no significant events since year end
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27 Audit exemptions taken for subsidiaries

The following subsidiaries are exempt from the requirements of the Companies Act 2004 relating to the audit of individual accounts by virtue

of Section 47%A of that Act

Campanies House

Companies House

Name reg number  Name reg number
20 Brock Street Limited 07401697  BL Holdings 2010 Ltd 07353%966
39 Victoria Street Limited 07037133 Boldswitch Limited 02307096
Adamant Investment Corporation Limited 00225149  British Land In Town Retail Limited 03325066
Apartpower Limited 02832052 British Land Property Advisers Limited 02793828
Bayeast Property Co Limited 00635800 Cavendish Geared Limited 02772045
BL Broadgate Fragment 1 Limited 09400407  Exchange House Holdings Limited 02037407
BL Broadgate Fragment Z Limited 09400541  Hempel Holdings Limited 05341380
BL Broadgate Fragment 3 Limited 09400411 Hilden Properties Limited NI062887
BL Broadgate Fragment 4 Limited 09400409  Hytleet Limited 02835919
BL Broadgate Fragment b Limited 09400413  Ilvoryhill Limited 02307407
BL Broadgate Fragment é Limited 09400414  Lancaster General Partner Limited 05452195
BL CUfton Moor Limited 07508019  Longford Street Residential Limited ggrvo01s8
BL CW Developments Limited 10664198  Moorage (Property Developments] Limited 01185513
BL CW Developments Plot Al Ltd 10782150  Osnaburgh Street Limited 05884735
BL CW Developments Plot A2 Ltd 10782335  Paddington Central | [GP) Limred 03891374
BL CW Developments Plot G1 Ltd 10782458  Parwick Investments Limited 00454239
BL CW Lower GP Company Limited 10643292  Piccadilly Residential Limited 10525984
BL CW Lower LP Company Limited 10663474 Pillar Nugent Limited 02547031
BL CW Holdings Piot AT Company Limited 10781493  Pillarman Limited 02713307
BL CW Holdings Plot AZ Company Limitad 10781503  PillarStore No 3 Limited 03589118
BL CW Holdings Plot G1 Company Limited 10781471  Shopping Centres Limited 02230056
BL Cwmbran Limited 07780251 Surrey Quays Limited 05294243
BL Eden Walk Limited 10620935 TBL (Bursledon) Limited 03854557
BL HC Property Holdings Limited 068%4046  TBL [Lisnagelvin] Limited 03853983
BL Health Clubs PH No 1 Limited 05643248  TBL [Maidstone] Limited 03854415
BL Health Ciubs PH No 2 Limited 05643261 TBL Holdings Limited 0383731
BL Lancaster nvestments Ltd 10563072  Teesside Leisure Park Limited 02672136
BL Osnahurgh 5t Residential Ltd 06874523  United Kingdom Property Company Limited 00266485
BL Residential No 1 Limited 05291937  Vintners Place Limited 02149495
BL Residential No 2 Limited 05291956 Wates City of London Properties Limited 01788526
BLD (Ebury Gate] Limited 03863852  Wates City Point Limited 02973114
BLD Properties Limited 00732787

The following partnerships are exempt from the requirements to prepare, publish and have audited individual accounts by virtue of regulation
7 of The Partnerships [Accounts) Regulations 2008 The results of these partnerships are consolidated within these Group accounts

Name

Name

BL Shoreditch Lirmited Partnership

BL Chess No 1 Limited Partnership

BL CW Lower Limited Partnership

BL CW Upper Limited Partnership

Bl Lancaster Limited Partnership

Hereford Shopping Centre Limited Partnership

Paddington Block A LP

Paddington Block B LP

Paddington Central | LP

Paddington Central i LP

Paddington Kiosk Lp

Power Court Lutan Limited Partnership
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COMPANY BALANCE SHEET
PREPARED IN ACCORDANCE WITH FRS 101 AS AT 31 MARCH 2018

2018 W
Nere £m L

Fixed assets

Investments and loans to substdraries D 28,148 27518
Investments in joint ventures D I76 43
Dther investments D 34 35
Interest rate derivative assets E 115 217
Deferred tax assets 10 -
28,683 28,201
Currentassets
Debtors G 6 7
Cash and short term deposits = kY4 49
38 56
Current liabilities
Short term barrowings and overdraits E [27) [63]
Creditors H {asl {105]
Amounts due to subsidiaries (20,645) 119.410)
120,7560) £19,578)
Net current liabilities (20,722) {19,522)
Total assets less current liabilities 7,961 8,679
Non-current liabilities
Debentures and loans E 12,2501 13,978
interest rate derivative liabilities E (133) [134)
Amounts due te subsidiaines - {3311
Deferred tax and other non-current Liabilities - [3]
{2,383) [2.446)
Net assets 5,578 6,233
Equity
Called up share capital ! 248 240
Share premium 1,300 1.298
Other reserves 7 1134)
Merger reserve 213 213
Retained earrungs 3,810 4,59
Total equity 5,578 6,233

The loss after taxation for the year ending 31 March 2018 for the Company was £192m (year ending 31 March 2017 £121m prohit]

Chris Erigg

John Gildersleeve
Charrman Chief Executive Dificer

Approved by the Board on 16 May 2018

Company number 621920
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018

Profit and
Share Share Other Merger loss Total
capital premium reserves reserve account equity
£Em £m £m £m £m £m
Balance at 1 April 2017 250 1,298 (134) 213 4,596 6,233
Share 1ssues - 2 - - - 2
Purchase of own shares 12) - - - (289) (301}
Dividend paid - - - - (302) {302)
Net actuarial gain on pension schemes - - - - ? 9
Loss far the year after taxation - - - - (192) {192)
Transferred to the income statement [cash flow hedges) - - 129 - - 129
Balance at 31 March 2018 248 1,300 (5) 213 3,822 5,578
Balance at 1 April 2016 260 1,295 (120) 213 4,789 6,437
Share 1ssues - 3 - - - 3
Dividend paid - - - - [294) (296)
Fair value of share and share option awards - - - - 2 2
Purchase of own shares - - - - (8] (8}
Net actuarial loss on pension schemes - - - - [12] 12)
Profit for the year after taxation - - - - 121 121
Derwvative valuation moverment - — i14) - - (14)
Balance at 31 March 2017 260 1,298 (134} 213 4,596 6,233
The value of distributable reserves within the profit and loss accountis £2,074m [(2016/17 £2.911m)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(A) Accounting policies

The financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2018 have
been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the revaluation
of derivatives These financial statements have also been prepared
in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101 Reduced
Disclosure Framework | FRS 101) The amendments to FRS 101
(2015/16 Cycle] 1ssued in July 2016 and effective immediately have
been applied

In preparing these financial statements, the Company applies the
recognition, measurement and disclosure requirements of
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU
[‘Adopted IFRSs ), but makes amendments where necessary in order
to comply with the Companies Act 2006 and has set out below where
advantage of the FRS 101 disclosure exernptions has been taken

The Company has taken advantage of the following disclosure
exemptions under FRS 101

{a] the requirements of IAS 1to provide a balance sheet at the
beginning of the period in the event of a prior periad adjustment,

[b] the requirements of 1AS 1 to provide a statement of cash flows
for the period,

[c] the reguirements of IAS 1 to provide a statement of compliance
with IFRS,

[d] the reguirements of IAS 1 to disclose information on the
management of capital,

(el the requiremnents of paragraphs 30 and 31 of IAS 8 Accounting

Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors to disclose

new IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective,

(fl the requirernents in IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures to disclose
related party transactions entered into between two or more
members of a group, provided that any subsidiary which 1s a
party to the transaction 1s wholly-owned by such a member,

(g) the requirements of paragraph 17 of |AS 24 Related Party
Disclosures to disclose key management personnel
compensation,

{h] the requirements of IFRS 7 to disclose financial instruments, and

{il the requirements of paragraphs 91-99 of IFRS 13 Fair Value
Measurement te disclose information of fair value valuation
techrigues and inputs

Going concern
The financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis
as explained in the corporate governance section on page 51
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Investments and loans
Investments and loans in subsidiaries and jointventures are stated
at cost tess provision for impairment

Significant judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty

The key source of estimation uncertainty relates to the Company's
investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures In estimating the
requirement forimpairment of these investments, management
make assumptions and judgements on the value of these
investments using inherently subjective underlying asset valuations,
supported by independent valuers

(B) Dividends
Details of dividends paid and proposed are included in note 17 of the
consclidated financiat statements

(C) Employee information

Employee costs include wages and salaries of £39m (2016/17 £37m)],
social security costs of £5m [2016/17 £5m) and pension costs of £5m
(2016/17 £5m)] Details of the Executive Directors’ remuneration are
disclosed in the Remuneration Report

Audit fees in relation to the parent Company only were £0 3m

. [2016/17 £0 2m)



(D) Investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures, loans to subsidiaries and other investments

Investments
Shares in Loansto In joint QOther
subsidiaries subsidiarias ventures Investments Total
Em Em £m £m £m
On 1 April 2017 19,706 7812 431 35 27,984
Additons - 1,852 32 5 1,889
Disposals - {1.071) (87 (2) (1,160]
Depreciation/amortisation - - - (4] (4)
Provision for impairment (3] 148 - - (151)
As at 31 March 2018 19,703 8,445 376 34 28,558
The historical cost of shares in subsidiaries 1s £20,025m [2014/17 £20,025m) Investments in joint ventures of £376m {2016/17 £431m)
includes £183m (2014/17 £245m] of loans to joint ventures by the Company Results of the joint ventures are set out in note 11 of the
consolidated financial statements The historical cost of other investments 1s £50m (2016/17 £48m)
(E)} Net debt
2018 2017
£m £m
Secured on the assets of the Company
5 264% First Mortgage Debenture Bonds 2035 369 377
5 0055% First Mortgage Amortising Debentures 2035 95 99
5 357% First Mortgage Debenture Beonds 2028 255 348
719 824
Unsecured
5 50% Senior Notes 2027 100 102
3 895% Senmior US Dollar Notes 2018 27 32
4 635% Senior US Dollar Notes 2021 156 181
4 766% Sermor S Dollar Notes 2023 97 113
5 003% Senior US Dollar Notes 2026 63 73
3 81% Senior Notes 2026 110 114
397% Senior Notes 2026 112 17
Fair value of options to 1ssue under 1 5% convertible bond 2017 - 3
Fair value of options to 1ssue under 0% convertible bond 2020 - 3
2 375% First Mortgage Debenture Bonds 2029 298 -
Bank loans and averdrafts 595 417
1,658 1,217
Gross debt 2,277 2,041
|nterest rate and currency derivative liabilities 133 134
Interest rate and currency derivative assets (115) i217)
Cash and short term deposits (32) £9)
Net debt 2,263 1,909

' Principal and inlerest on these borrowings were fully hedged into Sterling at a floating rate at the time of 1ssue

1.5% Convertible bond 2012 [maturity 2017}

On 10 September 2012, British Land [Jersey] Limited [the 2012 issuer], a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, 1ssued £400 mitlion 15%
guaranteed convertible bonds due 2017 (the 2012 bends) at par On 10 Septernber 2017, the convertible bonds were redeemed at par
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(E) Net debt continued

0% Convertible bend 2015 (maturity 2020)

On 9 June 2015, British Land [White] 2015 Limited ithe 2015 Issuer], a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, 1ssued £350 million zero
coupon guaranteed convertible bonds due 2020 [the 2015 bonds) at par The 2015 Issuer s fully guaranteed by the Company In respect
of the 2015 bonds

Subject to their terms, the 2015 bonds are convertible into preference shares of the 2015 Issuer which are automatically transferred to
the Company i exchange for ordinary shares in the Company or, at the Company’s election, any combination of crdinary shares and cash
From 20 July 2015 up to and including 29 June 2018, a bondholder may exercise its conversion right if the share price has traded at a level
exceeding 130% of the exchange price for a specified periad Thereafter, and up to but excluding the 7th dealing day before 2 June 2020
(the maturity datel, a bondholder may convert at any time

The initial exchange price was 1103 32 pence per ordinary share The exchange price 1s adjusted based on certain events {such as the
Company paying dividends in any quarter above 3 418 pence per ordinary share] As at 31 March 2018 the exchange price was 1036 52 pence
per ordinary share

From 30 June 2018, the Company has the option to redeem the 2015 bonds at par if the Company's share price has traded above 130% of

the exchange price for a specified period, or at any time once 85% by nominat value of the 2015 bonds have been converted, redeemed, or
purchased and cancelled The 2015 bonds will be redeemed at par on 7 June 2020 (the maturity date) If they have not already been converted,
redeemed or purchased and cancelleo

The intercompany loan between the Issuer and the Cormpany arising from the transfer of the loan proceeds was imtially recognised at fair
value, net of capitalised ssue costs, and Is accounted for using the amortised cost method [n addition ta the intercempany loan, the Company
has entered inta a derivative contract relating to its guarantee of the obligations of the Issuer in respect of the bonds and the commitment to
provide shares or a combination of shares and cash on conversion of the bonds This derivative contract s included within the balance sheet
as a liability carned at fair value through profit and loss

Maturity analysis of net debt

2018 2017

£m Em

Repayable within one year and on demand 27 63
between one and two years - 33
two and five years 506 442

five and ten yaars 804 782

ten and fifteen years 305 332

fifteen and twenty years 635 389

2,250 1978

Gross debt . 2,277 2,041
Interest rate derivatives 18 {83)
Cash and short term deposits (32) [49)
Net debt 2,263 1,909

(F) Pension
The British Land Group of Companies Pension Scheme and the Defined Contribution Pension Scheme are the principal pension schemes
of the Company and details are set out in note 9 of the consolidated financial statements
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(G) Debtors

2018 2017
£m £m
Trade and other debtors & 3
Prepayments and accrued income - 4
[ 7

(H) Creditors
2018 2017
£m £m
Trade creditors 12 12
Corpaoration tax 21 29
Other taxation and social security 21 32
Accruals and deferred income 34 32
88 105

(I) Share capital

Ordinary shares

£m of 25p each

Issued, called and fully paid
A1 April 2017 260 1,041,035,058
Share 1ssues - 429,206
Repurchased and cancelled 12] [47.607139)
At 31 March 2018 248 993,857,125
CGrdinary shares
£rm of 25p each

Issued, called and fully paid
At 1 April 2016 260 1040,562,323
Share 1ssues - 472,735
At 31 March 2017 260 1,041,035,058

(1) Contingent liabilities, capital commitments and related party transactions
The Company has contingent liabilities in respect of legal claims, guarantees and warranties arising inthe ordinary course of business
It 1s not anticipated that any matenal labilities will arise from the contingent liabilities

At 31 March 2018, the Company has £nil of capital commitments (2016/17 £1m]

Related party transactions are the same for the Company as for the Group For details refer to note 23 of the consclidated financial statements
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(K) Related undertakings

Disclosures relating to subsidiary undertakings

The Company's subsidiaries and other related undertakings at

31 March 2018 are Lsted below Companies which have been
dissolved since 31 March 2018 are marked with an asterisk (*]

All Group entities are included in the consolidated financial results

Unless atherwise stated, the Company holds 100% of the voting
rights and beneficial interests in the shares of the following
subsidiaries, partnerships, associales and joint ventures Unless
otherwise stated, the subsidiaries and related undertakings are

registered in the United Kingdom

The share capital of each of the companies, where applicable,

comprises ordinary shares unless otherwise stated

The Company holds the majority of its assets in UK companies,
although some are held in overseas companies Inrecentyears
we have reduced the number of overseas companies in the Group

Unless noted atherwise as per the following key, the registered
address of each company 1s York House, 45 Seymour Street,

: UK/Overseas Tax
Company Name Resident Status
Linestair Limited UK Tax Resident
London and Henley Holdings Lirnited UK Tax Resident
Meadowhall Pensions Scherme UK Tax Resident
Trustee Limited
MSC Property Intermediate Holdings UK Tax Resident
Limited (50% interest)

Plantation House Limited UK Tax Resident
Priory Park Merton Limited UK Tax Resident
Regis Property Holdings Limited UK Tax Resident
The British Land Corporation Limited UK Tax Resident
Vitalcreate UK Tax Resident
Indirect holdings

UK /Overseas Tax
Company Name Resident Status
18& 4 & 7 Triton Limited UK Tax Resident
10 Brock Street Limited UK Tax Resident

10 Portman Square Unit Trust [Jersey)
[Units)?

Overseas Tax Resident

London W1H 7LX 10 Triton Street Limited UK Tax Resident
8516 < Street Doualas M1 1AM, Isle of M 17-19 Bedford Street Limited UK Tax Resident
! eorge’s Street, Douglas ,Isle of Man
2 47 Esplanade, St Helier. Jersey JE} 0BD 18-20 Craven Hill Gardens Limited UK Tax Resident
3 Barratt House, Cartwright Way, Forest Business Park, Bardon Hill, Coalville, 20 Brock Street Limited UK Tax Resident
%;'izsé”?"”edﬁg;ur | LI 20 Triton Street Limited UK Tax Resident
N - splanade, St Helier, Jersay E
44 Esplanade, St Helier, Jersey JE4 SWG 338 Euston Road Limited UK Tax Resident
¢ 14 Porle de France, 4360 Esch-sur-Alzetle, Luxembourg 350 Euston Road Limited UK Tax Resident
" 138 Unwersity Street, Belfast, BT7 1HJ 39 Victoria Street Limited UK Tax Resident
" The Corporation Trust Company. 1207 Drange Street. Wilmington, 8-10 Throgmorton Avenue Limited UK Tax Resident
DE 19801, USA
Adamant Investrment Corperation Limited UK Tax Resident
Direct holdings Adshilta Limited UK Tax Resident
UK/Overseas Tax | Aldgate Place [GP) Lirmted [50% interest)? UK Tax Resident
Company Name Resident Status | Apartpower Limited UK Tax Resident
BL Bluebutton 2014 Limited UK Tax Resident | Ashband Lirmited UK Tax Resident

BL Davidson Limited

UK Tax Resident

B L Unit Trust [Jersay] (Units)?

Overseas Tax Resident

FLlESOdP lellted lisle of Man] Overseas Tax Resident | B L Holdings Limited UK Tax Resident
in iquidation] B LCT [12697] Limited (Jersey)* UK Tax Resident
Bl Furopean Fund Management LLP UK Tax Resident | 1 CT (21500 Limited [Jerse);llg UK Tax Resident
Et Exempt Insurincetsderwces Limited Bil'ax geggent B L U (11193) Limited Uersey) UK Tax Resident
uaranteecc Limite ax Resident * U

BL Intermediate Holding Company Limited UK Tax Resident S:lriir;;asl:[‘ﬁiid UiE: 22:3221
BLSSP (Funding) Limited UK Tax Resident | B rndril Limited UK Tax Resident
Ell:nelgﬁt[ggozrlﬁf:rrégyanagemem UK UK Tax Resident | g3 oast Property Co Limited UK Tax Resident
Boldswitch (No 1) Limited UK Tax Resident Bexle Limited U« Tax Resident
Boldswitch Lirmited UK Tax Reaident BF Propco [No 1] Limited UK Tax Resident
British Land [Jersey] Limited [Jersey] UK Tax Resident BF Propco [No 13) Limited UK Tax Resident
[Founder Shares): BF Propco (Na 19) Lirmited UK Tax Resident
British Land (White) 2015 Limited [Jersey] UK Tax Resident | BF Propeo (No 3] Limited UK Tax Resident
(Founder Shares) BF Propco [No 4] Limited UK Tax Resident
British Land City UK Tax Resident | BF Propco [No 5} Limited UK Tax Resident
Briish Land City 2005 Lirnited UK Tax Resident | BF Properties [No 4] Limited UK Tax Resident
British Land Company Secretarial Lirnited UK Tax Resident | BF Properties [No 5] Limited UK Tax Resident
British Land Financing Limited UK Tax Resident | Birstall Co-Ownership Trust UK Tax Resident
British Land Properties Limited UK Tax Resident | (Member interest] (41 25% interest]

British Land Real Estate Limited UK Tax Resident | BL [Maidenhead] Cornpany Limited UK Tax Resident
Briush Land Secunities Limited UK Tax Resident | BL [SP) Cannon Street Limnited UK Tax Resident
British Land Securitisation 1999 UK Tax Resident | BLISPI Investment (1) Limited UK Tax Resident
Broadgate [Funding PLC UK Tax Resident | BL ISP Investment (2} Limited UK Tax Resident
Broadgate Fstates Insurance Mediation UK Tax Resident | BLISP] Investment [3] Limited UK Tax Resident
Services Limited BL [SP] Investment (4] Limited UK Tax Resident
Hyfleet Linmted UK Tax Resident | BL Bradford Forster Limited UK Tax Resident
Kingsmere Productions Limited UK Tax Resident | BL Brislington Limited UK Tax Resident
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UK/Overseas Tax UK/Overseas Tax
Company Name Resident Status | Company Name Resident Status
BL Broadgate Fragment 1 Limited UK Tax Resident | BL HC Health And Fitness Holdings Limited UK Tax Resident
Bl Broadgate Fragment 2 Limited UK Tax Resident  BL HC Invic Leisure Limited UK Tax Resident
Bl Broadgate Fragment 3 Limited UK Tax Resident | BLHC PH CRG LLP [Member interest) UK Tax Resident
BL Broadgate Fragment 4 Limited UK Tax Resident  BLHC PH LLP [Member interest) UK Tax Resident
BL Broadgate Fragment 5 Limited UK Tax Resident | BLHC PH No 1 LLP (Member interest] UK Tax Resident
BL Broadgate Fragment 6 Limited UK Tax Resident | BLHC PH No 2 LLP [Member interest] UK Tax Resident
BL Broadway Investment Limited UK Tax Resident | BLHC PH No 3 LLP [Member interest) UK Tax Restdent
BL Chess Limited UK Tax Resident | BL HC Property Holdings Limited UK Tax Resident
Bl. Chess No 1 Limited Partnership UK Tax Resident | BL Health Clubs PH No 1 Limited UK Tax Resident

(Partnership interest]

BL Health Clubs PH No 2 Limnited

UK Tax Resident

BL City Offices Holding Company Limited UK Tax Resident | B High Street and Shopping Centres UK Tax Resident
BL Clhfton Moor Limited UK Tax Resident | Holding Campany Limited

BL CW Developments Limited UK Tax Resident | BL Holdings 2010 Limited [50% interest] UK Tax Resident
BL CW Developments Plot Al Limited UK Tax Resident ' BL L ancaster investments Limited UK Tax Resident
BL CW Developments Plot AZ Lirmited UK Tax Resident | BL Lancaster Limited Partnership UK Tax Resident
BL CW Developments Plot D1/2 UK Tax Resident | {Partnership interest)

Company Limited BL Leadenhall [Jersey) Ltd [Jersey)* Overseas Tax Resident
BL CW Developments Plot G1 Limited UK Tax Resident | BL Leadenhall Holding Co {Jersey] Ltd Overseas Tax Resident
BL CW Developments Plot K1 UK Tax Resident | Hersey)*

Company Limited

BL CW Holdings Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL CW Holdings Plot A1 Company Limited UK Tax Resident
BL CW Holdings Plot A2 Company Lirnited UK Tax Resident
BL CW Holdings Plot D1/2 Company Limited UK Tax Resident |
Bl CW Heldings Plat G1 Campany Limited UK Tax Resident
BL CW Holdings Ptot KI Company Limited UK Tax Resident
BL CW Lower GP Company Limited UK Tax Resident

BL CW Lower Limited Partnership
[Partnership interest]

UK Tax Resident

BL CW Lower LP Company Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL CW Upper GF Company Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL CW Upper Lumited Partnership
(Partnership interest)

UK Tax Resident

BL CW Upper LP Company Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL Cwmbran Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL Debs Limuted [Jersey)*

Overseas Tax Resident

BL Department Stores Holding
Company Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL Doncaster Wheatley Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL Ealing Limuted

UK Tax Resident

BL Eden Walk J2012 Limited [Jersey)?

Overseas tax Resident

BL Eden Walk Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL Eurapean Haldings Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL Fixed Uplift Fund Limited Partnership
[Partnership interest)

UK Tax Resident

BL Fixed Uplift Fund Norminee No 1 Limited
[Jersey):

Overseas Tax Resident

BL Fixed Uplift Fund Nominee No 2 Lirmited
[Jersey)!

Overseas Tax Resident

BL Fixed Uplift General Partner Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL Fixed Uplift Nominee 1 Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL Fixed Uplft Nominee 2 Lirmited

UK Tax Resident

BL Gocdman [General Partner} Limited
[50% interest)

UK Tax Resident

Company Limited

BL Leisure and Industrial Holding UK Tax Resident
Company Limited
BL Marble Arch House Lirmited UK Tax Resident
BL Mayfair Offices Limited UK Tax Resident
BL Meadowhall Holdings Limited UK Tax Resident
" BL Meadowhall Limited UK Tax Resident
BL Meadowhall No 4 Limited UK Tax Resident
Bl Newport Limited UK Tax Resident
BL Office (Non-Cityl Holding UK Tax Resident

BL Office Holding Company Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL Osnaburgh St Residential Ltd UK Tax Resident
BL Piccadilly Residential Limited UK Tax Resident
BL Piccadilly Residential Management UK Tax Resident
Co Lirmited

Bl Piccadilly Residential Retail Limited UK Tax Resident
BL Residential No 1 Limited UK Tax Resident
BL Residential Na 2 Limited UK Tax Resident
BL Residual Holding Comnpany Limited UK Tax Resident
BL Retail Holding Company Limited UK Tax Resident
BL Retall Investments Limited UK Tax Resident
Bt Retail Warehousing Holding UK Tax Resident
Company Limited

BL Sainsbury Superstares Limited UK Tax Resident
(50% interest)

BL Shoreditch General Partner Limited UK Tax Resident
BL Shereditch Limited Partnership UK Tax Restdent
[Partnership interest}

BL Shoreditch No 1 Limited UK Tax Resident
BL Shoreditch No 2 Lirmited UK Tax Resident
BL Superstores Holding Company Limited UK Tax Resident
BL Triton Building Residential Lirnited UK Tax Resident
BL Tunbridge Wells Limited UK Tax Kesident

BL Unitholder No 1 [J) Lirmited (Jersey)?

Overseas Tax Resident

BL Unitholder No 2 [J) Limited [Jerseyl?

Overseas Tax Resident

BL Gocdman (LP] Limited UK Tax Resident | BL Universal Limited UK Tax Resident
BL GP Chess No 1 Limited UK Tax Resident | BL Wardrobe Court Holdings Limited UK Tax Resident
BL HB nvestments Limited UK Tax Resident | BL West [Watling House] Lirnited UK Tax Resident
BL HC [DSCH) Lirmited UK Tax Resident | BL Whitetey Lirnited UK Tax Resident
BL HC [DSCLI Limited UK Tax Resident | BL Woolwich Limited UK Tax Resident
BL HC Dollview Limited UK Tax Resident | BL Woolwich Nominee 1 Lirmited UK Tax Resident
BL HC Hampshire PH LLP [Member interest) UK Tax Resident | BL Woolwich Nominee 2 Limited UK Tax Resident
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UK /Overseas Tax UK/Overseas Tax
Company Name Resident Status | Company Name Resident Status
Blackglen Limited UK Tax Resident | Casegood Enterprises UK Tax Resident
Blackwall (1] UK Tax Resident | Caseplane Limited UK Tax Resident
Blaxmull (Twenty-nine) Limited UK Tax Resident | Cavendish Geared Il Limited UK Tax Resident
Blaxmill (Thirty] Limited UK Tax Resident | Cavendish Geared Limuted UK Tax Resident
BLO [A) Limited UK Tax Resident | Caymall Limited UK Tax Resident
BLD [Ebury Gate] Limited UK Tax Resident | Chantway Limited UK Tax Resident
BLD (SJ]) Investments Limited UK Tax Resident | Cheshine Properties Limited UK Tax Resident
BLD (SJ] Limited UK Tax Resident | Chrisilu Nominees Limited UK Tax Resident
BLD Land Limited UK Tax Resident | City of London Office Unit Trust [Jersey) Overseas Tax Resident
BLD Properties Limited UK Tax Resident | [Units] (35 94% interest)’
BLD Property Holdings Limited UK Tax Resident | Glarges Estate Property Management UK Tax Resident

BLU Estates Limited

UK Tax Resident

BLU Property Management Limited UK Tax Resident
BLU Secunties Limited UK Tax Resident
British Land [Joint Ventures) Limited UK Tax Resident
Briish Land Acquisitions Limited UK Tax Resident

British Land Aqua Partnership [2] Limited

UK Tax Resident

Co Limited

Comgenic Limited

UK Tax Resident

Cornish Residential Properties
Trading Limited

UK Tax Resident

Cornish Residential Property
lnvestments Limited

UK Tax Resident

Crescent West Properties

UK Tax Resident

British Land Aqua Partnership Limited

UK Tax Resident

British Land City Offices Limited UK Tax Resident
British Land Construction Limited UK Tax Resident
British Land Department Stares Limited UK Tax Resident
British | and Developments Limited UK Tax Resident

British Land Fund Management Limited

UK Tax Resident

British Land Hercules Limited

UK Tax Resident

British Land In Town Retall Limited

UK Tax Resident

British Land Industnal Limited

UK Tax Resident

British Land Investment
Managernent Limjted

UK Tax Resident

British Land Investments N V (Netherlands)

UK Tax Resident

British Land Leisure Limited

UK Tax Resident

British Land Offices [Nan-City} Limited

UK Tax Resident

British Land Offices [Non-City]
No 2 Limited

UK Tax Resident

British Land Offices Limied

UK Tax Resident

Deepdale Co-Ownership Trust
(37 66% interest)

UK Tax Resident

Derby Investment Holdings Limited

UK Tax Resident

Dinwell Lirnited

UK Tax Resident

DOrake Circus Centre Limited

UK Tax Resident

Drake Circus GP,L L C {in hguidation]
{United States)®

Overseas Tax Resident

Orake Cweus Lawsyre Lirruted

UK Tax Reswdent

Drake Circus Limited Partnership
(in lguidation) (Partnership interest]
[United States)®

Overseas Tax Resident

Drake Property Holdings Limited UK Tax Resident
Drake Property Nominee [No 1] Limited UK Tax Resident
Orake Property Nominee (No 2] Limited UK Tax Resident
Eden Walk Shopping Centre General UK Tax Resident

Partner Limited [50% interest)

Eden Walk Shopping Centre Unit Trust®
[50% interest] [Jerseyl [Units)

Overseas Tax Resident

British Land Offices No 1 Limited

UK Tax Resident

British | and Property Advisers Limited

UK Tax Resident

British Land Property Management Limited

UK Tax Resident

British Land Regeneration Limited

UK Tax Resident

British Land Retail Warehcuses Limited
(in Liquidation)

UK Tax Resident

British Land Superstores (Non Securiused)
Number Z Limited

UK Tax Resident

Broadgate [PHC 8] Limited

UK Tax Resident

Broadgate Adjoining Properties Limited

UK Tax Resident

Broadgate Business Centre Limited

UK Tax Resident

Broadgate Cuty Limnited

UK Tax Resident

Broadgate Court Investments Limited

UK Tax Resident

Broadgate Estates Limited

" UK Tax Resident

Broadgate Estates People Management
Limited

UK Tax Resident

Broadgate Exchange Square

UK Tax Resident

E?»roadgate Investment Holdings Limited UK Tax Resident
émadgatempertles Lirnited UK Tax Resident
Broadgate REIT Limited [50% interest}* UK Tax Resident
E’»roadgate Square Limited UK Tax Resident

Elementwvirtue Limited

UK Tax Resident

Elk Mill Oldham Limited UK Tax Resident
Euston Tower Limited UK Tax Resident
Exchange House Holdings Lirmited UK Tax Resident
Finsbury Avenue Estates Limited* UK Tax Resident
Four Broadgate Limited UK Tax Resident

FRP Group Limited

UK Tax Resident

Garamead Properties Limited

K Tax Resident

Gardenray Limited

UK Tax Resident

Gibraltar General Partner Limited
{38 48% interest]

UK Tax Resident

Gibraitar Nominees Limited
(38 48% interest]

UK Tax Resident

Gilthrook Retaii Park Nottingharn Limited

UK Tax Resident

Glenway Limited

UK Tax Resident

Hempel Holdings Limited

UK Tax Resident

Hempel Hotels Limited

UK Tax Resident

Hercules Preperty UK Holdings Limited

UK Tax Resident

Hercules Property UK Limited

UK Tax Resident

Hercules Unit Trust (76 96% interest]
(Jersey] (Unitsk

Overseas Tax Resident

Broughton Retail Park Limited (Jersey)
(Units) [76 96% interest)?

Overseas Tax Resident

Broughton Unit Trust (76 96% interest}:

Overseas Tax Resident

Hereford Old Market Limited

UK Tax Resident

Hereford Shopping Centre GP Limited

UK Tax Resident

Hereford Shopping Centre Lirited

UK Tax Resident

Brunswick Park Limited UK Tax Resident | Partnership
BVP Developments Limited UK Tax Resident ' Hilden Properties Livuted” UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident \ Horndrift Limited

UK Tax Resident

Canada Water Offices Limited
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UK/Overseas Tax

Resident Status

Company Name

UK /Qverseas Tax
Resident Status

HUT Investrments Limited (Jersay)
(76 9% interest):

Overseas Tax Resident

HUT Retail Investments GP Limited

UK Tax Resident

Paddington Central | Unit Trust [Jersey]
(Units):

Overseas Tax Resident

Paddington Central Il [GP) Lirnited

UK Tax Resident

HUT Retall Investments Limited
Partnership [Partnership interest)

UK Tax Resident

HUT Retall Investments Nominee Lirmited

UK Tax Resident

Industrial Real Estate Limited

UK Tax Resident

Insistmetal 2 Limited

UK Tax Resident

Ivorydell Limited UK Tax Resident
lvorydell Subsidiary Limited UK Tax Resident
Ivoryhill Limited UK Tax Resident
Jethioom Limited UK Tax Resident
| & H Developments Limited UK Tax Resident
Lancaster General Partner Limited UK Tax Resident

Liverpoal One Management Company
Lirnited (50% terest]

UK Tax Resident

Paddington Central Il LP [Partnership
interest)

UK Tax Resident

Paddington Central Il Unit Trust [Jersey]
[Units)?

Overseas Tax Resident

Paddington Central IV Unit Trust {Jersey)
{Uruts)

Overseas Tax Resident

Paddington Kiosk [GP} Ltd UK Tax Resident
Paddington Kiosk LP [Partnership interest] UK Tax Resident
PaddingtonCentral Management Company UK Tax Resident

Limited (87 5% interest]

' Pardev [Luton] Limited

UK Tax Resident

Parwick Holdings Limited

UK Tax Resident

Parwick Investments Limited

UK Tax Resident

. Ore M : UK Tax Residont PC Baltic Wharf Limited UK Tax Resident
verpoo’ bne Managemen axResident | pe canal Limited UK Tax Resident
Services Limited f
London and Henley {UK] Limited UK Tax Resident ' Eg lgea;s.e ND?";\TE Lid T Eifx Seswjen:
London and Henley Limited UK Tax Resident arnersiip ~ornine® ax mesigen
Lonebridge UK Limited UK Tax Resident Piccadilly Residential Limited UK Tax Resident
Longford Street Residential Limited UK Tax Resident :;’i[ltar [[Seciton] LI;TIEed ed 8:2 1ax geajent
Ludgate Investment Holdings Limited UK Tax Resident | —oo < [[CCEWO0T e axresident
Ludaate West Limited UK Tax Recident | Pillar [Dartford] Limited UK Tax Resident
Mangbrl Properiies UW Tox Resdent ' Pillar [Fulham) Limited UK Tax Resident
J P Pillar Auchinlea Limited UK Tax Resident
Marble Arch House Unit Trust [Jersey) Overseas Tax Resident |
(Units): ! Pillar Broadway Limited UK Tax Resident
Mayfair Properties UK Tax Resident | Dlar City Ple UK Tax Resident
Mayflower Retad Park Basildon [imited UK Tax Resident | Pitar Dartford No 1 Lirnited UK Tax Resident
Meadowbank Retail Park Edinburgh Limited UK Tax Resident | Pillar Denton Limited UK Tax Resident
Meadowhall Centre (199%) Limited UK Tax Resident | Piltar Developments Limited UK Tax Resident
Meadowhall Centre Limited UK Tax Resident | Pillar Estates Limited UK Tax Resident
Meadowhall Centre Pension Seherme UK Tax Resident | Pillar Estates No 2 Limited UK Tax Resident
Trustees Limited Pillar Europe Management Limited UK Tax Resident
Meadowhall Estates {UK) Limited UK Tax Resident | Piliar Farnborough Limited UK Tax Residant
Meadowhall Group [MLP) Limited UK Tax Resident | Pillar Fort Limited UK Tax Resident
Meadowhall Holdings Limited UK Tax Resident | Pillar Fulham No 2 Limited UK Tax Resident
Meadowhall Opportunities UK Tax Resident | Piltar Gallions Reach Limited UK Tax Resident
Nominee 1 Limited Piliar Glasgow 1 Limited UK Tax Resident
Meadowhall Opportunities UK Tax Resident | Pillar Glasgow 2 Limited UK Tax Resident
Norninee Z Limited Pillar Glasgow 3 Limited UK Tax Resident
Mezdowhall Training Limited UK Tax Resident | pyllar Hercules No 2 Limited UK Tax Resident
Mercari UK Tax Resident | pyltar Kinnaird Limited UK Tax Resident
Mercari Holdings Limited UK Tax Resident | pillar Nugent Limited UK Tax Resident
Minhill investments Limited UK Tax Resident | pllar Projects Lirmited UK Tax Resident
Moorage [Property Developments) Limited UK Tax Resident | pyliar Property Group Lirmited UK Tax Resident
Nugent Shopping Park Limited UK Tax Resident | pjllarCaisse Management Limitad UK Tax Resident
One Hundred Ludgate Hill UK Tax Resident | [50% interest)
One Sheldon Square Limited [Jersey) Qverseas Tax Resident | Piltarman Limited {50% interest) UK Tax Resident
Orbital Shopping Park Swindon |imited UK Tax Resident | PiltarStore Limited UK Tax Resident
Osnaburgh Street Limited UK Tax Resident | PillarStore No 3 Limited UK Tax Resident
Paddington Block A [GP) Ltd UK Tax Resident | Plymouth Retail Limited UK Tax Resident
Paddington Block A LP [Partnership UK Tax Resident | Power Court GP Limited UK Tax Resident
Interest] Power Court Luten Limited Partnership UK Tax Resident
Paddington Black B [GP] Ltd UK Tax Resident | [Partnership interest}
Paddington Block 8 LP [Partnership UK Tax Resident | Power Court Nominee Limited UK Tax Resident
interast} Power Court Nominees No 2 Limited UK Tax Resident

Paddington Central | [GP) Lirmited

UK Tax Resident

Paddingten Centrall LP [Partnership
Interast}

UK Tax Resident

PREF Management Company SA
[Luxembourg)®

Overseas Tax Resident

Project Sunrise Investrments Limited

UK Tax Resident

Paddington Central | Nominee Limited

UK Tax Resident

Project Sunrise Limited

UK Tax Resident
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UK/Overseas Tax UK/Overseas Tax
Company Name Resident Status | Company Name Resident Status
Project Sunrise Properties Lirmited UK Tax Resident | Tollgate Centre Colchester Limited UK Tax Resident
Reboline Limited UK Tax Resident  TPP Investments Limited UK Tax Resident
Regent s Place Holding Company Limited UK Tax Resident . Tweed Premier 1 Limited* UK Tax Resident
Regents Place Management Company UK Tax Resident | Tweed Prermer 2 Limited* UK Tax Resident
Limtted Tweed Premier 4 Limited UK Tax Resident
Regents Place Residential Limited UK Tax Resident | nion Praperty Corperation Limited UK Tax Resident
Renash* UK Tax Resident | \nign Property Holdings [London) Limited UK Tax Resident
Rigphone Limited UK Tax Resident | n ted Kingdom Property Cempany Limited UK Tax Resident
Ritesol® UKTax Resident | Valentine Co_ownership Trust UK Tax Resident
Rohawk Properties Lirnited UK Tax Resident | (Member interest] (38 48% nterest]
Salmax Properties UK Tax Resident  Valentine Unit Trust [Jerseyl (Units] Overseas Tax Resident
Seymour Street Homes Limited UK Tax Resident | [76 96% interest]
Shopping Centres Limited UK Tax Resident | Yiainitee Limited UK Tax Resident
Six Broadgate Limited UK Tax Resident | Vintners Place Limited UK Tax Resident
Southgate General Partner Lirmited UK Tax Resident | Wardrobe Court Limited UK Tax Resident
(50% mnterest] Wardrobe Heldings Limited UK Tax Resident
Southgate Property Urit Trust (Jersey) Overseas Tax Resident | Wardrobe Place Limited UK Tax Resident
(Units] (50% interest] Wates City of London Properties Limited UK Tax Resident
Speke Unit Trust (67 34% nterest] {Jersey] Cverseas Tax Resident | wates City Pomnt Limmited UK Tax Resident
[Si:tnstlﬂm Crried UK Tax Reardont aates City Property Management Limited UK Tax Resident

estbourne Terrace Partnership UK Tax Resident

St James Parade (43) Limited UK Tax Resident {Partnership interest)
St James Retail Park Northampton Limited UK Tax Resident | \Wastside L eeds Limited UK Tax Resident
St Stephens Shapping Centre Lirmited UK Tax Resident | whyteley Nominee 1 Limited UK Tax Resident
Stockton Retail Park Limited UK Tax Resident | whyteley Normnee 2 Limited UK Tax Resident

Storey Spaces Limited

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

Whiteley Shopping Centre Unit Trust
tersey] [Unlts??

Overseas Tax Resident

Surrey Quays Limited
Sydale

UK Tax Resident

WHK Holdings Limited

UK Tax Resident

T (Partnershipl Limited

UK Tax Resident

York House W1 Lirmited

UK Tax Resident

Tallress Limited

UK Tax Resident

TBL (Brent Park] Lirmited

UK Tax Resident

TBL (Bromley] Limited

Uk Tax Resident

TBL [Bursledon) Limited

UK Tax Resident

TBL (Buryl Limited

UK Tax Resident

TBL {Ferndown) Limited

UK Tax Resident

TBL [Lisnagelvin] Lirnited

UK Tax Resident

TBL (Maidstone) Limited

UK Tax Resident

TBL [Milton Keynes) Limited

UK Tax Resident

TBL {Peterborough) Limited

UK Tax Resident

TBL Holdings Limited

UK Tax Resident

TBL Properties Limited

UK Tax Resident

Teesside Leisure Park Limited
(5% interest]

UK Tax Resident

The Aldgate Place Limited Partnership
(Partnership interest) [50% interest]

UK Tax Resident .

The Dartford Partnership [Member interest)
(50% interest)

UK Tax Resident

The Gibraltar Limited Partnership
[Partnership interestl (38 48% interest)

UK Tax Resident

The Hercules Property Limited Partnership
(Partnership nterest] (40 68% mierest)

UK Tax Resident

The Leadenhall Development Company
Lirmited (50% interest]

UK Tax Resident

The Liverpool Exchange Company Limited

UK Tax Resident

The Mary Street Estate Limited

UK Tax Resident

The Meadowhall Education Centre [Limited
by guarantee] (50% interest]

UK Tax Resident

The Retall and Warehouse Comipany Limited

UK Tax Resident

The TBL. Property Partnership
[Partnership interest]

UK Tax Resident

The Whiteley Co-Ownership
[Member interest) (50% interest]

UK Tax Resident
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SUPPLEMENTARY DISCLOSURES

UNAUDITED UNLESS OTHERWISE STATED

Table A: Summary income statement and balance sheet (Unaudited)

Summary income statement based on proportional consolidation for the year ended 31 March 2018
The following pro forma information 1s unaudited and does not form part of the consolidated primary statements or the notes thereto
It presents the results of the Group, with its share of the results of joint ventures and funds included on a Uine-by-line basis and excluding

non-controlling interests

Year ended 31 March 2018

Year ended 31 March 2017

Joint Less Joint Less
ventures non-controlling Preportionally ventures non-controlling Froportionally
Group  and funds interests  consotidated Group  andiunds interests  consolidated
£m £m £m £m £ £m fm £m
Gross rentalincome 441 193 (21) 613 447 220 (19) 643
Property operaling expenses {29 {91 1 37} (25) 10 2 133
Net rental income 412 184 (20) 576 417 210 (17) 610
Adrministrative expenses (82) 1] - (83) (84) (2] - (84)
Net fees and other income 13 - 2 15 17 - - 17
Ungeared income return 343 183 (18} 508 350 208 171 541
Net financing costs 164) (68) 4 {128] (78] (76) 3 (151)
Underlying Profit 279 115 (14} 380 272 132 (14) 390
Underlying taxation - - - - - - - -
Underlying Profit after taxation 279 115 14) 380 272 132 [14] 390
Valuation movement 254 [237)
Other capital and taxation [net)! kil (433)
Capital and other 285 (670)
Totalreturn 665 (280)
' Includes other comprehensive iIncome, movement in dilution of share options and the movement in tems excluded for EPRA NAV
Summary balance sheet hased on proportional consolidation as at 31 March 2018
The following pro forma information 1s unaudited and does not form part of the consolidated primary statements or the notes thereto
tt presents the compesition of the EPRA net assets of the Group, with its share of the net assets of the joint venture and fund assets and
liabilities included on a line-by-lLine basis, and excluding non-controlling interests, and assuming full dilution
Mark-to-
market on
Share of Less derwatives Valuation EPRA Net EPRA Net
Jjomnt non- and related surpluson assets assets
ventures contralling Share  Deferred dabt Head trading 31 March 31 March
Group &funds  interests  ophions tax adjustments leases  properties 2018 2017
£m £m £m £m Em £m £m Em £m fm
Retall properties 5,262 1,759 (383) - - - (42) - 6,596 6,654
Office properties 4,265 2,334 - - - - (15) 121 6,705 7,015
Canada Water properties 298 - - - - - 15) - 283 271
Other properties 100 19 - - - - - 13 132 -
Total praperties 9,925 4112 {(383) - - - (72) 134 13,716 13,940
Investments in joint ventures
and funds 2,822 [2,822) - - - - - - - -
Other investrments 174 (2) - - - - - - 172 151
Other net {Llabilities] assets (3691 (991 4 32 5 - 72 - (355] (370
Net debt 13,046) 11,189) 125 - - 137 - - 13,973) 14,223)
Net assets 9,506 - (254) 32 5 137 - 134 9,560 9,498
EFPRA NAV per share [note 2) 967p $15p
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Financial statements

SUPPLEMENTARY DISCLOSURES CONTINUED
UNAUDITED

Table A continued

EPRA Net assets movement

Year ended Year ended
31 March 2018 31 March 2017
Pence per Pence per
£m share £m share
Opermng EPRA NAY 9,498 915 10,074 919
Income return 380 37 390 356
Capital return 285 29 (670] (13
Dividend paid (302) (29 1296) (27
Purchase of own shares (301) 15 - -
Closing EPRA NAV 9,560 947 9,498 915
Table B: EPRA Performance measures
EPRA Performance measures summary table
2018 2017
Pence per Pence per
£m share Em share
EFRA Earnings - basic 380 375 390 379
- diluted 380 3.4 390 378
EPRA Net Imtial Yield 4.3% 4 3%
EPRA 'topped-up’ Net Initial Yield 4.6% 4 5%
EPRA Vacancy Rate 3.2% 4 8%
2018 2017
Netasset Net asset
value per value per
Net assets share pence Net assets share pence
EPRA NAV 9,560 967 2,498 215
EPRA NNNAV 9,044 914 8938 861
Calculation and reconciliation of EPRA/IFRS earnings and EPRA/IFRS earnings per share
(Audited) i o
Profit attributable to the shareholders of the Company 493 193
Exclude
Group - current taxation mn (1)
Group - deferred taxatian (5) -
Joint ventures and funds - deferred taxation - (1
Group - valuation movement (202) 144
Group - {profit) loss on disposal of Investment properties and investments (18) 5
Group - profit on dispesal of trading properties (4] (7)
Joint ventures and funds - net valuation movernent (including result on disposals) (49) 75
Joint ventures and funds - capital financing costs 13 b
Changes in fair value of financial instruments and associated close-out costs 163 (13)
Non-controlling interests in respect of the abave - (1)
Underlying Profit 380 390
Group - underlying current taxation - -
EPRA earnings ~ basic 380 390
Dilutive effect of 2012 convertible bond - -
EPRA earnings - diluted 380 390
Profit attributable to the shareholders of the Company 493 193
Dilutive effect of 2012 convertible bond - (33
IFRS earnings - diluted 493 160
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Table B continued

2018 2017
Number Number
million mittion
Weighted average number of shares 1,024 1,040
Adjustment for treasury shares m) (1
IFRS/EPRA Weighted average number of shares [basic) 1,013 1,029
Dilutive effect of share options 1 1
Dilutive effect of ESOP shares 2 3
Dilutive effect of 2012 convertible bond - h8
IFRS Weighted average number of shares (diluted) 1,016 1,091
Oilutive effect of 2012 convertible bond - (58]
EPRA Weighted average number of shares {diluted) 1,014 1,033
Net assets per share [Audited)
2018 2017
Pence Perce
€m per share £m per share
Balance sheet net assets 9,504 Q476
Deferred tax arising on revaluation movements 5 3
Mark-to-market on dervatives and related debt adjustments 137 155
Dilutien effect of share options 32 36
Surplus on trading properties 134 83
Less non-controlling interests (254) {255)
EPRA NAV 9,560 967 9,498 715
Deferred tax arising on revaluation movements (31 (19]
Mark-to-market on derivatives and related debt adjustments (137) [155]
Mark-to-market on debt (348) (386
EPRA NNNAV 9,044 914 8938 851
EPRA NNNAV 5 the EPRA NAY adjusted to reflect the faw value of the debt and derivatives and toinclude the deferred taxation on
revaluations and derwatives
2018 2017
Number Number
millian million
Number of shares atyear end 994 1,040
Adjustment for treasury shares n (1]
IFRS/EPRA number of shares [basic) 983 1,029
Dilutive effect of share options 1 3
Dilutive effect of ESOP shares b
Dilutive effect of 2012 convertible bond - 58
IFRS number of shares (diluted) 989 1,094
Dilutive effect of 2012 convertible bond i 58]
EPRA number of shares {diluted) 989 1,038
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Financial statements

SUPPLEMENTARY DISCLOSURES CONTINUED
UNAUDITED

Table B continued

EPRA Net Initial Yield and ‘topped-up’ Net Initial Yield (Unaudited)

2018 2017

£m £m

Investment property - wholly-cwned 9.682 2,210
Investment property — share of joint ventures and funds 4,034 4,730
Less developments, residential and land 11,315) (798)
Completed praperty portfolio 12,401 13,142
Allowance far estimated purchasers’ costs 799 897
Gross up completed property portfolio valuation (A) 13,200 14,039
Annualised cash passing rental income 584 607
Property outgoings m [3)
Annualised net rents (B) 573 598
Rent expiration of rent-free perieds and fixed uplifts! 28 30
‘Topped-up’ net annualised rent [C] 601 628
EPRA Net Initial Yield (B/A) 4.3% 43%
EPRA ‘topped-up’ Net Initial Yield [C/A) 4.6% 4 5%
Including fixed/minimum uplifts received in lieu of rental growth 11 11
Total ‘topped-up’ net rents (D) 612 539
Overall ‘topped-up’ Net Initial Yietd [D/A) 4.6% 4 6%
“Topped-up’ net annualised rent 601 628
ERV vacant space 21 34
Reversions 32 38
Total ERV (E) 654 700
Net Reversionary Yield [E/A) 5.0% 50%

The weighted average period over which rent-free pericds expire s 1 year (2016/17 1 year]

EPRA Net Initial Yield [N1Y) basis of calculation

EPRANIY 1s calculated as the annualised net rent [on a cash flow basis], divided by the gross value of the comnpleted property portfolio

The valuation of our completed property portfolio 1s determined by our external valuers as at 31 March 2018, plus an allowance for estimated
purchaser’s costs Estimated purchaser’s costs are determined by the relevant stamp duty Lability, plus an estimate by our valuers of agent
and legal fees on notional acquisition The net rent deduction allowed for property cutgoings Is based on our valuers’ assumptions on future
recurring non-recoverable revenue expenditure

In calculating the EPRA topped-up’ NIY, the annualised net rent1s increased by the total contracted rent from expiry of rent-free periods and
future contracted rental uplifts where defined as not in lieu of growth Overall topped-up’ NIY is calculated by adding any other contracted
future uplift to the ‘topped-up’ net annualised rent

The net reversionary yield 15 catculated by dividing the total estimated rental value [ERV] for the completed property portfolio, as determined
by our external valuers, by the gross completed property portfolio valuation

The EPRA vacancy rate is calculated as the ERV of the unrented, lettable space as a proportion of the total rental value of the completed
property portfolio

EPRA Vacancy Rate
2018 2017
£m £m
Annualised potential rental value of vacant premises 21 34
Annualised potential rental value for the completed property portfolio 664 710
EPRA Vacancy Rate 3.2% 4 8%

The above is stated for the UK portfolio only A discussion of significant factors affecting vacancy rates 1s included within the Strategic Report
[pages 32 to 34)
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Table B continued

EPRA Cost Ratios [Unaudited)

2018 2017
£m £m
Property aperating expenses 28 23
Administrative expenses 82 84
Share of joint ventures and funds expenses 10 12
Less Performance and management fees {from joint ventures and funds) (&) (%l
Net other fees and commissions (7} (8]
Ground rent costs (2) (2
EPRA Costs lincluding direct vacancy costs) [A) 103 100
Direct vacancy costs [12) (12}
EPRA Costs [excluding direct vacancy costs) [B) 1 88
Gross Rental Income less ground rent costs 422 412
Share of joint venlures and funds (GRI less ground rent costs) 189 229
Total Gross Rental Income less ground rent costs [C) 51 641
EPRA Cost Ratic [including direct vacancy costs) [A/C) 16.9% 15 6%
EPRA Cost Ratio [excluding direct vacancy costs) [B/C) 14.9% 13 7%
Overhead and operating expenses capitalised including share of joint ventures and funds) 5 2
In the current year, ernployee costs in relation to staff tirne on development projects have been capitalised into the base cost of relevant
development assats
Table C: Gross rental income
2018 2017
£m Em
Rent racevable 404 433
Spreading of tenant incentives and guaranteed rent increases (12) 8
Surrender premia 21 2
Gross rental income 513 643
The current and prior year information is presented on a propertionally consolidated basis, excluding non-controlling interests
Table D: Property related capital expenditure
2018 2017
Joint Joint
ventures ventures
Group  and funds Total Group and funds Total
Acguisitions 250 - 250 88 - 88
Development 132 52 184 131 14 145
Like-for-like portfolio 23 27 50 67 47 114
Other 17 5 22 20 2 22
Total property related capex 422 84 504 306 43 369

The above 15 presented on a proportionally consolidated basis, excluding non-controlling interests and business combinations The ‘Other
category contains amounts owing to tenant incentives of £10m [2014/17 £10m}, capitalised staff costs of £5m (2016/17 £5m) and capnalised

interest of £7m (2016/17 £7m)
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Other information

Other information

Otherinformation (unaudited)
Acquisitions and Disposals
Portfolio valuation by sector
Gross rental iIncome
Portfolio yield and ERY movements
Retail portfolio valuation - previous classification basis
Portfolio net yields
Total property return (as calculated by IPD]
Occupiers representing over 0 5% of total contracted rent
Major haldings
Lease length and occupancy
Partfolio weighting
Annualised rent and estimated rental value (ERV]
Rent subject to open market rent review
Rent subject to lease break or expiry
Recently completed and committed developments
Near term development pipeline
Medium term development pipeline
Sustainability performance measures
Ten year record
Shareholder information
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A Nordic forest was created at Broadgate this winter,
with an artisan market, a tepee cinema and The Hideaway,
a speciatist dining experience
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Other information

UNAUDITED
Acquisitions
Annual
Price Price Passing
1100%)  (BL Sharel Rent
Since 1 Aprit 2017 Sectar £m fm £rm?
Completed
Tesco, Brislington - Tesce exchange transaction’ Retail 4é 23 2
Harlech, Newport — Tesco exchange transaction’ Retail 41 20 1
10 - 40 The Broadway, Ealing Retail 49 49 i
Hercules Unit Trust units’ Retall 4 4 -
The Woolwich Estate Retall 103 103 4
Rotherhithe Police Station Canada Water 7 7 -
Total 250 206 9
' Partofa Tesco JV swap transaction resulting 1n a net £73m disposal of superstore assets
7 BL share of annualised rent topped up for rent frees
* Units purchased representing £4m purchased GAV
Disposals
Annual
Price Price Passing
[100%)  [BL Sharel Rent
Since 1 April 2017 Sector £m £m £m®
Completed
The Leadenhatl Building' Offices 1,150 575 17
Superstores? Retail 545 307 18
B&Q, Bury and Grimsby Retail 5% 56 4
Virgin Active, Sunderland and Coventry Retall 8 8 1
Richmond Homebase? Retail 45 45 1
Other Retail/Offices 10 10 1
The Hempel Collection Residential 52 b2 -
Clarges, Mayfair Residential 193 193 -
Aldgate Place Residential 2 1 -
Exchanged
Clarges, Mayfair Residential &6 b6 -
Total 2,127 1,308 42

Exchanged during the year ended 31 March 2017

Of which £176m [BL sharel was part of s Tesco JV swap transaction resulting in a net £73m disposal of superstore assels

Exchanged priorto FY18 Qf which E148m completed post period end

1
2
* Exchanged inyear and completed post year end
&
9

BL share of annualised rent topped up for rent frees
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Portfolio valuation by sector

Change %'
JVs and
Group Funds Total
At 31 March 2018 Em £m Em H1 H2 Fy
Regional 1132 1.898 3,030 01 02 0z
Local 1,840 458 2,298 (09 [ &) (15)
Multi-let 2,972 2,356 5,328 (0.4) 0.2) (0.51
Department stores and leisure 593 1 594 24 24 517
Superstores 99 261 340 08 (15) (03
Solus and other 314 - 314 58 07 65
Retail 3,978 2,618 6,596 0.3 - 0.3
West End 4,255 - 4,755 32 26 58
City 116 2,334 2,450 17 13 28
Offices 4,371 2,334 6,705 2.6 21 4.5
Residential? 113 19 132 3.6 (2.6} 1.6
Canada Water 283 - 283 14.5) (3.0 (7.0
Total 8,745 49N 13,716 1.4 D.9: 2.2
Standing Investments 8,349 4,583 12,932 1.2 0.4 1.6
Developments 394 388 784 3.3 6.4 9.6

! Valuation movement during the year [after taking account of capital expenditure] of preperties hald at the balance sheet date, including devalopments (classified by

endusel, purchases and sales
* Stand-alone residential

Gross rental income!

12 manths to 31 March 2018

Annualised as at 31 March 2018

JVs and JVs and

Group Funds Tatal Group Funds Total
Accounting Basis. £m £m £m £m £m £
Regional 62 89 1591 41 88 149
Lacal 92 29 121 70 26 116
Multi-let 154 118 272 151 114 265
Department stores and leisure 43 - 44 40 - 40
Superstores 4 22 26 4 18 22
Sclus and other 19 - 19 17 - 17
Retail 220 140 360 212 132 344
West End 133 - 133 134 - 134
City b 162 108 5 80 85
Offices 139 102 241 139 80 219
Residential® 4 - 4 5 - 5
Canada Water? 8 - 8 8 - 8
Total 3N 242 613 364 212 576

' Gross rental incorne will differ frem annualised rents due to accounting adjustments for fixed and minimum contracted rental uplifts and lease incentives

? Stand-alone residential
? Reflects standing investment only
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Other information

UNAUDITED CONTINUED

Portfolio yield and ERV movements!

NEY ERY Growth %* ¢ NEY Yield Movement bps?*®
At 31 March 2018 % H1 H2 FY H1 H?2 FY
Regional 50 12 11 23 4 3 7
Local 55 11 01 12 1 Z 13
Multi-let 5.2 1.1 0.7 1.9 7 2 g
Department stores and leisure 57 59 03 62 {11 4 (7]
Superstores 54 12 (1) (23 {71 (3 (%)
Solus and other 52 [5 8] [0 al (5 8) 14 (9] 7
Retail 5.3 1.0 0.5 1.6 5 2 [
West End 43 10 15 25 (11 (2) (13]
City 45 13 0?2 15 i 1 2
Offices 4.4 1.2 1.0 2.1 (&) i) 7
Canada Water® 3.9 (1.1) 0.0 1.1) 1" 26 a7
Total 4.8 1.0 0.7 1.8 (0) 1 1

! Excluding developments under construction, assets held for development and residential assets

¢ As calculated by IPD

* Including notignal purchaser s costs

¢ Excludes Euston Tower, as we move closer to lenant break in 2021, valuation now reflects refurbishment assumption which, ifincluded, would distort these movements
* Reflects standing investment only

Retail portfolio valuation — previous classification basis

Valuation’ Change %° ERV Growth % NEY Yield Movement bps*
At 31 March 2018 - £m H1 H2 FY H1 H2 FY H1 H?2 FY
Shopping Parks 3,180 oM 03 02 08 02 09 n 0]} 10
Shopping Centres 2,359 02 (05l 03 07 14 21 3 4 7
Superstores 360 08 (15) [03) 12l (11) iz 3 (7) (3] (9]
Department Stores 269 21 (08 05 {0 Q) 14 14 (100 8 (2
Leisure 428 25 35 672 77 (0 0) 77 [15) 2 19)
Retail 6,596 0.3 - 0.3 1.0 0.5 1.6 5 2 [

' Group s share of praperties in joint ventures and funds including HUT at ownership share

? Valuation movement during the year (after taking account of capital expenditure] of properties held at the balance sheet date, including developments fclassified by end
use)], purchases and sales

* Ascalculated by IPD

* Including notional purchaser s costs
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Portfolio net vields!?

EPRAtopped Oweralltopped Met Net
EFRA net up netintial up net imitial equivatent reversignary
initial yield yield yield yield yield
At 31 March 2018 % % Dot % %
Regional 45 47 47 50 50
Local 50 51 52 55 55
Multi-let 4.7 4.9 4.9 5.2 5.3
Department stores and leisure 57 57 68 57 45
Superstores 27 57 57 54 52
Solus and other 51 51 51 52 42
Retail 49 5.0 5.2 5.3 5.1
West End 35 40 40 43 417
City 42 47 42 45 49
Offices 3.8 41 4.1 (X 4.8
Canada Water® 3.1 3.2 3.2 3.9 3.9
Total 4.3 4.6 4.6 4.8 5.0
On a proportionally censolidated basis including the Group s share of jaint ventures and funds
' Including notional purchaser's costs
* Excluding commmitted developrments, assets held for development and residential assets
¢ Including rent contracted from expiry of rent-free periods and fixed uplifts not in lieu of rental growth
¢ Including fixed/minimum uplifts [excluded from EPRA definition)
* Reflects standing investrnent anly
Total property return (as calculated by IPD)
Retail Offices Total
British Land IPD British Land IPD British Land IPD
Full Year to 31 March 2013 % % % % % %
Capital Return 04 " 52 472 25 53
- ERV Growth 16 a9 21 11 18 20
- Yield Expansicn!’ é bps -11 bps -7 bps -21 bps 1 bps -26 bps
Income Return 93 50 3é 39 44 46
Total Property Return 5.7 8.2 9.0 8.3 7.0 101
On a proportionally consolidated basis including the Group s share of joint ventures and funds
! Net equivalent yield movement
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Other information

UNAUDITED CONTINUED

Qccupiers representing over 0.5% of total contracted rent

At31 March 2018 % of total rent % of total rent
Tesco' 43 Asda Group 10
J Sainsbury 38 Microsoft 10
Debenhams 35 JD Sports 10
UBS AG 33 Sports Direct a9
HM Government 28 Virgin Active 09
Next 25 Deutsche Bank 08
Kingfisher 25 Reed Smith 08
Facebock 19 Steinhoff 07
Dentsu Aegis® 18 Mayer Brown a7
Marks & Spencer 18 H&M 07
Spirit Group 17 TGl Fridays 07
Wesfarmers (Homebase/Bunnings) 17 River Island 07
Visa Inc 1é Mothercare 06
Alliance Boots 16 NEX Group Gé
Dixens Carphone 15 Primark 06
Arcadia Group 14 Credit Agricole 0é
Herbert Srmuth 13 Pets at Home 06
TK Maxx 12 Henderson 05
Gazprom "M Hutchison 65
Vodafone 10 Ararnco 05
David Lloyd 10 Misys s
New Look? 10

' Includes £3 1 at Surrey Quays Shopping Centre

I Represents current occupation of 10 Triton Street covering 118,000 sq ft of space Taking into account therr pre-let of 310,000 sq ft at 1 Triton Square, % of contracted
rent would riseto 5 2% As part of this new letting, Dentsu Aegis have an option to return their existing space at 10 Triton Street in 2021 If this option 1sexercised, there
1s an adjustment to the rent free period in respect of the letting at 1 Triton Square to compensate British Land

* Taking into account rent adjustments following CVA

Major holdings
Brinsh Land Occupancy Lease
share Sqft Rent rate length
At 31 March 2018 Y% ooo £mpa' %74 yrs?
Broadgate 50 4,850 176 972 79
Regent s Place 100 1,740 75 981 74
Paddington Central 100 958 44 g70 67
Meadowhall, Sheffield 50 1,500 89 979 63
Teesside, Stockton 100 549 17 95 4 51
Drake's Circus, Plymouth 100 1,082 21 985 91
Ealing Broadway 100 540 12 952 52
Glasgow Fort 77 510 21 991 60
Sainsbury’s Superstores® 51 1,457 34 1000 88
10 Portman Square 100 134 10 100 0 71

' Annualised EPRA contracted rent including 100% of joint ventures and funds
? Including accommaodation under cffer or subject to assel management

! Weighted average to first break

¢ Excludes committed and near term developments

* Cornprises stand-alone stores
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Lease length and occupancy

Average lease length years Occupancy rate %'
At 31 March 2018 To expiry Tobreak  EPRAOccupancy Occupancy?
Regional 77 b6 968 971
Local T4 63 974 281
Multi-let 7.6 65 971 97.6
Department stores and leisure 16 4 16 4 998 998
Superstores 94 94 1000 1000
Solus and other 16 1Mé 1000 100 G
Retail 8.8 7.9 97.6 98.0
WestEnd 86 70 962 96 4
City 89 79 971 971
Offices 8.7 73 96.5 96.7
Canada Water® 6.1 6.0 97.4 98.0
Total 8.7 7.7 97.1 97.4
' Space altocated to Storey 1s shown as accupied where there 15 a Storey tenant in place aiherwise it 1s shown as vacanl Dffices occupancy would rise from 26 7%
to 97 1% and total occupancy would rise from 57 4% to 97 7% f Storey space were assumed ta be fully let
? Includes accommedation under offer or subject to 3ssel management
> Rellects standing investment only
¢ If units let to occupiers who have entered liguidation post 31 March 18 are treated as vacant, then the occupancy rate for Retail would reduce from 98 0% to 97 5%,
andtatal occupancy would reduce from 97 4% 10 97 2%
Portiolio weighting
2018 2018 2018
2017 [current] lcurrent]  [proforma'l
At 31 March Y Y £m E
Regional 213 221 3,030 213
Local 19 4 167 2,298 129
Multi-let 35.7 388 5,328 37.2
Department stores and leisure 41 43 594 41
Superstores 45 26 360 25
Solus and cther 25 23 314 272
Retail 47.8 48.0 5,596 46.0
West End 84 310 4,255 314
City 207 179 2,450 195
Offices 491 48.9 6,705 51.1
Residential? 1.2 1.0 132 0.9
Canada Water 1.9 2.1 283 2.0
Total 100.0 100.0 13,716 100.0
London weighting 58% 59% 8,037 60%
On a proportionally censolidated basis including the Group s share of joint ventures and funds
Pro forma for developments under construction at estimated end value (a5 determined by the Group s external valuers]
¢ Stand-alone residential
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Other information

UNAUDITED CONTINUED

Annualised rent and estimated rental value (ERV)

Annualised rent

{valuation basis] Em' ERVEm Average rent £pst
JVs and
At 31 March 2018 Group Funds Total Total Contracted? ERY
Regienal 63 88 151 168 322 342
Local 98 26 124 137 241 259
Multi-let 161 114 275 305 280 299
Department stores and leisure 36 - 34 29 164 130
Superstores 5 16 21 19 227 206
Solus and other 17 - 17 14 209 171
Retail 219 130 349 367 254 259
West End? 133 - 133 179 582 671
City? 5 88 93 108 511 571
Offices? 138 88 226 287 552 629
Residential* 5 - 5 3 - -
Canada Water® 8 - 8 10 172 217
Total 370 218 588 668 314 33¢

On a proportionatly censclidated basis including the Group's share of joint ventures and funds

' Gross rents plus, where rent reviews are outstanding, any increases to ERV (as determined by the Group s external valuers), less any ground rents payable under head
leases, axcludes contracted rent subject to rent free and future uplift

# Annualised rent, plus rent subject to rent free

* Epsf metnics shown for office space only

* Stand-alone residential

* Reflects standing investment only

Rent subject to open market rent review

For period to 31 March

2019 2020 2027 2022 2023 2019-21 2019-23
At 31March 2018 £m £m £m Em €m Em Em
Regional 19 n 18 14 " 48 73
Local 18 1" 12 b 18 41 65
Multi-let 37 22 30 20 29 89 138
Departrment stores and leisure 7 - - - - 7 7
Superstores 3 8 6 1 1 17 19
Solus and other - - - - - - -
Retail 47 30 36 21 30 113 164
West End 27 15 10 9 13 52 74
City 15 4 g - - 28 28
Offices 42 19 19 ? 13 80 102
Canada Water' 1 - - - - 1 1
Total 90 49 55 30 43 194 267

Cn a proportionally consolidated basis including the Group s share of joint venturas and funds
! Reflects standing investrment only
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Rent subject to lease break or expiry

For period to 31 March

209 2020 2021 2022 2023 2019-21 2019-23
At 31 March 2018 £m £m Lrn Em Em £m £m
Regional 14 14 g 14 20 37 71
Local 12 10 10 12 13 32 57
Multi-let 26 24 19 26 33 &9 128
Department Stores and Leisure - - - - - - -
Superstores - - - - 7 - 2
Solus and other - - 1 - - 1 1
Retail 26 24 20 26 35 70 131
Woest End 5 4 18 27 25 27 73
City 10 10 8 2 3 28 33
Offices 15 14 26 23 28 55 106
Canada Water’ 1 0 1 0 1 2 3
Total 42 38 47 43 b4 127 240
% of contracted rent 6.9% 6.2% 7.8% B.0% 10.3% 20.9% 39.2%
On 3 proportionally consolidated basis including the Group s share of joint ventures and funds
' Reflects standing investment anly
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UNAUDITED CONTINUED

Recently completed and committed developments

Letand
British Land 100% PC Current Costlo under
share sq ft calendar value come ERV offer
At 31 March 2018 Sector % ‘000 year £m £m Fm? £m
Clarges Mayfair - retail and residential’  Mixed Use 100 104 Q42017 473 14 07 -
Speke (Leisure) Retail 57 46 Q12018 15 3 11 09
Total Completed in Year 170 488 17 1.8 0.9
100 Liverpool Street Office 50 522 Q12020 166 17 187 50
1 Triton Square* Office 100 366 Q42020 210 185 231 218
1 Finsbury Avenue Office 50 291 Q12019 105 26 81 24
135 Bishopsgate Office 50 328 Q22019 87 41 95 42
Plymouth [Leisure) Retail 100 107 Q4209 4 38 31 12
Total Committed 1,614 572 427 62.5 4.6
Retall Capex® 49

' From 1 April 2018 Costio come excludes notisnal interest as interest 15 capitalised indvidually on each development at our capitalisation rate

? Estimated headline rentalvatue net of rent payable under head leases [excluding tenant Incentives]

* Current value includes £319m [of tatal £344m] units exchanged and not compleled as at 31 March 2018 Sales of £168m completed post peried end

© ERV let and under offer of £21 8m represents space taken by Dentsu Aegis As part of this letting, Dentsy Aegis have an option to return theur existing space at 10 Triton
Streel in 2021 |fthis option is exercised, there 1S an adjustment to the rent free period In respect of the letting at 1 Tritan Square to cormpensate British Land

* Capex committed and underway within our invesiment portfolio relating to leasing and asset management

Near term development pipeline

British Land 100% Expected Current Cosl to Letand
share sq ft start value come ERV under offer Planning
At 31 March 2018 Sector % 0oo on site £m Em! Eméd £m status
Gateway Building Leisure 100 105 Q32018 7 123 60 - Consented
Blossom Street, Office 100 340 Q22019 17 250 1846 -
Shoreditch Consented
Bradford (Lelsure) Retail 100 49 Q12019 1 16 09 - Pre-submission
Teesside [Leisure) Retail 100 84 Q12019 30 47 47 ~ Res to Grant
Total near term 578 55 436 30.2 -
Retail capex? 101

' From 1 Apni 2018 Cost te come excludes notionalinterest as interest is capitalised individually on each development at our capitalisation rate
! Estimated headline rentalvalue net of rent payable under head leases [excluding tenant incentives]
' Forecast capital commitments within our investment portfolio over the next 12 months relating to leasing and asset enhancement

Medium term development pipeline

British Land 100%

share sq ft
At 31 March 2018 Sector % ‘000 Planning status
2-3 Finsbury Avenue Office 50 563 Consented
1-2 Broadgate Office 50 507 Pre-submission
5 Kingdom Street! Office 100 332 Consented
Meadowhall [Leisure) Retail 50 330 Resolution to Grant
Peterborough (Leisure) Retail 100 208 Submitted
Ealing - 10-40 The Broadway Retail 100 298 Pre-submission
Aldgate Place Phase 2 Residential 50 145 Consented
Eden Walk retail and residential Mixed Use 50 533 Consented
Chester Masterplan Retail 77 45 Pre-submission
Plymouth, George Street Retail 100 3 Pre-submission

Total medium term excluding Canada Water 2,992
Canada Water - Phase 1? Mixed Use 100 1.848 Submitted outline

' Planning consent for previous 240,000 sq ft scheme
! Canada Water site covers 5m sq ft in total based on net area (gross area of 7msq ft)
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Sustainability performance measures

We report on all assets where we have day-to-day operational or management influence lour managed portfolio] and all developments over
£300,000 with planning permission, on-site or completed in the year The exception 1s EPC and flood risk data, where we report on all assets
under management As at 31 March 2018, cur managed portfolio comprised 73% of our assets under managerment Please see the scope

column for indicater specific reporting coverage

Selected data has been independently assured since 2007 Selected data fer 2018 has been independently assured by PwC in accordance with
ISAE 3000 (Revised] and ISAE 3410 Far the 2018 PwC assurance statement and more detailed data, please see our Sustainability Accounts
2018 www.britishland.com/data British Land has been a signatory te the United Nations Global Compact since 2009 For our 2018

Communicaticn on Progress, visit www.britishland.com/sustainabilityreport

Performance Scope?
(assetsor
2018 2017 unis)
Continued inclusion in three out of four sustainabibity indices DJSI Europe, DJSI World, 414 44 -
FTSE4Good and GRESE
Progress implementing Sustainability Action Plans at strategic assets 72% nr 47147
Progress implemeanting Sustainability Brief for Developments at all projects ever £3m 100% nr 17/17
2020
] Wellbeing [Customer Qrizntation) target’
Deliver a WELL certfied commercial office to shell and core, and set corperate policy Deliver Ontrack Ontrack -
for future developments
Develop and pilot retail wellbeing specification Deliver Inprogress Ontrack -
Increase the sense of wellbeing for shoppers, retailers and occuplers at our places Increase Ontrack Ontrack -
Define and trial a methodology for measuring productiity in offices Celver Completed Ontrack -
Research and publish on how development design impacts public health outcomes Deliver Ontrack Ontrack -
Pilot interventions to improve locat ar quality’ 3 Target n/a -
established
Injury Incidence Rate (RIDDOR) Offices 12.88 2351 43/43
Retail 0.01 om 58/58
Injury Frequency Rate [RIDDOR) Developments 013 008 38/38
&> Community [Right Places)
Implement our Lecal Charter at all key assets and major developments 100% Charter nr -
updated
British Land employee skills-based volunteering 20% 16% 16% -
British Land employee volunteering 90% 79% 90% -
Community programme bepeficiaries 39798 35600
&3 Futureproofing (Capital Efficiency)
Developments on track to achieve BREEAM Excellent for offices and Excellent 100% 92% 100% 16/16
or Very Good for retail
Carbon [Scope 1 and 2] intensity reduction versus 2009 (index scored) 55% 54% 44% 70/73
Landlord energy intensity reduction versus 2009 (index scored]) 55% 4£0% 35% 70/73
Electricity purchased from renewable sources’ 100% 97% 93% 947105
Average reduction inembodied carbon emissions versus concept design on major developments 15% nr nr -
Waste diverted from landfill managed properties and developments 100% 9% 8% 105/125
Portfolio with green building ratings (% by floor areal 18% 16% 2341234
Energy Performance Certificates rated F or G [% by floor areal 5% 4% 2558/2660
Portfolio at high risk of flood (% by value] 3% 3% 230/234
High flood risk assets with flood management plans {% by value] 100% nr 15/15
& skills and opportunity [Expert People)
People supported inte employment' (curmulative) 1,700 770 542 -
Strategic suppliers agreed with terms of our Supplier Code of Conduct 100% Code Launched n/a -
Prioritised supplier workforce who are apprentices 3% 1.2% nrl  209/232
Pilot a Living Wage Zone at a Londan campus Deliver - - -
Workforce patd at least Living Wage Group employees 100% 100% -
Foundation rate Supplier workforce at managed properties 70% 72% 92/101
Developrments supply chain spend within 25 miles 71% 60% 11/12

' Informed by a rigoraus materialiy review, we have introduced new 2020 targets for air quality, employment, fair wages and renewable electricity to increase focus
on priority 1ssues For more information on changes to our targets and detail on performance, see www britishland.com/sustainability/perfermance/targets

¢ 2018 reporting scope
2017 pilot study data 15 not comparable and so 1s not reported
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Other information

UNAUDITED CONTINUED

Sustainability performance measures continued

EPRA best practice recommendations on sustainability reporting
British Land has received EPRA Gold Awards for sustanability reporting six years running This year, EPRA expanded best
practice recommendations for sustainability reporting to include social and governance performance measures, as well as
environmental We are pleased to have reported on the majority of environmental and social measures in our summary below
For information on governance measures, please see pages 56 to 75 For our full methodology and more detailed data on all
these indicators and additional indicators, please see our Sustainability Accounts 2018 www.britishland.com/data

Scope?
lassels or
2018 2017 2016 units|
Environmental performance’
Total electricity consumption (MWh) 162,833 172,127 172,238 94/105
Total district heating and cooling consumption [MWh] 0 0 0 0/0
Total fuel consumption [MWh) 37,500 39,319 38,234 46152
Building energy intensity (kWh) Offices [per m?) 145.71 158 70 155 64 28/29
Retall - enclosed [per m?) 166.48 16189 1546 97 &/7
Retall - open air [per car parking spacel  148.13 150 01 133 66 36/37
Total direct (Scope 1] greenhouse gas emissions (tonnes CO,el 6,967 7,609 7927 102/113
Totat indirect (Scope 2] greenhouse gas emissions Location based 27,301 34,149 38,710 102/113
(tonnes COe) Market based 1,875 6,630 36734 102/113
Greenhouse gas intensity from building energy Offices [per m3) 0.055 0069 0075 28/29
consumption [tonnes COyel Retail - enclosed (per m?) , 0.054 0067 0073 6/7
Retall - open air
[per car parking space) 0.062 0064 00é3 34/37
Total water consumption [m?) 616,221 663,541 653,490 41/70
Buillding water intensity [m?} Offices [per FTE} 15.56 14 59 1508 26/28
Retall - enclosed {per 10,000 visitors) nr 947 1029 -
Retail - open air [per 10,000 visitors) nr 286 179 -
Total non-hazardous waste by disposal route Re-used and recycled 11,207 12,166 12,899 67/87
(tornes and %) {56%) (57%] (61%)
Incinerated 8,887 9236 8,132 47/87
{44%) [43%] (38%]
Landfilled ] 35 184 67/87
10%) [0%] {1%]
Total hazardous waste [tonnes) 4 nr nr 28/87
Sustainably certified assets - AtoB 23% 25% nr_ 2558/2660
Energy Performance Certificates CtoE 72% 71% nr 2558/2660
(% by floor area) FtoG 5% &% nr_2558/2660
Social performance?
Employee diversity - gender Male 51% 93% 52% -
Female 49% 47% 48% -
Employee gender pay ratic Executive Directors 18% 86% 105% -
[median remuneration, female to male) Senior management 116% 99% nr _
Middle and non-management 87% 89% nr -
Employee training — average hours 14.2 132 160 -
Employee annual performance review 100% nr nr -
Employee new hires rate 20% 26% 36% -
Employee turnover — departures rate 15% 15% 17% -
Employee health and safety Absentes rate 1% 1% 1% -
Injury frequency rate 0 nr nr -
Lost day rate 0% nr nr -
Work-related fatalities 0 0 0 -
Asset health and safety Proportion subject to health and
safety review (%) 100% 100% 100% 113/113
Incidents of non-compliance 0 nr nr 13/M3
Progress implementing cur Local Charter at key Charter Target

assets and major developments

updated established

' As per EPRA best practice recommendations, total energy and water data covers energy and water procured by British Land Energyand carben intensity data covers
common parts and shared services for Offices and common parts for Retaill Water intensity data covers whole buildings for Offices and common parts for Retail
Per m? comprises net internal areas for Offices and common parts for Retail

? Sociat performance dala s for British Land Group overall

! 2018 reporting scope
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TENYEAR RECORD

The table below summarises the last ten years'

results, cash flows and balance sheets

2018 2017 2014 2015 2014 2013 2012 201 2010 2009
Em £m £m £m Em £rm Em Em fm £m
Income’
Gross rental income 813 443 454 418 597 567 572 541 561 450
Net rental income R76 610 620 585 562 541 546 518 545 598
Net fees and other income 15 17 17 17 19 15 17 18 15 20
Interest expense (net) (128) [151) (180) (201] (202} [206) (218) (212) [246) [292)
Administrative expense (83} (86) (94) {88] (78} [74) [76) (68 165) 58]
Underlying Profit 380 390 363 313 297 274 269 256 249 268
Exceptional costs
[not included in Underlying Protit) - - - - - - - - - (119
Dividends declared 302 296 287 277 266 234 237 231 229 198
Summarised balance sheets
Total properties at valuation™ 13,716 13940 14,648 13,677 12,040 10,499 10,337 9572 8,539 8,625
Net debt 39730 (4.223) (4,760) [4918) 14,8900 [4,268] 4,690) [4773]  (4,081]  [4,941)
Other assets and tiabilities (183) (219) 191 276 (123) [264] [266) (298] (51} 297
EPRA NAV/Fully diluted adjusted
net assets 9,560 9498 10,074 9,035 7.027 h967 5,381 5101 4,407 3,387
Cash flow mavement - Group only
Cash generated from operations 351 379 341 318 243 197 n 182 248 406
Other cash flows fram operations 2 (18) [47) (33 (24) (7] (5] 78 (112} (201)
Net cash inflow frem operating activities 353 363 294 285 219 170 206 210 136 205
Cash inflow [outflow] from capitat
expenditure, Investments, acquisitions
and disposals 346 470 230 (1) [640) (202 (547 {240 (39) 418
Equity dradends paid (304} [293) {235] (228] (159) (203 (212) (139) 154 [188]
Cash loutflow] inflow from management
of liquid resources and financing 404} {38] (283 20 607 213 630 157 1485 (58]
[Decrease] increase In cash® [9) - b (34) 7 (2) 77 (12] (542) 377
Capital returns
Growth {reduction] in net assets’ 07% [(57%) 115% 286% 178% 109% 55% 157% 301% (51 71%)
Totalreturn 8.9% 27% W 2%  245% 200% 4 5% 9 5% 177%  335%  [61 6%)
Total return - pre-exceptional B.9% 27%  142%  245% 200% 4 5% 95%  177%  335% (60 3%)
Per share information®
EPRA net asset value per share 947p ?15p ¢19p 82%p 688p 5%6p 5%95p 567p S04p 398p
Memorandum
Dividends declared in the year 30.1p 292 284p 277p 270p 26 4p 261p 260p Z260p 298p
Dividends paid in the year 29.6p 28 8p 28 Op 273p 267p 26 3p 26 0p 26 0p 273p 300p
Diluted earnings
Underlying EPRA earnings per share 3%.4p 378p 341p  306p 294p  303p 297p 28 5p 28 4p 41 0p
IFRS earnings (loss] per share® 48.5p 147p 1M97p  14673p 1102p 315p 538p 952p  13246p (614 1p)
' Including share of joint venlures and funds
! Represents movement in diluted EPRANAY
? Including surplus over book value of trading and development properties
« Including restatement in 2014 and exceptional finanice costs i 2009 £11% million
* Represents movementin cash and cash equivalents under IFRS and movemnents in cash under UK GAAP
¢ Adjusted for the rnights issue of 347 ryllion shares in March 2009
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(Hher information

SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

Financial calendar

2018/1%

Fourth quarter ex-dividend date
Fourth quarter dividend payment date
First quarter ex-dividend date

First quarter dividend payrnent date
Half year results

28 June 2018

3 August 2018

4 October 2018

9 November 2018
November 2018

Second quarter ex-dividend date
Second quarter dividend payment date
Third quarter ex-dividend date

Third quarter dividend payment date
Fullyear results

Faurth quarter ex-dividend date
Fourth quarter dividend payment date

January 2019
February 2019
March 2019
May 2019

May 2019
June 2019
August 2019

If offered, the Board will announce the availability of a Scrip dividend alternative via the Regulatory News Service no later than four business
days betore each ex-dividend date Scrip dividend alternatives will not be enhanced The split between PID and nen-PID income for each

dividend will be announced at the same time

Analysis of shareholders — 31 March 2018

Number Balance as at
Range of holdings Y% 31 March 2018 %
1-1,000 9,996 54 28 2,434,863 024
1,001-5,000 3.125 3031 6,968,451 070
5,001-20,000 632 671 6,604,277 067
20,001-50,000 249 242 7939791 080
50,001-Highest 647 628 969,859,733 9759
Total 10,309 100 00 93,857.125 100 00

Nurnber Balance as at
Holder type of holders % 31 March 2018 %
Individuals 6,134 5950 10,799,208 11
Nominee and institutional investors 4,175 4050 G87,.857917 98 89
Total 10,309 100 00 993,857,125 100 00

' Excluding 11,266,245 shares held intreasury
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Registrars !
British Land has appointed Equiniti Limited [Equinmit) to admimister
its shareholder register Equiniti can be contacted at

Aspect House

Spencer Road

Lancing, West Sussex BNS9 4DA

Tel 03713842143 (UK callers)

Tel +44 (01121 415 7047 [Dverseas callers)

Lines are open from 8 30am to 5 30pm Monday to Friday
excluding public holidays

Website www.shareview,co,uk

By registering with Shareview, sharehclders can

- View your British Land sharehelding online
- Update your details
- Electto receve shareholder mailings electronically

Eguiniti is also the Registrar for the BLD Property Holdings
Limited Stock

Share dealing facilities

By registering with Shareview, Equiniti also provides existing and
prospective UK shareholders with a share dealing facility for buying
and selling Brish Land shares online or by phone

For mare information, contact Equiniti at www.shareview.co.uk/
dealing or call 0845 603 7037 [Monday to Friday excluding public
holidays from 8 30am to 4 30pm] Existing British Land shareholders
will need the reference number given on your share certificate

to register Similar share dealing facilities are provided by other
brokers, banks and financial services

Website and shareholder communications

The British Land corporate wehsite contains a wealth of material
for shareholders, including the current share price, press releases
and information dividends The website can be accessed at
www.britishland.com

British Land encourages its shareholders to receive shareholder
communications electronically This enables shareholders to
receive Information guickly and securely as well as in a more
environmentally friendly and cost-effective manner Further
information can be obtained from Shareview or the

Shareholder Helpline

ShareGift

Sharehotders with a small number of shares, the value of which
makes it uneconomic to sell themn, may wish to consider donating
ther shares to charity ShareGiftis a registered charity [No 1052486)
which collects and sells unwanted shares and uses the proceeds

to support a wide range of UK chanties A ShareGift donation form
can be obtained from Equinmiti

Further information about ShareGift can be obtained from their ‘
website at www.shareqift.org

Honorary President

In recognition of hus work building British Land intc the industry
leading company it 13 today, Sir John Ritblat was appointed as
Honorary President on his retirement fram the Board in |
December 20046

Registered office

The British Land Company PLC

York House

45 Seymour Street, London WIH 71X
Telephone +44 (0020 7486 4466
Website www.britishland.com

Dividends

As a REIT, British Land pays Property Income Distribution [P1D]

and non-Property Income Distnibution (non-PIC) dvidends More
information on REITs and PIDs can be found in the investors section
of our website at www.britishland.com/dividends

British Land dividends can be paid directly into your bank or butlding
society account instead of being despatched to you by cheque More
information about the benefits of having dividends paid directly into
your bank or building society account, and the mandate form to set
this up, can be found in the Investors section of our website at
www.britishland.com/investors/dividends/
dividends-direct-to-your-bank

Scrip Dividend Scheme

British Land may offer shareholders the opportunity to participate

in the Scrip Dividend Scherme by offering a Scrip Alternative toa
particular dividend from time to time The Scrnip Dividend Scheme
allows participating shareholders to receive additional shares
instead of a cash dividend For more information please visit the
Investars section of our website at www.britishland.com/dividends/
scrip-dividend-scheme

Unsolicited mail

British Land s required by law to make its share register available
on request to other organisations This may result in the receipt of
unsclicited mail. To bmit this, shareholders may register with the
Mailing Preference Service For more information, or tc register,
visit. www.mpsonline.org.uk

Shareholders are also advised to be vigilant of share fraud which
includes telephone calls offering free investment advice or offers
to buy and sell shares at discounted or highly inflated prices

+ If it sounds too good to be true, it often 1s Further information
" can be found on the Financial Conduct Autherity’s website

www.fca.org.uk/scams or by calling the FCA Consumer
Helpline on 0800 111 67468

Tax
The Group elected for REIT status on 1 January 2007, paying a £308m
conversion charge to HMRC in the same year As a consequence of

. the Group's REIT status, tax is not levied within the corporate group

on the qualifying property rental business but 15 Instead deducted
from distributions of such income as Property Income Distributions
to shareholders Any income which does not fallwithin the REIT
regime 1s subject to tax within the Group in the usual way This
includes profits on property trading activity, property related fee
incomne and interest income We continue to comfortably pass alt
REIT tests ensuring that our REIT status is maintained

We work proactively and openly to maintain a constructive
relationship with HMRC We discuss matters in real-time with HMRC
and disclose all relevant facts and circumstances, particularly where
there may be tax uncertainty or the law 1s unclear HMRC assigns
risk ratings to all large companies We have a low appetite for tax
risk and HMRC considers us to be ‘Low Risk’ (a status we have held
since 2007 when the rating was first introduced by HMRC]

Further information can be found in our Tax Strategy at
www britishland.com/governance
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Forward-looking statements

This Annual Report contains certain forward-looking statements Such
statements reflect current views on. among other things, our markets,
activities, projections, objectives and prespects Such forward-looking
statements can sometimes, but not always, be identified by their reference
to a date or pointin the future or the use of forward-looking terminolagy,
inctuding terms such as ‘believes’, 'estimates’, 'anticipates’, expects’,
forecasts’, Intends’, ‘due’, ‘plans . ‘projects, goal, outlook , ‘schedule
target, ‘am, may, ‘bikely to’, 'will, 'would, ‘could, 'should or similar
expressions or in each case their negative or other variations or comparable
terrminology By their nature, forward-looking statements invelve inherent
risks, assumptions and uncertainties because they relate to future events
and depend on circumstances which may or may not occur and may be
beyond our ability to control or predict Forward-looking statements
should be regarded with caution as actual results may differ materially
from those expressed in or implied by such statements

Important factors that could cause actual results, performance or
achievemants of British Land to differ materially from any outcomes or
results expressed or implied by such forward-locking statements include,
amang other things (al general business and political, social and
economic conditions globally, [b] the censequences of the referendum

on Britain leaving the EU, [c] industry and market trends including
demand in the property investment market and property price volatility],
[d] competition, [e} the behaviour of other market participants, (f] changes
in government policies or laws and regulation which affect Bnitish Land,
including in relation to the environment, health and safety and taxation

{in particular, in respect of British Land s stalus as a Real Estate
Investment Trustl, {g) inflation and consurmer cenfidence, [h labour
relations and work stoppages, (iI] natural disasters and adverse weather
conditions, ()] terrorism and acts of war, (k] British Land s overalt business
strategy. risk appelite and investment choices in its portfolio management,
[\ legal or other proceedings against or affecting British Land,

Im] deterioration of relizbility and security of its IT infrastructure,

[nl changes in occupier demand and tenant default, o) changes in financial
and equity markets including interest and exchange rate fluctuations,

[p} changes in accounting practices and the interpretation of accounting
standards and [g) the availability and cost of finance The Coempany s
principal risks are described in greater detail in the section of this Annuyal
Report headed Managing rnisk in delivering our strategy and principal risks
Forward-looking statements i this Annual Report, or the British Land
website or made subsequently, which are attributable to British Land or
persens acling on 1ts behalf should therefore be construed in light of all
such factors

Information contained in this Annual Repart relating to British Land or its
share price or the yield on its shares are nat guarantees of, and shauld not
be relied upon as anindicator of, future performance, and nothing in this
Annuat Report should be construed as a profit forecast or profit estimate
Any ferward-looking statements rmade by or on behatf of British Land
speak only as of the date they are made Such forward-looking statements
are expressly qualified in their entirety by the factors referred to above and
no representation, assurance, guarantee or warranty 1s given in relation to
them [whether by British Land or any of 1ts associates, Directors, officers,
emplayees or advisers}, including as to their completeness, accuracy ar
the basis on which they were prepared

Other than in accordance with our legal and regulatory obligations
{(including under the UK Financial Conduct Authority s Listing Rules,
Disclosure and Transparency Rules and the Market Abuse Regulations],
British Land does natintend or undertake lo update or revise farward-
looking statements to reflect any changes in Briish Land s expectations
with regard thereto or any changes in infarmation, events, conditions or
circumstances on which any such statement is based This document shall
not, under any circumstances, create any implication that there has been
no change in the business ar affairs of British Land since the date of this
document or that the information contained herein is carrect as atany
time subsequent to this date
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